
[image: cover.jpg]


FALKLANDS 2

Jim Thorn 

PO Box 793, Cotton Tree, Queensland, 4558, Australia 

Copyright @ 2012 Jim Thorn ISBN: 978-1-62095-248-1

 

This book is a work of fiction. Any resemblance to actual person’s, living or dead, is entirely coincidental.

 

Cover by Don Stephens. Maps by Juanita Franzi 

DEDICATION 

To all those, on either side, civilian and military alike, who paid the ultimate price in the Falklands War of 1982.


[image: img1.png]


[image: img2.png]


[image: img3.png]


CHAPTER 1

The big man lay still in bed trying desperately to seduce his body into accepting sleep. By four in the morning though it was obvious that his battle with nature had been well and truly lost.

Juan Moreno, the President of Argentina, carefully rose from the bed, so as to not awaken Rosanna, his sleeping wife, and went to the balcony where he sat and pondered the scene before him. There was an ethereal, peaceful feel about a great city in those quiet hours before dawn and this was a view that he had shared his private thoughts with on many previous occasions. Today though he wanted to be fresh, as fit and capable as he could be and the lack of a night’s sleep was not a great start. For today he would launch an idea, a goal, that would transform Argentina forever.

Moreno took in the sleeping grandeur of the Avenida de Mayo from his private balcony high in the Casa Rosada. The street lights reflecting in the pools of water from the summer night’s rain. Alone he thought about all the great things, for better or for worse, that had made Buenos Aires one of the most powerful cities in South America. Yet despite that it was now unescapable that Argentina had serious problems that only firm action would overcome.

The nation had somehow survived the Peron era only to endure the Dirty War of the seventies then the disastrous Malvinas adventure of Galtieri and his puppets, thought Moreno. That was followed by a period of relative stability which ultimately though did little to remedy the base problems of his country as it prepared itself to enter the twenty first century. Inflation was on the rise again, and always at a ridiculous level compared with the rest of the world. Unemployment was worsening as the economy contracted and minor civil disturbances in recent months had done nothing to boost the confidence of foreign investors. Argentina needed a shot in the arm. A major win, both spiritually and economically and President Juan Moreno knew just how to deliver on this promise.

For today would be his day. The day he took the boldest step forward that any leader had for many decades in this once great country. The majority of the twentieth century had not been kind to his land and he was determined that this would not be the case in the millennium.

Moreno rose and fetched a juice before returning to the solitude of the balcony. The fatigue of the night was rapidly dissipating and a new energy was taking over as his body became invigorated with the mere thought of what lay ahead. At nine that morning he would chair a meeting of the joint chiefs of staff, his trusted deputy and the foreign minister. By noon the great plan would be underway and within two months set in concrete. In less than two years from now Moreno knew that he would again sit at his balcony and take in the urban beauty before him knowing that he spread his gaze upon a totally renewed Argentina, his Argentina.

 

The half dozen men assembled in the cabinet room and wondered privately what the meeting was about. It had been called a week before and by the quality of the audience it was obvious to all that something big concerning the military was on the agenda. Mind you, despite democratic elections and many other changes since 1982, Argentina at the close of the 20th Century was still essentially a military state. The military still held the real balance of power.

The people knew this and so did their President, a fact which succeeding leaders had used more to their advantage than disadvantage.

At three minutes to nine the main door opened and Juan Moreno entered, his enthusiasm and energy being apparent to even the most jaded observer. The group rose and Moreno took the chair.

‘Good morning gentlemen, I am glad you could all make it as we have much to discuss this morning.’

Now these were his people, thought the President.

Seated around the oval table were his future warlords, his First Team.

To his left sat Horacio Luna, the Commander in Chief of Argentina’s military forces. Some considered Luna of equal importance to the President in actually making things happen in the modern Argentina. Indeed, he had played many a game of carefully plotted political and military deceit, power politics if you wish, and had come up smiling. It was even said, in hushed tones, that he had something to do with the previous President’s car accident just six months earlier. An accident which saw then Vice President Moreno ascend to the throne with the full public backing of his military chiefs.

Beside Luna sat Alberto Alvirez, the Foreign Minister who then had the Commander in Chief of the Navy and Marines, Juan Donadille to his immediate left. Across from them sat Corbeta Dimeglio, the Commander in Chief of the Air Force, Hector Valko, Commander in Chief of the Army and finally Moreno’s right hand man, Vice President Alberto Moltini.

The six now sat quietly as their President took centre stage.

‘This will be a great day for Argentina.’ Moreno proudly stated with emphasis.

‘This will be the day that we begin the long trek back towards the great and noble future that our country deserves. Gentlemen, today we begin a new era and you all will play a major part in that era.’

Transfixed, the group tentatively noted the aura of suspense that had permeated the room since their President had arrived just two minutes earlier. Moreno had a way with words He had a way with people and he was an uncanny winner in life’s great gamble of political survival. The audience collectively knew that something big was up and that they would not have been called together just for a mere pep talk, but what was it, each privately wondered.

‘As you know, we have many problems these days.’ Continued Moreno.

‘We have increasing inflation, unemployment and our foreign debt is now at the stage of deterring foreign investment. We and past administrations have tried many cures. Some have worked, for a time, and some have failed miserably. We have all seen this, we all know this.’

Moreno moved from his position a little as his audience followed his every move with baited breath.

‘What we need is to do something bold. Very bold. We need to reclaim our greatness and we need to do it now or it will be too late. We cannot sit here and do nothing and expect future generations of our people to enjoy the standard of living and the pride that should come from being an Argentine.

‘You all know that one of our greatest assets are our oil reserves. You also know that sometime in the second decade of the next century that much of our existing reserves will be degraded. You also know that much of the world is in a similar position. In other words, they who have exportable oil will be the economic rulers of the next century.’ Moreno now stepped back to the raised platform behind his chair and raised the curtain that concealed a large map of Argentina and its environs.

‘This gentlemen, is the key to Argentina’s future’. The audience sat stunned as Moreno firmly tapped a pointer on Islas Malvinas.

‘This indeed is our future and now we can do what our forebears could not back in ’82. We will take back our Malvinas, hold them and take the economic wealth that they are the very key to in the next century.’ Stated Moreno with a knowing smile on his face. His impact upon his audience was just what he wanted as he noted carefully that each member of his audience sat in stunned silence.

‘As you know, we have been surveying the region around the Malvinas now for more than a decade. You also know of the top secret report that I received just days before my predecessor’s departure. That report states unequivocally that there are potential oil and gas reserves in the Malvinas basin equivalent to two to three times that of the North Sea. That translates to something in the order of 200 to 300 billion United States dollars in current values. Imagine what Argentina could do with a cash reserve of that value in a world that will ultimately be paying a king’s ransom for oil.’ Moreno smiled at his audience and returned to the dias just behind his chair.

‘We are going to retake the Malvinas. The operation will be coded Rosario II.’ At this, his audience was stunned that the project had already become so entrenched that it even had a name.

‘In 1982 we did everything wrong. It was a hasty decision by men who should have been wiser. By men who did not even try to use the assets that they possessed to keep the British at bay. Today, Argentina is much different. Much stronger and I feel that you, before me now, are much wiser and are vastly more capable of succeeding in making the most of this great opportunity for our nation.’

‘As you know, we nowadays have greatly revitalised armed forces. We have concentrated on the air force for the simple reason that control of sovereignty of an island bastion such as the Malvinas is the domain of air power. It will be air power that will keep the British at bay as the only way they can reach us is by ship and as you all know, modern ships are easy prey to a variety of cheap and highly accurate missiles.

‘To us, those British ships, which nowadays are little different to what they had in ’82, are targets, not warships of which we have to be fearful. We will soon have four squadrons of Israeli Kfirs and we already possess three of upgraded American Skyhawks and we still have more than three dozen Mirage and Dagger fighters that are more than useful. And as you know we have in inventory of just over one hundred of the French Exocet anti ship missiles. In ’82 we had barely half a dozen and just one aircraft type from which to launch them from. We also now have a large fleet of helicopters, a revitalised submarine fleet and a five battalion strong ready reaction force backed up with an array of very potent Russian weaponry.’ Moreno’s message was getting through loud and clear and his audience was beginning to sense an adventure, one that they could win and thereby release their nation from the tragedy and sadness of the Galtieri era.

‘Besides, the British have well and truly lost interest in the place. After the war they rushed in and spent all their money on a big airbase. At first there was a large number of jets there. They always had at least two warships plus a nuclear submarine and a large number of troops. They left years ago just as my predecessor predicted many times to me that they would. Nowadays they are supposed to have a warship and a submarine there. Instead they have just four jets, some helicopters and a few hundred troops. There hasn’t been a warship there for months and its been at least two years since a submarine was in evidence. They have lost interest and this time I don’t think they will risk confronting us with the highly capable military forces that we now have.

‘Our plan will be’ Moreno raised his fist for effect. ‘To launch an invasion of the Malvinas in August of next year. That’s 17 months from now and more then enough time to come up with a multi stage battle plan and a well thought out plan of occupation that will see us victorious in our endeavours. Our invasion must be by stealth and our initial occupation benign. We must, and we will, have the world not move against us on this one. We will repatriate the British troops and compensate the islanders and erase any remnants of British colonial rule once and for all.

‘After all, the British have kindly built that massive air base there that is just awaiting our commandoes. From there we will be able to base a large number of our missile armed fighters and tankers. We will station our crack troops there, rather than conscripts like last time, when that swine Galtieri actually kept his best troops home for his own personal protection in case the population rioted if things went wrong.

We will fortify our position so well that the British will have no choice but to honourably negotiate a settlement as they will know that to send a battle fleet south will end in catastrophe for them. And, my friends, if they did then who would be the victor? Moreno smiled and raised his hands towards his rapt audience. ‘Yes, you and I and all of Argentina would again be the dominant geo political force in South America, the continent of the twenty first century.’ Moreno banged his fist on the dais for effect and his commanders stood and applauded. The feeling in the air was electric and he knew that his first victory had just been won.

‘What we will do now is to agree to meet five weeks from now. In that time I will expect you all to come up with a defined scenario for the invasion and the occupation.

We have some extra funds set aside that will be used to increase our training regime and to build up our munitions and spare parts for our major weapon systems. The upgrading of the third submarine will be announced next week as will be the acceptance of the option on a further 20 Kfirs from the Israelis. Additional helicopters will be gained from the Americans, for our anti drug operations, at which point the group laughed, and we can discretely get more artillery and missiles from our Russian friends.

‘Gentlemen, are there any questions?’

Foreign Minister Alberto Alvirez from the very start was perhaps the odd man out. At no stage had he shared such blind enthusiasm for what he was being told though he was fully aware that he had to realistically play it carefully if he was to retain his valued position as Argentina’s frontline ambassador to the world.

‘Mr President’. Alvirez carefully stated, much to the annoyance of Moreno who had expected that if there had been a dissenter it would have been the ultra cautious and usually irritatingly correct Foreign Minister.

‘I wonder about the full ramifications politically of our action. I mean, if we invade the Malvinas we can only expect a full retaliation from Britain. I am sure that the US will side with them again and to be honest if things did get sticky we might even get some pressure to withdraw from Chile and Brazil. Pursuing our rightful claim for the sovereignty of the Malvinas has been our major goal through the UN and various world councils for two decades now and it has gotten us nowhere. I cannot see that our action would be embraced by the world as a positive step for world peace no matter how we do it.’ Alvirez glumly concluded.

‘I appreciate your concerns Alberto’. Moreno stated in a conciliatory manner. ‘But this is something that we must do, and do now if Argentina is to economically survive in the decades ahead. I have thought long about the British response and I think I am correct in saying that we can manage it. They will, I believe not send a battle fleet south again as they would be aware that we have fortifications on the islands that we did not have in ’82. Indeed, we could project outwards of nearly halfway to Ascension Island in strike capability with our air refuelled Exocet equipped Kfirs and Skyhawks. Our modernised submarines are now amongst the best non nuclear boats in the world, sure, we only have three available but the threat they imply will make it even more complex for the British to deploy a sizeable fleet with any thought of survivability. Besides, we will leave them South Georgia, I think they will be impressed by that and it will be a starting point - that we recognise their claim to South Georgia. They should then find it hard to bleat on the world stage that the Malvinas were not originally a possession of the Spanish and thus ourselves when we threw out the conquistadores so long ago. No, Alberto, leave the British to me. They don’t have a leader of the mettle of Thatcher anymore and with the Bosnian fiasco and Northern Ireland they won’t want to lose their navy so far from home.’ Moreno had made his point though now his own deputy, Alberto Molteni moved forward in his chair to ask a question.

‘We know about the oil reserves, surely the British, and perhaps others, know also. If they do then surely they will fight to ensure their own future possession of this bounty?’ Concluded Molteni.

‘Very true my deputy. We believe that they don’t actually know what we know. Our intelligence has assessed that the British only believe that there is about a quarter of what we positively know to be there through our four year Southern Explorer operation. Based on that I don’t believe that they would go to war against a much stronger enemy than before so what would appear to them to be so little. Obviously we also will be putting out some selective misinformation on this subject in the coming year. It is also, my friend, a convenient and helpful means by which they can withdraw from the situation with honour. I mean, for them to be wasting British lives just for oil, now I know the average Englander wouldn’t like that, would he?’ Moreno had made his point and had little to fear from this bunch, he thought.

Rosario II was a go and the new Argentina was on her way.

Alberto Alvirez though was still uneasy about the whole thing. His mind swung back to the tales that had now become the stuff of legend in the ’82 campaign. About how Galtieri was queried by one of his generals about the likely reaction from Britain’s Prime Minister, Margaret Thatcher. ‘The gringo woman, she will do nothing!’ Came Galtieri’s shouted reply, at which all discussion ceased. The Foreign Minister thought for a moment how the new British PM would take the news that his beloved Falklands had been once more ravaged by the Argentine hordes. Alvirez winced and knew that he would have a heavy two years ahead of him.

 

A world away, HMS Ark Royal plunged through the swell of the North Sea.

It was the sixth and final day of operation Northern Partners, a massive NATO air and sea exercise that for the first time had included elements of the Russian Air Force. Admiral Nathan Wolff, captain of Her Majesty’s carrier Ark Royal though it somewhat ironic that their primary foe of nearly a half century was now exercising with them as a part of NATO but also had the audacity to share the same initials as Her Majesty’s air force. Still it was an unusual world, these dying years of the twentieth century and it seemed nowadays that anything was possible, indeed probable.

Wolff and his crew, indeed the crews of all the ships in the Royal Navy taskforce dedicated to the exercise had had a pretty torrid week. Ark had been attacked on numerous occasions by the Orange forces which had been based largely in the Netherlands and southern Norway. Their own Blue force, the goodies as Wolff liked to think of them, based their operations around the carriers Ark Royal and Invincible, these two ships being backed up by about a dozen escorts, tankers and support ships of varying shapes and occupations.

The object of the exercise was principally for the RN to be able to protect Scotland and the north of England from long range air attack. The enemy in this case were Russian Backfires and United States Air Force B-52s. These were in turn escorted where possible by USAF F-15C Eagles and Russian Sukhoi Flankers backed up by Norwegian and Dutch F-16s supported by US Sentry AWACS and KC-135 tankers. The only air defence the RN had was its own organic airpower in the two carrier’s British Aerospace F/A.2 Sea Harriers and a dozen Panavia F.3 Tornados operating out of Lossiemouth in northern Scotland.

Wolff had reason to smile though, as did his airwing. The small Sea Harriers, or Shars as their crews affectionately called them, had done well against what on paper were impressive adversaries. On top of this the Shars had been forbidden tanker support and their only form of airborne early warning, a crucial ingredient in the defence of the taskforce, was from their own AEW Sea Kings, mere toys alongside the highly capable and long ranging American Boeing Sentrys.

Technically he had ‘lost’ one of his Type 42 destroyers while two frigates had been damaged but managed to soldier on with reduced capability. His two carriers though had withstood more than a dozen air assaults and though one Harpoon missile from a -52 had technically got through it had not reduced his ship’s ability to fight one iota. This afternoon though could be different. Orange was technically in arrears and the scuttlebutt was that a massed assault would take place. An assault that he seriously doubted was within the capability of his defensive systems to be able to withstand. The enemy still had 10 B-52s operational and half as many Backfires. There were still more than three dozen Eagles and Flankers and with tanker support that would be able to orbit as long as they wanted in support of their bomber friends. They also had two AWACS available, aircraft that could see two to three times as far electronically as his own humble AEW Sea Kings.

Still, it would be interesting to see if his theories would prove correct and that there would be more than one way to skin a cat. The two carriers were carefully arranged just five kilometres apart in a box surrounded at five kilometre ranges by a protective screen of frigates and destroyers armed with long range Sea Darts and an impressive range of close in defences. Both carriers had their own electronic warfare suites, chaff, SAMS and multiple close in gatling cannons. Wolff speculated that the enemy’s full inventory of sea skimmers could be thrown at him this afternoon and few would penetrate his taskforce’s shield.

Wolff sat thoughtfully in his commander’s seat on the bridge of Ark Royal and considered the worsening weather. Met had forecast an earlier than expected entry into their region of an extreme cold front heading across the North Atlantic. That its outer reaches had already arrived were obvious as the great ship heaved through the worsening swell at 21 knots. It was just as well that these were the final hours of Northern Partners as he would have to, for peacetime safety reasons, cancel flying ops if it got much worse. The latest reports though indicated that they had a few hours and with at least five hours before last light it was still a ‘go’.

As if sensing his thoughts, the tannoy barked from the Combat Information Centre located deep within the bowels of his ship, the command ship of the exercise.

‘Sir, ESM reports significant RT traffic vicinity position zulu. Passive sensors indicate large number of high altitude heavy jets southbound, estimated range 800. Estimated to be on radar within one five minutes.’ Reported the senior controller.

‘I’m coming down, alert all crews, go to full general quarters. Launch the CAP backups.’ Wolff quickly departed the bridge for the CIC, an electronic dungeon deep within the ship that would now be the place where this life or death battle would be played out.

 

Lieutenant Commander Graeme Evans pulled his safety harness tight, rechecked his nav computer that it had stabilised, and quickly verified his warning panel was all green. He and his three wingmen were ready to launch just as their compatriots aboard Invincible, to the port beam were also.

Power to maximum, cleared for launch, the Shar trembled as the Rolls-Royce Pegasus reached maximum power. Brakes released Evans hurtled down the small carrier’s diminutive flightdeck and was momentarily compressed as the small fighter hit the bow mounted ski jump. Simultaneously altering the nozzle direction his jet literally soared into the darkening sky. Gear up, flaps up, nozzles to full aft, stabilise at 400 feet and prepare for a right orbit to allow his three compatriots to form up in fighting wing for their transit to the intercept zone.

Each Sea Harrier this afternoon was notionally armed with two long range radar guided Hughes Amraams, two short range infra-red Sidewinders and the usual twin 30mm cannons. Though each aircraft carried its usual two 864 litre drop tanks they all fully appreciated that their endurance irrespective of the outcome of their mission would be less than two hours in this configuration.

No doubt the enemy’s fighters would have tanked prior to forging ahead of the bombers and what the hell, they’re just a bunch of Eagles and Flankers, the best there is! Thought Evans to himself as he fought off the remnants of fatigue and tension from what had been a full on week. The tactical equation was that they already had two Shars on CAP but these would have to return within minutes due to fuel requirements and that the second and final wave of four Shars from each carrier would not takeoff for another five minutes. If there was action ahead then the two flights of four Shars would largely be on their own.

The battle plan basically was that the first flight would attack in force to the best of their means whilst the second wave would provide backup and theoretically hit whatever was left of the enemy after the ‘victories’ of the first wave. Evans needed some pure oxygen just to contemplate the possibilities of this and had the distinct feeling that before long he could finally end up as a small outline painted on the side of a Russian Flanker. That might be so but they damn well will pay first for the privilege, mused Evans as he checked his instruments for the hundredth time awaiting the call from the AEW that they had confirmed contacts.

The wait was short as the AEW Sea King came on line with just what the controllers aboard the Ark didn’t want to hear.

‘Bogeys, five heading one nine zero, angels three five, range three eight zero kilometres. Six more heading one seven zero, angels three zero, range four fifty. All heavies.’ Came the long awaited call from the helo.

Evans took in the data, that puts them less than 200 kliks north of us, they should be launching the missiles in about five minutes, but where were the escorts?

This was every Sea Harriers’ real concern, the fighters. Though their primary role in life was to splash bombers they knew that this would be nearly impossible if said bombers had the luxury of long range fighters operating in concert with tankers. But where were they?

Something was wrong and Evans didn’t have a clue as to what it was.

As the precious seconds ticked by all the Ark could do was to vector them onto the inbound bombers. The invisible fighters were not their immediate problem as they were about 10 minutes away from hosting the arrival of upwards of six dozen simulated Harpoon missiles.

Evans’ flight was vectored onto the starboard group while the other four Shars headed north west to take on what by now were identified as B-52s. That left Evans’s group with five inbound Backfires. AEW called that they had now descended and had gone supersonic. His Blue Vixen radar now painted the targets on screen. Range almost within a long shot for the Amraam. This would have to be damn quick as both attacker and defender closed at nearly a kilometre a second.

‘Alpha flight fire on command, Amraam only, watch for escorts, they’re here somewhere’. Called Evans hurriedly to his wingmen, now spread out in fighting wing formation over several cubic kilometres of winter sky. Evans hit his Amraam tit on the stick once then twice and his two simulated missiles ripple fired from their underfuselage stations. If this was for real he would have felt the aircraft yaw slightly and two great streams of white vapour trails ark out from his aircraft on their brief journey to oblivion. He would also probably be dead or wishing he was within minutes as he knew that something was dramatically amiss.

Bravo flight had also engaged their -52s and now it was just a matter of waiting through the seconds till they reached the incoming heavies.

‘Bogeys launching missiles, losing contact, active jamming, possible chaff blooms.’ Came the AEW helo excitedly.

Simultaneously Evans and his compatriots saw their small radar screens go white in something akin to a television set between channels. A split second later Evans saw it, and it was almost too late. A brief glint of metal, probably canopy, had gained his attention as he peered down to see if any of the attacks had gone low. What he instantly saw were four Eagles at wavetop height and several kilometres below them. In seconds they would climb vertically astern of the Shars and take them out. Theoretically none of the Sea harrier pilots would technically even be aware they had been ‘killed’ till the Eagles called their lockons.

Evans screamed into the RT on open frequency ‘Bogeys low, dive to engage.’

Aboard Ark Royal they had instantly realised that the fighters had snuck in low with full tanks at wavetop height, well beyond the detection capability of the AEW Sea King’s radar. The defenders had no option but to concentrate their efforts on the bombers and now they had launched their missiles successfully they were on their way home. At least some of them were as the umpires in the USS Ticonderoga, the exercise neutral observer and joint command centre, hurriedly confirmed the destruction of one Backfire and two of the slower and less agile B-52s. Ominously though Ticonderoga had also verified launch of no less than 38 Harpoons which appeared to be taking varying tracks ahead and to the sides of the taskforce. Things were not looking good for the pride of the Royal Navy.

 

Evans threw the Sea Harrier into a vertical dive as did his three wingmen. This would gain speed and allow them temporarily to at least visually track the American fighters as their radars were still being jammed by the remaining bombers which had only withdrawn far enough away to be safely beyond the Amraam range of the Shars.

The four Eagles had passed several kilometres to the west of the Shars and were now going to burner and climbing to engage the British fighters. With a backdrop of heavy rain clouds above them though the small Sea Harriers were near impossible to see, let alone manoeuvre against. The Eagles by comparison though were large and more easily identifiable by their sheer acceleration from the blue grey expanse of sea beneath them. This momentary advantage played into the Sea Harrier pilots hands and two found kills with their Sidewinders before the Americans had time to correctly position themselves.

‘Splash one, two Eagles’. Came the excited confirmation from Ticonderoga as Evans slewed his Shar into a firing solution on one of the remaining Eagles. By rule, if you were called as hit you immediately departed the area to a predesignated ‘safety zone’, there were two live Eagles left though and it was only a matter of seconds before one of them would get a Shar. That moment came five seconds later as Eagle zero three nailed Alpha two with a close in gunshot as he was coming off his own kill of Eagle zero one. As is the way of air combat though you can sometimes get lucky and it was Evans who now found himself rolling off a high yo yo for a clear stern shot against the Eagle which had just claimed his wingman.

‘Fox one’, called Evans and the simulated Sidewinder, from this range impacted the Eagle just six seconds later. Now there was just one Eagle and three Sea Harriers with the lone Eagle making the wise choice to nose down and go supersonic on the deck to the safety of the northward orbiting tankers.

Evans was sweating profusely and could feel his heart thumping within his chest. The immediate threat had passed though in the less than 30 seconds of their confrontation with the Americans, the sea skimming Harpoons were rapidly closing on the outer perimeter of the battle group and being engaged by the Amraams of the second wave of Sea Harriers.

Evans and his surviving two wingmen throttled back and checked their radars. The jamming bombers had withdrawn though not before having achieved their goals of hiding the presence of the escorts and successfully launching their missiles. Evans wondered how Bravo flight had gotten on and if any of the second wave would nail some of the inbound Harpoons before they reached the ‘no fly’ rim of the outer defence zone of the destroyers. His compatriots had done quite nicely, though they lost two of their own they did nail three Flankers and of course the two B-52s. Blue had lost one of its vital AEW helos, the third in the exercise whilst now it appeared that the Sea Harriers had claimed more than a dozen kills for the exercise against just five of their own.

As the wall of Harpoons rapidly converged upon the British taskforce Evans wondered if this would be like the real thing if ever it occurred and indeed, would he even have a carrier to return to. The thought left him cold as he was low on fuel and it was time to call it quits. The exercise was over and in less than two hours the bar would be well and truly open.

 

Somewhere between Buenos Aires and the North Sea trooper Max Phillips lay still in the tropical rain silently wishing this mission would be well and truly over.

His role this day was as keyman in the SAS patrol that would not only eradicate a significant drug factory deep in the Colombian jungle but would also exact a price of revenge upon those who had dared to murder the British consul in Bogota, the capital of this God forsaken country. Phillips, and his seven compatriots had meticulously planned for this specific mission for the past eight weeks. Every detail had been noted and acted upon, right to the point of the team having covertly observed the camp for the past month on a continuous basis.

The eight men had been lying motionless in their carefully chosen ambush positions for more than a day now knowing that a strategic inspection of the factory, or DMP, drug manufacturing plant, as the SAS called it was imminent. The top three leaders of the second strongest clan in Colombia were to be present, their lieutenants and a number of key runners. It had been they who had deliberately blown away the British consul and his three Colombian Drug Squad officials that night with an ingenious and highly effective car bomb. The fact that it took three days for the gravely injured Briton to succumb to his massive wounds only served to make each man on the patrol more determined to extract a little primal justice from their mission. Indeed this mission was not to be spoken of in polite circles. It was not ‘officially’ sanctioned and ‘technically’ their government did not know anything of it. When news would filter through that a major DMP had been destroyed and a number of drug trade related personalities had disappeared then it would be put down with much pride to the increasingly effective capabilities of the Colombian Drug Squad, the very men the British SAS had been sent in years before to train.

Phillips lay silently in wait, relieved now that finally the late afternoon rainstorm had passed. He liked the jungle. At least it was warm compared with many of the places he had served in his two and a half years in the Special Air Services and six years before that with the Welsh Guards. You could always get food in the jungle and the native animals weren’t nearly as deadly as made out once you knew how to fit into their environment. You also didn’t need a lot of clothing, always something that held you up while extreme cold could kill you as surely as an enemy bullet.

Phillips remembered back to his Selection and the continuation training that followed and was thankful that he was here and not back reliving that horror story of man against himself.

You just don’t join the SAS. You apply and if you are lucky you are invited to try out for what is politely called Selection. This ultimate test of strength, character, nous and perseverance lasts for a month and barely a fifth of those who begin complete the course. Phillips remembered the unforgettable final slog over a 60 kilometre land navigation course in the Brecon Beacons of southern Wales carrying his weapon and a 25kg Bergen backpack. The winter’s cold left an indelible hatred upon him for severe cold and was probably why he liked the tropical heat of the jungle so much by comparison.

As he approached each checkpoint a new time coordinate would be given to him for the next sector. Each differed so that nobody really knew if they were going too fast or too slow, it was just a matter of getting there and making the correct nav fixes. Each of his remaining compatriots, now only seven from an original two dozen, needed to pass this one last obstacle to be able to earn the right to ultimately wear the winged dagger of the SAS. His feet bleeding, cold and exhausted Max Phillips had just made it in that day at last light amidst the flurries of an approaching snowstorm. Two others hadn’t been and for them it was to be, like so many before them, platform four, the euphemism for the platform at Hereford railway station that served the trains going to London.

Phillips had made it though and exhilarated by his success performed just as well in the following 14 weeks on vital continuation training. Continuation wasn’t that much less easy that the rigours of Selection though it is here that the SAS recruit hones their basic skills in such fine arts of survival as signalling, special forces tactics, use of various exotic forms of personal weapons, building hides and shelters, survival training, coping with interrogation and most importantly learning how to function in a four man team. In his active period to date he had also learnt vital skills in a number of other areas including medicine, including a six week stint in the Casualty section of a major London hospital, learnt two languages, Spanish and German and had developed a natural flare for innovative recon missions. He had also ranked as one of the units best shots and so had also participated in the sniper course using silenced and conventional rifles that guarantee a first round hit at ranges out to half a kilometre.

The other seven men lying in wait this afternoon were similarly or even better skilled in their finely honed talents as warriors of an elite of elite units. Each lay patiently knowing that the careful planning that had gone meticulously into this important operation would result in it being over in less than a minute once the action had commenced. On the men’s minds now was the simple fact that night was now less than an hour away and darkness would only complicate it if they were forced to make contact at night. In the day they could ensure that nobody got away and if they did then they could be tracked more easily. The objective of this mission was to return home without any casualties of their own and that’s they way they liked it.

Suddenly Phillips flinched as he noted movement about two hundred metres away on the overgrown track that led to the DMP.

‘Contacts approaching, two hundred metres, Gonzales present plus at least a dozen others, weapons relaxed, two scouts ahead, two in rear, they look pretty knackered.’ Phillips whispered over the small hand held Simplex radio that though only having an effective range of about a kilometre and a half was at least not able to be tracked or electronically intercepted.

The patrol had now moved momentarily into their designated firing positions. Each of the eight men, including Phillips, had two LAW 80 rockets, an M203 and personal weapons, usually a 9mm Browning and several grenades. The LAW is a throw away lightweight anti tank rocket that has a devastating impact over ranges of up to half a kilometre. With sixteen rounds to place accurately into the DMP it was doubtful if even the additional force of the M16s, equipped with their M40 grenade launchers slung beneath the barrel, to make an M203, would be required.

There were four workers minding the camp whilst the others had gone to collect their bosses. That accounted now for about 18 people and camp security was lax to say the least. It seemed that the workers were more interested in getting stoned on their product and regular fights between them indicated to the hidden SAS observers that this was indeed not a well run operation.

The five cartel bosses had now entered the single storey factory, a camouflaged hut of about 50 metres in length by 30 metres wide with a bunkroom and kitchen at the end. The makeshift toilet and washroom was situated about 30 metres away in the clearing which had cam netting strung loosely between the trees to help protect it from the prying eyes of aircraft. It was obvious that the camp had been active for many years and till recently was obviously unknown to the authorities. How many lives it had helped doom in that period was unknown though in a few minutes it would be little more than a pile of smoking rubble.

‘Guests inside, just two sentries outside, Marshall you take the one to the south, Phillips take out the back up, fire in 10 seconds, Mark now, over.’ Came the long awaited call for action from their troop leader, ensconced in a tree hide well above and clear of the firezone.

Phillips carefully took aim with the M16. Though not a sniper weapon it was deadly accurate at this range and the way his target was positioned gave him little chance of fleeing to safety before the inevitable.

Three, two, one….the clearing erupted with the blast of six 80s as they erupted within the facility, a secondary explosion indicated that one had hit the generator and fuel storage tank whilst both Phillips and Marshall scored both their targets on the first shot. Six seconds later the second volley of, this time, eight 80s thundered into the remains of what had been one of Columbia’s most productive drug plants.

The eight SAS men then waited silently for movement. None. After five minutes they carefully and very slowly moved down towards the camp. No movement at all. The encounter between the Colombian drug lords and the SAS was over in seconds and probably not even noticed by those who were now no longer living. Their day had just ended in the blink of an eye, in stark comparison to the inevitable ending of so many of the lives of their blighted customers.

Their operation complete, the eight men took photographic evidence, collected the wealth of paperwork that could indicate other camps, other players and carefully retraced their steps to the landing zone a dozen kilometres southwards of what was now nothing more than a smoking ruin.

Phillips and his compatriots felt good that they had done something for the good of society and that none of them had paid the ultimate price. Each man wondered though how many times they could get away with this and perhaps one day it would be them who would not even hear the sound of the bullet with their name on it. It was time to go home.

 

James Faulkner threw down the morning’s copy of the Financial Times with disgust.

The headlines had carried the story that all Britain had known for weeks but he personally had been trying to ignore.

Mary Faulkner, wife of the British Prime Minister, had her husband well and truly sorted out and over their informal breakfasts knew that this was a time when she could talk to him like the old days, before he had ascended to the very pinnacle of British politics.

‘Dear, it’s just another story. Don’t worry about it. Every country is having troubles with inflation, unemployment and the deficit. You didn’t cause it after all!’

‘That’s alright for you to say Mary, but I’m the bunny who has to fix it and God only knows how we’re going to do that with this Bosnian war taking so much of our resources.’ Responded the PM gloomily.

‘We’ve been mired in there almost a year now and NATO and the European Community are just stuffing us about. I called for massed airstrikes, in company with the Americans, the only one’s with any balls, and what happens? The EU dallies about and goes on about it having to be a totally joint effort with even the Russians involved. So what happens? Nothing, bloody nothing! Faulkner was beginning to get angry now and Mary sensed his frustration at trying to end their country’s involvement in this hellhole so that the more pressing domestic issues could be tackled with their nation’s full resources.

‘Mary, I am putting a final resolution to them this Thursday. If they accept it then we will end this war quickly and rout the Serbs once and for all. If they don’t then I am moving to unilaterally withdraw all British land, sea and air forces from the region. They can like it or they can lump it, I’ve had enough!

‘That’s rather heavy’. Replied Mary in a dramatically toned down voice.

‘Well, it’s crunch time, and we cannot let this thing become a Euro-Vietnam. Surely we can learn something from history and the obvious mistakes of others? Replied Faulkner.

He quickly finished his breakfast, kissed Mary goodbye and left. He, the PM of England was in a fighting mood, something he hadn’t been in for many months.

James Francis Faulkner had been voted into the highest office of the land on a groundswell of rejection of the previous administration that had ruled these British Isles for more than a decade and a half. The world was still a fractious place after the terrible recession of the early nineties. Usually after a recession things boomed as trimmed down industries were able to increase their profitability through a resurgence of demand and increase output per dollar invested in manpower. Worldwide though, from Osaka to Calcutta, from Pittsburgh to Cardiff, things were different. The recession had been the worst almost everywhere since the Depression of the thirties and the emergence of ever smarter computers had rapidly taken away many of the more menial though essential jobs that were in some ways the cornerstone of society and a workable economy.

Consequently unemployment had not gone away as hoped. Inflation began to again raise its ugly head causing an inevitable increase in interest rates, a topsy turvy money market and a sluggish trade market worldwide. Nowadays, three percent economic growth was looked upon as marvellous. Not even Japan and Germany basked in the fiscal sunshine anymore and with the war in Bosnia getting worse and not better a feeling of gloom hung over much of Europe this northern winter.

James Faulkner knew he had to do something or this would be his one and only term as PM. He had just over two years to run and he was determined to win the next election on the achievements of his government. He certainly didn’t want to go down in history as one of those failure ridden single shot Prime Ministers who are ridiculed one day and forgotten the next. That was definitely not James Faulkner’s style, though just how he would overcome this fate was something he had not figured out that morning as his Jaguar silently glided away from Number Ten.


CHAPTER 2

The northern winter had turned to spring while in the southern hemisphere the exact reverse process was underway. Also well underway was Operation Rosario II.

President Moreno had met for two days with his ruling clique and in those fateful 48 hours they had refined their battle plan to the point where each and every man, even including the ultra cautious foreign minister, was certain that they would win.

The main thing to remember, they kept telling themselves, was that all they had to do was to fortify the islands to the point where the British would be unable militarily to be able to recapture them without paying a price far in excess of what any sane western nation could endure. And thus the political battle would also be won.

From there it would only be a matter of negotiating a political settlement that allowed Britain to withdraw completely without losing face. As far as the Argentines were concerned this would not be a problem as surely if they really wanted to retain some form of credibility of possession they would be doing a batter job of it then they had in recent years.

Indeed in the months since President Moreno had first conceived the idea of his grand plan the British had already announced a withdrawal of forces. It seemed a warship, usually a frigate, not even a destroyer, would now only be based at the Falkland’s Mare Harbour for the summer months of each year whilst no comment was made regarding the ongoing submarine presence. It was believed on good authority that a nuke only visited the region for a few weeks each year. The land garrison was now down to something like 500 men with a handful of helicopters, four Tornado interceptors and two Hercules transports plus a tanker or two. Against this Argentina could now field more than 180 combat jets, nearly 100 helicopters and had an inventory of over 200 Exocet missiles. With some justification the ruling clique felt that this time things would be different!

 

Benny Gidor grunted furiously as he heaved the Israeli Aircraft Industries Kfir C7 through the 6G turn to bring his nose to bear upon the two inbound Daggers. As predicted each passed him at a closing rate of over a thousand knots the leader going into a tight high alpha climb whilst his wingmen began a wide horizontal turn that in theory would bring both aircraft into a firing position on the lone Kfir in about 15 seconds time.

Only trouble was that by this time the highly experienced Gidor had already outmanoeuvred both of them and had used the superior turning and accelerative capabilities of his Kfir to cut the turn of the second Dagger to meet it from its blind quarter to execute a textbook kill using just one of his simulated Python 4 infra-red air-to-air missiles. The second Dagger didn’t even see his wingman ‘die’ and was an easy setup as he dived vertically expecting to find the Kfir ready for the taking.

For a brief second Gidor thought that this was even easier than fighting the Syrians. That of course had been a long time ago, he was a very young man then and the man he was about to dispatch was probably barely out of nappies then. Sure enough the lead Dagger came out of his dive precisely at the altitude he initiated it, his first mistake - predictability - had already cost him dearly as Benny Gidor, no rank no serial number, threw the Kfir down on him for a close in guns kill. It was all over in less than thirty seconds, two Daggers confirmed and sadly for his clients it had been the third such result in their brief 55 minute training sortie out of the specially equipped air combat manoeuvring range to the north east of Comodoro Rivadavia.

These guys had gotta get better, he thought as he called ‘fight’s off’ and the two hapless Argentine bogeys formated on his jet for the brief transit back to base and a vigorous debrief.

Comodoro Rivadavia was busier nowadays then it had ever been. With something like 70 to 80 aircraft coming and going at a frenetic pace Gidor often wondered what the end purpose of all this was. He had arrived to head the specialist training operation when his predecessor suffered a back injury whilst ejecting from a Mirage following an engine flameout. He was a senior partner in a soldier of fortune operation called the International Air Combat Academy and was backed up by a dozen other highly skilled retired fighter pilots who specialised in training the recruits of nations wishing to have combat pilots worthy of the title.

Indeed, the business had proven itself a great success and in its decade of operation had training wings in no less than seven countries. It even provided background specialist advice to several NATO governments and had achieved excellent results wherever it went.

Gidor and his compatriots though were not young men. In fact the young boggys, slang for ab initio fighter jocks, often referred to them as the senior citizens though when it came to showtime the boot was on the other foot and all but the biggest ego would sit for hours and listen intently to ‘how it should be done’ in the mess long after it was sane to go home. Those that didn’t would invariably wash out very quickly.

Benny Gidor had retired from a mind bending desk job in the Heyl Ha’Avir HQ in Tel Aviv a decade ago and now was in hog’s heaven not only flying but flying one of the best pilot’s aircraft around, the Kfir. These Kfirs were special too. They had been upgraded to the latest Kfir 2000 spec and as such were without doubt the most potent combat aircraft on the South American continent.

He knew he couldn’t keep up the pace too much longer though at least by the time the boggys were good enough to beat him they would be sent on to operational squadrons to further hone their talents.

Leaving the briefing office Gidor spotted two of his fellow instructors, Dan Carlisle and Ed Stallone, approaching from the flightline.

‘Hi guys’ Yelled Giudor above the rumble of taxying jets.

‘How ‘ya goin Benny, you ‘ol bastard!’ Came the not unexpected response from Dan Carlisle. Carlisle was a Texan, ex USAF F-15 Eagle driver and one of the most laid back guys Gidor had ever seen, out of the cockpit that is. In it and he was amongst the best and probably a reason he scored three kills during the Gulf War shortly before he too suffered the ultimate fate of having to fly a desk in some boring office building where the only planes you saw were in frames on the wall.

‘How did you fare today?’ Queried Ed Stallone, ex US Navy and a noted F-14 Tomcat pilot of many years.

‘Not good Ed, well not good for them I should say. Three engagements and they lost conclusively each time. I think these guys are being rushed through the pipeline too fast. There’s a lot to learn and as you’ve seen the training quota has doubled since last April. It’s now December and they’re still screaming out for more graduates.’ Replied Gidor thoughtfully.

‘Yeah, know what you mean, though I am finding after about 20 hours of ACM they are getting better.’ Responded Stallone.

‘Well’, responded Carlisle, ‘it’s sure as hell good for us but have you ever wondered just what they are going to do with such a big and well trained air force?’

‘Of course! They’re going to invade Antarctica and sell all the ice to the Middle East! You mean ‘ya didn’t know that!’ Came the reply from the ever jovial Carlisle with mock sincerity.

‘Hey guys, seriously, do you ever think they would have another go at the Falklands? Queried Gidor.

‘Now that would be dumb, wouldn’t it, though I was discussing the ’82 war the other night with some of the officers and I was surprised that they still feel so deeply about the whole thing. I mean Benny they really believe they should have not lost that war, can you believe that. I mean they didn’t even reinforce the strip there to put some jets into it. Really dumb, just let the British come and take it back!’ Responded Stallone.

‘Yeah, Ed’s right,’ came Carlisle, ‘The Falklands thing pops up from time to time and I reckon that one day they would like to have a go again, they even have it on their national map as the damn Malvinas!’

‘Nah, I can’t see them being that stupid, I mean all that’s there is a bunch of sheep and a few thousand penguins. It would be like Israel going to war over sand! Know what I mean? Replied a less serious Gidor.

‘Okay guys, here’s my next group, let’s turn ‘em and burn ‘em, see you in the mess at eighteen hundred.

As the irrepressible Carlisle sauntered off with his sparrows in tow Stallone and Gidor watched in silence as the thought came to both as to just why the training programme had been doubled in size in such a short period. Something was on the build, but neither could see what. In the meantime it was their job to turn these mentally impaired boggeys into the finest fighter jocks this side of the equator, and that was a job they did to perfection.

 

Senior police Sergeant John Slade stepped out onto the balcony of their cottage at the picturesque end of Port Stanley and took in the view.

He loved it here though it always wasn’t so.

Slade first came into contact with these islands, or was it the other way round, when he visited them in 1982 as a member of Her Majesty’s Royal Marines. The winter had been one of the worst on record which combined with the usual privations, fear and psychological after affects of war had left him with a high degree of interest in returning home on first ship as soon as the Union Jack flew once more over Stanley. Two years later though he had been shanghied into returning for a three month stint. It was different this time. There was no war, it was summer and he met a local lass by the name of Sandra who captured his heart like no other before.

Their love grew as rapidly as the summer was brief and soon John Slade’s time in what were now his Falklands was over. Not only had the beautiful Sandra taken his heart, so had the entire community. He, and his military compatriots from every service and unit had indeed taken the islanders to heart and vice versa. The heroic battles fought in the war to liberate the islanders was not forgotten by them nor was the sheer courage shown by these simple folk in withstanding the abuse and domination of their captors.

Back in the UK, Slade was dumbstruck at how much he missed Sandra. He had never been in love before, well not really, and at 30 years of age it was perhaps time he began to think in the longer term. England wasn’t really offering much these days, he was getting less enthused with the military as not being an officer he had little real potential for advancement and besides, his heart was really not in it anymore.

With that, he resigned and headed south to see whatever fate awaited him. The reception at Stanley when he finally arrived, by Twin Otter from Punta Arenas in far off Chile, was nothing short of incredible.

The many friends he had made now showed their appreciation at his having returned to live with them in these remote islands but to also once more put a smile on Sandra’s young face.

That seemed so long ago as he watched for a moment the small cruise ship disembarking its passengers at the distant wharf. The Falklands were now becoming very popular with eco tourists, particularly those people who were into birds and such like. There seemed to be an insatiable demand for penguin spotting and coupled with the increasingly popular sport of trout fishing, the Falklands were hosting visits from three and four thousand tonne cruise ships every week during the southern summer. Most were converted Russian icebreakers and their itineraries usually took in Tierra del Fuego, South Georgia and the outer reaches of Antarctica with their operational base being Punta Arenas.

Slade liked the people these ships, and also nowadays the aircraft, brought to the Falklands. These were people who were interested in the better things of life and, more importantly of preserving what was natural. He had noted with interest though in recent months that there were a lot more Chilean and Brazilian visitors arriving and that for some reason these people seemed more interested in overland treks, camping as they went, literally hiking from one end of the islands to the other.

He had mentioned this to others and was gratified to find that he was not alone. It seemed odd that all of a sudden so many South Americans would be interested in something that traditionally they normally wouldn’t have been inclined to do. Additionally, most of the hikers were men under 30 who also seemed to know their stuff though you never seemed to be able to get into conversation with them as they always tended to keep to themselves.

Most tourists would partake in Stanley’s somewhat limited nightlife as much as possible but generally these people would rarely be seen around town. Another strange thing was that though Slade’s grasp of Portuguese was limited, whenever he tried to talk to the Brazilians they would act very strange and do everything possible to politely avoid conversation. Maybe it was the uniform, he pondered, though they were really the same even when I wear civvies, Slade thought.

‘Daddy! Aren’t you ready yet, the fish will be all gone.’ Came a high pitch yell from the hallway. It was the youngest female of the Slade clan, Sarah the ever active six year old with her four year old brother Michael in tow.

It was Sunday and it was Slade’s day off and he had promised to introduce Sarah and Michael to the thrills of fishing. Joining them was Samuel Hunter, the owner and proprietor of one of Stanley’s best known pubs, the Hero of Sheffield.

Hunter, just four years senior to Slade, and both men still impeccably fit, would walk and fish these islands as much as their free time allowed. Today though was to be a relatively tame expedition down to the jetty in Stanley Harbour where if lucky they would catch enough for a grand dinner that night in the Oak Room at the Sheffield.

Situated as it is just a hundred metres from the liner wharf, the jetty afforded both men a royal view of the comings and goings of Port Stanley this day, something both always enjoyed particularly when a cruise ship was visiting. Again though Slade was astounded how many young people, young men, could afford the fairly hefty prices that these trips demanded. A group filed past them in an enthusiastic stride before departing down Ross Road and out towards Mount Tumbledown.

For a brief moment something came to John Slade as he almost disinterestedly watched the progress of the half dozen men that had passed them earlier. A split second glimpse of his own time in the Marines flashed across his eyes as he noticed their precise step, separation from each other and the purposeful manner in which they climbed the ridgeline. You rarely saw civilian hikers walking with such discipline he thought. And these guys never seem to take a break, stop and take in the view and brew a cuppa. They just purposefully march on and out of sight.

‘Daddy, I’ve got one!’ Shouted Sarah and his thoughts returned to the present.

‘Ah, a fish, at last, and what a whale we shall feast on tonight.’ Chortled Hunter as Sarah reeled in what was a very healthy specimen of a whiting.

By mid afternoon they had caught enough fish to keep them going for a week and it was time to enjoy the afternoon tea that Sandra had promised. Such was the simple quality of life in the Falklands and John Slade wondered why on earth anyone would want to live in a big city after sampling the beauty of this place. Despite his relaxed state though he couldn’t get the fleeting image of the visiting hikers marching towards Tumbledown out of his mind. Something just didn’t seem right.

If he had been a more crafty soul he would have suggested that perhaps these people weren’t tourists at all but rather recon patrols preparing for something grander than ornithology and penguin watching. Now that’s ludicrous he told himself, Argentina has been going out of its way this past year to ease the simmering tension that had existed between Britain and the mainland. There’s no way they would waste all those resources on doing it again, no way. Still, he reminded himself privately, he would try and engage some of these visitors in deeper conversation next time he ran across them.

 

Wing Commander James Liddell sat and pondered the hand delivered letter that lay before him. He wasn’t quite sure how to deal with its contents and should send it upstairs to the Ambassador for a second opinion.

The source of Liddell’s concern lay in an invitation to participate as a VIP guest in a major upcoming naval exercise off Uruguay. This was the second time in less than a year that high ranking members of the British Embassy had been invited to Argentine military exercises.

In most country’s this would be ops normal though in Argentina it was odd considering that, technically speaking, the 1982 Falklands war had not been conceded as a defeat by that nation. The general consensus as best he could gather was that they had just left, that the British hadn’t really forced them out and that they would be back at some time in the future to claim their Islas Malvinas.

Just my bloody cynical mind! Thought Liddell absently to himself.

After all, so much had changed since 1982. The USSR had disappeared, Russia was wanting to join NATO, American tourists cram Cuban casinos and beach resorts and even China and Taiwan have formed a joint trading alliance. Why wouldn’t Argentina want a better relationship with England? They have lost a lot of trading opportunities since the embargo began and a lot of high profile Brits have been down here lately, even another royal visit of sorts, just like in ’95.

As these thoughts circumnavigated Liddell’s mind he made a firm decision to accept the President’s personal invitation to be a guest at the forthcoming Operation Santa Fe.

Besides, thought Liddell, it was aboard the Hercules, a British built Type 42 destroyer and essentially a sistership to the Sheffield and Coventry that the Argys had sunk in ’82. Hell, it couldn’t be that bad as even British firms were nowadays bidding for a contract to upgrade the two Type 42s in the Argentine navy. Besides Liddell, despite being an air force man from way back, liked ships. Even though this was winter it would be an adventure he decided, and besides it would get him out of the damn office for a few days.

 

Troopers Bill McGirvan and Max Phillips waited patiently inside the passenger movements area at the Mt Pleasant air base for the RAF TriStar to arrive with two more of their SAS compatriots.

‘Well at least it’s warm in here.’ Muttered Phillips to McGirvan.

Both men had spent the past three days on ops, a euphemism for moving about the more remote parts of East Falkland without being observed. It meant living off what you could carry or find and hiding up in makeshift shelters made from rocks and camouflage netting.

In late August it wasn’t the best of assignments but, hell, somebody had to do it. Or so they constantly told themselves.

The Special Air Service routinely had a detachment of usually eight of their kind based somewhat covertly at the end of the Mt Pleasant strip in a detachable surrounded by shipping containers. To the uninitiated, which included the bulk of the local military, it looked just like any other container park. But to the SAS it was their domain. Where they holed up free from visitors and could protect their exotic cache of purpose designed weaponry so beloved of special forces people the world over.

Now the two men waited for another two to replace their equal number who had departed the previous week. A tour of the Falklands usually lasted around two months and in most cases it was looked upon as a pleasant diversion from such hell holes as Northern Ireland, Bosnia and Central America.

‘Here it comes!’ McGirvan got up and walked over to the external viewing area with Phillips joining him a moment later. Though it was still winter the day was kind, in fact the whole winter had been one of the mildest on record, something that all of the island's inhabitants had been equally thankful for.

’What are their names again?’ Phillips asked of McGirvan as the TriStar breezed in on short finals.

Trooper John Peters and our new boss, Major Mike Robson.’ Replied McGirvan.

‘I hope Robson has got it all together.’ McGirvan uttered almost as an afterthought.

‘What do you mean.’ Queried Phillips sensing some interesting scandal.

‘Well, about eighteen months back he lost both his wife and young daughter. They were both murdered!’

‘I remember that but didn’t know the poor bastard’s name.’ Replied Phillips respectfully.

I was at Hereford at the time, staying on base but like a lot of the family guys Robson was renting a bungalow just out of town. He loved gardening, as did Elsie his wife and they even did some mods on the place to make it better than it was. A bloody tragedy, the whole thing.’

‘What exactly happened, I was in Colombia at the time and only got a second hand version of the story?’ Queried Phillips.

‘Well we had been having a lot of ops in the Brecons and Mike was away for about three days. His wife had complained that two men, who she described as pretty rough and lived just down the lane, had bothered her and Judy, their eight year old on two different occasions in the one week. Anyway Mike responds by going down to ‘have a talk’ but they’re not there. Turns out they’re in town nicking stuff, all of which turns up at their house later on when the police search it.

‘Trouble is that Mike is then tasked with observing the final stage of the selection course and has to go away for a few days. When he comes back he finds the front door ajar, goes inside and finds the home ransacked and his wife and daughter dead. Not just dead but butchered. Elsie was raped and then stabbed while Judy had been badly beaten and left to die, which she would have done alone and in agony.

‘Mike absorbs it all and calls the police. They arrive and take details and he disappears. Simply bloody well disappears. For three days. We all went searching for him thinking that he might do himself in. Well he just shows up, not saying anything and naturally the ruperts leave him alone, fix up some counselling and we all get together to help him through it.

‘Well blow me down. About a week later two bodies are washed up on The Wash. It’s the two from the house down the road, who by this stage are primary suspects and being noted in a large number of offences in the area. Both have no injuries other than broken necks, and the autopsy says that they died before entering the water. We all guessed that that probably ruled out them falling off a cliff or something. The coppers came about and asked a few more questions and London Police intervened to say that they had been after these two for a year on suspected rape and criminal assault charges in South London. The investigation is closed and that’s that.

‘Poor bloody Mike though has never been the same since. Sure, he wasn’t the mad party animal that most of us are, never was, but now he doesn’t say much at all. If you can get a laugh out of him you’re doing well and maybe the brass have sent him down here for some R&R, as far away from England as you can get.

‘So that’s the story of Major Mike Robson. I think we’ll take him down to the Upland Goose tonight and get a few ales into him, do him good.’

‘Hell, how do you get over something like that?’ Replied Phillips.

‘You don’t my boy, you don’t, you just try to contain it, its all you can do.’

 

Police Sergeant John Slade had heard the distress call from the Peruvian registered fishery research vessel an hour earlier and strolled down to the dock to watch it come in.

It would be his job to quickly check it out and take the details of the crew and any passengers they may have. Those aboard would have to stay aboard unless they had UK citizenship or valid entry papers for the Falklands, something which he considered unlikely as this was no cruise liner but rather a converted inter island steamer of about 2000 tonnes and a little worse for wear at that. Still, its arrival would brighten up the day as few ships visited at this time of year and they hadn’t had a Royal Navy frigate berth there since the summer. Something that Slade, and most Falklanders considered ominous for their long term serenity.

An hour later the MV Atacama motored into view around Tussac Point and down through The Narrows into Stanley Harbour. Slade had been told by RAF search and rescue, who had located the ship the day before with one of their Hercules, that it only had a generator failure and they wanted to get to a safe anchorage where they could strip down the unit in calm waters.

Once the Atacama had secured at Government Wharf, Slade had been welcomed aboard by the skipper and his executive officer. Both very friendly and thankful for being allowed to repair their ship in the safety of Stanley harbour. A dozen or so other people, mostly Peruvians, or similar, were introduced to him., It was obvious some were of a scientific bent and the ship seemed to have what appeared to be fishery research gear aboard including a large trawling system off the stern. At just under a hundred metres in length she seemed to have a hull shape much bigger than Slade expected for a fishery vessel. When he queried this the skipper, in faltering English, stated that his ship had a sizeable cold store in which to keep the various fish species that they caught, and hence the urgency in fixing the generator which of course kept the cold store just that.

The Atacama would obviously be a part of the Stanley landscape for the next several days. Something Police Sergeant John Slade didn’t really mind as he departed the ship with a gift of a ten kilogram tuna!

Hmm! Maybe this should happen every day, he thought as he headed for the Hero of Sheffield to display his prize.

 

James Liddell felt invigorated as the Hercules cruised down the Rio de la Plata line stern with her sistership, Santisima Trinidad behind the bulk of their flagship, the ageing Colossus class carrier Veinticinco de Mayo and a dozen other vessels of differing sizes and types. He counted an oiler, several frigates and even a submarine discretely bringing up the rear.

For the next four days the old destroyer would be his home and he was indeed looking forward to the briefings of what the objectives of the exercise would be. Though a pilot, Liddell had always been fascinated by ships and the sea, something that had made him convert across many years before to Maritime Command and the opportunity to fly Nimrods. He had enjoyed those days but like all good things the flying came to an end when he reached his mid forties. A desk was the only thing he now flew, and a rather boring desk at that.

As Argentina was still somewhat of a limbo land as far as Whitehall was concerned you just didn’t get the opportunity to enjoy your host’s hospitality and the odd joyride that was par for the course in more civilised places such as Canada, the States or Australia. Oh well, I’m here now and it should be a good learning experience as well as damn good fun, he contemplated as the battle group began to pick up speed and leave Buenos Aires far in the distance. In little over an hour they would be in the open ocean and heading north to exercise against their perceived foe.

Several hours later Liddell presented himself to the officers mess for a pre dinner drink. There would be, following the normal formality of things, a formal dinner before going to action stations and commencing the wargames. Liddell thought this quite civilised and enjoyed his time with three of the senior officers and for a brief time, the captain. At an hour before midnight it was time for him to turn in. Tomorrow would be a busy day and he was eager to be on the receiving end of maritime warfare as apparently the Fuerza Aerea Argentina was planning to jump their naval comrades at every opportunity. On hearing of his visit to the exercise, British military intelligence had prepped him solidly to gain as much useful information as he could as few outside observers were ever invited aboard operational ships of the Argentine navy.

Before turning in he ventured out on deck to enjoy a cigarette. Smoking wasn’t allowed inside the crew quarters or the mess, something he considered strange for a South American culture, though at least it did give him an excuse to once more go out on deck without being hassled by security minded sailors.

The night was clear and cold as the destroyer cut its way through the mild swell. He could just make out the shape of the carrier many kilometres to starboard and one of the frigates far astern. The throbbing of the engines and the vibrations and shudders that every ship makes at sea stirred his mind to savour the moment. Almost as good as flying, he thought.

Strange though, despite his Spanish being rudimentary and the officers English being of about the same standard he did detect a mixture of unease at his presence and yet a sort of festival atmosphere in the mess that seemed out of place with a ship about to go active on an exercise. It almost seemed as if the men were expecting a great victory tomorrow, well they certainly knew more than he, so perhaps they were, he would just have to wait and see.

James Liddell took one last pull on his cigarette, savoured the sight of the moon upon the South Atlantic and began to turn away for the warmth of his cabin.

It was then that it hit him. The moon was on the port side of the ship. Shouldn’t it be on the starboard side, he thought, if we are supposed to be heading north?

James thought for a moment and guessed that perhaps they were heading south to gain a tactical advantage of some sort. No doubt in the morning all would be revealed.

 

President Moreno sat smiling in his large chair, some called it his throne, at the head of the oval table in his private office in the Casa Rosada. His warlords were all their, his First Team. Molteni, Luna, Dimeglio, Donadille, Valko and Alvirez.

‘Gentlemen, this evening is the beginning of Day One of our new tomorrow. The Taskforce has sailed on schedule this afternoon and by midnight will be within two hundred kilometres of the Malvinas. Our planes are ready and waiting to lift off at first light and our Marines and special forces would now be in operation. By dawn the Malvinas will be back in Argentine hands, by noon the citizens of our nation and indeed the entire world will know of our great conquest.’ President Juan Moreno was in fine style as were his warlords.

‘We have worked hard this past year and a half. We have built our forces up to the point where they are the best equipped and trained in all of South America and we know what to do politically.

‘Those stupid British would not even have the slightest idea of what we are about to do. They would never think we would invade in winter and we even invited their defence attaché aboard one of our destroyers to convince them of how friendly we had become’. At this the entire group laughed and shared another champagne.

It would be a fitting start to their great adventure and a new tomorrow for the country they truly loved. All knew that this was the thing to do to guarantee Argentina’s future into the next century. Rosario II was underway and nothing could stop it. Tomorrow would be a day of much rejoicing.


CHAPTER 3

General Edwardio Fernandez had reason to smile. It was now almost midnight and he knew that his GOE special forces would be in the final stages of taking control of the three crucial radar stations in the Malvinas.

Disguised as hikers on a nature study walk, a dozen had trekked from Stanley through the day to the Mount Kent area where at midnight they would take the large radar station located near the peak of that famous landmark. The Mount Kent facility housed an advanced Marconi Series 600 air defence radar and was the primary air defence and sea surveillance reporting and control radar for the entire Malvinas, covering as it did the main population centres at Stanley and Mount Pleasant. At the same time Marine commandoes, who had come ashore just after dusk from submarines would similarly take out the back up radar stations on Byron Heights in the north of West Malvinas and Mount Alice to the south. Both stations gave early warning to the Mount Kent facility and thus were crucial to the defence of the islands. Their passing into Argentine hands would not only nullify any British response but would also greatly assist in providing an air traffic control facility for the armada of aircraft, civilian and military, that would descend upon the islands come dawn.

At six minutes past midnight the radio room came alive with the confirmation that Fernandez, the new military commander of the Malvinas, had been waiting for so anxiously.

‘Cobra to base, Alice, Kent, Byron secured, no casualties, all systems operational, await crewing’. Came the businesslike report from the mission commander who now would be obviously enjoying the comforts of the Mount Kent HQ, probably somewhat relieved but proud nevertheless that his forces had been able to achieve their goal without bloodshed and so easily. These British, he thought, maybe they weren’t the lions they were made out to be?

The men in the command centre aboard the carrier Veinticinco de Mayo cheered at the thought of their painless victory over the very brains of the British military presence on their Malvinas. Fernandez called for hush while they awaited the response from the primary team, made up of GOE commandoes and Marines, most of whom had been ensconced for the past week aboard the specially modified ‘research’ vessel Atacama.

This special forces team comprised some 120 men, each a specialist in his trade and each having rehearsed his role hundreds of times these previous months with purpose built replicas of what they would encounter on the Malvinas. Their primary objective was to take over the Mount Pleasant military complex comprising a Royal Marine barracks and the air base itself without bloodshed.

Both were served from the same security patrolled entry point but once inside access to the rest of the base was easy. Besides, this was a late winter’s Sunday night, a time when almost every person on the islands, military and civilian alike would be tucked up in bed asleep. And no doubt even the guards in the security complex at the main gate, though awake, would too be wishing they were asleep to if anything just to break the monotonous boredom of their dull and seemingly pointless routine.

Argentina had, through agents and their various special forces, been monitoring this pattern for over a year and a half. They knew that of all the nights that surveillance was slack it was Sunday that was the worst. It always was, no matter where you were, people simply wound down on Sunday nights and the only thing that would alter this would be a distinct probability of a threat. And certainly none had come from Argentina for many years.

Indeed the overall British image of the modern day Argentina was of a country bending over backwards to try and heal the simmering wounds of the 1982 war. Overtures had been made regarding recommencing a jet airline link between Buenos Aires and the islands and of opening up free trade between the two areas. This would provide a major boom for the Malvinas and the British had attended the talks in a positive manner. ‘We are pleased at the conciliatory and positive manner in which the Argentine government attends these discussions.’ Came the response from one of the British embassy negotiators when questioned recently on CNN.

Indeed, this night, this Sunday night with a cold winter wind blowing, the gatepost at Mount Pleasant was hardly what you would call the most heavily defended place on earth. Indeed, the two security police on duty didn’t even see the sedative tipped darts that hit them, one while preparing a coffee and the other was a world away watching a video on of all things, Miss Euro Nude!

That done, the remaining 100 men fanned out slowly towards their various points of interest. The majority went for the RAF and Royal Marines barracks. There they would simply enter with protective gas masks in place, throw in the prescribed number of gas canisters and within a dozen seconds every human within the facility would be sound asleep, for at least four to five hours.

The hangar maintenance facility was not unnaturally found to be unmanned whilst the control tower was occupied by its sole operator who at the time of capture was dozing. Again, not unexpected since no ops were on the board and none were expected, after all this wasn't exactly Heathrow and planes just didn't drop in from beyond without prior invitation.

The occupants of the RAF/RN barracks suffered a similar fate to that of the Marines. The whole objective of the exercise was to take over the facilities with minimum violence. If the taking of the islands could be done without casualties then it would be a major public relations coup for Argentina and one that the CNN crew would lap up when they arrived the next day. They would bear witness to the Argentine government’s efforts to ensure that no Englander, or Falklander was injured in any way, that they were being repatriated poste haste via Argentina to Britain and that they would be financially compensated for the loss of their possessions.

While the primary force was busy mopping up the remnants of the British military presence at Mount Pleasant, including the adjacent housing estate, a secondary and much smaller force had already secured the airport, the police and emergency services station and the governor’s residence in Stanley. By midnight plus 58 minutes the call finally came through to General Edwardio Fernandez that the first and most important stage of Rosario II had been successful and that the Argentine flag now flew not only in Stanley but throughout the Malvinas.

 

Police sergeant John Slade was on the verge of panic. As he fought his way through choking clouds of smoke to escape the flames that had turned the second rate South American hotel into an inferno he realised that he was well and truly disoriented. Sandra was missing and though he could hear young Sarah’s screams for help, he couldn’t see her.

In fact he realised he was rapidly getting to the point of not being able to see anything as the smoke and cinders burnt into his eyes. Sweat from the combination of heat and fear poured from his brow as he moved from position to position in bed physically living the worst of the nightmare. It was not that which brought him thankfully awake though but rather two sets of powerful hands that had grabbed him and literally heaved him from the bed.

Totally stunned he didn’t know for several seconds if this was still a dream or for real, and if so, what was happening. His brain was unable to comprehend the information and sensory overload it had just been subjected to and like anyone, anywhere in such a position he lashed out at his assailants. The room was still partially darkened and his aim was off queue as one of the two men hit him in the stomach with a force that sent him to the floor winded and doubled up in pain. This was no dream he realised, but what the hell was going on?

Sandra sat upright in bed trying vainly to protect herself by pulling the doona up to her shoulders as if this action would fend off an attacker. The two men though paid her little attention as they handcuffed her husband to the bed. She could hear another man searching the house and realised that she had to get to Sarah and Michael in the upstairs bedroom. One of the two assailants spoke to her in faltering English.

‘Madam, stay calm, we wish you no harm, your children are still asleep upstairs and we won’t harm them. My name is Major Alfredo Soleri, Argentina military forces. We have captured the Malvinas and you won’t be harmed, we simply ask that you do as we say or we will have to tie you up.’

Sarah sat in the bed shaking, stunned at what was happening and remembering back almost two decades to the nightmare that had befallen them that winter of 1982. Now it was happening all over again and she knew that this time the outcome might well be different.

 

In the rear of the Slade’s home was a small annex that for the past week had housed Sandra’s mother whilst her own home was being rented out to a group of visiting technicians from British Petroleum.

A timeless and astute lady of just over 50, Janet Wishbourne heard the commotion and listened intently at the locked door that separated the main home from the semi attached annex. She had heard the shouts in Spanish and the faltering English of Major Soleri explaining what was happening. She had quickly hidden in a concealed food locker located behind the bookcase. Just why this was there was something that a lot of people had often queried. Apparently it dated back to the last century and when the home and annex was renovated in the mid eighties it was decided to retain the oddity as a part of the cottage’s rustic charm, something that Janet Wishbourne was presently very thankful for.

Not anyone’s fool, Janet Wishbourne had seen and lived through a lot in her half century and was always quick to sum up a situation. Consequently as she fled to the relative safety of the food locker she grabbed the mobile phone that her son in law had lent her that evening.

This though was no ordinary mobile phone. It was a Nokia 9001, one of the new breed of cellular phones that linked directly into the Inmarsat P satellite system. These phones held the potential to revolutionise the world’s communications industry as they didn’t need ground stations of any kind and could operate anywhere on the planet. You could thus call the UK from the remotest part of the Falklands as easy as you could call next door, your signal being received, encrypted and retransmitted in real time via a constellation of geostationary satellites orbiting high above the earth.

With this phone, and John Slade was the only civilian to have one in the Falklands for a short trial, she could dial up anyone she knew in England and this is precisely what she did the moment the Argentines had left her room obviously deciding that its occupant was elsewhere.

She saw on the back a series of autodial test numbers with handwriting alongside each number indicating its destination. She quickly scanned this and pressed in 05, the number for Scotland Yard and hoped the hell that this new fangled thing worked as advertised.

‘Scotland Yard, communications division.’ Came the pleasant and wonderfully familiar voice of a young British police woman.

‘Look, please listen carefully. My name is Janet Wishbourne. My son in law is the senior police sergeant at Port Stanley. I am locked in a cellar and my family is under guard from what must be the Argentine army. What can I do?’

A few seconds silence made Janet think that the line had dropped out when finally the calm but now curious voice of the young female bobby came back on the line.

‘Mamm, where are you, where is Port Stanley, do you need a police car to attend, if so I can link you direct to the emergency number.’

‘No you don’t understand!’ Janet replied, now beginning to get frustrated and realising that she had better get this message over quickly as it would surely be only a matter of a short time before their ‘guests’ would return and discover her hideaway.

‘I am in the police sergeant’s home at Port Stanley, the Falkland Islands and we have been invaded again by Argentina. I don’t have any more information than that. I am using a new satellite mobile phone. You must tell your superiors and inform the British government immediately!

A world away, a stunned policewoman politely asked her to hold while she hurriedly connected the call upstairs to the intelligence unit. If it was a crank they would suss it out and if not then well, it really was beyond her job description to cope with international incidents, invasions or thermonuclear attacks, wasn’t it, she reasoned.

A male voice came on the line after a 20 second wait.

‘Mrs Wishbourne, is it? My name is Inspector Michael Travers, Scotland Yard intelligence unit, what can I do to help you?

‘Look, inform the government immediately that the Falklands are bloody well under attack from Argentina. The invasion is already happening, for God’s sake man inform the queen or something! Janet was now getting more than testy and beginning to feel she was talking to a bunch of primary school students rather than one of the best police forces in the world.

‘Look, I need to get a few more details from you, you say tha….

Janet heard the men returning and held the phone up towards the door so that hopefully whoever was on the line would be able to hear for themselves.

Two of the Argentine commandoes had returned. They spoke in Spanish, not shouting as she had hoped they would but rather speaking in a tone of purposeful conversation, of short direct sentences, of men who were professionals and knew what they were about. They obviously knew that this room had been occupied and that nobody in the main house, including the children would say anything about a third adult. They also knew that they would have to leave the premises any moment as they needed to join the main force in the nearby recreation centre with their prisoners.

A world away Michael Travers kept trying to gain his caller’s attention when he overheard sounds in the background. He identified as best he could men speaking a foreign language. Which he cautiously identified as Spanish from a recent holiday on the Costa Brava. That’s odd, he thought, maybe this isn’t a hoax call after all. A trace had indicated quickly that the call hadn’t originated from a regular landline type phone and certainly not in the London precinct. Though it was impossible to decipher or locate the new generation digitals it was obvious that the call was coming from beyond the British Isles.

With the men now moving furniture around it seemed only a matter of seconds before she would be discovered.

A loud yell came from within the house and both men responded in reply and left. She could hear the footsteps moving away and a number of other people leaving, a door shutting, the front door she decided, before she was left alone in her darkened retreat alone and in silence.

She thought for a moment and spoke softly into the phone.

‘They’ve gone now and it appears the house is empty, it sounds as if they have taken the family somewhere. I must hide here if they are not to capture me also.’ Janet calmly advised the now befuddled Inspector Travers who came back quickly on the line.

‘Look, have a look around when it is safe, get some things for where you are hiding, food and water, don’t disturb the house and get back to me on this number. I will call Whitehall now, good luck.’

Travers hung up, knowing he couldn’t keep the link open eternally like a normal phone or else the batteries would run down and they would both lose contact. He’d had some strange calls in his time at the Yard but this one beat them all. A woman locked in a cupboard or something in the Falklands advising them that the Argentines had invaded. It can’t be true, must be a hoax. Or at least he hoped.

 

One in the morning in the Falklands pretty well equated with dawn in London and consequently the city still slept under a serene veneer of peace.

The duty desk at the Ministry of Defence in the Dickensean Whitehall offices was manned with just one person at this hour of the day. Numerous defence cuts over many years had ensured that at times this place could be virtually deserted save a few slumbering old timers masquerading as security guards. The problems of Bosnia and Chechnya were a long way away from these bureaucrats while a distant group of windswept islands in the very depths of the South Atlantic were all but forgotten in modern day England.

When the red phone rang through to the communications cell it startled its lone occupant who was deeply enmeshed in completing a paper for his correspondence law degree. The graveyard shift was pretty good for this. Nothing much happened and there was rarely anyone else around to disturb your studies.

For the red phone to ring though signalled something important was underway. Jonathan Davies moved quickly to answer the phone before it exceeded five rings, a point at which if it wasn’t answered there would be hell to pay later in the day.

Probably a test, another practice alert, just to see if I’m awake down here in the bowels of Fort Fumble! Thought Jonathan as he quickly reached for the receiver.

‘Hello, MoD comm centre, Davies speaking.’

‘Davies, this is detective inspector Michael Travers from Scotland Yard.’

The red phone was a direct and secure link with Scotland Yard, other key MoD facilities, Number Ten and even the Palace. When it rang you answered it quickly.

‘We’ve just had a strange call from a woman at Port Stanley in the Falkland Islands claiming that there has been an Argentine invasion. She sounded genuine and we could hear Spanish dialect voices in the background though couldn’t interpret what they were saying. We’re having the tape run back for analysis now. Can you run a check with your people there that everything is okay?

‘Certainly, inspector, hold the line and I will run a standard comms check now.’ Responded a concerned Davies.

Wow, some sort of an entertaining alert this is, glad it isn’t April 1 or I would be telling this clown that it had just been overrun by the Patagonians! Mused Davies to himself as he pressed in the autodial code to the primary communications node at the British Forces Falkland Islands HQ at Mount Pleasant some thirteen and a half thousand kilometres to the south west.

Obviously a part of the quick reaction alert was to give these guys a shake up too. They would probably be out romancing penguins at this hour of the night, thought Davies.

That’s funny, that’s a dozen rings then it disconnects.

‘Inspector, I can’t reach them at this moment, I will keep trying, probably a minor technical glitch somewhere.’ Davies informally told the man from Scotland Yard who deep down began to feel very uneasy. Christ! I didn’t even get her number, he thought to himself.

‘Okay, can you keep trying. Look Davies, for the record this is for real, it isn’t an alert and to be honest I’ve got a bad feeling about this. Call me back in five minutes at the latest, I’m going to have to go direct to the Foreign Office after that with what I’ve already been told.

‘Understood sir, I will keep trying and will try some of the local numbers down there too, I’ll be back to you in five, no later.’ With that Davies hung up the phone and autodialled the Mount Pleasant number again whilst scanning through the database of auxiliary numbers for the Falklands operation. There were more than three dozen auxiliaries ranging from the FIGAS airport manager at Port Stanley to the local police, customs official, the governor and even the management of the all powerful Falkland Islands Company and the individual members of the local legislative assembly.

His autodialling again achieved nothing, this time the phone didn’t even ring, it was as if it was dead. But it couldn’t be, this wasn’t any normal regular phone connection, it was a direct non jammable satellite system with encryption as an optional extra for the most discreet of conversations to and from anywhere on Earth! It was inconceivable that it wasn’t working, that it was dead. Davies quickly began dialling the other number and found the same result. With several phones he could call multiple numbers at a time though it didn’t help. Either there would be no answer or the line was dead.

Something was terribly wrong.

His call to Michael Travers only made things worse. The Scotland Yard man had called the local police HQ in Stanley only to find the line down. He then dialled the home numbers of the three most senior policemen and found them dead also. Both Travers and Davies now knew that the mystery woman’s call was not a hoax and that they were perhaps witnessing the first minutes of the end of what had been a tranquil and pleasant English summer.

 

The Argentines had done their homework well.

They had firstly struck at the time when resistance would be at its least. Deep on a Sunday night. They had launched their attack in winter, albeit towards the end of the season, when the British would never have expected it even if they did have some cause for concern, which they didn’t. They did it using a small number of highly trained and well equipped specialist troops. To all intents and purposes they found the entire Falklands available for the taking with every Englander safely ensconced in the comfort of their slumber.

But they were wrong.

Six men were awake, very much awake.

One of the six was John Peters, a laconical 26 year old Londoner and a third year member of the Special Air Service. Peters had earlier in the evening taken one of the troop’s silenced off-country trail bikes down to Mare Harbour. Peters, like most SAS men, had some varied interests that many would deem to be out of the ordinary. One of his major pet interests was wildlife, particularly birds and more particularly penguins and their like. In fact, he had eagerly volunteered to go to the Falklands primarily to build up his collection of nature photography that someday he was going to make into a best selling book and retire on the proceeds.

Peters had watched a small colony of gentoos on and off for several weeks now and had already captured their likeable antics on a dozen rolls of Kodachrome. What he had this night though was something very special. The SAS was famous, or some would say, infamous, for scrounging the latest and best of special interest kit. If it was available they would get hold of it, from high velocity personal weapons to exotic comm and surveillance gear that was something that the regular boys and girls only dreamt of.

This night Peters had taken the unit’s new long rang telephoto night vision camera and was going to get some night shots of the gentoos not only returning to their nests but also feeding their young and for that matter getting up to whatever young penguins get up to in the midnight hour this south of the equator.

It was on his way back to the SAS compound, discreetly hidden at the end of the strip amongst what passed as a container and general storage area, that he noticed some unusual activity around the HQ end of the base. Peters was trained to notice anything, no matter how small, that was out of the ordinary and so he stopped his bike about a kilometre from the main gate and watched carefully using his night vision camera.

Zooming in with the 400mm lens made his heart skip a beat.

Bloody alert! The bastards up north have sprung a bloody alert and are shaking up security I bet. Peters smiled at the thought that all those comfortable RAF types and their Marine friends would now be getting a bolliking for being a bunch of slackers. Though at 0130 hours on a wintry Sunday night who could blame them for being off the air?

But who would be doing the rousing? He didn’t know of any extra forces that had recently arrived, certainly none had come in on yesterday’s TriStar. He suddenly felt uneasy and began to carefully scan the scene before him, checking at the same time that he was fully obscured from view and noting that the moon was new and largely still behind cloud.

What he saw on closer observation concerned him and he reached for the mobile phone to call base. His Nokia, a new 9001 model was one of three that the small SAS unit had been able to scrounge. The phones had proved invaluable in the month that they had had them as it freed them from the heavier and potentially trackable Clansmen unit that had previously been all that was available for longer range comms. With these little phones you could call anywhere at any time and being digital were virtually impossible to intercept or locate with a scanner.

“Disneyland, the male voice answered.’

‘Jack, is that you? It’s Peters here and I think we’ve got company!’

‘What do you bloody mean, company? Replied Jack Russell, one of the older troopers and a ten year SAS veteran who was often regarded as being close to insanity. With a name like that his ‘real’ name was not surprisingly Woofa while Peters himself had long been christened as The Penguin.

‘Look, this is serious, listen up and switch to speaker so everybody can hear me.’

‘Okay, go for it.’ Responded Russell sensing that this wasn’t party time.

‘I’m about a klik from the main gate and there is a lot of low level activity going on out here. There are a number of black trail bikes near the admin centre and men with full battle gear, I can spot M16s on a few of them, they’re in full cam gear and one has on a gas mask. A truck just arrived, didn’t even stop at the gate and looks like about a dozen men are jumping out of it carrying a lot of gear. I can’t make out much more but I get the impression this isn’t an alert!’

‘Peters, this is major Robson, get a secure vantage point, keep us informed and get back here in 15 minutes. We’re saddling up and going operational, we will get your gear ready, we’re out of here in two zero minutes.’

‘Roger, don’t forget to pack my toothbrush.’

‘Bloody maniac.’ Chided Bill McGirvan as he heaped his pack onto the floor of the small demountable they called home.

By a fluke of timing the SAS troopers were actually ready to move out. Two of their number had already departed on a four day trek into what was referred to as The Camp, the immense area beyond the main population centres of Stanley and Mount Pleasant, and were already hunkered down in the hills. At 0200 the remaining six were departing covertly to try and hunt them down. It was the usual cat and mouse game that special forces played all the time and ensured every member not only maintained the highest possible skill levels but also operated as either a team or an individual to the best of their capabilities.

Fortunately, an SAS major several years before had preached long and loud that he considered the islands a sitting duck if Argentina ever found it on its wish list to come back for a second try. He reckoned that a small number of highly trained and well prepared special forces could easily and swiftly overwhelm the inhouse defences and each succeeding year worsening budget cuts and a diminishing interest in the islands only made it more obvious that inevitably 1982 would happen all over again and that this time with a brand spanking new airbase there then things might be very different.

In the best tradition of the British military his arguments had of course largely fallen on deaf ears and little was done to even officially consider this option though largely for the simple reason that in reality there was little practical defence against well organised covert attacks by highly trained and well equipped special forces.

‘A hundred bloody Mexicans could take this place given the right training and kit!’ He used to say, though it seemed it was only his compatriots that listened. What he didn’t know was that the Argentine Army had noted his comments and had taken the plan to a full evaluation stage, with it ultimately finding its way to the desk of the President.

The major though did leave a valuable legacy. He decided, without political sanction, to develop a covert system of hides throughout the islands. What he did was to send patrols out to survey the best possible recon sights. That done they would then dig a permanent but well hidden hide that only the SAS was aware of. Each was marked by a GPS position and a visual identifier known only to the SAS on the island at the time. In fact the exercise they were about to embark upon was largely based around checking out the hides to ensure they were fully operational if ever they should be needed. Each hide contained provisions, extra batteries, some contained weapons and all contained plenty of ammo, extra clothing, food and water. It was reckoned that two men could hold up in one of these for up to a month without reprovisioning.

Of course, the major was right. And he knew that if an attack occurred, in any shape or form, if his small enclave at the distant end of the main base survived the first attack then his men would be able to take to the hills and go to ground long enough to be a real headache for the invaders.

Peters carefully noted the time on his watch, it was indeed time he left the scene of what was most definitely not a sanctioned quick reaction alert by his own military. This was for real and for the first time in his life he felt bloody scared and alone as he slowly motored the Yamaha down the back road to the specially contrived ‘hole in the wall’ that served as a covert entry to the equally covert SAS base.

By the time he arrived most of the patrol was ready. The Bergins were packed with rations, comms gear and each man had an array of ammo for their M203, 9mm Browning and a single LAW 80 just in case some heavy armour came their way. The name of the game though would be to simply disappear into the Camp and individually act as recon points to report back to the Kremlin, the SAS Intelligence HQ at Hereford in the UK.

Robson had already made emergency contact with their commander, Colonel Eric Ritley and trooper Peter Phelps out in the Camp. Once they realised that this wasn’t a razzle and that something was definitely amiss they revealed their position and prepared to recon with the others or act as a back up team if they should run into difficulties in making their escape.

Something that Ritley, a long time Falklands expert who spent as much time here as possible, considered pretty much fait accompli if this was indeed a real invasion. He knew, by dawn that this place would be as busy as Covent Garden on a summer’s Friday night.

 

The six men were busily loading the two Land Rovers when they heard it. The familiar sound was still many kilometres away as each man looked at the other, sharing a fear that only combat soldiers know. What they could hear, approaching from the south and getting louder by the second, was the sound of inbound C-130 Hercules transports. This was an invasion, the main camp must have been overwhelmed and now the heavies were cleared to land. In a quarter hour this entire base would be overrun by Argentine regulars, probably with armoured vehicles to boot. It was time to move, and move fast.

The Hercs, eight in all, flew directly overhead the base before making a right orbit for a classic descent to the final position south of the field where they would line up for their final approach. The runway lighting system had come on and even the taxiways and the large maintenance hangar were now heavily lit. The thought going through the minds of the SAS troopers was either the guys at the other end of the base had a peculiar way of hiding things or the bad guys were most definitely in control!

The first Land Rover cranked up and Major Mike Robson yelled for his men to get going while he would stay behind and buy time. Phillips, Peters and Russell looked at each other and knew that this would be the way he wanted to go, all fire and thunder. Peters began to argue but Robson yelled for him to piss off and get going and that he would catch us tomorrow.

Each of the men knew he was senior in rank and technically in command at the base in the absence of Colonel Ritley. Who were they to argue, and besides each could see that it was really what Robson wanted, to take on the world and seek amends for the year and a half of a continuing nightmare that would only die when he joined those who went before him.

The two Land Rovers moved off, lights out and headed south west towards the Cantera and Docherty’s Flat, both areas that would allow them to blend into the countryside and hide up in some of their prearranged recon positions.

The First of the Hercs had already turned base and was on short finals when Robson positioned the Milan launcher on the top of the northernmost container. From here he had a clear visual aim of fire right down to the main hangar, nearly two kilometres distant. He stabilised the sighting system and quickly dragged up four more rounds.

He was an ace on the Milan and loved the weapon. It was a highly accurate anti armour weapon usually operated by a two man team. It was portable and could devastate the ambitions of the keenest young tanker in the blink of an eye. He never thought that he would ever be using it against an aircraft though remembered in the last war that the Argentine submarine Santa Fe had been disabled by his compatriots at Grytviken using what was now a geriatric Carl Gustaff anti tank rocket. If it flew or floated, it wasn’t much good if it was full of holes, Robson figured!

He had the weapon ready to fire once the target obliged as the second Herc overflew his position about 30 seconds after the first, its blue and white roundels lending credence to the fact that this was no exercise. Robson looked around and noted that the other six aircraft now had their lights on and were in a spread out formation obviously preparing to land at 30 second intervals over the next few minutes. His best effort was to get the lead planes before they disgorged too many troops and possibly armoured vehicles.

He carefully placed the sight mark on the base of the first Hercules, which had come to a halt with the second aircraft just to its left. The infrared localiser automatically measured the angular deviation of the required flightpath and presto just like the brochure said, the Milan was ready to rock and roll!

The third Herc had just landed and was quickly pulling up about a hundred metres from the first two which was surprisingly almost still on the runway. The pilots stuffed that up he thought as he smoothly matched the crosshairs in the nightsight and pressed the trigger. There was a loud whoosh and a brief sheet of propellant as the Milan snaked forward under the direction of its jamproof wire guidance as Mike Robson fingered the small toggle joystick that directed the missile squarely into the area of the lead Herc where the wing met the fuselage. At that range, pretty much the limit of the system, the missile would take around 12 seconds to reach its climatic end. It did so actually in a little less and the resulting fireball lit the night sky for what must have been a hundred kilometres around.

‘That will teach the bastards”, screamed Robson as he hurriedly reloaded and noticed that the second aircraft was now on fire due to the continuing explosions from the hulk of the first machine alongside it. The fourth Herc had just touched down and had gone too far to initiate a go around. It stopped in the centre of the runway awaiting instructions amidst the pandemonium as the second round impacted its fuselage. A second fireball, almost as big as the first and a rain of debris, flying propellers and aluminium filled the night sky.

Those very clever special forces guys must really be pissed off by the antics of their air force mates. Robson mused as he again loaded another round into the Milan. At this rate he figured he could sit there all night and just fire away. They had four more Hercs in the circuit and he had at least a dozen rounds left though he noted that the fifth and sixth aircraft had taken evasive action and hurriedly turned away from the conflagration that lay ahead of them. Wise move he thought.

He also considered whether this was the time to leave or stay and go out as he wanted. He would not get any more aircraft with the Milan, they would seek him out with what they had already there before any more would even dare approach though in itself this would give the other guys a clear start.

It was then that he realised that at the end of the field were the four RAF Tornado fighters. If the Argentines got those then that could be a real problem and trying to sabotage them after they had secured the base would be suicidal. He jumped down from the roof of the container, grabbed his M203, three LAW 80s and went for the only vehicle left, a weird dune buggy contraption that the SAS had ‘captured’ from the Americans during the wash up of the Gulf War. They had quite a few and had allowed Britain a handful for evaluation on a ‘loan’ basis, it was rumoured in exchange for several cases of Scotland’s finest malt whisky. That they never got them back didn’t seem to be a problem and one of the beasts had found its way south in equally strange circumstances several years earlier. The guys had appropriately called it The Terminator, and it was considered fairly useless unless you were facing off against a large and dangerous crowd, an application it had been used for once in Africa where an embassy had been attacked by thousands of machete and AK47 wielding thugs. Apparently the Terminator had held them off and turned the tide long enough for the situation to resolve itself in favour of the small embassy guard.

The teeth of The Terminator was indeed formidable to anything less than an armoured vehicle. A single triple minigun arrangement was set up in the form of a braced triangle with the rounds automatically feeding into each gun. It was usually operated by a driver and gunner but could in an emergency be operated singly. Each of the three miniguns could fire over 3000 rounds a minute so a two or three second burst would really capture the attention of even the most unruly crowd. It was sort of a land version of the fabled Spectre gunship and Robson was hoping that it was just as effective.

He started The Terminator, checked that the guns were clear to fire, threw in his Bergin and then carefully set two explosive demolition charges in the SAS portacabin to detonate in 90 seconds. It was imperative that the invaders did not find anything of their presence on the base let alone capture the remainder of the very useful kit that they were forced to leave behind. The timing of the explosion would also divert their attention as he moved towards the area of their activity.

Roaring out of the compound he sped down the runway and well to the left of where the burning Hercs lay. People were running about furiously and fortunately didn’t seem to pay much attention to him. That is till he rounded off the runway and onto the taxiway that led directly to the revetments. Away from the pandemonium of the burning aircraft it was now obvious that he wasn’t an Argentine and this quickly made itself apparent when he turned directly into a group of commandoes obviously heading on foot also to the revetments. They took one look at him, the weird machine, and opened fire with their M16s just as the portacabin exploded in a massive fireball three kilometres to the south. Their attention momentarily diverted, he swerved, swung to face them and pulled the firing handle, the machine bucked as all three guns fired and the adversaries disappeared in a sea of dust, smoke and noise.

Robson turned back towards the taxiway, he could now even see the first Tornado secured in its anti blast revetment when he noticed movement to his right. He instinctively swung his head across to see one man aim and fire his M16 straight at him.

It was the last thing Major Mike Robson ever saw as he became the first British casualty of a conflict that in the weeks ahead would be called Falklands II.

 


CHAPTER 4

The lead Land Rover was now hitting nearly 100 kilometres per hour as it hurtled westwards away from the airbase. Fifty metres behind followed the second vehicle, both their drivers wearing night vision goggles as the two Land Rovers sped through the darkness. The road between Mount Pleasant and the Darwin, Goose Green area had been upgraded over the years and was now considered a highway by Falkland standards. Indeed, one of the major problems the Argentine Army had endured in 1982 was the poor road infrastructure and the difficulty in getting troops and supplies from point to point. The British had naturally undertaken a serious upgrading of these tracks in the aftermath of the war in an effort to help build the economic infrastructure of the islands. There was more than one man this night that now considered carefully just how advantaged the ‘new era’ invaders would be as a result of this British generosity.

Sergeant Steve Walls was formally in charge of the small force till they again fell under the control of their superior, Colonel Ritley, now well secreted into his hopefully undetectable hide atop the Smoko Mountains, to the west of and midway between Stanley and the airbase. However, rank in the SAS was something that a person won through respect and effort rather than privilege and consequently any SAS patrol fairly much disregarded the formalities of seniority in the cause of getting a solution to each problem as it came along. If a trooper didn’t feel that his superior was making a sound tactical decision then, unlike many areas of the services, it was considered appropriate for him to speak up and offer a counter viewpoint. Generally an all in discussion would solve the issue and the result would at the end of the day be better for it. SAS troopers were thought to think on their feet and use their initiative, cunning and myriad skills learnt through the most realistic training available. Each man this night knew that what lay ahead of them would not be easy and that they might not even survive. Each man knew that in four hours there would be hundreds of the enemy looking for them with a vengeance. That by noon they would undoubtedly have a significant helicopter force in country and also probably have all terrain armoured vehicles. They now knew that there was some type of renegade group on the loose and the damage such a unit could inflict. If they discovered that they were SAS then that would undoubtedly present their own special forces people with a grander prize to capture.

What they would have to do was to get to their hides before dawn, a near impossible task considering the distances involved and the fact that wherever they abandoned their vehicles would be a dead giveaway for their pursuers.

‘Here’s your co-ordinate and the hide location. We will stop after Goose Green, I have the details for the others,’ Walls yelled over the sound of the engine to McGirvan and Peters in the lead Land Rover.

He was just about to say something else when a massive explosion came from their rear. Peters slowed the vehicle and looked round to see a kilometre high fireball reach into the night sky. He could clearly see the second vehicle silhouetted against the glare of the explosion which was followed by a second one about 20 seconds later. The men looked at each other and grinned, Morgan had hit his target though each also knew that the race to find them had now accelerated significantly.

McGirvan looked skywards to the south west and noticed the other Hercs banking off to the right and left.

‘They will probably go into Stanley now as I guess Morgan would have hit one on the runway if he could have, come on let’s get the hell out of here!’ yelled Walls to the occupants of the two vehicles.

A quarter hour later, just short of Goose Green, the two vehicles came to a halt and Walls quickly briefed the other four men. Troopers John Peters and Max Phillips would take one of the vehicles to the south west to Egg Harbour on Falkland Sound. There they would inflate the small Zodiac which was already loaded in the Land Rover and head across the Sound to make their way up to a hide on Mount Moody. This would give them an excellent recon over the mid to lower reaches of the Sound as well as into the southern sectors of both East and West Falkland. After loading their kit into the inflated Zodiac, they would then simply drive the Land Rover into the Sound where hopefully it would sink without trace. The Zodiac would be deflated and hidden on the opposite bank and God willing the two men would be at the hide just after first light.

The others would take their vehicle as far as they could towards Port San Carlos before giving it a similar fate to the first vehicle. At least this way the Argentines wouldn’t have the benefit of knowing how far they had been able to drive from the airbase. In fact, if it went to plan they wouldn’t even know how many were involved or if they even had vehicles, contemplated Steve Walls. His thoughts were interrupted by another massive explosion, this one followed by a series of quick follow up blasts that suggested to all that Robson had obviously fled their portacabin and blown it up.

‘If he’s not captured, then they probably won’t even know we’re here for a few days’, said Walls to the other men as they rearranged their kit for the final part of the getaway.

‘He won’t be captured sarge, no way! Came the response from McGirvan, a sentiment backed up quickly by the others.

‘He’s probably grabbed the Terminator and headed downtown to create as much havoc as he can, Hell, can you picture that?’ Peters added with a grin. ‘It’d be like a bull in a china shop!”

‘Okay, I think we owe Major Robson a beer but let’s get going, RV on the net at 0800’ stated Walls seriously.

‘Phillips and Peters have a Nokia phone, as does the boss, I will take the other as I am the only one on my own and will need all the comms I can get. If you are compromised, dial in 888. That’s the emergency number to the Kremlin, they will then know that anything on that line might be a fudge and we will also know that you’re out of play. Let’s just hope the cavalry gets here soon, how long we can hide out here is anybody’s guess once they suss out what’s happened.

‘Okay men, see you soon, good luck.’

Sergeant Walls turned for his vehicle as did McGirvan and Russell while the others fired up and headed south.

Well to the east, Colonel Ritley and trooper Peter Phelps lay still in their small hide ‘enjoying’ a panoramic view of the devastation far below. It was obvious the team, his team, had made a heroic stand and what a cover it would have been. All that confusion at one end of the base whilst they made their getaway. He knew what the prearranged escape and evade would be for such an eventuality and knew that his men would now hopefully be heading out to a number of the hides that would serve as the eyes and ears of Her Majesty’s government in the Falklands in the weeks ahead.

Through his long range glasses and the special night vision scanner both men could see that three Hercules transports had been destroyed, that the SAS portacabin and much of the storage area at the south of the base had exploded and a brief firefight of sorts with a light vehicle had just taken place near the Tornado revetments. He couldn’t make out the vehicle type from this distance and with the smoke from the fires but thought it looked distinctly like the dune buggy contraption hidden away at their base for so long. If so, then Ritley knew that sadly his team was definitely less one member.

 

Janet Wishbourne had scurried about the house in the semi dark grabbing what she could. Some water, biscuits and snack food, anything prepackaged and edible without cooking and of course a spare battery for the phone plus a flashlight. She could see activity down the street, people walking about and some men on black trail bikes moving to and throe.

She then noticed that flying from the flagpole near the liberation monument was an Argentine flag. She began to cry when she realised that much now depended upon her if only she could keep hidden long enough to be able to report back to England on what was actually happening.

She hurried to the food locker, carefully arranged her hiding place for a long stay and shut the concealed door behind her. In the half light of the torch she dialled in the Scotland Yard number and was relieved when not only did it get connected on the first ring but Michael Travers was already on the line.

‘Janet, thank God you’re back to us. Listen carefully, we’ve just had confirmation from the SAS headquarters that an invasion has commenced. One of their people is there and is observing everything as it happens from a hide in the mountains. If you can stay hidden, you can give us valuable updates of what is happening in the town, and to the people. If you can do that then it will assist us greatly to know how to react. But under no circumstances are you to put yourself under personal risk. If they find you, surrender with honour and go peacefully, they won’t hurt you. is that understood?

‘Okay, I think I can hold out here for a few days at least. They will probably commandeer the house like last time but I can get out while they are away. I have a spare battery and enough food to stay here for quite a time Mr Travers.

‘Please, call me Michael’

‘Janet, we will keep this line solely for your use. Anytime you call it will be answered in one ring. I will either be here or my assistant, Ian Singleton will be able to help you. We need concise reports with your local perspective as that kind of information could well be crucial in negotiating a settlement.

‘Okay, they are already herding people into the rec centre, I guess they’ve got all the heavies and will start on the regular people after dawn. They don’t seem to have a big force here yet though I heard some big explosions from the Mount Pleasant area about a quarter hour ago and the sound of Hercules transports over Stanley a few minutes back. It sounded as if they were landing at Stanley,’ came Janet’s careful reply.

‘Yes, that’s what our SAS man reported, it seems their invasion hasn’t gone quite to plan which is why it will be even more important to know what their reaction to the civilian population will be in the hours ahead.

‘Okay Michael, I will sign off now and get back to you as soon as I know more, if they find me I will hide the phone as best I can, maybe I can get back to it another time or somebody else can,’ responded Janet as she shut down the phone and contemplated the blackness that was now her immediate destiny.

 

Prime Minister James Faulkner was in a foul mood.

He hadn’t been able to sleep well after a nightmare day in the House of Commons and here it was at what, five thirty in the morning and the red phone was ringing. What next! He thought.

‘Faulkner, he grunted into the phone, reaching for the bedside light at the same instant. What is it?’

‘Sir, Group Captain Lockhart here from the Ministry of Defence liaison staff. We have had reports of an invasion of the Falkland Islands by Argentine forces. We are firming them up now and your Defence Secretary is being advised, we thought you would want to know as soon as possible.’

There was a stunned silence on the line for five, maybe seven seconds before the PM replied.

‘What are you saying, that the Falklands have been invaded, again?

‘Yes sir, we don’t have much information right now but there appears to have been several major explosions at the Mount Pleasant airbase, several Argentine transports destroyed. Other planes have landed at Stanley and the latest report indicates a convoy of ships may be nearby. We have lost all regular communication with HQ there though there is a link remaining with some SAS operatives and apparently a civilian in Port Stanley.’

‘Okay Group Captain, thanks for calling, inform Nigel Dixon, the Defence Secretary to get his team together, we will meet at 10.00am for a full briefing.’

With that, Faulkner gently replaced the handset and sat in bed taking in just what had occurred.

What’s wrong dear, what’s happened? Came a half asleep response from Mary who up to a few moments ago was sound asleep.

‘They’ve bloody well invaded the Falklands again. Mary, they’ve bloody done it again, the bastards.’

His wife roused herself and sat there stunned, unable to believe what her husband had just said.

James Faulkner got himself together and strided across the large bedroom to the ensuite. He had a big day ahead of him and somehow the torments of yesterday, including two opinion polls placing his party’s popularity almost 20 points behind the Opposition, seemed to drift into nothingness as he tried to grasp the enormity of what he had just heard.

 

A world away in the Aregentine Armed Forces headquarters, known as the Condor Building, in donwtown Buenos Aires, President Moreno’s First Team pored over the results of the invasion to date. It was still about a half hour before dawn and the city remained its relaxed self, patiently awaiting the throng of urban madness that would turn it into a very different beast just a few hours distant.

Juan Moreno was concerned that such a massive hitch should occur in the first, and crucial, stage of the retaking of the Malvinas. He felt deeply for the loss of life and the fact that three aircraft had been destroyed so easily by God knows who or what left him uneasy.

‘Juan, cheer up, everything else had gone perfectly, we now control every key function of the island’s operations and there has been no more fighting since that one incident’, consoled his Vice President Alberto Molteni in an effort to change the mood of their leader.

Horacio Lunaz, the Commander in Chief had just ended a phone conversation and came over to the briefing area where Moreno’s team were intently following the progress of the invasion.

‘That was a call from our liaison people. The GOE people down there seem to think that the lone Briton that they shot during the attack may be a commando, or something. He had no ID, other than the standard dogtags, but his outfit was definitely better than general infantry or Royal Marine. On top of that his kit included an M203 and a 9mm Browning plus a Clansman radio and a lot of long endurance food. It was as if he was just about to depart on a long range overland tactical exercise. There’s more’, Lunaz put his hand up in a gesture on anticipation. ‘His vehicle, which is American made, is not on the register of standard British military vehicles, seems a device such as this is solely the province of something like their Special Air Service.

The men in the room looked at each other in surprise.

‘That’s odd, our intelligence never detected any SAS presence in the islands, at least not on a permanent basis and we haven’t found any in our rollcall to date,’ stated Hector Valko, the Commander in Chief of the Army.

‘So do they think it was he who did the attack?’ queried Moreno.

‘Yes, probably with an anti armour guided weapon or something. They have Milan and that, as you know, would be very effective against a soft skinned target such as a transport plane at close quarters. From what the British officers were saying, it appears that he was a part of the routine airfield defence guard out on patrol when we got there. Good luck for him, bad for us! Replied Valko.

‘So they think he acted alone?’ queried the Vice President.

‘Yes. It also appears he also booby trapped the major stores area at the southern end of the base before heading north to obviously damage the Tornados. No, I don’t think we will have any more trouble now. Apparently, as at 1430 hours the entire garrison had been rounded up along with all civilian agency people in Stanley. We now only have to mop up the countryside and that’s that. By tomorrow night we will have 10,000 men in place and hundreds of tons of equipment and at least 50 helicopters.’

Valko was in fine form, his compatriots equally so and even the President was beginning to liven up at the thought that the whole operation had, on the main, gone so well. The Malvinas were again his, and later this day he would declare to the world that fact loud and proud.

 

Wing Commander James Liddell stirred in his bunk.

His first thought was that the ship had stopped. After all, for the first time since leaving BA several days previously, it wasn’t rolling and pitching, and making little mechanical noise, just a low frequency hum from its engines which were obviously barely engaged. He got out of the bunk and used the head, washed quickly and dressed to see what was happening now.

Certainly odd to be stationary during the full fury of an exercise, he thought. Maybe we have broken down or been ‘sunk’ during the night.

Liddell had been amazed at the drumming this ship, and it seemed the others, had taken from the air force and navy pilots. If ever British Intelligence needed to know if these guys had got their act together in regards to anti shipping strikes well then he was now the resident expert and his advice would be that yes they had at last learn something from the 1982 fiasco.

While the air force and navy pilots seemed to reign supreme he got the general idea that the navy was being left far behind in terms of competitive equipment. His own ship was sorely in need of a refit as it hadn’t really been updated since being delivered in the late seventies. He wondered what the purpose of these ships was compared with a significantly more state of the art air arm. Even their carrier was essentially half a century old and hadn’t even been seen during the exercise. Besides, when Liddel had seen it during the sailout from BA its deck was awash with helicopters. He thought that strange but then realised that perhaps the exercise would include a mock airborne landing. Strange really but even more perplexing was that they continually headed south when the initial exercise brief stated that they would mainly operate off Uruguay. Liddell thought this strange but on reflection realised that wasn’t this the way everything happens in South America!

Hercules herself had been attacked mercilessly throughout the exercise and few of the attacks hadn’t been claimed as kills. And while this ship did not have the numerous modern defence systems employed on its Royal Navy equivalents Liddell still appreciated that if you are getting hit by half a dozen missiles from all quarters simultaneously then some are going to get through. As an aviator he well knew that ships were targets more than fighting systems. Indeed, the modern tactical jet driver held the same level of contempt for them as did submariners. Ships were to be sunk, simple as that!

What Liddell saw as he exited the hatch on the rear deck of the Type 42 though took his breath away. The sun was barely up and the shadows were long but it was obvious that what lay ahead of him in the distance was nothing other than Falkland Sound. He could see San Carlos Water off to his left and knew that up around the corner would be the small settlement of Port Howard. The ship itself was in smooth waters and running gently at around six knots. Around him stood dozens of smiling sailors, talking amongst themselves and it seemed trying hard to not embarrass him.

Liddell stood there alone at the rail on the afterdeck and suddenly realised that for this ship to be in these waters and travelling in such a relaxed fashion that obviously something had happened of great magnitude in the past day or so that he wasn’t even aware of. And precisely what that was was now more than obvious.

Liddell quietly walked back to the hatch and sought his way to the bridge to seek a proper explanation from the captain.

‘Ah, our guest, welcome to the beginning of another splendid day my friend, beamed Captain Bolzan.

Liddell was surprised by the reception as he had barely set foot upon the bridge as he was swamped by the ships commander.

‘What are we doing here, in the Falklands? Liddell firmly enquired.

‘My friend, these are the Malvinas. And from a few hours ago they are once more the property of the people of Argentina,’ beamed Bolzan with what seemed almost theatrical zeal.

‘So what does that make me, a prisoner of war?

‘Technically I suppose so, but we don’t wish you any privations Wing Commander. You are still a guest aboard our ship and will remain with us till this afternoon when you will be offloaded at Port Stanley and flown back to Buenos Aires with your conutrymen. From there you are free to return to your homeland.’

Deep down, Liddell was relieved to find that civility still ruled the seas though wondered for how long. The immensity of the situation had wiped his mind clean. Only the biting cold air enabled him to get his thoughts together and take in what had occurred. A massive, well executed and very smooth plan of deception had suckered him, and he guessed his compatriots, into believing the modern Argentina would not attack these islands again. What a fool he had been. What a fool Britain had been, he thought, and now how many good men and women, on both sides would pay the price for this folly.

Liddell stood alone on the small afterdeck aft of the bridge watching the green hills of the two islands slowly glide past him. He had never felt so depressed in his entire life.

 

Trooper Max Phillips saw it first.

He was about eight metres behind John Peters as they began the long climb to the hide on the northern side of Mount Moody nearly eighteen hundred feet above the smooth waters of Falkland Sound, the large strip of water that cleanly divided the Falklands into two fairly equal halves. They had only an hour earlier made landfall after an uneventful transit in the small zodiac across the Sound. Had deflated the craft and hidden it away behind a large rock outcrop which they could return to if they needed. They also left some provisions and ammo that they had taken from the now sunken Land Rover and transported in the Zodiac but was naturally too heavy for them to take up to their hide in the limited time available.

‘Look, a ship, a destroyer.’ Phillips called to Peters.

Both men lay still while Peters gave it the once over with his powerful binoculars.

‘It’s a Type 42, like we have. I think they have two of them still though how they get the parts for them beats me!’ Peters stated quietly as he watched the onboard activity.

‘There are a lot of crew on board, Jesus, this is just what we needed. We’re lucky the sun is obscured by those clouds on the horizon though they will be lifting soon and if we aren’t at the hide by then we’re in deep shit.

‘If we scout around to our left we can stay behind those rock outcrops and move through the long grass beyond. They wouldn’t see us from the ship.’ Suggested Phillips.

‘They’re doing a recce all right, I can see a number of people with telescopes and field glasses checking out the shoreline. We’re bloody lucky those bastards didn’t begin their scenic cruise a few hours earlier or we’d be history.’ Observed Peters.

The two SAS men moved slowly and deliberately towards the beginning of a rocky part of the mountain that would give them limited cover. Fortunately their sighting of the ship was from a great distance, well before anyone on board could have ever seen them with even the most powerful glasses. They needed to keep it that way as it was apparent that the beginnings of the main invasion force were already arriving.

Fortunately they were well to the south of the main inbound air route to both airfields and the SAS men took careful note of the number and type of aircraft that they had seen overhead in the past hour or so.

It was fully 0800 by the time they had made it to the hide, tired and exhausted after not having slept since the previous night. They wondered how the others had fared when right on schedule their little Nokia rang, just like it would if you were in a department store in Oxford Street!

‘Turn that bloody thing down,’ grumbled Peters as Phillips quickly pressed the transmit button.

‘Walls here, everything okay with you guys?’

‘We’ve just made the hide, everything seems okay, it hasn’t been disturbed since it was checked in May. We eyeballed an Argentine Type 42 destroyer running slowly down the Sound, obviously doing a recon and looking for any signs of unplanned for military activity. It’s abeam us now, doing just a few knots. Plenty of air traffic to our north, mainly Hercs though some small passenger jets are now appearing. How are the others?’

‘I’ve got some distance to travel and am holing up as there is a lot of air activity over this region. It’s pretty remote here though and I can see plenty of lay up points that I can use if this one gets a little hot. Bill and Woofa are okay, they were set up even before dawn. From now on we go to comms only when absolutely necessary and we switch on for ten minutes every six hours from midday to receive inbound messages, okay, got that?

‘Roger’ came the quick reply and with that the fragile link between the small force of men was broken.

Peters and Phillips sat silently under the covers of their hide, watching carefully in every direction for the slightest signs of activity, civilian or military. There was none though both knew full well that that situation would change very very soon.


CHAPTER 5

It was a dejected and worried looking bunch of individuals that filed into the PM’s private briefing room at No10 Downing Street that blustery August morning. The final days of the northern summer had been unusually cold and this day at least served graphically to usher in the first moments of autumn, in more ways than one.

‘Thanks for coming in so quickly.’ Prime Minister Faulkner said to his hurriedly assembled audience.

Present were his Secretary of State for Defence Nigel Dixon, the Foreign Secretary Alastair Bray, Deputy PM Michael Bishop and General Gerard Larkin the Chief of the General Staff.

‘Well gentlemen, it seems our Argentine friends have enacted a repeat of 1982. The latest report, received just a few moments ago is that aircraft are bringing in thousands of troops into both Stanley and Mount Pleasant airfields and a large number of ships are also offloading equipment. The carrier has dispatched a number of helicopters and I guess it’s only a matter of hours before they reinforce the islands with fighter jets.

We can’t do a thing, our entire garrison and its equipment has been captured, fortunately it appears with low casualties, and as it’s weeks or more before a task force could get there we have to assume that they now have full and total control of our Falklands, so what do we do in the interim?’

Faulkner had said the obvious and the worst part was that the men in this room were at that time about the only ones in the British Isles who knew this terrible truth. It was expected that at any moment Argentina would very publicly announce its great victory and the best these men could do would be to institute a desperate plan of damage control.

Each thought back to the events of 1982. At that time there had been some form of lead up, albeit bizarre to say the least and difficult to take seriously at best, which at least made the public aware that something might occur. This time, nothing. Not a bloody thing. The intel people would be present at the next briefing scheduled for 11 that morning and maybe they would be able to shed some light on any shortcomings in an obviously inadequate intelligence system.

When England woke last time to see Royal Marines lying face down in the grass at far off Port Stanley there was a national sense of outrage. Not at the government of the day for allowing it to happen but at Argentina’s audacity at actually invading British sovereign territory and capturing her armed forces. Almost to a person the national call was for a swift and justified revenge. This time, it could well be different. The government had supposedly fortified the islands at great expense so this wouldn’t happen. The hundreds who had either died or been injured in the ’82 campaign had paid a price for peace. This peace was entrusted to the men in this room to a large extent and now they each knew that they would in some way or another pay the price for what the public would adjudge as professional negligence.

Defence chief Nigel Dixon broke the morose spell with the first response to his PM’s statement.

‘A full recall to duty will begin the moment this goes public, the chiefs have already got matters working up on the basis of an emergency exercise so later this afternoon we can go into top gear. I guess in about 48 hours we will know exactly what we can and cannot do in the weeks ahead though a rundown of our current position can be given at the 11 o’clock briefing.

Alastair Bray, the Foreign Secretary added that a meeting with the Argentine ambassador was provisionally scheduled for early that afternoon and that they could break into the national TV and radio grids anytime they needed for an announcement of national importance.

‘Okay, things are bleak,’ replied the PM, ‘so let’s manage them bit by bit. We get fully updated at 11, I will make a quick three to five minute national statement after that. We meet with the Argentine ambassador at two and we will take our case to the UN Security Council tomorrow morning. Later tomorrow we will be in a position to publicly announce our physical response, as is much as possible for security reasons, and then we will just have to try and shame Argentina in the eyes of the world for its uncalled for hostility towards another country’s territory.’

With that the meeting broke up and the small group hurriedly went their different ways.

Michael Bishop, the Deputy PM and long time friend and confidant of James Faulkner remained with his Prime Minister.

‘James, are you aware of the oil reserves at stake here?’ Prodded Bishop seriously.

‘I read recently that some of our exploratory efforts had been encouraging but little more, what is it that you are getting at Michael?’

‘Well, ironically you were scheduled to be briefed on it next week by the energy people but it appears that the latest reports, which I stress are top secret, indicate reserves potentially similar to the North Sea. It is known that Argentina has also been prodding around the area doing similar testing under the guise of fishery and seismic research and we think that they also have come to this conclusion. In fact we think they may have realised this several years ago as they had access to some deep penetration Japanese equipment that is now known to be better than what we have used down there.’

The PM listened carefully, feeling that this whole Argentine adventure had at least taken on some form of logical meaning, which might well make it easier to react to.

‘From an emotional point of view the Argentine claim to what they call the Malvinas has always been strong. With what they have done Moreno will be a national hero in Argentina, and also maybe in other parts of South America. If they have also taken the islands for their oil and likely gas reserves then they are not about to be negotiated out of them. Specially as they achieved what appears to be a walkover victory of sorts. I Guess what I am saying James is that I bet at the end of the day that any negotiations they undertake will, like ’82, be used just as a subterfuge to delay our military response and break the will of our supporters as they string things out.’

‘The coming weeks will be hell for us Michael. I doubt they will militarily make the same mistakes that essentially lost them the ’82 war and they know that. What they do in the coming days to reinforce the islands will be a guideline to our ultimate response though I am not hoping for anything other than their having learnt the lesson of the past. I only wish we could say the same.

With that the red phone rang. Both men looked at each other for a moment, each seeing a mixture of tiredness and fear in the eyes of the other. James Faulkner almost reluctantly picked up the receiver and not unexpectedly it was the President of the United States. It would be a long and tiring day.

 

Benny Gidor couldn’t believe the amount of activity going on at the vast Rio Gallegos base. His training wing had been stood down three days before, pretty well to schedule with the graduation of the final batch of another dozen hopefully combat capable boggeys. The traditional round of mess fiestas to celebrate their survival of just one more stage of the long journey up the ladder of experience that is a hallmark of the international fighter community were now behind them and he and his cohorts were now looking forward to some serious R&R.

Gidor and Carlisle both stood outside the mess hall watching the comings and goings of what seemed to be the entire Argentine air force. They had just finished breakfast and though the sun had been up just two hours the sounds of arriving and departing aircraft had been continuos through the night.

Word was that a massive airlift component had been written into the dying moments of the already mammoth Santa Fe exercise which had been proceeding the past week and that this would be the culmination of the war games. Hercules transports were loaded with full loads of equipment, though at a distance too great to make out precisely with what, while even commercial jets and chartered freighters were launching for destinations unknown. It was the arrival though in the past half hour of a continuos stream of Kfirs and Skyhawks that really had the two men excited.

‘Well something is bloody well up!’ Carlisle stated in his hallmark Texan drawl, whistling in awe as a finger of four more fighters broke formation above them to begin their carefully rehearsed landing sequence.

‘Yeah, wish I knew what?’ Replied Gidor, always a little more pensive than his friend.

‘Ah, come on Benny, the bags are packed, the Chevy’s gassed and Patagonia and a week’s skiing await. Let’s rock and roll buddy!

‘Well, I guess our contract is finished for the time being, yeah let’s go.’

Little did the two soldiers of fortune realise that they were witnessing the first moments of a nation at war.

 

Captain Eric Ritley and trooper Peter Phelps were both amazed, and quietly impressed by the amount of kit that had come ashore since first light. It had been light now for barely three hours and a large flotilla of ships could be seen standing off the East Falkland shoreline ready to disgorge their cargoes at Port Stanley, Bluff Cove and Mare Harbour well to their south. The wreckage of the Hercs was being cleared away by bulldozers commandeered by the invaders while transport aircraft large and small were landing in what appeared to be a continuous stream. The larger ones at Mount Pleasant and the smaller ones to the north at Stanley. Helicopters had also been launched in a seemingly endless stream from the carrier moored offshore from Fitzroy and these had largely begun to airlift men and equipment into the Camp. Both men guessed that by nightfall there would probably be the best part of two battalions in country with a large array of stores and equipment. A week from now, who knows!

Ritley had conveyed the latest happenings onto the Kremlin at one hour intervals knowing full well that their fragile link was probably the only source of on the spot intelligence available to the entire British Government at this stage. Ritley imagined for a moment the commotion that must be occurring on the other side of the world right now and how the invasion would be accepted by his countrymen. His thoughts were hurriedly interrupted by the sound of an approaching helicopter.

Both men swung to their left in the direction of the noise. It was one of the just arrived Pumas and it was heading straight for them. They quickly pulled the cam netting tighter over their hide between the rocks and hoped they had not been sighted. Phelps carefully reached for the Stinger SAM and Ritley concurred by his silent nod that yes, it was wise to be ready and that if they had been compromised then they could probably take the helo out before it landed and might even allow them to get to another hide with a modicum of luck.

The beat of the rotor blades grew to a crescendo as the Puma passed directly overhead at an altitude of barely a hundred feet. The powerful downwash of the large helo flapping their cam netting and blowing dust about the small hide. However, it was gone as quickly as it had come. Both men looked at each other and breathed a collective sigh of relief.

They then laughed and relaxed for the first time in hours and realised just how tense they had been. Both knew that their primary objective was now to remain hidden and maintain communication with Britain. They also knew that they had enough provisions, even with rationing, only for about one month and unfortunately they also knew that it would probably be two months before a taskforce would ever provide them with the relief that they would ultimately need. That’s if they hadn’t been captured first.

Captain Ritley and trooper Phelps settled back to what they knew would be a long and lonely wait.

 

The news networks had been alerted personally that at 11 o’clock that morning their President would be making an important announcement of national significance.

It had even been broadcast on the preceding hourly news bulletins. Though Juan Moreno enjoyed moderate popularity with his people the general malaise that seemed to infect his land these years usually worked to override his personal charm as far as his people were concerned. However, he knew correctly that his people were a macho bunch and what he was about to tell them this morning was worth a thousand FA cup victories.

At just a few seconds to 11 the national television and radio feed from the Casa Rosada went live. An attractive business like woman, in her thirties and purposefully dressed made a quick announcement that the President was to make a special announcement regarding the future of Argentina. Silence and tension held the air as a dozen camera units, twice as many microphones and more than a hundred press journalists waited silently as President Juan Moreno took the lecturn emblazoned with the crest of his nation.

‘My people. This day is indeed a proud one for you and I together. Argentina has had, as we would all agree, a difficult time these past few decades. We have met many challenges and together we have worked hard to overcome them. However, there has been one key area that we have been unable to overcome, and that is the sovereignty of our beloved Islas Malvinas.’

The scribes in the room fidgeted and looked at each other in anticipation of something far more startling then they had been led to expect. The single thought on every man and woman’s mind at that moment was - my God, have they actually done it?

‘My people,’ the President continued. ‘At midnight last night special forces of the army and navy of Argentina moved against specific targets in the Malvinas. They executed their attacks with the professionalism of the highly trained and skilled soldiers that they are. By three this morning we had total control of the Malvinas. Our forces at this very moment are consolidating their position and by this evening we will have several battalions in place. There are no casualties on either side, our commandos being trained to attack and secure their targets by non lethal means.’

The President dropped his serious mood and smiled - ‘You might say that we caught the British napping, so to speak!’ The audience chuckled and the immediate sense of fear had been cleverly displaced for one of excited anticipation of what lay ahead.

All that was, apart from one man. Alberto Alvirez knew that from a few seconds past 11 that morning his task had just begun and his President was already telling mistruths. How they hoped to keep quite the loss of the transports and the more than a hundred men killed in that debacle was something that would he was sure, come back to haunt them all.

President Moreno was in a fighting mood now and the rest of the half hour national address was positioned to raise the fighting spirit of his people to a point of frenzy. The beloved Malvinas were back in Argentine hands and the President’s final point about the immense oil reserves that his country had just inherited was almost lost on what by now was a madly excited population.

To the sounds of blaring car horns and a growing, cheering crowd rapidly gathering outside the Casa Rosada, the President stepped from the lecturn to wave triumphantly to his adoring people from the very balcony where the seeds of Rosario II were born so long ago.

 

Back in London, the telecast was watched via the courtesy of CNN in mute silence by James Faulkner. Despite the mass of action that was taking place he actually had been left in peace following the brief phone conversation with Warren Samson, the US President.

Samson’s people had informed him of the action via their own means and he had called more as a matter of courtesy than anything. He knew full well that Faulkner would be back to him later in the day and that the US would have to work fast to sort out its own political response to the attack. The modern Argentina had become quite an American ally this past decade and both men knew that this would not be an easy call, particularly as Samson’s defence chiefs had already concurred that Argentina this time might well have a few surprises in store that would make a military solution to the problem very difficult for Britain.

James Faulkner thought carefully about the implications of President Moreno’s speech as the Jaguar and its hurriedly activated armed security escort slipped him from Downing Street to nearby Whitehall. The almost throwaway line at the end of the speech about the oil reserves was no doubt specifically contrived to make the British case for military recovery even more difficult than it ordinarily would be.

The concept of sending a taskforce south to regain the islands and ‘free’ the islanders is motherhood stuff, he thought, just as it was in ’82. However, if it became public knowledge, as surely it would, that there were huge oil reserves at stake then it will become more a political issue as to whether we are willing to risk and obviously lose British lives in what by many would be seen purely as little more than an oil war.

Those bloody Argies haven’t been half smart, thought Faulkner angrily, not so much at their actions but that they had outsmarted the British at their own game.

 

When James Faulkner entered the large briefing room in the Ministry of Defence it was already five minutes after eleven and his Reaction Team, as it had hurriedly and somewhat dramatically been called, were already in waiting.

He took his place at the top of the long oval conference table and quickly surveyed the group assembled before him.

To his left sat his loyal deputy, Michael Bishop, then sat Foreign Secretary Bray, Defence Secretary Dixon and UN Ambassador who was fortuitously in the UK, Edward Lamont. At the other side of the long table sat the various military chiefs. Present were Chief of the General Staff General Larkin, Chief of the Air Staff AVM Alex Griffiths, Chief of Naval Staff Admiral Dave Fisher and finally the head of the Security Service, a modern day amalgam of the old MI5 and MI6 organisations. Finally two specialists on Argentina and South America from the Foreign Office, Sharon Donnelly and Mark Brooks, were seated at the end of the table in case they were needed to add specialist detail.

‘Well gentlemen, we have roughly an hour or so for this so let’s get moving!’ Opened Faulkner in fighting mood.

‘You saw Moreno’s address. I don’t need to add to it except to say that the champagne must be flowing throughout Argentina at our humiliation and loss. Mark my words we will get our islands back one way or another but in the meantime we must carefully assess the strategic situation and prepare for damage control here at home. As you know I will be making an address to the nation following our meeting and you have already seen our initial published condemnation of Argentina’s aggression. Now, Nigel, can you give us a status briefing on the present state of our armed forces.’

The Secretary for Defence shuffled his mound of papers and leafed through a folder that had been hurriedly put together.

‘Okay, a military response of course is once more largely the province of the navy. There is however long range RAF transport and maritime considerations and of course the army ultimately supplies the bulk of the invasion ground force. Our carriers spearhead any taskforce and in this we are lucky that Illustrious has just come out of an extensive refit and is working up as we speak. She could be fully operational in under a week. Ark Royal is fully operational and has just returned from an exercise in the Med while Invincible is at Portsmouth awaiting refit but fortunately still with all her gear intact. She could be ready within a week. HMS Ocean, the helicopter carrier is also available and moored at Portsmouth. The Fleet Air Arm can have 40 Sea Harriers ready for deployment in four days and about twice that number of helicopters could be available including a handful of the new Merlins.

‘The Royal Marines are being mobilised and they plan to get in two weeks intensive training on Dartmoor and in Wales prior to any embarkation. The majority of our frigates and destroyers would be available at a week’s notice or earlier while the auxiliaries and oilers likewise. We are talking at this moment with P&O, BP and others regarding their merchant ships under the Ships Taken Up From Trade provisions. I will have more information on that by this time tomorrow.

‘The air force is able to supply its expected provision of aircraft. We have a better range of tankers than ever before and we can also establish a better airbridge between Britain and Ascension using the large number of surplus 747 charter aircraft available nowadays.

‘The RAF also has around 90 or so GR7 Harriers available though I doubt that fewer than 20 of these could travel south through sheer lack of suitable ships from which to operate them from being available. Under wartime conditions we can cram upwards of 15 Harriers into one carrier, which has to also embark at least four or five helicopters. We have some ideas on this however which I will be able to hopefully expand upon at tomorrow’s briefing. ‘Using tankers we might also be able to deploy our Nimrod maritime patrol jets and AWACS deep into the South Atlantic better than before. I only wish we had an airstrip on South Georgia but as you know there is barely room for a heliport. We have a better and more capable force than we did in 1982 though if the Argies base their fighters on the islands then quite honestly I can’t see how the RAF can do much to protect the fleet. It will, like last time, be up to the Sea Harriers to provide air cover against what is a much larger and very well equipped air force.’

Admiral Fraser at this point took in a deep breath. He had only been a junior officer at the time and had missed out on the ’82 campaign though did visit there the following year and caught the full enormity of just how difficult and close run that conflict had been. He had spent the past three hours labouring over a million different scenarios of how his navy was to pull off the impossible again and so far he hadn’t come up with one good result. Listening to the cold logic of his Defence Minister only added to his fears.

‘Onto the army,’ continued Dixon, barely stopping for breath as the small group sat in silent contemplation taking in every detail for careful analysis.

‘The various Commando brigades are being called out as we speak as are the Paras. All will undertake extensive toughening up training in conjunction with the Royal Marines. The SAS likewise, though their mode of ops of course is slightly more individual. Some of their units could well be out of the country by nightfall. We would also be using some of the light tank units, artillery and SAM units. The basic plan is to get almost everybody ready then in a few days work out exactly what units will be embarked and in what order. If we do need to invade the islands then it might well be a different situation this time. The lessons of their defeat last time were so obvious that even a fool would not dare repeat them. Well, gentlemen, that’s me finished.’

The room was almost stunned into silence by Dixon’s final statement. He of course was stating the obvious and each member of the Reaction Team knew it, as would probably all of the world within hours.

Faulkner thoughtfully turned to the Chief of the General Staff.

‘General Larkin, can you tell us something of the Argentine capability?’

‘Yes sir, I have brought in a specialist on the Argentine military, Mark Brooks, so that he can update us with the basics’. Larkin gestured to Brooks who moved forward, shuffled some papers in nervousness more than anything at addressing such a high powered group, and began his address.

‘Well, Argentina has embarked upon a considerable rebuilding of its military since the mid nineties, indeed the past two years have seen a marked acceleration of this, resulting in what today is a very capable force. However, most of the rebuilding has gone into the air force and the infantry battalions of the army. The navy has seen little extra resources except in the revitalisation of their submarine program.

‘As you would be aware they have spent a lot of money on surplus, rebuilt equipment from a number of countries. From Russia they have acquired an array of equipment including sophisticated SAM missile systems and infantry weapons. From the US they purchased three dozen A-4M Skyhawks and from Israel some 70 updated Kfir fighters. They still also have around 50 or so improved Dagger and Mirage fighters and about two dozen early generation Skyhawk fighter bombers in storage. They have a dozen Super Etendard strike fighters and unlike last time we know for a fact that they have well over 100 Exocet air to surface missiles which can be fired from the Kfirs, Etendards and A-4Ms. They also have five 707 tankers and refuelling kits for as many Hercules. They also have acquired eight additional Hercules transports that were previously operated by us.’

At this the PM interjected forcefully.

‘How did that happen!

‘Well, sir, we traded a number of our stretched old model Hercs on the new J models in ’97 and ’98 and they then were purchased legitimately by Argentina on the open market.’

‘So what are their aces?’ queried Faulkner.

‘Well they have a large inventory of Exocets, more than 100, possibly twice than number, we are trying to get more info on that, and the late model Skyhawks and Kfirs are excellent aircraft. We believe that, through an international freelance training agency, they have also spent a lot of time and effort training their fighter pilots these past two years. They also have developed quite a significant ocean surveillance capability via their 707s, modified Electras and Learjets. At sea their navy doesn’t account for much except that they do have four reasonably capable though lightweight diesel submarines of German design and local manufacture. These languished for many years but about four years back the decision was taken to proceed with their development and it seems that almost no expense has been spared in getting them and their crews up to speed.

On the ground their army has been regrouped into smaller harder hitting battalions with the emphasis on mobility. They now have no less than 12 well equipped ready reaction type battalions of around 700 men each. They are well equipped with much late generation Russian weaponry including artillery. Also from Russia are some late model armoured personnel carriers and the highly effective ZSU-23/4 mobile low level anti aircraft system. On top of that they’ve just put into operation the extremely capable Russian SA-10 SAM system, which in many regards is actually better than anything we have in that area.‘

At this the three senior military officers in the room grimaced and while they might have not agreed with the young man’s broad brush assessment they certainly weren’t about to make it an issue in current company.

‘There’s also one other thing. They have now at least 18 Puma and something like 80 surplus Iroquois helicopters from the US which they have upgraded with more powerful engines, new high lift composite blades and night vision gear in their local workshops. In the Falklands environment these could prove to be a real problem as some are armed as gunships.’

‘So that’s it?’ queried Faulkner, feeling that if anything things had gone from bad to worse with such a sombre assessment of the reality of their situation.

‘Yes sir,’ replied Brooks somewhat nervous now his concentration was drawn away from his speciality.

‘And how did you get this data, I mean is it entirely accurate.’ Responded Faulkner, raising great interest also from the others in the room.

‘Yes sir, much of the data comes direct from my discussions and briefings with our defence attache in Buenos Aires.’

‘Ah yes, he’s no doubt on his way back to be debriefed, is he not?’ queried the PM to his Defence Secretary.

‘Well….not exactly Prime Minister.’ Dixon replied in almost hushed tones.

‘He’s, well, he’s actually at this moment on an Argentine destroyer which we believe is participating in the invasion.’

There was a stunned silence, broken moments later by the PM putting his hand over his eyes and in obvious disbelief asking ‘Just how is our senior defence representative in that bloody country finding himself an active participant in the invasion of our bloody islands?’

The intent was clear and the normally calm Faulkner was clearly about to go ballistic at the mere comprehension of what this would mean when if it ultimately went public.

‘Well, he was invited by the Argentine Government to participate along with a number of other foreign nationals in a military exercise. His invitation was aboard one of their destroyers and there was, at the time, nothing apparently risque in accepting such an invitation. After all, intelligence thought that it would be able to give them some good intel into their mode of operation, etc.’ replied Dixon politely.

Faulkner leant back in the big chair and relaxed. He looked like a man who had just lost it all and yet deep down knew that this was really just the beginning of his nightmare.

‘Okay, what will happen to him now?’

‘We don’t really know at this moment but we are already working behind the scenes to get our people out of there and I would imagine he would be one of them. His debriefing would be of crucial importance to us in the longer term as he is the most knowledgeable person we have who has recently seen them in action at an operational level.’ Replied Dixon, feeling better now that he had somehow briefly saved what by any measure was a pretty bizarre situation.

‘All right, has anyone else anything to add? Queried the PM, looking round the room and checking the time in a manner that suggested the meeting was over.

The team talked amongst themselves for a few minutes after the PM had left with his Press Secretary and entourage for the BBC Statement to the Nation.

There was much to be done and not a lot of time to do it in. A major element of the taskforce would have to be ready to sail in a little more than a week while the ground component a week or so later. What they would sail into however was anyone’s guess, and not even an optimist could sleep well with the possibilities for failure that could well lie ahead.


CHAPTER 6

John Slade was thoroughly pissed off. He and a hundred other men had been held captive now for more than six hours in the Port Stanley recreation hall. Itself not a bad place though when you have several dozen Kalishnikov toting Argentines keeping you sitting in rows on the cold floor then you have a good reason to be hacked off.

Slade sat in silence, as firmly instructed to by what appeared to be an Argentine brigadier, and thought long about the doubts he, and others, had had in recent months concerning some of the island’s ‘tourists’.

The group he had watched march off towards Tumbledown only one and a half days ago was obviously part of the infiltration plan, and had probably taken over the Mount Kent radar station by now. Slade knew full well that the two or three men, primarily non combatant technicians, that operated each of the three crucial radar stations would be no match for a team of highly trained commandos. He only hoped that none had died foolishly defending the indefensible.

The police, indeed all the civil authorities on the islands, worked very closely with the resident military and vice versa. As he sat there he could see a number of them also ensconced in forced silence on the floor. Their only crime being a desire to take up residence in Stanley rather than out on the base.

He wondered, with increasing concern, just what had happened out there. There must be casualties as there were at least three major explosions heard as he was being herded down the street with the others. That was about 2am from memory and now it was mid morning, there had been nothing more heard in the way of heavy fighting since then, only the constant drone of incoming aircraft, helicopters and heavy trucks and tracked vehicles coming ashore at Stanley’s wonderfully convenient new port facility. What irony, he thought. We build one of the best air bases south of the equator, an excellent port, improve the road system and these bastards come and take it in a few hours.

From his time in the Royal Marines he figured out how they had obviously done it. A well trained and rehearsed group of commandos, good long term intelligence and a massive wave of post attack support from well equipped and organised regulars. The small detachment on the island in one way was no better equipped to handle a full blooded onslaught than the handful of his compatriots in ’82. At least then they didn’t have a major airfield upon which to now base their sizeable and well equipped air force.

He sat dejected, worrying about the fate of his family, and his male friends that weren’t in the hall, when his and the others attention was drawn by a blaring radio. An officer had just entered the hall with a ghetto blaster and turned it up for all to hear. It was some type of speech, obviously in Spanish and seeing the jubilation of his captors made Slade and the others realise that this must be El Presidente himself. The more the President raved the more excited the troops became till they finally took up that moronic chant of ’82 - Argentina, Argentina, Argentina while waving their weapons in the air in excited abandon.

Though these were obviously well disciplined troops Slade would feel better when they calmed down. The jubilation of the captors though only led their captives to greater despair and it was without surprise that Slade witnessed more than one Falklander weeping openly that morning. He wasn’t there then, but he had heard enough stories from these brave people to realise that many would not psychologically make it through another internment.

He looked solemnly at the floor, his aggression of earlier giving way to a tidal wave of depression that he hadn’t felt at any time in his life.

 

All Britain stopped while Prime Minister Faulkner made his eight minute address to the nation. To any observer he was firm and resolute and condemned the uncalled for act of aggression in the strongest possible terms. There were the obvious comparisons of him with the Iron Maiden herself, Margaret Thatcher, who despite advancing years, in a BBC interview that evening called for nothing less than the blood of the invading hordes.

By nightfall London was abuzz with talk of what to do though it was clear that the vast majority of Britons clearly endorsed a military solution. This time though there was more of an in-depth and analytical tactical assessment of the situation via a better organised and technically more advanced media than in 1982 when even a telex machine was considered to be state of the art.

Faulkner, Dixon and Bishop had gathered for a quite chat with foreign secretary Bray in the PM’s private parliamentary chambers before calling it a day. Tomorrow would usher in day one of a verbal offensive in the UN and from there two or three days of intensive on the phone lobbying for support, principally in the form of sanctions, from Britain’s allies. Over a brandy Faulkner noticed that the BBC was running an interview with a number of people on the situation. Though the volume had been muted as the four men quietly talked, he quickly reached for the remote when he saw one of his favourite defence correspondents take the screen.

Robyn Olds was something of an aberration by any standard. She was tall and fit, in her early thirties and with a no holds barred natural beauty that was sure to quicken the pulse of almost any man. Despite being a woman she had happily adopted the technically demanding role of Senior Defence Correspondent in the rapidly expanding high tech Apeco News International organisation. Her family background was military in that her father had retired as an Admiral in the Royal Navy and consequently for much of her non adult life she was a part of the military world. She had consequently been exposed to many sectors of the military at a formative time of her life and unlike most of the other girls she quite enjoyed reading about the great battles and watching the equipment in action.

Her father had responded with great pride, she was their only child, and routinely took the young Robyn aboard ships in his command during brief but nevertheless impressive exercises. The boisterous child, clearly one of nature’s tomboys, was nowadays considered an astute, intelligent and highly experienced defence correspondent both in Europe and abroad.

‘This should be interesting,’ quipped the PM.

The studio cameras panned in for a close up of a serious looking Robyn Olds, more serious in fact than anyone had seen her ever before, even during the Gulf War where she had made a name for herself by getting into places that were continually prescribed as being off limits to the media.

The nightly Analysis program dealt with the day’s major events and this day of course there was just but one event that mattered to 60 million Britons. The program’s host had just introduced Olds who then proceeded to give an encapsulated rundown of the likely problems to be encountered in retaking the islands by force.

‘There are many major differences between a war over the Falklands now and what we faced in 1982’, Olds stated firmly, seated at a newsdesk facade with a backdrop of a large map of the islands.

‘We have a better naval capability this time, and also a better array of long range aircraft that could provide more support than they did last time. However, that means little as really in the modern era the capability to win has very much shifted to the defender if they are properly equipped, trained and motivated. And I would say that the men of Argentina tonight in the Falklands fill that description far better than they did in 1982.

‘Once they have their Kfir and Skyhawk jets based on the islands then it will be very difficult for us to safely get a naval taskforce close enough to launch, let alone protect, an invasion force. Last time the Argentinean jets had to fly from the mainland and were at the limits of their endurance by the time they reached the combat zone. This time it will be the other way around and armed with a large inventory of Exocets they would be able to easily launch attacks at our ships up to a thousand kilometres or more from the islands. Last time our ships were fairly safe if they stayed around two to three hundred kilometres east of Stanley, not so this time. So how can Harriers defeat their air force at this distance is anyone’s guess.

‘For an invasion to take place we will have to have air superiority over the islands and just how we could do that is something that I don’t even think the chiefs have an answer to. The stakes are much higher this time and the potential for Britain to get a bloody nose is more than obvious.’

Faulkner looked at his sombre compatriots and turned down the volume.

‘She’s bloody right of course. This isn’t 1982 and a war in the end won’t be a smart thing. If we lost militarily, and diplomatically, to a tinpot dictatorship like Argentina then it would be the end of Britain as we know it. Those bloody stupid royals have already made us a laughing stock. Add that to this and we will all be out driving buses!’

It was time to call it a night. The four men headed off to their respective homes though it was doubtful if any of them would sleep well this night.

 

In the officers mess at the Royal Naval Air Station at Yeovilton in Somerset Lieutenant Commander Graeme Evans was just finishing off a pint with a number of his fellow squadron pilots while they took in the late evening Analysis program on the Apeco satellite channel.

‘She’s bloody well right,’ quipped Richard Charlton, the squadron’s intelligence officer. ‘If they put Kfirs on the islands then it would be impossible for us to get a taskforce anywhere near those islands, let alone launch and protect an invasion force.’

‘What we’ve got to do is to attack their aircraft on the airfields. If we can eliminate the island based air threat then we can deal with anything from the mainland. I mean, we did it last time without AEW and we only had a piss weak radar in the Shars.’ Added Evans who was trying desperately hard, like most of his cohorts, to keep positive about the outcome.

It had been sheer mayhem since late morning at the vast Yeovilton base. Since word had been confirmed that there actually had been an invasion the massive effort of mobilisation had begun to develop a speed of its own as it was obvious that once more the Royal Navy’s Sea Harrier pilots and their groundcrew, would be the first to go south. Training ops were immediately increased, weapons ordered from stores and spares and consumable organised for an imminent departure to Plymouth and Portsmouth. It wasn’t just the Shars but also the helicopters, the real lifeblood of the war once the fleet had sailed.

Already word had come through that the three squadrons based at Yeovilton were to be ready to embark on their carriers in five days time. This left just enough time for some intensive air to air training against RAF Jaguars, generally considered, in theory at least, to be the closest thing the RAF had in trying to imitate the manoeuvring qualities of the Kfir while Hawks would simulate the small and nimble Skyhawk. Many an aircrew had raided the mess library for books dealing with the ’82 conflict, avidly reading of the challenges and exploits, victories and failures of men who unfortunately now were mostly long retired.

One that hadn’t though was Chris Savage, now in his forties and working part time with his wife in their local tea house in addition to putting in about 20 hours a week at the nearby Fleet Air Arm Museum. Chris always had an open invitation to visit the main base and he frequently did for the traditional pay night mess sessions. Though he was now old enough to be the father of most of the modern day Sea Harrier pilots Chris loved to tell the young boggeys that the machines they flew were just baby’s when he had them.

Savage had experienced combat though at first hand and that was something that he had at the CO’s personal invitation, in an uncharacteristically serious manner, addressed them on earlier in the evening. Though at the time just new to the Sea Harrier, he found himself thrown into the thick of it in April 1982 when 801 squadron headed south on Invincible. The squadron’s CO, Sharkey Ward, who was never backwards at coming forward, soon had the augmented unit hopping and despite a number of philosophical problems with the top brass in how best to deploy the meagre air assets the taskforce ‘enjoyed’ it was generally considered that the Mark 1 Sea Harrier had more than ably seen off the technically superior Mirages and Daggers of Argentina.

‘In effect we were having to use pre Battle Of Britain tactics’ Savage had said to the young aviators.

‘We had no Airborne Early Warning, which was in retrospect probably our biggest single deficiency. All we had for radar vectoring were a number of picket ships and our own humble Sea Vixen radars, which of course are nothing like you enjoy today on the upgraded Shar. We also didn’t have a radar guided long range air to air missile, only Sidewinders and the cannons, though in our case the new 9Ls were the winning edge we needed to achieve and maintain air superiority, probably the first air to air missile to actually work as advertised.

‘The Argentines must have learnt something from all that! Though to be honest we didn’t find them half as bad as pilots as much of the world was led to believe at the time. What they really lacked was proper tactics and strong leadership. I hate to say it but that might well be different this time. Their Kfir 2000s are an old but still very capable aircraft that can not only sink our ships but take on the Shars far better than anything they had last time. If I can say anything of use it is simply that you will have to deal with them before even venturing near the islands.’

Savage’s talk had gone over well, his stories of individual combats from his better known squadron brothers and the oft’ told tale of his Dagger that just got away had this time seemed a whole lot more interesting to the young aviators than in previous times.

Evans and his compatriots had drained their nightcap ale, tuned off the bleak renderings of the television and headed for bed for the next day would be one of their busiest.

The three squadrons had been assigned to rendezvous with Ark Royal and Invincible in just a few days yet much to his surprise Evans had been taken aside and given an entirely different tasking.

At 0900 the next morning he would take off in company with three other Sea Harriers, fly south and rendezvous with four RAF GR.7 ground attack Harrier IIs and six F.3 Tornado interceptors. The formation would then link up over Lands End with two TriStar and two VC10 tankers and proceed nonstop to Ascension Island. Leaving his squadron behind was something that Evans would have not preferred to be doing on the eve of going to war though the mysterious intentions of the high command in sending him off with this motley bunch was too good an opportunity to pass up.

Whatever lay in store, Evans felt that it had to be exciting, worthwhile and hopefully a trifle dangerous. At 0900 on the 25th of August Lieutenant Commander Graeme Evans would be going off to war, a war, like every combat pilot, he had secretly hoped for for many years.

 

Commander Jeremy Hunter put down the slip of paper and pondered the significance of its contents. Marked top secret and received just minutes before via the regular six hourly scheduled satellite transmission, he wondered to himself the real reason why his ship was being retasked after already being on active patrol for longer than the norm.

His ship, and its 111 crew, meant everything to him and this day HMS Tireless was going to be heading south, not north as planned. The five and a half thousand tonne Trafalgar Class nuclear powered attack submarine had been on sea duty for almost six weeks and had just completed a week and a half of intense wargames in the confines of the Mediterranean against Britain’s NATO allies.

After three days of R&R at Gibraltar, Tireless had just this morning set sail for what was planned to be a fairly routine transit back to its home port of Devonport near Plymouth in the south of England. That had all changed in the brief few seconds it took Hunter to decipher and read the simple instructions from Flag Officer, Submarines, Royal Navy. Proceed at best speed for Ascension Island immediately. Full debrief on 1800 sat comm. Hunter looked at the brief message again, picked up the phone in his small cabin and advised the engineering officer to increase steam for maximum peacetime revolutions. He then called the navigator and his first lieutenant to his cabin to explain the situation and how best to address the crew. To say that every man was dead keen to be heading home was the understatement of the century. To have to tell them, as good and professional as they were, that they had been hurriedly retasked was something that Hunter didn’t cherish, at least without some idea of why their plans had been changed.

Within a quarter hour of the transmission being received Tireless was heading on a course of one nine zero degrees. At a depth of just over 100 metres, her sleek hull would travel almost 60 kilometres for each hour that she continued at this pace, which was theoretically almost indefinitely. The modern era nuke was a near invincible combatant and Tireless and her half dozen sisters of the class were amongst the best examples of the breed.

Right on schedule at 1800 hours Zulu the small satellite aerial broke the surface to both receive and transmit any messages that were destined for it. In just a few seconds reams of data could be transmitted or received, all of it encrypted and virtually impossible to electronically track even in a relatively hostile war zone. Commander Jeremy Hunter took the message direct from the teleprinter and was surprised to see that it wasn’t encoded. He read it carefully to himself while his small band of officers and control room personnel discreetly hovered around in anticipation of what was their immediate fate. Hunter carefully folded the message in two and looked up to meet the expectant gaze of his men.

‘Well, gentlemen, it seems we are at war!’ Hunter said deliberately and without emotion, only then realising the import of his words and that perhaps he was in a state of shock.

‘As we were just leaving Gib this morning, Argentina invaded the Falklands. Apparently their invasion has been a total success and our forces on the island routed.’

The men stood in disbelief while even the senior rating diligently operating the boat’s steering column stared in silent amazement.

‘We have been tasked to operate and defend a soon to be proclaimed total exclusion zone around the islands. We are to proceed direct to Ascension Island where we will reviculate and take on additional specialist crew and armaments. Our port time at Ascension is expected to be less than four hours and then it’s straight onto the Falklands. We should be able to be on TEZ patrol by September 5. I guess a rough estimate is four days to Ascension and six to the islands.’ The captain soberly concluded.

‘Are we on our own sir?’ came the first question appropriately from the senior tactician.

‘At present yes, but it states that more assets will be following and will join us at the TEZ by the seventh. They are also sending us a full intelligence assessment of the present state of the enemy’s maritime air and sea forces including their own submarine capability. As they initiated the invasion it is not unlikely that they may also have submarines or other ships on long range patrol, maybe even near Ascension or South Georgia, which this time they didn’t invade.

‘Well I guess this is it folks, all we have trained for for so long, now we’ve finally got the real thing for better or for worse. I will address the ship in five minutes and at 2100 we’ll have a meeting of tactical staff in the officers mess.’ With this the captain walked to his cabin and began jotting down notes for what in a few minutes would be one of the most profound announcements any captain could ever make to his crew. His crew and his ship were at war.

 

Eric Cooper walked along the track flanking the picturesque cliffside with his loyal friend, Rufus the Labrador. To Eric this was the beginning of his eighth month of retirement and the transition from Captain Cooper to a mere Mr Cooper was something that he wasn’t handling at all well.

At times he felt that even Rufus didn’t pay him the same level of attention that he once commanded from a crew of over a thousand men and women. Still this was his new life. A cottage at St Ives on Cornwall’s Atlantic coast, plenty of time to relax, read and play golf and hopefully play with the grandchildren. A widower of nearly a decade, he felt that retirement would simply be a new chapter in the book of life for Captain Eric, the name his two grandchildren loved to call him as much to their delight he told them the most outlandish stories of the sea. However, life is never so simple and he found that he missed with a deep intensity life aboard a great ship at sea. However, that was now his past and there was nothing he could do about it.

Eric had just returned to his cottage and put on the tele to catch the evening news before making supper. As he had spent the day alone and had not listened to the radio he simply was unawares of what had occurred and was taken aback when he heard the news announcer detailing the latest information on the Falklands invasion, backed up by file and live footage courtesy of CNN.

He sat stunned and remembered how close they had come last time when he took his great ship into the depths of Bomb Alley, San Carlos Water, to deliver thousands of the world’s best fighting men to recapture the islands. The Great White Whale they had christened her, her 45,000 tonnes of immensity dwarfing the tiny frigates and destroyers that had ranged around her in a desperate attempt to protect her from the incessant air attacks by the very bravest of Argentina’s pilots. Eric Cooper had been an executive officer then and would later go on to command this great liner for much of her final decade in service.

Eric’s mind drifted as the cerebral overload of what he was taking in filtered through. It was only the ringing of the phone that awoke him from his trance like state.

Who the bloody hell’s that, he thought, miffed at being disturbed at such a crucial hour.

‘Hello, Eric Cooper speaking.’

‘Mr Cooper, this is Commodore Stephen Sharp, Royal Navy fleet support division at Northwood.’

Eric was now even more stunned as the last person he thought he would ever hear from again would be somebody from the Admiralty.

‘Mr Cooper, we have just had meetings with your old employers at P&O, and they have agreed to lend us the Canberra as a part of our Ships Taken Up From Trade effort for the Falklands taskforce. As our resources are bigger than theirs we are tasking the crew, we would like you, that’s if you are interested, to once more take command of Canberra.’

Eric held the phone firmly in his hand, his mind blank for a moment while he took in the enormity of the events of the last few minutes. Striving for composure his simple reply was ‘yes, of course!’

And with that Eric Cooper was again on his way to sea once more in the service of queen and country.


CHAPTER 7

General Edwardio Fernandes, now officially the Commander of Military Forces Malvinas, surveyed his new domain from the peak of Mount Tumbledown, just a few kilometres behind Stanley township. He had used his personal Puma to make a quick visit to the major centres of activity and was returning to his improvised headquarters in Stanley when he felt the need to stop for a moment so that he and his staff could savour their victory in the failing light of what was now Argentina’s greatest day.

A lot had occurred since midnight. His forces had landed virtually unopposed, apart from the single incident at the airbase with the regrettably resourceful airfield defence guard, and had captured intact every settlement on the two islands.

His main body of troops were ashore and mostly already deployed. Their defensive equipment was already operational, albeit against an enemy that did not physically exist and from tomorrow the first group of fighter jets would arrive. The captured British garrison had already been processed and were being assembled ready for departure on one of the RORO freighters that had a few hours earlier delivered more than a hundred trucks and thousands of tonnes of stores via the recently completed wharf facility in Stanley harbour.

I’m so glad the British built all this for us, it made it so much easier! Contemplated Fernendez with an obvious grin.

 

For John Slade it had been a long day. His captivity in the rec centre had been relived in the early afternoon when he, and his hundred or so fellow male citizens, were addressed in faltering English by a senior officer on behalf of the new Governor Roberto Gonzolas, a military retiree whose small stature was only exceeded by his beaming enthusiasm for his nation’s victory.

They had been told in great detail of why Argentina had decided to take back her islands from British imperialism of almost two centuries and that it indeed would be a great thing for them all now that they were reunited with their true mother country, Argentina.

The almost hour long propaganda speech over, they were also told firmly that intolerance to the new rules governing the islands would be deemed as socially unacceptable behaviour and dealt with accordingly. It was made clear that such offenders would be tried by local military laws and if found guilty would be deported to Argentina. Where or what in Argentina was not made clear though it did make every man feel that it wasn’t to a holiday resort by the seaside!

It was also made clear that anyone specifically deterring, hindering or physically resisting the Argentine military forces would be considered a spy and treated accordingly. On the other hand, those Islanders who actively co-operated with Argentina would enjoy the fruits of the bonding between the two lands and be raised to high status in the islands.

At this, some of the men had to look down at the floor to either conceal the growing rage within or simply to not burst out laughing. With this done, the men were allowed to return to their homes and tell their families of the joys of occupation that lay ahead.

Slade was unnerved by the speech. Despite its crudeness by Anglo Saxon standards in propaganda terms it had certainly filtered through to even the thickest member of the community that these guys were not here to party. That they did honestly consider these islands theirs in both moral, legal and physical terms and that they were prepared to defend them if attacked. And Slade knew that this time they obviously would deal with that a little different than last time.

Still deeply depressed, he walked quickly down Ross Road to his home. His depression and trepidation for the future though were quickly lifted when he found his wife Sandra and his two children, Sarah and Michael, safely there with tea and sandwiches ready. How civilised, he thought. In amongst all this mayhem and confusion we can keep it together enough to respect the importance of something as simple and civil as afternoon tea. How could these invading hordes defeat the spirit of the Islanders when they deem to treat them with such disdain?

Slade held his wife in his arms for almost a minute while their children jumped up and down and tugged at their parents clothing as children are wont to at such times. Both adults had tears in their eyes though through it all Slade realised that there was real fear in Sandra’s face. Something that he had never seen before in all their years together.

‘John.’ She almost whispered.

‘Mum’s found a hiding spot in the old food larder in the back of the house and used your phone to make contact with Scotland Yard. She’s giving them information every few hours on what she sees and intends to go on hiding for as long as she can get away with it. She’s of the mind that she’s a spy of sorts and won’t listen to me. John, tell he now to go down to the school where they are still processing the women and children. She can say that she was sick and couldn’t get their earlier. In the confusion, and with two addresses they won’t know she was even here when they took us away this morning.’

Slade looked stunned. Just how much could a man take in one day. A rude awakening at the fists of giants, an invasion force on his patch, internment and now his mother in law a spy.

‘Okay, where is she? I’ll see if I can talk her out of it’. Slade said half heartedly knowing full well just how vital, indeed crucial, that link would be for the British Government in the days and possibly weeks ahead.

They found Janet in the rear room assembling some additional food that suggested to Slade and his family that she was preparing to batten down the hatches for a long period.

‘Janet, Sandra told me about what you’ve done. It’s very brave, very courageous, but also very dangerous. They just briefed us in no uncertain terms that anyone, irrespective of gender or status in the community, would be treated as a spy if found obstructing their efforts. Sarah, I don’t think they are kidding. The people who have dreamt up this whole stupid invasion are not your usual pleasant and polite Argentineans, they are a left over from the dreaded Galtieri era. Sarah, they are not here to lose again and they will interrogate and then probably shoot you if they find you using my phone to inform London of what they are doing. Come to think of it they would probably find us just as guilty just by our association.

‘Okay John, what do you recommend?

She had barely gotten the words out when they heard approaching male voices speaking in Spanish.

In an instant, Janet had grabbed the extra bag of food she had gathered and was in the larder with the lid closing just as the first of the three men approached the front door at the end of the hall.

Slade went quickly to the door as the bell rang. Confronting him were three officers, neatly dressed in their military tactical battledress with insignia defining them as officers in the Marines.

‘Pardon, Mr Slade, my name is Captain Ricardo Gonzoles, and this is Daniel Cardo and Axel Ricolier.’

Slade could see that the other two men, one of which he thought he recognised from earlier, were also of the same rank and unit, indeed of roughly the same age, which was logical, and that they had obviously come in good faith and offered no immediate threat.

Slade breathed a sigh of relief, hopefully buying a few more seconds time for Janet to discreetly ensconce herself away while the rest of the family joined him. On seeing the children the three men smiled and if anything looked a little confused as to what to do next.

‘Mr Slade, it has been suggested to us that it would be appropriate if we were billeted with you and your family for the next few weeks till alternative accommodation is arranged on a more permanent basis.’

The words, ‘permanent basis’, sent a chill down Sandra’s spine, who could well remember the last time her family had hosted unwanted guests.

‘Well, to be honest, I don’t think we have much say in it, do we Captain.’ Slade declared firmly, trying not to show malice but at the same time not openly welcoming the men into his home.

‘We appreciate this is difficult for you and your family. We don’t want to cause any problems for you but we have been assigned your house as quarters. It will only be for the next few weeks then we will be gone.’ Responded Gonzoles as politely as he could.

They have obviously been briefed to be as respectful of the Islanders as possible, thought Slade, no doubt that is the rosy impression they want to create for the world via television. Still, that can work both ways, can’t it John, thought the police officer who was just realising that he was at last getting himself together enough to get the situation under some form of control.

‘Okay, then we can’t do much about it, can we.’ Slade firmly stated as he ushered the three men inside.

Introductions made, the children went onto the porch to watch the unfolding events within the township while the Slade’s showed their guests to their accommodation. In silence they both spontaneously agreed that the guests would be best located in the children’s rooms and the children could sleep in the back room.

‘Non, non, Mrs Slade.’ Gonzoles protested with waving hands and an embarrassed expression.

‘We can’t take the children’s rooms. Their rooms are their castles. I have children too, as does Daniel. I think they would have more fun with their toys than we would. No, we can all share the large room at the back that Axel saw this morning and that way we will not be in your way so much.’

John and Sandra froze for an instant at the horrific implications of this but realised that they could do nothing to change the situation without making it look obvious that something was amiss in the house, something that their new guests would dearly like to be aware of.

The three men organised their kit in the large backroom and haggled over the single bed. Rivolier won the toss and the other two left the house to get their camp beds which had come ashore just an hour earlier on one of the dozen transports now moored in Stanley harbour and disgorging equipment, munitions and vehicles large and small at a prolific rate.

Janet Wishbourne sat patiently in her dimly lit hide, having taken in most of the exchange between her family and their unwelcome guests, and realised that their timely arrival had at least deferred the issue of having to hand back the phone to her son in law who obviously wouldn’t condone her behaviour.

Foolish, reckless, a spy indeed, she thought to herself with a grin on her face. I’ll show the bastards that they may be able to invade us but they can’t bloody well beat us!

 

It was still deep in the night in the Falklands as the first rays of sunlight began to usher in another day in far off London. Faulkner and most of his cohorts were of a breed that seemed able to survive on a minimum of sleep. Almost like a law of the jungle response, senior politicians and their immediate echelon of advisers and hangers on need to be able to operate on just five or six hours a night and be seemingly impervious to jetlag and the effects of little exercise, good food and often copious amounts of alcohol.

Faulkner and his team this morning were no exception. He had finally reached the ‘not to be disturbed’ sanctuary of his bed around midnight and here he was, with his Foreign Secretary and UN Ambassador Lamont at 6.30 reviewing the day’s agenda over breakfast at Number 10.

‘Alastair, this whole sovereignty thing, how strong is it? Queried the PM.

‘It goes back hundreds of years really and in reality rests on the fact that of all the countries that have at some time had some sort of identity in the islands, we are the only ones to create a real community. I was briefed yesterday afternoon before seeing the Argentine ambassador so maybe this would help, I’ll read from it.’ Bray produced a multi page foolscap briefing document from his file and began to quickly summarise it for the Prime Minister and for that matter their UN ambassador who that afternoon would be catching a Concorde to address the United Nations General Assembly and move in the Security Council that Argentina immediately withdraw from the Islands.

‘The Falkland Islands remained unpopulated and undiscovered until the 16th century and as such was probably the last island group of any significant size to have been peopled since the dawn of time. It was in August 1592, a century after Columbus stumbled upon the New World, that an Englishman, Captain John Davis in the sloop Desire made the first recorded sighting of the islands. It was almost a hundred years later, in 1690, that the first landing of which there is evidence took place when another Englishman, Captain John Strong in the Welfare landed and named the island group after the then First Sea Lord of the Admiralty, Viscount Falkland. However it wasn’t until 1740 that Lord Anson while on his voyage of discovery visited the islands and later made recommendations that we take formal possession of them and establish a camp of sorts.

‘As a result of that, Captain John Byron sailed to take formal possession of the islands in 1765 while also establishing a camp at Port Egmont on West Falkland. However, at the time, Britain did not realise that a year earlier a Frenchman, Antoine Louis de Bougainville, had established a similar camp on East Falkland at Port Louis. It was then that the troubles began. In 1769 the Spanish Governor of Buenos Aires bought out the French and then turned his attention to our base on West Falkland, ousting the British from Port Egmont with superior forces.’

‘Sounds bloody familiar’, interjected the PM as he buttered his toast.

‘A diplomatic flurry ensued between the three European powers with Spain claiming that the Governor had acted on his own initiative and formally handing Port Egmont back to the British in 1771.’ continued Bray, obviously enjoying narrating the history lesson.

‘However, just three years later the British garrison were withdrawn on the grounds of economy leaving a plaque as the mark of continuing sovereignty. Then in 1811 the Viceroy of La Plata, acting on behalf of Spain, agreed that the Governor of Montevideo should withdraw the remains of the Spanish garrison from Port Louis on East Falkland.

‘With no official presence on the islands there came a period when semi-piratical whalers and sealers provided the only human interest in the Islands and when in 1824, a German, Louis Vernet, attempted to re-establish a settlement at Port Louis with the blessing of the Buenos Aires Government, he was not able to enforce any authority. Consequently, four years later the Government of the United Provinces of La Plata granted Vernet full sovereignty over East Falkland and a year later the title of Governor. Britain immediately protested, pointing out that Britain was certainly not prepared to permit any other state to exercise a right as derived from Spain which Great Britain had specifically denied to Spain itself.

‘However, things got worse when Vernet succeeded in upsetting the USA, who using the USS Lexington, declared Vernet a pirate and sacked Port Louis, subsequently ensuring once again that the Islands reverted to a state of re nullius in 1831 with the declaration by the Commander of the Lexington that the Islands were free for all governments!

‘Having had enough of this, Britain occupied and asserted her full rights with a naval garrison at Port Louis. The British Administration has been continuous and broken, apart from the ten weeks in 1982, right up to the present. In fact, the direct descendants of those earliest settlers, some eight generations ago, are prominent in the current life of the Islands.’

‘And they were pretty important to us in both wars, weren’t they?’ queried Faulkner.

‘Yes.’ continued Bray.

‘In the First World War there was the Battle of the Falkland Islands which was one of the major naval engagements of the entire war. The Germans and ourselves faced off with large battle fleets and in the ensuing conflict we virtually destroyed one of the largest German Navy fleets ever assembled. We kept them from taking the Islands and consequently ensured control over the vital Cape Horn trade route whilst also stopping their raiders getting into the Pacific.

‘Several decades later in World War Two we had the Battle of the River Plate and though this was fought nearly 2000 kilometres away the British fleet was able to use the Falklands as their base. Without it they would not have been able to even consider engaging the Nazis in that important battle.’ Bray concluded.

‘So where do the Argentines get off on all this, how can they say it’s theirs? Responded Lamont queriously.

‘Simple really, some of them, unfortunately those in power, honestly believe that the Islands are theirs. Through 1995 they even tried to bribe each Islander with a ‘gift’ of between $100,000 and $500,000 if they would side with Argentina in supporting its claim in the UN Decolonisation Committee annual review.

‘In this way they would have technically inherited the Islands on the basis of the Islanders actually wishing to become Argentine citizens. Naturally the offer was not only rejected but was largely treated as a joke by the Falklanders who then reaffirmed their loyalty to England though unfortunately this didn’t change one iota the attitudes in Buenos Aires regarding sovereignty of the Islands.

‘Much of their case nowadays rests on the flimsy claim that she inherited the rights which Spain abandoned when they were eventually defeated by the Conquistadores and Argentina became a nation in her own right rather than just a Spanish colony. These rights are held to be based on the original Papal Grants of 1493 and 1494 in which Spain claimed dominion over all of South America except for the parts already occupied by the Portuguese. Spain, of course, withdrew from her settlement on East Falkland in 1811 and has never returned. She has never even assumed any rights of sovereignty over the Islands. That those rights passed directly to the new state of Argentina is a matter of assertion by the Argentines rather than of direct handover by Spain, or of any legal transfer of title.

They also claim the Islands on the basis of proximity to Argentina and also that it is a colony of Britain. The latter of course is rubbish as the people there are descendants of the original settlers as previous to this the islands were not inhabited by a permanent community. If you look at it, we discovered them back in 1592, all others who once expressed an interest have long withdrawn and nowadays show no interest in their former claims and we have been in continuous settlement for more than 166 years. Then of course we fought a hard and costly war in 1982 to regain control and have since poured millions into the infrastructure of the Islands to ensure their long term effective existence. They may be British territory but they certainly aren’t a British colony.’

‘Wrong.’ Barked the PM.

‘They, at this moment in time, are now back in the hands of Argentina and unless my friend here can this afternoon in the UN pull a bloody rabbit out of the hat then they may well stay that way for a long time to come.’

The breakfast meeting completed, Faulkner thanked both men for coming and wished Lamont Godspeed in his quest for a peaceful resolution to the conflict. The PM had just seen them off when Mary joined him for a final coffee, having discreetly kept her distance while the three men had dealt with the matters of State.

‘It sounds like an open and shut case, James’

‘Well, maybe Mary, but it wasn’t last time and remember they have the Islands now physically in their control. You look at the map, they are so bloody well far away and so small. Makes you wonder if they are worth fighting for, doesn’t it? But we will, if we have to, we really have no other choice if we can’t budge them through diplomatic intimidation.’

‘You know James, it may not be all bad. Look at Maggie Thatcher. She was trailing her opponents badly in March 1982 but just a few months later she could have walked on water as far as the British public was concerned. That little war got her another two terms, James it could do the same for you.’

Faulkner looked pensive, deep in thought. She was right of course, Mary usually was, the woman, his woman, had the cunning of a fox and the genius for sussing out the right move at the right moment that he had always found an exciting mix.

What I should do, he thought, would be to send down one of our subs and nuke them, now wouldn’t that be fun! His dreaming was broken by the ringing of the red phone. Mary quickly picked it up and handed it across to her husband, ‘it’s the President’s office.’

Faulkner’s day was already in afterburner and dawn had barely broken.

 

About the time Edward Lamont boarded his westbound British Airways Concorde at Heathrow, Graeme Evans was already into the second hour of his long southbound ferry to Ascension Island.

The four RAF GR.7 Harriers and the six Tornado interceptors had rendezvoused with the Sea Harriers just off Lands End and made contact with the tanker force shortly after. All of the fighters carried their maximum number of long range ferry tanks though it would be the Sea Harriers that would have to ‘hit’ the tanker between four and five times before reaching their destination nearly 7000 kilometres south of England. The RAF Harriers carried significantly more fuel than the Shars, more than double in fact, and would thus be able to get away with just two or three tankings while the Tornados might even make it with just two. Either way, the four tankers would be nearly fuel exhausted by the time they guided this lot to their final destination.

Well, final is the wrong word as the Harriers were destined to stay just one night on Ascension. At first light the next morning they would fly with the tankers to South Georgia, another 6000 kilometres to the southwest, where an improvised 500 metre metal planking strip would allow them to at least offer some element of defensive air support for the rugged South Atlantic isles. While Argentina had made no claim against South Georgia, in fact it had publicly stated otherwise, it was felt that some form of strengthened military presence had to be provided if only to protect the large number of ships that would be seeking the safety of its anchorage in the weeks ahead.

About the time the final tanker had landed, Evans was already climbing down from the cramped confines of the Shar’s cockpit. Taxying nearby, having just landed before them was the C-130J Hercules that had just returned from paradropping in a special contingent of Sidewinder and Amraam air to air missiles, cannon rounds and some vital spares. Evans noted in his mind that the round trip would have been around 15 hours and probably would have needed at least four tankings as the aircraft would have originally left Ascension with a heavy cargo load.

What he didn’t realise then was that the crew of the Herc, and its accompanying TriStar tanker actually departed England the day before and had a rushed one hour stopover before flying on south. Their total mission time was something in the order of nearly 40 hours!

It was pretty clear to all present that the tyranny of distance would indeed be as much an enemy to the British as any Argentine military endeavour.

 

The two British warships lay at anchor in Cape Town’s beautiful harbour. A city spared much of South Africa’s worsening crime wave and with the natural beauty of Tabletop Mountain towering over this cosmopolitan city, it was deemed by all aboard Her Majesty’s ships Exeter and York to be one of the best R&R stopovers of their long six month international deployment.

Both ships had been participating in manoeuvres with the vessels of a dozen allied nations from Australia to South Africa itself. Their five day stopover at the Cape though was to be shortened by a day as both ships received orders to leave as soon as possible and proceed to the anchorage at Ascension Island. With Argentina possessing a number of fairly capable diesel submarines, the sooner an ASW screen could be provided around the Islands the better. Indeed the two ships were perfect teammates, as proven by their successful wargaming these past few months against some very potent air and maritime threats.

For the transit to Ascension though the teammates would be split. Exeter was to sail direct to Ascension after flying her single Lynx ASW helo across to the larger helicopter deck of York. York would then proceed straight to South Georgia where she would drop off both helos and proceed onto Ascension alone. New Lynx helos would await both ships at Ascension, having been flown in by cargo planes prior to their arrival. In fact, both crews aboard the ships were relieved to hear that long before they arrived on station a force of RAF Nimrod sub hunters would already be in place on the Island.

For the crews of Exeter and York though it came as a sobering shock to realise that the intense, though essentially pretend, battles of the past few months were to now give way to the grim reality of armed conflict. As the delights of the city of Cape Town quickly disappeared astern of the two Royal Navy warships their crews quickly got to work in preparation for the ‘real thing’.

 

By mid afternoon of the second day of the conflict all of Britain’s military had been mobilised along with anything of a civil nature that could also be of use in regaining the Islands by way of military force. Royal Navy ships were being provisioned and armed while the long range elements of the Royal Air Force was being swung into action.

The Hercules transport fleet had already been in full song since yesterday morning with a number of aircraft having already departed for Ascension with their high value cargos of classified and not so classified kit. RAF Boeing E-3D Sentry Airborne Early Warning and Control, AWACS, aircraft were already departing for Ascension as were lead elements of the Nimrod maritime patrol force from Saint Mawgan in Cornwall. Chartered Boeing 747 and Russian Antonov An-124 Ruslan heavy freighters were already arriving in the UK and being loaded with equipment too large for the smaller prop driven Hercules.

Over the coming weeks a dozen of these large jets would form an airbridge between the UK and far off Ascension ensuring that the rapidly assembled taskforce would want for nothing if diplomacy and common sense should fail.

Tactically, the Puma and Chinook helicopter crews were busy working up with the Paras, Royal Marines and the other specialist first team of Britain’s land forces. A week on the various moors and in the rugged Welsh training grounds would hone these soldiers to as good as they could get before embarking them south aboard a diversified fleet of civil and naval transports. The Royal Marines would of course proudly embark on their newly commissioned purpose built helicopter assault ship HMS Ocean, a non Harrier carrying sister to Invincible, Ark Royal and Illustrious. For the Parachute Regiment it would again be their pleasure to board once more SS Canberra while a large number of sundry units and support brigades would be carried aboard P&O’s recently acquired Arcadia. The trans Atlantic luxury liner QE2 this time would not be able to join the fray, as it did in ’82, as with Cunard now being essentially a Scandinavian company she was not unnaturally unavailable for war service.

Canberra herself was lucky to be available this sunny 25th day of August. She had been officially retired from service in late 1997, being replaced by the much larger Arcadia in liner service. She had then been offered for sale by P&O who quite logically forbid sale to any new owner intending using her as a cruise ship. Due to her classic lines, good condition and worldwide reputation she was instead offered as a floating hotel and convention centre.

Indeed the cost of building a similar sized land facility would have been, even with extensive modifications, about three times greater than using Canberra for this task. Consequently a Malaysian group had bid for her, won the tender and paid their deposit. That happy start was however short lived as a feud between the partners led to a legal wrangle that literally left the great liner high and dry. As luck would have it she had been moored on the Clyde and had just last month been sailed under her own steam down to Burrow in Furness in preparation for long term storage following the inevitable collapse of the Malaysian syndicate.

P&O had several more parties interested though in the meantime the 45,000 tonne liner remained fully seaworthy, essentially as she was on her final voyage in September ’97, and having just completed what essentially constituted an at-sea engineering shakedown prior to re-entering service. She was already being fired up for a quick return to the Clyde where she would again be stripped of her elegant and luxurious decor and equipped with two large helidecks just as she was in 1982.

Though his body was tired his mind was racing and alert as Captain Eric Cooper arrived at the Barrow dock where his great love was raising steam amidst a flurry of dockside activity. By dawn the next day she would already be playing host to a thousand workmen working feverishly to turn her once more into the warrior warhorse that she once was.

 

As nightfall fell upon the streets of London, 6000 kilometres away in New York another battle was being fought for the hearts and minds of the member states of the United Nations. If Britain could get a strong sentiment of international support for her demands that the Argentine garrison leave the Falklands forthwith and sign a non aggression pact, then she would have won a massive political and diplomatic victory that could well avert bloodshed. If not, well….

Both the UN representatives of Argentina and the UK had addressed the august body at length and now the Security Council sat to deliberate the immediate outcome. It was fairly clear that most of Europe would side with Britain as would North America and Australasia. Argentine influence in South and Central America though had been carefully developed these past few years and it came as no surprise when many of her immediate neighbours either voted approval of her military action or either politely abstained. Both Brazil and Chile chose to abstain though both also delivered fairly strident speeches against the use of force to solve territorial disputes between civilised nations. Neither obviously being enamoured with an ultra powerful and arrogant Argentina flanking their borders.

At the end of the long session it was clear though that the Argentines had done far better than many would have expected, on either side of the geopolitical fence, and that under the current diplomatic circumstances Great Britain would have little chance of regaining possession of the Falklands other than through military force.

At Number 10 and throughout the offices of Whitehall it was a sombre mood that prevailed. A world away in Buenos Aires, whilst the mood of machismo bravado still prevailed amidst the excited chanting of Moreno’s supporters, a more careful assessment of the situation emerged that indicated that invading the Islands was one thing but keeping them forever might well be another if the British did pursue a military solution.

Few in BA considered this a good option for Argentina which could not risk a shooting war no matter how strong its own forces were. The country was riding on a razor’s edge of international bankruptcy and just because it presently boasted a large and capable military force did not mean that it could actually afford to endure a protracted conflict with a determined and well trained foe.


CHAPTER 8

Captain Ricardo Vivas had been in the air less than 40 minutes when he first saw it. Obscured a little by the sea mist and the angle of the early morning sun rising from the east, but sure as night turns to day, there it was. The fabled Malvinas!

Vivas felt a wave of pride envelop him, something that he hadn’t felt for years. Here he was, the commander of Gruppo 8, a unit that had deservedly won fame in the ’82 conflict, returning in triumph and with a world class airbase ready for its arrival. His eight Kfirs were strung out in routine ferry formation and he glanced at them with pride.

Most were just young boys really though he knew that the months ahead would hone them into men. He had seen that before when he was one of them and was thrown into the thick of it with barely a year on the Mirage IIIEAs that the unit had mercilessly attacked the British fleet with so many years before. He was one of the lucky survivors, there weren’t many, and this was something that took him a long time to get over. He had grown up fast and the price was an eternity of sleepless nights, of eternal nightmares and hoping that if it ever happened again he would have better odds of survival.

He knew, like his eight compatriots that this time it was different. This time they had far better equipment than they did relative to the opposition compared with last time. They had a massive airbase from which to operate, An excellent radar system, a secondary but jet capable strip at Stanley and a well equipped and highly trained ground support system both on the Malvinas but also back in Argentina.

They also had a large stock of spares, munitions and the all important Exocet missile. Last time they had half a dozen and claimed two British ships, this time they had almost 200 which for the first time would allow them to deliver saturation attacks on elements of an enemy fleet at will. Any ship with half a dozen Exocet missiles targeting it simultaneously is doomed, simple as that, and that was one reason why the government had decided long ago not to greatly improve the strength of their own navy. Even the navy was thinking these days in terms of their surface ships as ‘targets’ rather than as combatants.

As the eight Kfirs gracefully cruised over the Jason Islands, some 13 kilometres below, Vivas reflected on the excellent training his young eagles had enjoyed over the past two years. Those freelancers we employed to bring us their hard won skills certainly improved this lot, thought Ricardo, and on top of that he also had as his second in command his old friend Ramon Mendez. Both had fought in the ’82 conflict and survived though both at times wondered how and now they were back. Vivas knew without even conferring with him that his old buddy would be feeling the same pride as he this morning.

 

It was nearing 1000 hours when Troopers Bill McGirvan and Jack Russell heard them. A low whine at first, then the unmistakable sound of high speed jets at altitude. Courtesy of the elevation of the sun both were able to catch glimpses of the source of the noise high above their hide in the Campito Mountains overlooking Falkland Sound to the west and Port San Carlos to the north.

‘Looks like Kfirs, definitely delta planform, big ferry tanks.’ Russell stated quietly to McGirvan as he peered skywards using a powerful set of binoculars.

‘Looks like the party’s hotting up. I count eight and they’re on course for MPN. The boss should have them visual in a few minutes, we’ll let him report them to the Kremlin, we can verify it at the noon link.’ Added Russell.

‘I guess they’re the first of many. More Kfirs, then Skyhawks and more bloody helos.’ Responded McGirvan solemnly.

‘How the hell the British fleet is going to get anywhere near this place with those things around is anybody’s guess.’ McGirvan added.

‘No use fretting about it son, you know what they say - life’s a bitch, then you die!’ Russell added with an irreverent grin.

‘I’m getting pretty pissed off hiding here. With all that activity down there I reckon we should take a look after dark and check it out. Could be something important that the Kremlin would like to know.’ McGirvan added in a more serious tone.

‘Yeah, know what you mean, but our main task is to sit put and report in. We and the others are the only eyes the British government have here at the moment. They can only do so much with satellites, even assuming the Yanks give them access to the birds. If we got caught on a recce then we would jeopardise the entire operation.’ Russell responded.

‘Well, we will have to ultimately do something. We’ve all got just enough rations for under a month, after that we will have to scrounge to get food and that will mean exposing ourselves one way or the other. In time hiding won’t be an option. We can’t continue forever without starving’.

‘Look Bill, we will have to cross that bridge when we get to it. Still, it would be nice to do a recce, maybe if some bad weather comes in we can get down there and back with a better chance of survival which shouldn’t be hard as bad weather is an every day event here.’ Russell added.

As the day progressed the four hidden observation posts made their usual noon and 1800 hour contacts with Ritley. He had confirmed that eight Kfirs had arrived at the Mount Pleasant base around 1030 after making a high speed low altitude pass over Stanley and had hurriedly been armed and placed in the revetments that the Tornados had previously occupied. The Tornados themselves were now assembled together on the flightline south of the large maintenance hangar, as were the two Chinooks, two Sea King and two Lynx helos.

In addition to taking the Islands the Argentines had also won themselves a nice little air force in addition to Rapier surface-to-air missiles and a large number of trucks, Land Rovers, mortars, electronic equipment and of course a large cache of arms and munitions.

Missing from the line up were the two RAF Hercs, equipped with air-to-air refuelling gear and highly sensitive ESM equipment. These gems had long departed for the mainland and were certain to return soon wearing the blue and white of the FAA. Not a good thing!

Ritley also confirmed, as reported in by Steve Walls in his hide overlooking Teal Inlet and Port Salvador midway between Stanley and San Carlos, that what appeared to be 155mm heavy artillery pieces were being flown by Chinook out to several of the headlands. John Peters and Max Phillips, ensconced at Mount Moody on West Falkland also concurred that they had seen at least three such units deploying to the south while it appeared that many more were being prepared as there were still at least a dozen fire units at MPN apparently awaiting Chinook uplift.

The men didn’t need to be told what this meant. They knew that these units had an effective range out to almost 40 kilometres using the new grades of ammunition. These units could easily outrange any shipborne gun that the Royal Navy possessed, assuming of course that a ship could even get within a thousand kliks of this place without being Exocetted out of the water!

 

Evening turned to night and as the fourth day of the occupation dawned it was clear that the new invaders were planning for a long stay.

John Slade had been sworn back into his old job of Senior Police Sergeant, his superior, Inspector Harry Kemp, was also back at his desk as were the eight other members of what constituted the Falklands Islands Police Force.

They were though ominously being assisted by three of their Argentine compatriots from the military police. Whether they liked it or not the ten Britons treated their Argentine observers with polite disdain. It was not an ideal situation though and all concerned knew that it wouldn’t take much of an incident to make the operation unworkable, the ultimate consequences of which were hardly in favour of the residents of the Islands.

‘Well off we go again, next they will have us rounding up deserters and torturing them!’ A depressed Slade commented to the Inspector as they sauntered out of the Police Station for a routine patrol out to the airbase, for, if anything, just to get some air and talk in private.

‘How are things with the family, John. Are Sandra and the kids all right with those three gorillas in your home?’

‘As best as they can be Harry’.

‘And how is Sandra’s mother coping?’ The Inspector added. It was no secret that he fancied Janet Wishbourne and as both were widows it was a potential courtship that many within the small gossip ridden community actively analysed from time to time.

‘She’s okay.’ Replied Slade in a matter of fact way that aroused Harry Kemp’s interest.

‘Just okay! John is there something you’re not telling me here?

After an awkward silence Slade responded with the news that he had earlier promised himself not to reveal to anyone. The less people that knew the better, simple as that he told himself and here in just a few minutes his boss had weedled it out of him. Slade was beginning to feel less sure of himself than ever before and dreaded what would happen if their secret was found out and they were professionally interrogated.

‘Harry, there’s something of great importance I must confide with you about Janet. It’s crucial that what I say stays between me and you, absolutely crucial.’

Kemp looked alert, and worried as he began to listen to Slade’s incredible story of how his mother in law was hidden away and operating what for all intents and purposes amounted to a clandestine communications link with London.

‘My God, that’s incredible. She’s a bloody tiger if ever there was one, that Janet!’

‘Look, Harry, this is no joke. She’s in great danger and so are my family if she should ever be found out, in fact we all are.’

‘Okay, sorry John, but I don’t think you will talk her out of continuing, that’s for sure.’ Responded Kemp in a more serious tone.

‘What we must do now is to ensure that she is not discovered and if she was then we make up some sort of a story that will take pressure off the issue’

‘Suggestions?’ responded Slade.

‘Well, if she was caught, they can’t prove that she was actually communicating with anyone, can they?’

‘Yes, they can. The phone is encoded on the back with a number of key autodial numbers, mostly local but one is a direct link to ops at Scotland Yard. You were away when I got the phone last month and I hadn’t time to run you through it. It’s one of those new Inmarsat units that link via satellite anywhere on the globe. Incredible thing really. Just having it in your possession would be constituted as a criminal offence by these goons.

‘Okay, we’ll just have to ensure she’s not compromised.’ Responded Kemp in a more professional tone.

Slade felt uneasy at his boss suddenly talking professional. She wasn’t just caught, she was compromised. This was beginning to sound very much like a military operation, indeed gaining a momentum of its own as it grew from bad to worse. The civilian link between here and London was of crucial importance to the British government. Janet’s survival was even more crucial to them all and the two went hand in hand. Between the two men they would have to come up with a plan to ensure both were survivable. How though was something that would preoccupy them both as they drove southwards away from Port Stanley.

 

For Commander Jeremy Hunter this was one of the most pleasing times to be a submarine commander.

His boat cruised serenely on the surface at four knots, her powerful turbines barely idling as they entered the anchorage at Ascension Island. The brisk fresh air of a semi tropical dawn was a pleasant change from the artificial confines of the boat though on this occasion Tireless was scheduled to be back out deep beneath the ocean waves and running again at maximum speed by noon.

Power reduced to idle, his boat was taken in by two small tenders in preparation for mooring alongside the large wharf complex of this British owned through jointly British/United States operated base. Ascension was crucial as a long range base in the Second World War and later for many years during the great era of manned space exploration. In 1982 it proved invaluable for the British and today even more so as the defences of their likely foe improved.

Hunter eyed off the large crates on the pier, complete with armed guards and guessed their contents. The longer ones were the new Tomahawk sub surface sea launched land attack cruise missiles and the shorter ones were additional Harpoon rounds. His comm from Northwood verified that he would be uplifting nine of each to add to the four Harpoons already aboard and a dozen of the latest Spearfish torpedoes.

Hunter felt ready for combat. He and his entire crew had been ruminating over the audacity of the invasion since becoming aware of it on the 24th. In that time they had each dreamt of their boat being the first to follow in the footsteps of Conquerer and bring the concept of battle home to those who started it’. Revenge was running through every man’s blood and their boat was indeed a formidable foe that to their knowledge had no equivalent in their enemy’s ranks.

When Tireless and her sisters got there, well things would be very different, they wholeheartedly believed. And that, as every man knew would be in about five days time.

 

Back in the UK the events of the past four days had begun to take on a momentum of their own.

The British government had essentially failed in getting a conclusive demand for an Argentine withdrawal from the Security Council while so many of the UN members refused to back either side, abstaining in the process and nurturing a political void that helped no one. If anything, it only served to make armed conflict inevitable.

The Argentine government had been clear and firm, both at home and via its ambassadors abroad, that it would not be withdrawing from the Malvinas. That it was reinforcing the Islands and that the Islanders themselves were not in any harm.

The mass of UK military personnel on the Islands had already been repatriated to Montevideo in Uruguay and some were already due back in the UK, via RAF and various civilian charter jets the day after tomorrow. Whilst their intel would prove immensely valuable, their arrival back home would also prove to be a major embarrassment for their mother country, which for the second time in a generation saw the British Lion losing territory to a smaller though audacious invader.

In the Ministry of Defence’s ops room, Admiral Ian Kennedy took the call personally. It was from the intelligence link operating between the SAS intelligence centre at Stirling Lines in Hereford and their own central command and control centre at High Wycombe. Kennedy put the phone down after a brief two minute call that was virtually one way between the caller and the called. He quietly place the phone back on its receiver, looked up and announced carefully to the two dozen high ranking specialists in the room that their worst fears had been realised.

‘They’ve just deployed the first squadron of Kfirs to MPN. On top of that more helicopters have arrived, including heavy lift Chinooks and they are siting 155mm howitzers on key headlands.’

The commander of Operation Recovery, the now official name for the massive military effort rapidly being swung into place to regain the Falklands, Admiral Kennedy need to add nothing else.

Every man and woman in the room knew that this was the firm sign that they were looking for as to the long term intent of the Argentine government. Some optimists among them had thought that a quick and bloodless invasion, though their own intel had indicated a large number of Argentine casualties as several planes had apparently blown up in the initial invasion, might have been followed up by some subtle diplomacy and an offer to ‘share’ the sovereignty of the Islands and all the natural bounty that came with them.

As the days passed and no such overtures were made, either publicly or privately, then it became a fait accompli that their invasion was just stage one of their mission of total control of the Falklands by Argentina. The arrival of the jets and the deployment of long range defensive artillery was about the last stage of the buildup expected. The smart thinking was that if it got this far then they weren’t in any mood to give it back.

Admiral Kennedy packed his bulging satchel and with the chiefs of the air force, navy and army in tow they walked the short distance to Number 10 where they were scheduled to brief the PM, his Foreign Minister and their own Minister for Defence.

‘Welcome gentlemen, glad you could make it’ the PM stated as he stood up to greet his warrior chiefs with a warm smile in what would be a full blooded council of war.

The chiefs were inwardly surprised as how cool the PM was considering the pressure of the past few days, not realising that a part of being the national leader was also to inspire, to lead by example. In his own way James Faulkner had momentarily lifted the level of gloom and foreboding just one notch.

General Gerard Larkin introduced the recently appointed commander of Operation Recovery to their hosts and left Admiral Kennedy to quickly give the three politicians a brief on what the present situation was.

‘Prime Minister, Foreign Secretary, Defence Secretary. We received the news an hour ago that we were hoping we wouldn’t. As of 1400 Zulu they had received the first eight of what we imagine will be a growing force of Kfir jets at Mount Pleasant.’

The Prime Minister looked disappointed, a quick glance towards his fellow ministers also betrayed their own disappointment that the potential for a peaceful resolution to the problem was rapidly sliding out of their control.

Kennedy continued. ‘They are also establishing, as we speak, fortified long range artillery firebases on a number of the key headlands around the islands. These guns have a range of up to 40 kilometres and would, in event of conflict, prohibit our own ships from supporting a counter offensive with their own firepower. They would also be a major problem in even conducting any seaborne invasion as I am sure you can imagine.

‘At this moment we estimate that they have five battalions in place and most of their heavy equipment. We believe they have between 60 and 80 helicopters in operation including four of the heavy lift Chinooks.’

The PM raised his hand to interject, ‘And our own aircraft, are they using those too?’

‘Not yet sir. The two Hercules have disappeared, we believe they have gone to the mainland for examination though we expect they will start flying the other six helos soon, they are technically conversant with both the Lynx and Sea King.’

‘And what about the four Tornados’ queried the Secretary of Defence.

‘They have been towed out of their revetments to make way for some of the Kfirs. At present they are parked together near the helicopters.’

‘But could they fly them, could they use them against us?” queried Dixon.

‘We honestly don’t know. The F.3 Tornado is a complex aircraft. Short of torturing the pilots and ground crew into revealing its secrets then I don't know how much use they can make of them. Our assumption is that they will try to fly them, if anything, just for curiosity value. It would logically seem impossible to keep their senior fighter pilots away from the challenge, more the nature of the beast if anything.’ Responded Kennedy.

‘If they did get them fully sorted out then what is the worst that could happen?’ queried the PM.

‘Well, they are a long range interceptor, have a powerful radar and beyond visual range medium range missiles. They are also tanker capable. So, in theory, they could with some command and control fly defensive missions against our own Sea Harriers. However, it’s not as simple as that as they have to find the Sea Harriers first and our ships would have them on radar long before they had achieved a positive lock on any of our aircraft. Initially, they would also be outnumbered, we would hope.’

‘So you don’t consider them in Argentine hands a major problem.’ suggested the PM.

‘Sir, to be honest, if we get that close to the Islands then they would be the least of our problems.’

A look of apprehension was as best as all three politicians could muster while their already fatigued chiefs were barely feeling any more positive.

‘Okay, so they are going for it, what’s our own situation at this moment?’ queried the PM, taking control of the situation and attempting to change the conversation from negative to positive.

‘All our mobilisation contingencies are working well. From the old hands we believe that we are actually getting things done quicker than last time though of course we had Easter interrupt proceeding in ’82, we also have far better communications now and stores processing so we can draw from stock, assemble pallets and ship them easier than before. Last time, half the stuff we packed in the UK had to be repacked at Ascension. That shouldn’t happen this time while we also have much more civil airlift available.

All three carriers will be ready to go to sea from tomorrow, Canberra and Arcadia will be ready to embark troops by Monday and all of the surface combatants will be ready even before that. Nimrods are already at Ascension as are some of the AWACS and a detachment of Tornado interceptors. We have three Trafalgar class attack subs enroute and another just departing Ascension and they will be in a position to enforce a Total Exclusion Zone by Sunday noon our time. Of course, being submarines, you can’t see them so you could in theory declare the TEZ anytime you wished. In 1982 I well recollect that HMS Superb was ‘intimidating’ Argentine shipping whilst she was secretly moored in a loch in Scotland!’

The group chuckled briefly and most remembered. If anything it was grim testimony to the respect and much feared deterrent capability that these awesome hunters of the deep demanded of their surface brethren.

‘As you know, The Paras, Guards and Royal Marines are all working up as are their various support units. However, it would be nice to have an extension of this training period for two important reasons.’

‘And what are they?’ queried the PM.

‘Well, we have to think this operation through very carefully or we ourselves could become our worst enemy. Firstly, they all do really need two to three weeks intensive training to be fully prepared for what lies ahead. We also need to acquire some additional high value items such as key spares, extra night vision gear, specialist weaponry, etc before heading south. Undue haste now could cost us dearly later.

‘The other point is that things are different than they were last time. Last time we basically could just roll up with our land forces, land them and depart. This time we cannot even get our land invasion force with 2000 kilometres of those islands without expecting massive losses from their air force. There is simply no effective guaranteed defence against a massed attack of jets firing what could be dozens of missiles at our troopships.

Last time they missed the point entirely and consistently targeted the warships. This time they surely would not be so dumb, we believe they will go for the troopships and support vessels, after all, a destroyer can’t invade an island so why make it a priority target. The carriers are of course different but numerically they are few compared with their escorts.

‘So, what we are going to have to do is to firstly secure air superiority over the Falklands by destroying their fighter aircraft, eliminate their defensive long range artillery and surface-to-air missile systems and establish a fighter screen that will interrupt their ability to reinforce the Islands from the mainland.’

‘How on earth are you going to do that!’ Asked a startled Prime Minister.

‘Well, sir, I have these maps which better explain my plan, now if we…..

 

Horacio Lunaz, the Commander in Chief of all Argentine military forces was feeling positive. Indeed he had reason to be as he updated President Moreno, Vice President Alberto Molteni and Foreign Minister Alberto Alvirez.

‘At this moment, 1600 hours on the 27th I am happy to report that all six of our combat battalions are deployed and operational. Three quarters of their long endurance stores and equipment have already been landed and the remainder will be in situ by Monday. We have 74 helicopters in the Malvinas including all of our Chinooks and Pumas in addition to three dozen Hueys, half of which are configured as gunships. Gruppo 8 deployed this morning and are already fully operational while our recce Electras and Lears are planning to begin staging via the Islands from tomorrow. We don’t believe that there are any British ships anywhere close but all the same it is sensible to know exactly what’s out there at all times. The two British warships at Cape Town have departed, we believe for Ascension Island. The frigate in the Caribbean remains at Puerto Rico though we don’t have an update on their nuclear submarine fleet.

‘The SA-10 Grumble missiles move in tomorrow as do the tracked ZSU-23/4 guns. By the end of next week we will have fully deployed, fortified and secured the dozen firebases that we surveyed so carefully. If they try to even attempt to take the Malvinas back then they will indeed pay a heavy price. My personal thoughts are that if they are so foolish as to try then the losses they will suffer will be enough to not only send them home but also bring down their government.

‘I would imagine, Mr President, that the replacement regime might be a lot more willing to negotiate a sovereignty transfer with us that would suit both our needs.’ Lunaz excitedly concluded.

‘Very interesting Horacio, please congratulate your commanders personally on my, and my compatriots, behalf’. Stated Moreno as he gestured to his ministers.

‘Alberto, everything is on track diplomatically I trust?’ added the President.

‘Essentially yes. We did better in the UN than I ever imagined. Those who went against us were expected to in reality while the nigh number of countries that abstained was what made our success so strong diplomatically. The British cannot now say they have a massive international mandate to beat us with. There is something in their culture that says that possession is nine tenths of the law, well they had now better well learn that!’ responded the Foreign Minister who genuinely felt that things had gone better than he had personally expected.

‘But what about the Americans, they are very important in all this.’ Queried Moreno.

‘As we always suspected, the Americans and their major allies will eventually side with the British. It is the way of the world. However, they still haven’t come right out with a full endorsement of British military activity or a strong condemnation of our action. I think though, from what our ambassadors are saying, that they may well firm up in the coming day or so either way.’ Responded Alvirez.

‘Well, we can now only wait and see.’ Exclaimed Moreno.

‘Our forces are up to scratch and politically we are looking good, and have you seen the streets! People are excited in this country for the first time in generations. We have for once and forever killed the ghosts of ’82 and offered our people a new dawn into the twenty first century. Gentlemen, these days will be the greatest in our lives, and in our nation’s life.’

 

It was a quarter after ten in the night when James Faulkner took the call in his drawing room from the President of the United States.

‘Good evening James, sorry to call you at this hour but I wanted you to know firsthand that we will be issuing a press statement at 0900 tomorrow Washington time that basically states that we are throwing our full support behind your efforts to recover sovereignty of the Falklands.’

‘Thank you Warren. What can I say. You more than anyone know how important it is for we key allies to remain in support of our alliance. We have solved more problems these past two decades by staying together than anyone ever did by deserting ship at the eleventh hour.’ Responded Faulkner, much buoyed by the crucial lift this would give to his cause, to his credibility.

‘From tomorrow we can link you directly into our KH-11 surveillance satellite network and feed your Security Service everything we have in South America. We can also supply your forces with some extra high value equipment, missiles, technical kit, etc that you might be short on. I am also willing to state in the release that we can provide a carrier, minus aircraft, as a floating delivery platform for some of your Harriers and helicopters to get to Ascension and South Georgia in a hurry.

‘My military people tell me that this is a problem you might have. We have the USS Carl Vinson steaming towards southern England now, it could embark your aircraft in 48 hours if you wish. All we need to do is to put our birds ashore at your bases till she returns. We can provide her for 30 days and I will declare that she will not get any closer to the Falklands than 2000 kilometres, apart that is from direct tracking to South Georgia.

‘James, I think this could be a smart move. More than anything, it will tell the Argentine administration that while we are not willing to go to war with them we will in turn fully support our ally, Great Britain. It might make them back off and might strengthen your hand in the UN if you can get some of those yellow bellies to sway their vote across to you.’ the President concluded.

‘That’s true Warren, it will make them think and it will also greatly assist our forces in the deployment ahead. Your people were right, we have been trying to figure out how to get some of our bigger helicopters to South Georgia so quickly as most of the ships that can take them are slow and already utilised.’

‘James, the Vinson is one of our best, she will get your planes there so fast that you would think you had flown them there! Look, it’s late at your end, you must be hankered so I will let you go. Get a good night’s sleep my friend, from tomorrow things will be looking up.’

With that the line went dead and James Faulkner allowed himself the luxury of one scotch. He remembered Thatcher saying once privately that Reagan had offered one of their carriers as a sort of floating airfield midway between Ascension and Stanley. She hadn’t taken up the offer for reasons he never learnt. Sure as hell though this Prime Minister wasn’t going to let an opportunity like that pass him by. Samson was right, tomorrow was going to be a better day, it had to be.

 

It was already late in the afternoon when Lieutenant Commander Graeme Evans sighted the high cliffs of South Georgia. For the past half hour his Blue Vixen radar had been painting the islands, something that he mentally filed away as probably invaluable to recollect at some time if his Sea Harrier’s advanced satellite navigation systems should fail on a dark and stormy night.

The sight of the whitecaps far below, indicating he guessed a gale in the order of force six at least, though made him thankful that he was ensconced in this warm cockpit, albeit in an uncomfortable immersion suit, in his little jet rather than in a small frigate being bashed to death by Mother Nature herself.

‘Blue leader to flight, base three zero kilometres at one eight eight, commence descent in two minutes’ came the expected call from their ‘mother’ the sole remaining TriStar tanker which had remained with the four Sea Harriers and four GR.7s till they were safely delivered to this remote and rugged wilderness at the bottom of the world. The other three tankers had departed northwards one at a time and by the time ‘mother’ had gotten a thousand klics south of Ascension on the return leg it too would be met by the first tanker to return with a top up of fuel. Without that it would simply not have enough fuel to make Ascension. It didn’t seem to matter what you flew, down here everything was predicated on fuel endurance and the sobering reality that there were no alternates made each of the fast jet pilots this day realise that this was most definitely the ‘real’ thing’.

As the little jets peeled off for their landing approach it was the Sea Harriers with their smaller fuel tankage that went in first. All eight jets were down in under three minutes and taxied towards the operations end of the small 500 metre metal planking reinforced strip. There was a small hangar of sorts, just about large enough to accommodate two aircraft and a small admin/ops area. Another small portakabin structure served as crew accommodation and another for stores and equipment. Though the eight pilots were on their own, a team of 20 or so maintainers would be arriving by the first available ship so in the meantime they would have to do some of their own basic servicing, for which they had been trained and simply park any aircraft that went unserviceable.

There were at this time no other aircraft on the island though HMS Endurance, which had been running picket duty several hundred kilometres north of the island in case any of the aviators decided to go swimming, did have a non armed Lynx. Evans wondered as he shut down the Shar how this place would look in a few weeks when it was rumoured it would be home to a dozen or so Chinooks, Sea Kings and maybe even some more Harriers. Where the hell they would put them was anyone’s guess!

The Harriers had been neatly marshalled into their designated spaces by the only two aviation personnel on the island.

‘Major Ian Thomson, Royal Marines, this is Corporal Radische, welcome to South Georgia, the gem of the South Atlantic!’

Evans immediately knew that maybe, just maybe, this place wouldn’t be as uneventful and boring as he had been led to believe.

‘Pleased to meet you, we’ll get our kit and get the rest of the flight settled down’ responded Evans as the final Pegasus turbofan wound down.

‘Great, come across to the mess, so to speak, where we have some hot soup for you all.’

The thought of hot soup after nine hours in the cramped cockpit battling an inflating bladder constrained as it was in a double thickness immersion suit was enough to send Evans and his cohorts sprinting for the closest toilet.

The unavoidable demands of nature satisfied, the pilots joined in the small mess where Major Thomson welcomed them and gave them a brief on the Islands. They had in fact had a pretty good briefing at Ascension and were well up to speed though the constant reference to gale force winds was something that each pilot, RAF and RN alike, took careful note of.

That done, the men began to file off to shower and change into something more comfortable.

‘Evans, have you got a moment?’ queried Thomson.

‘Sure’ a barely awake Evans replied.

‘This classified message came in on the scrambler about three hours ago. If you need to reply to it come and see me, as you know we have a secure satellite datalink here direct to Northwood and High Wycombe.

Evans took the manilla envelope marked somewhat mysteriously ‘Top Secret’ and carefully slit it open. Was something wrong at home, an accident perhaps, or had he committed some incredible offence that would see him grounded. His pulse was racing as he began to read the contents as he had never heard of anybody receiving something like this before.

It took him just two minutes to carefully read the contents. Alone in the mess he gazed out at the eight small fighters and the only thought going through his mind was - Oh God!


CHAPTER 9

For Robyn Olds, anytime before noon was considered early in the morning. She was a child of the night and only rose early, like the rest of the land, because the necessities of life dictated such primeval behaviour. However, when her phone rang this 28th morning of August, just as the sun was making its triumphant return for yet another fine autumn day, she was already up and about and more than ready for what the day had in store.

Her life had gone into overdrive since the invasion just half a week earlier. Endless interviews, co-ordinating a hurriedly set up specialist research and support unit for her and her two camera crews all meant that while she suddenly had the full resources of Apeco at her fingertips she essentially was the only one who could get them into shape as a hard hitting media team.

It had been made clear to her on the afternoon of the 24th that this ‘war’ could do for Apeco what Desert Storm had done for CNN. British based Apeco was rapidly overhauling its US rival in the lucrative Euro market and this could be the break that the network had been hoping for for so long in aceing CNN once and for all. Robyn knew of course, full well the implications of this and that her own name was firmly embossed on the plaque of success that would soon befall Apeco via this interesting little conflict on the other side of the world.

The phone call had come out of the blue. She had not surprisingly taken her own phone off the hook for a half hour while she attempted to go through the normal human requirements of grabbing breakfast and getting herself ready for an early departure. The fax machine coming to life grabbed her attention as it always did and she moved across and ripped the just completed transmission from its jaws.

‘Robyn, call office immediately. We have been invited by Argentine Govt to send a news crew to the Falklands for a live transmission. You depart at 1100 from Heathrow with BA to Sao Paulo, onto Buenos Aires where they will take you direct to the Islands by military transport. Regards Ken G.’

Robyn stared at the fax for another moment and yelled out ‘all right!’

She and her team were heading south for what she hoped would be an exclusive on the spot report of life in the Falklands under Argentine rule from a British perspective. That had to be the deal of the decade, Robyn thought as she rushed from her apartment with her mobile already humming.

 

Captain Ricardo Vivas and Ramon Mendez looked at the aircraft with an inward trepidation though not surprisingly neither man would dare show this in public.

‘It’s much larger than I imagined, what do you think Ramon?’ Vivas queried of his long time friend.

‘Two engines, a big radar, eight missiles and all that fuel. It has to be big my friend to do what it does.’

The two men had just alighted from their Jeep and were checking out the lines of the Panavia Tornado F.3. On Vivas’s instructions one of the four Tornados had been towed out to the active flightline, fuelled and prepped for a test flight. Though nobody, even their own test pilots, had ever had any practical experience with the beast they all felt that it wouldn’t be difficult to fly. In their favour was the fact that they also had inherited the complete inventory of operating and technical manuals, documents that both men had been poring over with great enthusiasm the previous evening.

After doing a normal preflight of the big jet, both men climbed the ladders into the cockpit. Vivas would be chief pilot while Mendez would occupy the second position, normally the domain of the weapon systems operator or as the British still quaintly called them, navigators. The ground power unit had already been hooked up and was supplying the aircraft with all the electrical energy needed to not only run its systems but also to start the engines without draining the onboard system.

Vivas and Mendez talked quietly over the intercom for almost an hour, checking out each of the dozens of systems they would have to operate to just get this beast into the air let alone try and fly it as it’s creators desired. With the ground crew in attendance Vivas carefully followed the procedure for engine start. The left side Rolls-Royce RB199 turbofan began to wind up and quickly came alive with the reassuring rumble expected of it. Stabilised with oil temps and gas pressures indicating normal he then duplicated his actions to bring the right engine to life.

This completed he moved to switch the huge Foxhunter air-to-air radar to ‘on’ and momentarily reminded himself that this might be a dumb idea. If he switched it on whilst on the ground he could well sterilise anyone standing in front of the aircraft for a hundred metres. He quickly told his eager back seater to keep the radar down till they were airborne and had completed the handling tests. It was a temptation though as the capabilities of the radar had long fascinated him. According to the manual the upgraded Foxhunter had a range in excess of 180 kilometres and was able to automatically track up to 20 targets simultaneously whilst segmenting the four most likely threats. All the pilot, theoretically, had to do was to press the firing switch for the system to autofire any of its four Skyflash missiles.

Ricardo Vivas was disappointed about one thing though and that was that the British had still not armed their Malvinas aircraft with their latest Amraam air-to-air missiles. These were better than the already excellent Skyflash and if they had had supplies in store then it was felt that they could have been fired from their own Kfirs. The Skyflash though was a generation behind Amraam in its fire and forget capability and would be useless on the Kfir, even with a long development period as the smaller jet was simply not electronically designed to cope with its complexities.

So much for the downside however, this was still an excellent aircraft and one that every fighter pilot in the Fuerza Aerea Argentina was ready to give his right arm to fly. And that showed this pleasant late winter morning at Mount Pleasant as a large crowd had gathered to watch the jet as it cautiously rolled forward towards the taxiway that would take it to the end of MPAs long runway. Both men would have preferred to have been doing this in private and not under the watching gaze of hundreds of their peers and assorted ranks. The general feeling was that now that the invasion was over things had quickly sunk into a routine of sorts. There were movements every few minutes at the two airports and ships still came and went within hours at the harbour but with so many people now ensconced on the island, particularly at the airbase, it was almost becoming overcrowded with people looking for things to do. Today, this morning, many had chosen to lap up the sunshine and watch two of their best pilots shake down the big and visually impressive fighters that the British had so kindly bequeathed them.

At the end of the runway, Vivas ran through the final checks with his partner. He noticed the dual seat Mirage taxying in the distance and took a mental note to remember to link up with it after his planned thirty minute handling test. Both aircraft were being tasked to make a low level medium speed pass over Port Stanley, Mount Pleasant, San Carlos and Goose Green. The Mirage was carrying a cameraman and would record their mission on film for world distribution later that evening. With the Tornado now proudly wearing its new blue and white FAA roundels, it would prove to be a PR coup of international proportions and an idea that Vivas believed had come direct from the President’s office the night before.

Brakes check, oil, pressure and temps okay, wings forward, the big jet was sans its usual long range underwing tanks and all armament, and power levels slowly pushed forward the Tornado began to accelerate forward as the two RB199s went firstly to full dry military power then into reheat, a wall of flame pouring like a giant’s blowtorch from each of the afterburners as 20 tonnes of interceptor hurtled down the strip and into the air to the equally thunderous applause of the vast crowd.

Just like his Kfir, once airborne the Tornado was smooth and remarkably quiet. Afterburners disengaged, power back to just below military and stick back as the jet climbed skywards. It didn’t feel as nimble as the Kfir and both men could physically appreciate just how much larger and more complex it was.

Indeed the Tornado F.3 had been created for an entirely different mission to that of their Kfirs. This machine was meant to fly long distances from their base, to seek out and destroy incoming enemy aircraft, large and small, at well beyond visual range long before they became a threat to whatever they were defending. At least that was the theory of it all, as both men knew, when combat became real the best theories often turned to worms.

This machine was truly excellent though as Ricardo Vivas put it through its paces. The radar didn’t disappoint either as they worked carefully through its modes from the hurriedly assembled notes they had prepped from the tech manuals that morning. Both men were amazed at the ground mapping clarity of the primarily air-to-air radar, being able to see most of East Malvinas from well out to sea while still being able to track and identify a number of transports and helicopters operating in the airspace above the Islands.

It was like a sort of mini airborne warning and control platform, Ricardo thought to himself, only one with eight missiles, four of which could take out targets as far away as 50 kilometres from anywhere between 250 and 80,000 feet, in fact the aircraft itself could reach 70,000 feet while having a non refuelled endurance approaching three hours.

With the wings back and afterburners lit the Tornado smoothly and quickly accelerated to just beyond twice the speed of sound while with its wings forward it was quite manoeuvrable, its fly-by-wire computer aided flight controls enabling it to fly manoeuvres that in the Kfir, Mirage or Skyhawk would be considered suicidal.

It was a very excited and proud moment for both men when they formated with the dual seat Mirage for the quick low level photo sortie over their Islas Malvinas. As Vivas rolled down the runway before what now must have been a thousand of his cheering countrymen little did he appreciate that his brief flight would be seen, and reflected upon, worldwide over the coming days.

 

Lieutenant Monica Prossor thought it was a helluva morning. Her crew had been up since dawn prepping their Sea King AEW helo for its short flight from Royal Naval Air Station Culdrose in the south of Cornwall to embark aboard HMS Illustrious which was working up her air group in the lower reaches of the Channel, and at the last moment they are directed to fly south and land upon the USS Carl Vinson instead.

Both her own helo and one other from 849 Squadron were slated for service aboard Illustrious while the others were going in pairs to Ark Royal and Invincible. That left just two reserve aircraft in the crucially important airborne early warning configuration and two more in maintenance. One of these would be ready next week but it would be a full three weeks before the tenth and final machine of this type was airworthy. Then there were the crews. Due to ongoing defence cuts, a supposed peace in our time perception that actually had much of the military busier than ever fighting seemingly unwinnable brushfires from Bosnia to Belfast.

The truth of the matter was that there were only 11 fully trained crews available for the AEW birds. Using the small force temporarily left behind, the brass had figured that it would somehow be able to convert across another five or six crews before late September, about the time when the taskforce was expected to be nearing combat. At best then the operational crews knew that these would largely be nothing better than attrition replacements, a thought that none dwelt upon to any great length for obvious reasons.

Cranking up the two Rolls-Royce Gnome turboshafts, Prosser, just one of a growing band of female pilots with the armed forces, smoothly lifted the collective to gracefully transition the near ten tonnes of Westland Sea King from the hover to forward flight. Getting airborne seconds later was her wingman. It was only minutes before noon as both helicopters, flying in formation, passed abeam Land’s End enroute to the awaiting American supercarrier a hundred kilometres to the south. Packed with crucial high usage spares and several maintainers, the occupants of the two helicopters took one last look at England. It would be the last they would see of her for a long time.

 

Forging ahead at 22 knots, the 91,000 tonnes of the Carl Vinson, could be seen almost 50 klics away. The clear sky and clean air highlighted the mammoth ship’s wake while the mass of air activity around it gave it a radar image that even a blind man could plot.

From first light, the carrier’s air groups had been launching in pairs to airfields in the UK where they would await further orders. For most it was an unexpected R&R stretching from a few days to maybe a full month. The fact that their ship was doing something useful to assist an ally in what might soon become a shooting war appealed to all involved. At last, something of action rather than just constantly irritating Iranians or playing wargames with NATO and the born again nice guys of the Russian Republic.

‘Now if only they would let us join them in getting those damn islands back!’ thought Admiral Jackson Stoddard, the first African American to command a carrier battle group, as he watched two more F/A-18Es depart as four RAF Harriers arrived at the opposite end of the kilometre long ship.

By dusk his ship would have taken aboard its full designated compliment of British aircraft, about six dozen in all. Though the explicit instructions of his government had gone to great lengths to stress that this was nothing more than a delivery mission, far away from the perceived enemy, he had been allowed the ‘luxury’ of retaining the elements of a small self defence capability just in case it was needed.

Consequently in addition to the stowed Harriers, Chinooks, Lynxs and Sea Kings of the British his ship would still retain a force of four F-14D Tomcat interceptors, three E-2C Hawkeye radar planes, two C-2 cargo planes and two S-3 Viking ASW jets in addition to four of its own version of the Sea King helo. To help maintain a more subtle international presence the Vinson would travel without her usual array of surface escorts though Stoddard knew, along with just a handful of his senior officers and tacticians, that they would be accompanied by not only a Los Angeles class attack sub but also an Ohio.

A hundred klics north of South Georgia might as well be on Mars thought Stoddard and if those Argentines wanted to take a pot shot at him with one of their subs then they just might get lucky. If that happened he knew he had some good buddies to rely on deep beneath his keel. It might even give them some useful target practice he mused in light hearted contemplation.

It had been only minutes since Monica Prossor had landed aboard the huge carrier, so much larger than the Invincible class that it seemed almost ridiculous, and yet her valiant steed was already being manhandled away towards one of the four giant elevators that would see it securely stowed in the vast cavern of the aircraft maintenance deck. The level of activity was frenetic. Fighters from the carrier were still launching from the forward section of the ship while aircraft were being accepted at the rear while the centre section was being utilised as a pick up point for the seemingly endless trail of Chinooks, carrying large slung loads beneath them of spares and equipment and filled to the gunnels with support crew. When they departed they took away three and four dozen US seamen at a time to make way for the rapidly growing community of Britons. While one lot were going to frolic the other were heading to battle.

How strange it seemed, Monica thought to herself as she tried in vain to grapple with the zillion things she and her team had done in the past few days. She tried to think of what she had been doing this time last week and realised that she couldn’t even remember. The numbing fatigue of 16 hour days was beginning to tell, on her and the others, all of them. Tired men and women and destined to get much tireder if the politicians failed in their continuing attempts to broach a settlement.

 

Robyn Olds and her team, a manager/researcher, a cameraman and soundie, waited patiently in the British Airways Oasis Lounge at Heathrow waiting to board the nonstop to Sao Paulo. Suddenly the televisions within the packed lounge came alive as its occupants quickly moved to adjust the volume at the sign of Prime Minister Faulkner obviously making a major announcement.

“My fellow Britons. This day I regret to say we are having to begin the serious contemplation of having to again recover our Falkland Islands by military force. For the past two days we have been in discussion with the government of Argentina via their ambassador here in London.’ Faulkner stopped and looked up from his speech and added with a very determined expression, ‘We would have preferred to deal direct with President Moreno and his ministers but they have made it clear they don’t want to talk with us on a one on one, man to man basis, so to speak.’

Faulkner looked genuinely grieved and disappointed and there wouldn’t have been a Briton anywhere who didn’t feel the same feeling of disgust for how things were going at the political level.

‘The government of Argentina has consequently made it clear to us in no uncertain terms that they genuinely believe that the islands are legally, morally and physically theirs. The first two are of course totally a fabrication though regrettably at this point in time the latter is fact. We will continue to pursue a political solution but regrettably must also now prepare ourselves for the possible use of military force to liberate our territory. ‘Consequently, from midnight tonight, London time, we are initiating a maritime total exclusion zone for 400 kilometres around the Falklands. Any foreign ship in that zone may be fired upon, any Argentine ship in that zone most definitely will be fired upon.’ Faulkner’s words were firm and as cold as steel. If anyone in the room had had any doubts about the ability of this man to hack it as strongly as Thatcher did two decades earlier then their doubts had well and truly been allayed.

The transmission ended as quickly as it had begun and the room erupted into a mixture of applause and bemused and confused faces of the many foreign nationals fortunately not caught up in what would be possibly a long and bloody war. Within hours all of these people would be thousands of kilometres away heading in different directions around an ever shrinking globe. Robyn Olds looked at the team, little was said but each knew that this trip might just turn out to be more than they bargained for.

 

Time in terms of day and night had become irrelevant by the time a modern nuclear boat had been at sea for more than three days. And so it was aboard Tireless as she sped deep beneath the South Atlantic destined for her assigned killing grounds.

Though late morning in London, boat time suggested it was just after 0700 and Jeremy Hunter was already up and ready for a quick breakfast. His boat was now less than a thousand kilometres from the TEZ while flanking in from astern were her sisters Triumph and Torbay and the older but still highly capable Swiftsure class boats Sovereign and Spectre.

Both his boat and Triumph carried the new generation Tomahawk land attack missiles while the others were armed with Harpoon and the Spearfish homing torpedo. Hunter had recollected how the skipper of HMS Conqueror had used old WW2 style aim and shoot torpedos to claim the Belgrano in 1982 though this time Northwood had specifically ordered them to use their first kill rounds to the maximum.

It was stressed that it was simply not worth taking a chance when a better weapon, albeit more expensive, can do the job much more assuredly. The PR nightmare of a lost sub at this stage would be difficult to overcome and could well scuttle the entire mission to regain the islands. The directive basically had been that if you found a target within the designated TEZ then it was to be destroyed quickly and expeditiously.

There wasn’t a man aboard the boat that didn’t feel that this was a good rules of engagement scenario, specially if they were to survive to see Britain again.

Submarines, specially nuclear powered hunter killers, operated deep and alone, though within enemy waters it was always nice to know that you had some surface help somewhere in addition to the odd Nimrod dropping its sonobuoys hundreds of kilometres away and giving you a head start of crucial proportions. Down here without anything but the distant comfort of the other boats, which would all be working separate predesignated sectors of the TEZ, it was always a worry that the other guy might get lucky.

Hunter checked his watch and contemplated that by this time tomorrow his crew might well have scored their first kill. The thought to be honest didn’t entirely overjoy him.

 

‘We should have at least talked with him!’ Alberto Alvirez heatedly barked at Vice President Alberto Molteni.

‘Okay, okay, I guess we underestimated their response, but can’t the damn gringos see that they have lost the Islands, that they are ours and always have been!’ responded an agitated Molteni.

The mood within the Casa Rosada had been glum and becoming increasingly heated following the events on the other side of the world these past dozen hours.

‘Moreno had virtually assured us that the US wouldn’t side outright with Britain, let alone give them an aircraft carrier, and now Faulkner has declared a TEZ around the Islands. As you know, we still have a lot of equipment to ship out there and we will need to keep the place refuelled if we are to deploy all those jets Dimeglio raves about.’ Alvirez raved, waving his hands in disgust at how things were going.

‘I knew this would happen, just like last time. We get in there easily and the whole world turns against us and now we will have to fight to defend them.’

‘Alberto, Alberto, calm down. It’s not as bad as you make out. America is only offering that carrier as a form of transport for them to reinforce Ascension and South Georgia. They could move all of Devon to there and we couldn’t care less, so let’s get it in perspective. Sure, Faulkner has declared a TEZ but I bet he doesn’t do anything. I bet he won’t give the order to shoot to any submarine there, even if there are any there or even coming. Look my friend, it’s okay. We are on the Islands in force, we don’t have a real lot left to ship by sea.’ Responded Moltini in a reasoned voice.

‘Look, if they dispatch a taskforce our aircraft will give them such a bloody nose well before they even reach the Malvinas that they will have to withdraw and go home. Their subs might be good but they can’t retake the Malvinas from us. And don’t forget that we have viable anti submarine defences in addition to our own submarines. Alberto, they won’t find it a turkey shoot if they turn up the heat on this.’ Moltini continued.

‘Alright. I guess there’s not much we can do though as Foreign Minister it’s pretty frustrating to find that I can’t get on a plane and go to London and do a deal with them on this. The fact that we are there in force would give me the strength I need to be able to bargain away their sovereignty for our ownership with them still having a say in control via a council of sorts.’ Alvirez pleaded in despair.

‘I know what you are saying my friend but we will just have to run it as the President has directed for the time being. The British won’t be as rash to up the ante at this stage and the Americans won’t back them anymore than they already have. Trust me!’ concluded a smiling Vice President.

 

Bill McGirvan scanned once more in the direction of Stanley, far to the east, just on the hope that he would see something of interest, something exciting to report to the boss.

This was their fourth or fifth, he’d almost forgotten, day of hiding and there had been little fresh activity of any sort since the enmasse deployment of resources that first day. Helicopters were always about, as were some Pucara and Mohawk aircraft, the jets had arrived and he had even seen what looked like a Tornado flying down Falkland Sound the day before, much to his disgust. But apart from that definitely nothing out of the ordinary.

He was situated between rocks about 30 metres from their hide, which at this distance, McGirvan noted with great relief, was virtually invisible amongst the tussock grass and rocks. You would have to bloody well walk on top of it to even know it’s there, he thought to himself with some level of comfort. Getting these things built properly in peacetime had been pretty smart thinking.

His smile was quickly replaced by a look of awe as he turned to face the south west.

‘My God, will you look at that’ he whispered to himself as he tried to interpret the scene before him. McGirvan hurried back to the hide and roused Jack Russell who had been sleeping.

‘Jack, wake up, wake up, there’s a bloody submarine down there!’

‘A what!’ exclaimed Russell through bleary eyes, not wanting to hear this let alone be woken.

‘A submarine, one of those small ones they have, one of those German designed diesel powered things.’

Russell grabbed the glasses and looked through them intently for almost a minute.

‘It’s one of their newer diesel subs, they just completed the last one of a class of four last year. I remember hearing that they have some pretty tricky German designed gear on them. It appears that its pennant number is Sierra Four One. It’s only minutes to the noon transmission, we will tell the boss then, in the meantime let’s see what it’s up to.’ Suggested Russell.

‘You know, that could be a real problem in the event of us getting an invasion fleet back into these waters.’ Responded McGirvan, who was now carefully thinking through the long term implications of the sighting.

‘Yeah, and I don’t think our nukes would perform too well in these shallow and confined waters. Falkland Sound is a great battleground, a great hiding place for something like a small diesel sub. It could snort all night in perfect safety then idle out there towards Fanning Head and create havoc for anything trying to get in here from either end. It might even get a lucky shot in from its own versions of our hides if one of our larger and noisier nukes gets too close. Bill, this definitely isn’t good news!’ Russell surmised.


CHAPTER 10

Looking out of the window of a Hercules is difficult at the best of times but it’s even harder when you have been on the road for more than 30 hours.

For Robyn Olds and her team though the challenge was just ops normal. There was little to see though through the small portholes spread about the airlifter’s cabin in seeming indifference to the requirements of passengers as the C-130 sped across the northern reaches of East Falkland on its descent into Mount Pleasant.

Much to her personal disgust this had turned out to be a special media flight which by unfortunate coincidence included much of her competition. Still, life wasn’t perfect and thus also summoned and waiting at Buenos Aires Aeroparque Jorge Newbery were a rival television team from CNN, NBC and three Argentine networks. The brief by the minder had outlined a programme of quick visits to several points on the Islands and an hour or so free in Stanley to talk with the locals before the Herc would take them back to BA that evening.

Though this was supposedly not to be censored it was made clear that each group would have an army escort, just to ensure its safety in what was still regarded as a ‘combat zone’. Olds looked at her fellow travellers with bemusement and whispered to her cameraman that we had better figure out a way around that one if we’re to beat the others at their own game!

After landing, the assembled media were ushered into what had been the British Military Forces Falkland Islands officers mess. Gone were the various squadron and unit motifs, including some interesting souvenirs of the ’82 war, and in the place were photos of the President and of all things Argentine travel posters. A briefing by the newly appointed Director of Public Information - Malvinas Islands - Major Jose Horego, extolled just how well things had gone since the 24th and how happy the Islanders had been to see the Argentines return to their islands. Olds noted with dismay that the Argentine media were lapping it up while her northern hemisphere counterparts looked on in stunned dismay at this crass and transparent exercise in blatant propaganda.

The crews would each have a minder and a minivan and could head off to sites of their own choosing. After a quick run around the Mount Pleasant facility the units from Apeco and CNN both decided to head straight for Stanley as did one of the Argentine groups. The others headed out to Darwin and Port San Carlos, areas Olds would visit that afternoon.

‘What’s that pile of metal and rubble over there?’ Olds queried her minder, a young corporal of maybe 25 years.

‘Oh, that’s rubbish I guess, left over by the British. It was here when we came. They must have crash landed one of their Hercules.’

Olds looked the corporal in the eye long enough to see him rapidly melt to nothing and quickly look away. Bullshit, she thought. That pile of rubble was almost still smoking and there was definitely parts of what looked like a Hercules tailplane in there.

‘That’s interesting, corporal, I mean, the RAF Hercs are painted dark green and yours are natural metal. That pile of rubble closely resembles a great heap of natural metal Hercules if I ever saw one! Responded Olds leaning forward and fixing the corporal with her stare.

‘I don’t know senorita, I only got here yesterday, it was here then and nobody has spoken of it being one of our planes’.

We’ll look into that when we get back to London, thought Robyn. At moments like that it’s a major asset having a film crew with real world experience and so it was with great pleasure that she noted her cameraman already had his small handicam lying on the windowpane in such a fashion that it could record everything she had seen without their minder even being aware of it!

Ah, we are indeed fortunate to have been given Argentina’s version of Gomer Pyle, once we get to Stanley we’ll see him off real quick, contemplated Olds.

 

‘What’s this?’ General Edwardio Fernandez exclaimed, holding up a half burnt piece of grey cap with a winged dagger emblem sewn onto the front.

‘That sir is what we didn’t want to find.’ Responded Major Miguel Valda, the Argentine Army’s chief of security for Malvinas Forces.

‘What do you mean Valda?

‘My men were combing through the remains of that storage area at the end of the field, the one that exploded on the first night. There’s little of anything left other than rubble but we did find a few pieces of half burnt clothing, the most interesting of which is this beret which is nothing other than British SAS issue.

‘They’re Special Air Service?’ Queried Fernandez as he sat up straighter in his chair and looked Valda in the eye.

‘Yes, which means that possibly a number of them had a camp of sorts there and that our gringo hero that night wasn’t just an airfield defence guard. After all, that vehicle he had was hardly standard issue.’

‘And he wouldn’t have been alone, would he?’ queried Fernandez.

‘Hardly. They usually work nowadays in teams of six. Intelligence never confirmed an SAS presence here at any time but they also went to pains to not dismiss it. They felt that it would be most likely that some units of the British special forces would rotate through here from time to time, if not just to get the practical experience with the different terrain and conditions.’

Fernandez leaned forward and tapped his pen on the table, deep in thought.

‘Well, we have no option but to expect that he wasn’t alone, that there were several more there and they got away into the hills, out into what they call the Camp. They may even by in civvies and hiding in Stanley with the help of others. There are roughly twenty one hundred British civilians here and there wouldn’t be one who wouldn’t help them where possible. Miguel, arrange a house to house search now, and do it discreetly, we might even turn up some people who appear to be ‘missing’, if you know what I mean.’

‘Yes sir, I will get two teams together and begin immediately.’ Replied Valda who quickly got up and departed as quickly as he had come.

SAS, interesting, they are probably in the hills watching our every movement, after Stanley we will begin a search of the Camp, they must be found. Fernandez thought to himself in deep contemplation as to his next move.

 

Word travels fast in a small community. Particularly one that is now under siege and fighting for its future. Consequently by the time the CNN and Apeco minibuses had made Stanley wharf a number of people were already there to greet them. Many would have known Robyn from her regular broadcasts on TV as satellite transmission was naturally the mainstay of the Islands links with the outside world.

As Robyn stepped from the bus she and her crew were mobbed by grateful Falklanders glad that she had been able to come and talk with them. She was somewhat awed by their enthusiasm and gladdened to see their young corporal literally being elbowed out of the way as the news team quickly set up for some quick interviews with the busy harbour as a backdrop.

This went on for about half an hour and Robyn had quickly grabbed five or six three to four minute interviews with locals on what had happened that first day and what did the Islanders think was going to happen in the future. All were adamant that yes, the Argentines weren’t about to leave peacefully, and yes, the British would have to come once more to free them. That part of the mission over, Robyn gestured for her crew to pack up and move up to the town as a large man in his fifties touched her on the arm in an effort to grab her attention.

‘Hello, I knew your father. He was here twice and I had the pleasure of hosting a dinner for him when he was in command of the Glamorgan back in ’84.’

‘You knew Sandy!’ exclaimed Robyn, a look of positive joy on her face at the mere mention of her father.

‘Yes, he was a great guy and we all were glad to hear the news when he made Admiral. How is his retirement?

Robyn looked a little glum and looked into the distance, averting the stare of the stranger.

‘Well, actually he passed away just over a year ago, cancer.’

‘Oh, I’m so sorry. Look let me introduce myself. I’m Samuel Hunter, I am the owner of the Hero of Sheffield, Stanley’s finest pub, maybe I can offer you our hospitality.’ Responded Hunter in a quick attempt to make up for his bad timing.

‘Well that’s very kind of you, only we will have to move on soon as our plane goes back to the mainland around dusk. We’ve also got our minder in tow.’ Robyn gestured towards the corporal who was hovering in the background looking even more clumsy than before when Robyn had an idea.

Gesturing to her cameraman, the two spoke softly for a few moments and the cameraman discreetly handed her his minicam and what appeared to be a mobile phone. He and the soundie then engaged the corporal in conversation and pointed out a ship unloading goods onto a lighter in the harbour. Anything to divert his attention for a minute or so.

‘Look, Samuel, there is something important, very important you can do for me and for that matter Britain.’ She discreetly handed him the minicam and the phone, which he quickly took and placed in his large jacket.

‘That minicam has a fresh 90 minute cassette in it. This lead connects the phone and the camera, you will see where, if you dial this number on the phone’ she handed him her card with a handwritten number on the back, you will access our new direct input link which we have just set up for emergency use. Once the phone link is up and running you start the camera in the transmit mode, it’s marked on the top, and we get the digital signals via the phone and can put it to air. In other words if you hide that and get pics we can then broadcast them live in the UK.

‘Fantastic, but they’ve cut the mobile and international phone links. All that exists are their own military band radios and some new special phones they have.’ Responded Hunter.

‘No worries Sam, this isn’t your usual phone, it operates direct to an Inmarsat satellite and with the phone itself you can call anyone in the world from virtually anywhere. They’ve just been released to the professional services and haven’t even hit the market yet.’

‘Okay, I will do it, if they begin to hassle the locals then they can watch themselves on the evening news. Responded Hunter with an eager grin on his face.

‘I think you’ve got the general idea Sam, good luck, and don’t tell a soul what you have or where you got it from. Stated Robyn, looking as serious as she possibly could.

‘Look, we must be off or the boy genius will start to get agitated and probably try to frisk us.’

With that she quickly gathered her group, who she was relieved to have noticed had successfully kept their minder at bay, and moved up to Stanley township.

On the way she took a parting glance behind her and saw Samuel Hunter disappearing up Philomel Street, his large coat ably hiding its crucial contents. A lot rests with that man, she thought to herself, and I hope I haven’t just signed his death warrant.

The small group headed away from the wharf and her crew couldn’t help noticing that the normally effusive Robyn Olds had suddenly become very quite.

 

Major Valda had personally decided to conduct the search himself. Being a professional he felt that it would give him a better understanding of the actual layout of the township and its houses. He had been here since the first morning, almost a week ago, and yet he had only fleetingly been in Stanley itself.

Most of his time had been in travelling between the many new bases and trying to get some semblance of organisation into finding out what bounty the previous occupants had given him in military kit. Besides, those visiting journalists had now gone. He didn’t dare begin doing a house to house search while CNN and Co were noseying their way through his town.

He and his three associates, armed with powerful torches and a sniffer dog, had already made their run down Ross Road, the main road facing the harbour and were nearing the end when Valda stood and stared at the largish house right at the end of the street.

‘What’s that Sergio, is that a house or is it an inn.’

‘It’s marked as a home, sir, the occupants are… his helper quickly leafed through his folder, which had been databased from the local telephone directory prior to the invasion.

‘Ah, yes, it’s the home of the senior police constable, a John Slade. He has a wife and two children. Nobody else lives there.’ responded Sergio, ever eager to please his boss, who had a reputation far and wide for not putting up with fools or for that matter taking prisoners!

‘Well let’s drop in on Mr Slade for a cup of tea, ay what!’ Valda responded in a mocking English upper class accent more akin to a Vaudeville play.

 

The four men walked up to the front door of the Slade residence and Miguel Valda pressed the doorbell.

‘Won’t be a moment’ a female voiced yelled from the back of the house amidst the sounds of some obvious movement.

Valda was trained to be cautious, he was also trained to be sceptical and never trusting of anybody, particularly when he was about to search their house. Odd that she takes almost a minute to get to the door, and so much movement, for just one person? Interesting, thought Valda.

‘Hello, who is it? Queried Sandra Slade at the sight of four men and a large Alsatian dog on their front porch.

‘Good afternoon senorita, I am Major Miguel Valda of the Security Service and these are my men. You would be Mrs Slade, would you not?

‘Yes, what’s this about Major?

Valda had taken note of her flustered appearance and fearful look. The eyes told you everything about a woman, whether they lied, told the truth, were truly sorry or even if they enjoyed your company. It was all in their eyes, dead giveaways every time, and this lady’s eyes were awash with fear and apprehension. Interesting, he thought.

‘We are merely conducting a house to house search Mrs Slade. Nothing out of the ordinary, we just want to have a look around, we’ll just be a few minutes and we will leave you in peace.

’Okay, then you had better begin’ replied Sandra as she awkwardly opened the screen door to let them into the hall.

‘Must the dog come too, My son is allergic to dog hairs and we don’t let pets in the house.’

‘My apologies senorita, but this is no normal dog, it is a specially trained sniffer dog, and a very important part of our team. In fact Sergio here claims the dog is smarter than all of us, when it comes to finding people where they don’t want to be found.’ Valda responded in a gentle mocking tone, eagerly awaiting the lady’s response.

Sandra Slade froze and realised that there was no way Janet would be able to remain hidden from the nose of a sniffer dog. She knew firsthand from John’s police work just how good the Islands two hounds were. She looked up to see Valda looking directly into her eyes and a stab of fear bolted up her spine. Christ, he knows that something’s wrong here, oh my God!

‘Anyway, senorita, we will begin down here and move upstairs in a few moments’ responded Valda respectfully as he relaxed his demeanour and the team entered the living room. In Spanish he quietly warned his compatriots that something was odd here, that he believed somebody or something special to be hidden here and to look extra carefully and to let the dog off the leash.

They worked slowly through the living room. Nothing there and onto the front drawing room, a sort of second office for John’s police work. Valda fingered through his files hoping to find something of interest, nothing there either. Into the kitchen and dining area. Plenty to interest the dog but less so for humans.

‘So there’s a large room at the back, sort of built on.’ Queried Valda of Sandra Slade, who hovered around trying desperately to look relaxed and nonchalant.

‘Yes, it was built on years ago, three of your officers are billeted there at present, till they get alternative accommodation at the base.

‘Ah yes, there are people of our forces all over town at present. I do hope they are good guests and not causing you any trouble. They have all been lectured on being good representatives of their country.’ Valda politely responded.

Sandra though was becoming more uneasy and it was becoming increasingly difficult for her to remain detached from what was about to happen. Valda’s demeanour reminded her of those old movies where the Gestapo agent is being ever so polite but you know he is about to take you downtown on a one way trip to hell.

‘They are okay, though it will be good when they are gone.’ She carefully replied.

‘I’m sure it will be,’ replied Valda as he watched the dog’s ears prick up, its head cocked in the direction of the far wall of the annex.

‘Something seems to have caught the attention of our four legged friend, Mrs Slade, now what do you think that could be? Asked Valda coldly.

The three other men became alert and one cocked his sub machine gun. Sweat was beginning to form beneath her hairline and Sandra braced her senses to stop from screaming.

‘It’s just a food locker, I have some salted hams in there, that’s probably what he can smell.’ She almost blurted out, her words seeming to come from someone else as her brain tried to sort out what next to say.

‘Well, you don’t mind then if we have a look, do you?’ Valda responded smiling. The thought that a burly SAS man, the pride of the British army, was hiding in there was almost too much for him to believe, this would indeed be a great day and that lunatic Fernandez would probably promote him on the spot.

Sergio moved the small bookcase away from the wall which now more clearly revealed the outline of a concealed door. He quickly saw where the hinges were and pulled away the dog, which by this stage was becoming frantic in its anticipation of what obviously was hidden beyond.

The man with the sub machine gun, Sandra thought it was an Uzi, was joined by the other as the door opened to reveal an oldish woman cowering in the semi gloom.

Valda’s face fell and the two men with the guns relaxed their aim.

‘So, who is she! Shouted Valda to Sandra Slade.

‘She’s my mother, she is terrified of what’s happening and she has hidden here of her own accord so that nothing will happen to her till you all leave. She was attacked in 1982 by your men and she has never forgotten it.’

Valda looked carefully from one woman to the next. He could see that Sandra was making this up or she would have been more defiant and the older woman would have by now either burst into tears or become abusive. No, there was definitely more to this than met the eye, he thought.

‘Come out’ he gestured to Janet, who clumsily extracted herself from the small hide.

The dog jumped into the space and began to ferret around, it took only a minute for it to dig out of the soft earth in one of the corners what appeared to be a mobile phone.

One of his men picked it up and shook the dust from it before handing it to Valda, who was standing there silently with his legs apart and his hands behind his back. Shades of the Gestapo again, thought Sandra as she stole a glance from her mother who she hoped looked more afraid than she did.

‘Interesting! A mobile phone. You realise of course that you can’t use this anyway, don’t you? Valda proclaimed.

He turned it on, noted the numbers written on the back and pressed the autodial digits in sequence. The first four rang out but the fifth answered virtually on the first ring. But there was no welcoming voice, only silence, though through it Valda’s trained ear could hear some slight background noise, a computer perhaps or distant traffic or even an overflying plane, and of course that dead giveaway, breathing. He kept the line open for thirty seconds, looked at both women and pressed the ‘call finished’ button.

This was no normal cellular phone, this must be one of those new ones that Fernandez was telling him that he was due to get next week. As soon as the military got their first shipment. So what was this little old woman doing hidden away in the police constable’s house with a state of the art phone that not even his own military had access to. And why had she hidden it in the dirt.

‘Senorita, you had better come down to the base with us for some questioning.’ Valda stated coldly as his team began to search through the home in greater detail. That done, they began to lead a handcuffed Janet Wishbourne off to their Jeep when Sandra, now almost in tears saw John and his boss Harry Kemp approaching. She ran to him crying aloud that they had Janet and both men froze when they saw the four Argentine Security Service men and their massive dog.

‘So this is Mr Slade?’ a smiling Valda queried as he strolled across to the threesome, one of his armed lieutenants by his side.

‘On what authority are you taking this lady away’? queried Slade trying to be as tough as possible but knowing full well that he didn’t have a leg to stand on.

‘My authority, Constable Slade, and unless you need reminding, that is considerably more relevant at the present time.

‘Now wait on!’ interjected Kemp.

‘I’m Inspector Harry Kemp, I’m in charge of the police here and I’m telling you you can’t just go taking innocent civilians off to your headquarters without our authority.

‘Mr Kemp, I am Major Miguel Valda of the Argentine Government’s Security Service. Unless you need me to make it any clearer to you may I politely remind you that at this moment in time you are nothing more than a guest on our Malvinas. This lady was found hiding from us, she was also found hiding with a state of the art phone that links with what is obviously a security service, perhaps even British military intelligence. It seems that when you autodial using the numbers on the back you reach people who won’t respond till you initiate the conversation. Mr Kemp, unless you need refreshing, that’s standard procedure in the intelligence community. Now maybe you two gentlemen can also help me with my investigations?

Slade and Kemp looked fearful and Valda sensed his complete victory. The truth was that neither man could do anything at all to help Janet, let alone themselves.

‘What ya doin there!’ came a loud shout from about 20 metres up the road. It was Harry Moore, a giant of a man and one of the local fishermen. He, and a number of others had seen what was happening and had quickly gathered to witness the increasingly tense confrontation.

‘That woman has done nothing, that’s Janet Wishbourne and you had better uncuff her and let her go.’ Yelled Moore, who was now forcefully walking towards the Slade’s and their captors with a crowd of several dozen angry Falklanders in tow. More shouts of abuse and the immediate sense that this was rapidly becoming an out of control riot forced Valda to drop his guard long enough to order his driver to call base for backup.

Those few seconds was all John Slade needed as he karate kicked the Major in the knee before delivering a solid blow to his stomach as he crumbled into a heap on the ground. The two men with the Uzis wavered in fear and without direction as the yelling crowd charged forward. In panic they aimed at the crowd and fired. The effect was immediate as bodies fell where they stood and several dozen people began to panic, running in every direction, which was just the opportunity Harry Moore needed to grab the terrified driver from the Jeep and put him out of action. Slade had already tackled one of the gunmen though in the process felt a numbing sensation as he looked down to see his left leg turning red and collapse beneath him. Everything went grey and he realised he couldn’t see clearly and what he could was strangely in slow motion, then grey became black and his vision faded into an abyss of nothingness.

From a distance of 50 metres or so it looked like an unfolding tragedy as men and women, obviously unarmed civilians, were machine gunned by men wearing the uniforms of the Argentine military. The crowd temporarily subdued, the Jeep roared off, hitting a parked car in the process, only adding to the visual mayhem, while one of its occupants continued to fire at random from the cabin.

And these were the live photo images that Samuel Hunter had captured on his minicam. In a few minutes they would be picking up these digital signals in the production studio of Apeco a world away in South Kensington. From then it would be merely a newsbreak away from an entire world audience.

If Major Manuel Valda thought he had stumbled across a great and important find at the Slade house then it would ultimately be nothing compared to the whirlwind of global condemnation he had unwittingly unleashed.

 

Michael Travers was in a frenzy. He had taken the call just a few minutes earlier and realised that something was horribly wrong. The usual procedure was simplicity itself. The blue phone would ring, it would be answered immediately and Janet would announce herself. No fancy codes, nothing, if you couldn’t catch Janet’s unmistakable accent then you were both deaf and brain dead.

This time though, nothing, and without a prompt he wasn’t going to say a thing. Thirty tense seconds, no intro and no discernable background noise. At his own end he thought at least that there was no real sounds in the background save the computer on his desk and the distant whine of a jetliner on finals for Heathrow. No sounds that would give the location away, he thought.

But who was it. This could only mean that Janet Wishbourne had been compromised.

If it had been anyone other than an Argentine then they would have at least uttered a ‘hello’ or whatever into the mouthpiece. And the fact that there was only silence at the end indicated to Travers that another professional was on the other end of the line. He slowed his train of thought and picked up the internal phone to his chief.

‘Sir, I have reason to believe we’ve lost our Stanley feed…..

 

It was just after lunch in the technical editing studio at the state of the art Apeco headquarters in South Kensington, London.

Mike Carpenter was idly putting together some promos when a buzzer exploded into life on the new high tech satellite minicam feed they had just introduced at great expense to the management.

This is new, he thought, we didn’t have anything scheduled on a minicam for days. Carpenter went over to the photocopier sized machine and waited for the green light to come on signifying that the transmission was completed. The machine itself was simple enough, really just a zillion dollar digital transcription unit which received messages from wherever which went straight to tape. Rewind the tape and presto, your footage, and all done via one of those beaut satellite phones.

What Carpenter saw though when he hit ‘play’ truly shocked him. It was rough footage, not professionally taken obviously, and whoever took it was moving about quite a lot though this didn’t surprise him when he saw two men with machine pistols hoeing into the crowd randomly. Where the hell was this! He thought aloud as the phone on the side of the machine began to ring. This was new, sort of like your fax ringing with a human at the end. He picked up the phone gingerly and said ‘hello’.

The voice at the other end was strained and asked if that was Apeco, had they got the footage. Carpenter answered ‘yes’, and what was it of, who took it and when. It took him about another five seconds to realise the importance of what he had running before his confused eyes and just how crucial to everybody, the network and his own government, the stranger on the line was.

‘Okay, we’ve got the footage in the can, its pretty good considering it’s a riot with people shooting at you. Can you talk or are you in danger?’

The Argentines have fled up the road but I imagine there will be hundreds of them going berserk in a few minutes. They were attempting to take a resident in for questioning, her name is Janet Wishbourne, mother in law of the local constable, when the trouble started. I noticed their Jeep outside their home and John Slade and the police inspector Harry Kemp approach the four Argentines holding her. There seemed to be words between them and a crowd developed though none of them seemed to notice till one of the local fishermen, Harry Moore, began yelling for them to leave her alone. The crowd began to close in on the Argentines, a scuffle broke out and the two with guns obviously panicked and began firing.

‘Have they killed anyone?’

‘There are people down everywhere though everybody who were in the homes have come out to do the best they can, in fact I can hear an ambulance in the background and more people are running down the street. Look, I can hear people running about downstairs, I am in the attic of my hotel on Ross Road, a great vantage point so I will try and stay low and keep feeding you pictures. They did tell us the other day they would shoot spies and anyone not cooperating with them. That’s what was happening I think with Janet, now if they catch me I don’t care, as far as I am concerned they all just brought into their own very personal war with each and every Islander. I’m fucked if I’m going to take this lying down, tell them that back in Britain for all of us!’

With that the line went dead and Michael Carpenter was sure glad he had also taped the phone conversation. This was a news bureau’s dream come true and would do more than just piss off CNN, it would take them all right to the top. Now when was Robyn due back in, yes, in just four hours. In the meantime he would get this straight upstairs and arrange for round the clock monitoring of both the digital and phone link with what was now their last link with far off Port Stanley.

 

James Faulkner was in the middle of a discussion with five of his secondary ministers in a vain attempt to relieve the logjam of backed up work in an effort to try and maintain some semblance of a government capable of going about its everyday task.

‘Prime Minister, quick, the television.’ Screamed his press secretary as he dived across the room to turn on the large TV in the corner.

Ordinarily Faulkner would have had the man’s head for such insolence. This time however he knew that such action was no doubt nothing to what awaited him as soon as the TV came alive. What greeted them were images of a street fight, of soldiers gunning down what appeared to be civilians, it almost looked like a rural British street, and it was then that the PM realised that this could only be Port Stanley. The voiceover confirmed this seconds later while noting that the shooting had occurred just one hour ago whilst a woman was being taken in for questioning.

An angry crowd had rioted in an effort to obviously free her and now many were dead or injured. The eight minute transmission took there breath away with its realism and Faulkner thought quickly about how the residents of this island would take this. It will be hard to sue for peace now, not after something like this happens. Within hours there will be right wing loonies demanding we send down a Vanguard and take out a province a day till they depart the islands.

Oh if only it were that simple, he thought as he slumped into the chair, the other ministers wisely excusing themselves to leave their leader alone for a few moments to contemplate how to respond to this massive escalation of events.


CHAPTER 11

President Juan Moreno sat silently in the large chair looking like a man that was about to explode. Before him his inner cabinet were venting their spleen in a fashion honed to perfection over the centuries by Latins far and wide.

‘That bloody incompetent Fernandez, we should get him back here and have him shot!’ Foreign Minister Albert Alvirez literally screamed across the table to Vice President Molteni and Horacio Lunaz, the military’s Commander in Chief.

‘Settle down Alberto, it’s not the end of the world, we must expect things to not always go as we want them if we are to have any chance of seeing this through to a successful end.’ Molteni added in a vain attempt to limit the damage being done to their small team.

‘Molteni’s right, Alberto, it is a setback, true but it is done, we must move on or this will sink us’. The President had spoken, his gaze focused on the trembling Foreign Minister who had fortunately for all present, finally begun to calm down.

Alvirez though had good reason to be agitated, to say the least. As Foreign Minister it was he who would ultimately take the flak much more than the others members of the ruling clique. Since the incredible television footage of the Argentine soldiers panicking and slaughtering innocent civilians with machine guns, many of his country’s allies had either turned against them or washed their hands of the affair and had decided to sit on the sidelines and let the main protagonists fight it out between themselves. That was bad enough but in the English speaking world, and most of Europe, the tide had firmly swung over to Britain. The US President had been enraged and had just stopped short of offering full military aid to his ally whilst not one nation in Western Europe saw the attack as justified.

So bad had been the international condemnation that a hurriedly convened meeting of the UN Security Council had nearly reversed its decision of just five days earlier and was now a hare’s breath away from approving not only economic and trade sanctions against Argentina but also demanding that they vacate the Islands post haste.

‘Juan, I know Ewardio Fernandez is your cousin, but I really wonder if we should replace him with someone else, I mean, this has blemished his influence as a leader somewhat and won’t be seen by Malvinas Command as a good thing.’

Molteni had made a brave statement, one that every man present had long been thinking. None ever really warmed to the arrogant and seemingly irrational Fernandez, who only seemed to have got where he was because his uncle was the President.

‘I will talk with him personally, don’t worry about that, I take this whole thing extremely seriously. I wonder though if another commander could have done any better. Let’s look at it. They have the impetus for an extensive house to house search as obviously there are some SAS people down there that we don’t know about. He sends out his best man and an unfortunate discovery takes place involving one of the Islanders, an old woman at that, her men intervene, there’s a fight and the crowd goes wild and attacks using its sheer weight of numbers to overwhelm our defences.

By bad luck the while thing is filmed and beamed worldwide. I don’t think my cousin, one way or the other, could have influenced that outcome very much.

The President sat back and in a desperate attempt to change the topic asked the three military men for an update on the casualties. Lunaz shuffled some faxes and responded.

‘Not good Mr President. As at this morning, three hours ago, the death toll stood at 11 civilians with 19 wounded, four of them seriously. We lost two men, Valda and his driver.

‘And what happened to the cause of all this, that old woman.’ Asked the President spitefully.

‘She, and her daughter were killed in the incident.’ Responded Lunaz without emotion.

‘Furthermore, just as we began this meeting it appeared that that information had also gone public.’

‘What!’ screamed Moreno.

‘How the bloody hell are they getting this information, and that footage?’

‘We aren’t sure, sir, seems somebody there, obviously a civilian, has some sort of a TV camera and a satellite transmitting unit, we are looking into it as we speak.’ Responded Lunaz with minimal conviction.

‘Horacio, something like that is big, doesn’t it usually take a van or something that size to make such a transmission, I mean we see that at the soccer all the time.’ Responded the President.

‘Normally yes, but we think that perhaps one of those visiting international news teams the other day must have slipped a local a smaller unit. They do exist nowadays, small portable cameras that you can, I believe transmit via satellite using a special mobile phone.’ Lunaz said, hoping that it might at least sound plausible to his leader.

‘Okay, find whoever has that unit or next they will be televising our military movements direct to Buckingham bloody Palace. We must get hold of this thing before it makes matters worse than they already are, okay gentlemen, go to it!’

With that the meeting ended to leave Juan Moreno deep in thought. He knew that they had now well and truly lost the political advantage and would have to ultimately fight for the Malvinas. He had no reason to doubt his military’s capabilities there though. Fuck the Islanders, he thought, they’re going to have to be smarter than that to beat us.

 

Admiral Ian Kennedy, Director of Operation Recovery, read the fax slowly and uttered an expletive under his breath.

‘John, look at this, just what we needed, better inform the submarines in the TEZ that there has been a submarine sighting in Falkland Sound. That thing could idle in and out and get a lucky shot at one of our own boats if they got lucky. And that’s the last thing we need!’

At that point the senior intelligence officer looked up and verified Kennedy’s thoughts that all four Argentine diesel electric subs had not been seen since the beginning of the initial pre invasion exercise. It was thought that at least two had been used to ferry in special forces on the night of the 23rd though it was now obvious that all were still at sea and at least one firmly ensconced in Falkland Sound. The last place the British needed an enemy submarine.

‘If they have a submarine in there it will stop us using Port San Carlos as an invasion landing area, won’t it?’ queried one of Admiral Kennedy’s aides.

‘Precisely, can you imagine taking something like Canberra into those confined waters with a small submarine about, she’d be a sitting duck!’ responded Kennedy with displeasure.

‘San Carlos though at least isn’t high on our agenda of possible landing sites at this moment though that may well change, we must kill that sub or it could limit our overall options severely.’ Continued Kennedy.

Sitting a few metres away sorting through what looked like a mountain of paperwork Colonel David Keogh piped up.

‘There’s possibly another option to eliminating that sub. It’s a bit way out but we could….

 

A world away and some 300 metres beneath the South Atlantic HMS Tireless cruised at eight knots. Her slow speed allowing her sensitive array of sensors to locate, track and home in on any mechanical sound within hundreds of kilometres.

The atmosphere within the boat had become more tense in the past hour as speed was reduced and the entire crew went to ultra quiet ops. The array of sensor screens in Tireless’ sonar room were busy picking up a number of long range contacts, fortunately none of them sub surface, though these were of course always the hardest to detect let alone find.

The Trafalgar class were amongst the best attack boats in the world, though naturally their human cargo would consider their boat to be the best, and indeed it would have to when it came to combat.

A sobering thought not lost on any submariner, irrespective of the flag under which he sails.

Tireless though was a genuine pack leader. Her primary sonar, a device which operates in both the passive and active modes, was the huge Type 2020 unit mounted in the sleek bow of the boat. This unit comprises a conformal array around the chin of the bow and can process data on several targets simultaneously. This data is relayed automatically to the fire control computer so that the tacticians and captain can plan and execute their attacks with unfaltering precision. Almost like radar in an aircraft or a surface ship, if used in the active mode the position of the radiating boat can usually be determined by an enemy boat, or ship, using its own sensors in either passive or active mode.

The skipper of the attacking sub may well locate its enemy sooner though he will also have probably given away his own position in the process. Most definitely the golden rule in underwater warfare is to try and remain on passive sensors as long as possible.

Backing this up though is a towed sonar array which can be unwound to a length of several hundred metres and houses a plethora of small but very powerful passive sensors that ‘listen’ for the slight mechanical murmur over great distances. Tireless also featured a new flank array with a large number of inbuilt passive sensors as well as an acoustic intercept receiver for detecting active torpedoes and sensors, sort of an undersea equivalent to the radar warning receivers aboard ships and aircraft.

It was using all these modes that Commander Jeremy Hunter had this moment located and confirmed the presence of several possible targets. He was in a position just over 100 kilometres north of the Falklands with much of the traffic to his south. This was the primary shipping route from the mainland to Port Stanley and his orders, received just two hours earlier, were that it was important for him to score one or two kills as soon as convenient.

The fact that Northwood had ordered his boat, and presumably the others, a day or so astern, to go on the offensive so soon had him worried. Obviously this whole thing was getting hotter than it appeared when we were in Ascension, he thought to himself. Also worrying him was the urgent advice that at least one enemy diesel submarine might be active in the region. The comm had stated that one had seen sighted, and was under observation, by who he had no idea, in Falkland Sound, and that the other three were not in port and had not been sighted since the war began. The comm had also confirmed that anti submarine warfare aircraft had not yet based on the Islands though his patrol zone was still well within their land based area of influence.

Both these issues had Hunter concerned. He had no doubt at the moment that he was undetected, at this speed his boat was virtually invisible and could loaf around and electronically eavesdrop on all and sundry within a hundred kilometres. As soon as he attacked though he would be betraying his presence, would have to go to maximum power for at least an hour to clear the area before shutting down again to await more trade, or just hide.

An attack would put any Argentine sub on the immediate defensive as surely as it would attract the large number of Tracker ASW aircraft that could ruin his day. The Trackers were pretty old but they had been re-engined with new turboprop powerplants and radars in recent years and weren’t to be discounted if operated by a well trained crew.

And with the way Argentina had run this op to date Hunter had no reason to believe that these guys had spent the past two years or so playing handball. They only had eight or nine Trackers but by basing them out of the Islands they could greatly increase their ability to remain on station much longer than a submarine commander would normally be used to when dealing with the vast expanses of ocean that usually hosted the likes of these hunter killers of the deep.

Hunter’s worst fear though was simply that he would be drawn closer to the shore, 20 or 30 kilometres, than he would normally want to. If the Argentine boat or boats were hiding in the shallows and coves then they might well detect his presence early enough to call in the Trackers which could easily lay a sonobuoy pattern to his flanks.

The Argentine boat could then slowly, and there’s nothing as quiet as a modern diesel, move in for a shooting solution using the data from its own passive sensors and the active sonobuoys, really small floating sonars, to get a quick kill. In that scenario he would have to either lay low and hope to outfox the incoming torpedo, hoping it had not properly acquired his boat, or simply wind the turbines up and make a run for it.

This would immediately expose his presence but it might also give him the chance to outrun the incoming torpedo while using a full suite of countermeasures to seduce it off his trail. This was all very well in theory but the real problem came when you had multiple torpedoes launched against you by the enemy boat followed up by more air launched torpedoes from aircraft ahead and to your flank. Jeremy Hunter and the other 110 men aboard Tireless knew all this all too well. They also knew though that they were the best, indeed they would have to be if they were to survive this life and death cat and mouse combat in the weeks and possibly months ahead.

 

Flight Lieutenant Amanda Reid’s hair was stuffed. She could feel the sweat, or perspiration as women justifiably thought of it, beginning to well up beneath the brow of her flying helmet.

Mind you it didn’t bother her overly as she was hardly contemplating going on a post mission date. In fact she hadn’t been away from her beloved Hercules since the Falklands invasion a week and a half earlier.

At 32 years of age Amanda had been in the Royal Air Force now for what seemed at times to have been half her life and near well was. She had graduated from Cranwell as dux of the class and had made history as the first woman to have done so in what had up to that time been a male domain. There were now a lot of women in the services and many of them holding high ranks though of the female pilots she was still considered one of the best. Her crew at least thought that and God help anyone who might argue with that in the mess!

This night though even the normally ice cool Amanda was pushing it to the limits. As part of No47 Squadron her role in life was to steer her specially modified C-130J Hercules through missions that other squadrons would not even contemplate. No47 was the unit attached to assist and work with the SAS and the various other special operations units of the UK and allied military. For the past week they had all been working flat out to hone their skills for the inevitable combat that would be waiting for them in the South Atlantic.

The Herc weaved and bucked as she guided it down the valley at barely a hundred feet above the rocks and crags of the Brecon Beacons. It was night, no moon at all and the thickening overcast indicated that the met man might just be right for once and this mission could end up in the wet.

At 300 knots the bulk of the Herc shuddered as she put in heaps of left rudder to help yaw the 50 tonnes of aluminium and jetfuel between the crags of the ever smaller valley. They were also trying something new and it seemed to be working.

Usually night vision goggles were used in such operations though many pilots had a latent, and fairly justified, mistrust for these cumbersome and heavy devices. They thought that the NVGs cut down heavily on their all important peripheral vision whilst providing such and overall ‘unreal’ image to the brain that often even a very competent pilot could make a significant error of judgement through no fault of his own. What had been trialled in recent months aboard the 47 squadron Hercs, and indeed those of the USAF, was the adaptation of the proven Lantirn night vision and tactical navigation suite.

These were usually used in F-15 and F-16 strike fighters though by using the extra wide head up display, or HUD as it was known, in front of the pilot’s field of view, the aircrew could literally see in the dark whilst still getting all the aircraft performance and navigation data they needed to fly the plane. In the J a fully automated cockpit provided work for two pilots though 47 used one or two tactical mission planners in jumpseats to assist in missions such as this where pilot workload would render it impossible for the pilots to perform all the tactical functions required whilst keep the plane in the air where it belonged.

So far the mission was going well. They had practiced this now for five nights running using a range of 26 valleys covering an air route of 148 kilometres, all of it at low level, all of it in the dark and most of it between 280 and 350 knots. Along the way were mobile anti aircraft units, guns and low altitude SAM systems using infra red and radar.

Her aim was also to elude these and not get scored as a kill in the process. So far, out of nine runs they had been ‘killed’ only twice, and not once in the last four runs. She thought that they were at last getting the hang of it!

Tonight though things were getting more realistic. The flightplan was down to real wartime parameters and for probably a quarter of the mission the aircraft was below its minimum safe altitude. Shouldn’t be doing this she said to herself but she knew that the threat alarm going off in the background indicated another Jernas lockon, those bastards won’t be getting us tonight and the Herc dropped another 20 feet as it sprinted across a moor between the safety of the looming ridgeline.

‘Ninety seconds to target’. Screamed the tactician from the jumpseat, just aft of her right shoulder. Here was the run in, she remembered it from the briefing, across the moor, that’s seven seconds, power up, climb through the ridge off to the left, that’s it, I can just make it out, nine seconds down that into the weeds across another moor, hard left and into the valley to the south of The Crucible. Can’t miss that! Behind her she could hear the loadmaster barking orders to the two dozen SAS men in the back, she saw her copilot activate the ramp and knew it was now less than half a minute to the dropzone.

Wonder how many of them have puked their dinner, she thought with a grin as that was what usually happened and you couldn’t blame them. No horizon, semi darkness save the dull glow of a few red lamps, loaded with 40kg of kit and waiting to jump out of a perfectly serviceable aircraft at 500 feet at night into a valley strewn with rocks just waiting to make you a cripple. Then if you survived that you had to fight against an enemy and win as well as survive whatever Mother Nature had in store for the next several days.

‘Ten seconds’. Barked the tactician as Amanda pulled back on the control column reducing power simultaneously and watched the airspeed decay from around 280 back to 150 or so before levelling out exactly at 500feet above the two kilometre long valley. She never liked this part of the mission, nobody ever did. It was now, in these brief moments that her plane, its crew and her cargo were most vulnerable though this night the myriad warning devices remained thankfully silent.

‘Go’ came the shout of the tactician after what seemed like minutes but was barely 10 seconds. She pushed the control column forward whilst ramming the throttles to full power while her copilot called off the altitude till they got back to around 100 feet and 300 knots.

Their mission planning had been based entirely upon exploiting the newfound potential of using the Lantirn system on the Herc to the utmost and this is what they did that night. Due to the uncompromising terrain the method of dropping in troops was severely limited though if you threw away the rule book and used this new capability you could outguess the defenders and get in via the back door.

This is what they had just done and she knew that her SAS chargers, now clambering about on terra firma, would have a surprise in store for Red Force as they took them from behind. It also helped that another 47 Herc had operated a low level in a series of nearby valleys thus confusing the ‘enemy’ into believing that there was just one aircraft and that had been the one they had seen, which in this case most definitely wasn’t hers.

Minutes later they were out of the Brecons and headed towards the flat country, their tactical mission over she handed the beloved Herc over to her copilot who smoothly took the aircraft up to cruising height for the short transit back to base. She contemplated the prospect of action, real action, with real people out there trying to kill you, to end your life. She thought of what lay ahead and tried not to think of the man in her life, Max Phillips, who right now was hidden away on a mountainside on the other side of the world on West Falkland. The squadron had brought them together and now she wondered if it would also be the means of ultimately getting him out of there.

 

John Slade had slowly opened his eyes and wondered where the hell he was. The last thing he remembered was going to his home with Harry Kemp. Now he lay here in a dimly lit room in a place he couldn’t recognise. Suddenly the room came alive as two men, both armed and a woman, a nurse, came into the room and turned on the main light.

‘Well, John, your back with us, thank heavens for that! Said the nurse, smiling down at him but betraying something terrible in her eyes.

‘What’s happened, where am I?’ Slade blurted out through a dry mouth and an aching body that seemed to now be telling him that it hurt to move, even a little.

‘You’re in Stanley Hospital. John, you were involved in a fight with a number of Argentine soldiers, do you remember that?’

‘I sort of remember something, something like that….’

Slade then went white as his memory cleared and recalled the moments of horror that had since been seen around the world.

‘Where’s Sandra, Janet, the kids?’ he asked hesitantly.

‘I’m sorry John, but Sandra and Janet were killed in the skirmish, your kids are okay, you had them at school that afternoon and Harry Kemp is okay too.’

John Slade, whose world had been completed by his return to the land he once fought to liberate had now physically ended. At least the kids are okay, he thought, but through it all he felt an overwhelming hatred for his captors and a determination to see his loved ones avenged. He barely noticed the nurse quietly giving him an injection and he seemed already a world away by the time he peacefully fell asleep minutes later.

 

Max Phillips lay there toying with the freeze dried food satchel that he was contemplating eating in the next hour. John Peters was asleep in the corner of the hide while Phillips took the watch, not that there was much to observe from Mount Moody on West Falkland. Most of the activity seemed to be occurring on the other island and he was wondering if it had been such a hot idea high tailing it over here on the first night. They still had the boat and so maybe they could do something useful as the play developed.

The food in this satchel was something better than average Phillips figured, and loved to tell all and sundry that the British special forces had the best combat cuisine on the planet. The Yanks could only envy it and the Italians and French couldn’t even copy it and here it was in his hands plus enough to last them another three or so weeks.

What he didn’t need to be told was that life was getting eternally boring in the hide. You couldn’t even take a piss or a crap without having to perform a gymnastic ritual to put it all into specially designed plastic bags. If you didn’t do this you not only risked disease and sickness but you made it easier for an enemy to find you, especially if they used tracker dogs, which of course they would if they knew you were out there.

Phillips fingered the satchel marked as chicken tetrazinni, he had the spag bol last night. This one was his favourite, diced chicken and butter mushrooms in a cheese and pasta sauce. Yes, just the thing for a man slowly going out of his little mind. He looked east and thought that if he squinted hard enough he might be able to see the next bit of foreign land, which was Tasmania, oddly enough where the satchels had been developed and made for Australia’s own SAS originally.

Oh my God, I must be flipping out, he thought as he lay down and wondered what would kill them first, the Argentines, starvation or boredom. It would be a close run thing he decided as he raised himself up for another check of the territory before waking his flatmate for dinner. Dinner, flatmate, fun, women, woman, Maxine. I wonder how she’s going. I guess they’re all going flat out now getting ready for whatever happens next. His thoughts drifted off into the distance and eventually back to the present and the task of awakening his companion. He had just begun to shake Peters on the shoulder, if anything to stop his snoring, when the Nokia rang. That’s odd, he thought, it isn’t time for the routine update, something’s up!

It was Captain Ritley on the line and his message was both urgent and crucial.

‘You want us to do what!’

And with that, Phillips kicked Peters in the side and told him to listen up. Life on the old farm was definitely not going to get boring just yet.

 

Commander Jeremy Hunter looked over the threat board one more time with his three senior tacticians.

‘What have we got, what do we go for first?’

His First Lieutenant eyed the display and noted the four targets boxed in red, signifying that the computerised threat selection system had designated these as the most likely kills if attacked now.

‘We have a Meko 140 frigate at 19 kilometres, within range and moving closer as she slowly transits across our path, she is doing just 16 knots. Then there is another Meko, a larger 360 just four kilometres astern of the first. That’s a pretty dumb tactical situation but I guess for them there isn’t a viable threat yet.

‘That’s odd, I mean the PM announced the TEZ days ago, it’s been in existence now for more than a day so why don’t they go tactical?

‘There’s also two merchantmen over here, one at 48 kliks and the other at almost 70, both heading slowly away from us and obviously back to the mainland. There’s also another one inbound, well out here around 90 kliks away but coming right into our area if we hang around. Added the First Lieutenant.

‘The PM obviously wants a strong political statement, a gesture of our intent, sort of like with the Belgrano. Responded Hunter as he made the decision he had been ruminating over these past few hours.

‘Let’s take the two Mekos in one hit, that will make the generals in Buenos Aires sit up and take notice. Said Hunter firmly.

‘Yeah, and it will immediately stop that convoy of supply ships to the Islands in the process. Besides, if we hang about any longer those other bastards are going to get all the action, the First Lieutenant said with a grin on his face.

‘Okay let’s go.’

Both men exited the sonar room with its vast bank of displays and climbed the small ladder to the next deck where the control room was situated with its repeater display of the primary sonar trace plus full mission suite for controlling the vast array of weapons that Tireless carried.

‘Take her to periscope depth, revolutions for 15 knots, prepare for torpedo launch, two Spearfish forward tubes only.’ Commanded Hunter.

Tireless roused as if from her sleep as she accelerated and rose on her diving planes. A minute later she was at periscope depth which would also give her the opportunity to also receive and dispatch encoded satellite data from Northwood.

Hunter carefully scanned through 360 degrees to ensure there were no nasty surprises that somehow the sonars had missed. There were none. There were no Mekos either but that was because they were still beyond visual range. It was almost sundown and as they were to the east of the two frigates they would have most probably been obscured by the setting sun to the west. Hunter stopped himself for a second and thought about that.

That could have been a tactical error, he told himself, if they had been close they might have seen the scope lit by the setting sun in the calm seastate. I should have positioned sun-up to them so that they would have at least had the sun in their eyes. Still, at that range it was a moot point anyway, just something to keep in mind, he told himself as he felt stupid for making such a foolish error knowing full well that in combat you don’t get to make the same error twice.

‘Range, Meko 1, 17,000 yards, Meko 2 20,000 yards, both at 16 knots and closing. Firing solution positive for immediate launch.’ Came the response from the tactician.

‘Fire both tubes’ ordered Hunter.

‘Torpedos away, one, two.’ responded the tactician as he hit a sequence of buttons on his console.

‘Revolutions to 25 knots, dive to 400 metres, head three five zero.’ ordered Hunter.

The two wire guided Spearfish torpedos were amongst the biggest and best available. Each weighed in at 300 kilograms and with a maximum speed of 60 knots they could range as far as 21 kilometres. Their warheads were also large and would cause terminal damage when they arrived at their frigate sized targets in just a few minutes time.

‘Second Meko is turning into us, range 19,000 yards and closing. It’s signature has changed, it’s powering up, now on a course of one one zero’ called the tactician, alarmed at the sudden change in the behaviour of their prey.

‘They can’t have detected us, the intel briefs say they have a limited ASW sensor suite, just one Atlas Krupp unit, and the first ship hasn’t responded. They must have just decided to do something different to keep themselves amused.’ Hunter responded, intrigued by the second ship’s action and wondering if he had missed something.

‘Initial impact has switched across to Meko 2, impact 174 seconds.’ Came the tactician’s response, followed immediately ‘Meko 1 has now turned and is accelerating away.’

Hunter looked perplexed, they should not have detected the two torpedoes in the water at that range. He believed that their ASW systems might have detected him in a few minutes but by then it wouldn’t matter anyway. What were they up to?

It was then that a thought crossed his mind that made him freeze. What if they had been exercising with one of their subs and we just happened to come along and stumble in on the party? What if one of their diesels had been running silently trying to hide from her pursuers, the two Mekos, which would have been cruising slowly to give their own sensors a chance of detecting their prey. Whatif…

His thoughts dissolved to nothing as the tactician anxiously announced ‘sub surface contact at 5800 yards, low signature, must be a diesel, slowly accelerating and changing bearing into us.’

Hunter swung around on the bandstand in the centre of the operations room and began to bark orders.

‘Revolutions to two knots, silent running all departments, prepare for sequenced dual torpedo launch, prepare for countermeasures. Launch now.’

The tactician needed no prompting and the first of two Spearfish quickly sped from the bows of Tireless. Though the sound of the launch would be a short term giveaway, it would also serve to confuse the sensors aboard the Argentine boat long enough for Tireless to hopefully become electronically invisible to its opponent.

‘We’re at a totally different depth to them, they probably haven’t previously detected us because of the difference in the thermal layer, they must have locked onto our torpedos as they literally sped past the sub on the way to the Mekos, time to first Meko? Called Hunter, thinking a thousand thoughts aloud as he quickly planned his next move.

‘Thirty seven seconds, then maybe 56 seconds but second fish may not make it, Meko 1 is rapidly accelerating away and moving out of range.’ Responded the tactician.

The atmosphere on the boat was now electric, every man knew that they had an enemy boat close by, just four or five kilometres distant and both knew roughly where the other was.

‘Spearfish appears to have locked on sir, it’s turning into the target though I still only have a weak image, they’ve gone silent and the thermal layer is blanketing them.’

‘Hit them with the active sonar, ping the buggery out of them, it may blanket their sensors’. Ordered Hunter.

‘Fish in the water, one, two, three, ripple fired and inbound. Impact 180 seconds!’ called the tactician who now looked as if he was beginning to have a heart attack.

Go active on all countermeasures, deploy a noisemaker, fire the second torpedo, go to maximum revolutions and head straight into the inbound torpedos.’ Barked Hunter.

Neither the tactician or any of the other specialists in the ops room could understand Hunter’s actions but then slowly it dawned on them and to a man they felt they might just survive as their boat began to rapidly accelerate forwards.

A large red bloom appeared on the extremities of the tactician’s scope. Meko 2 had ceased to be though it was also now obvious that its sister would make a clean escape as it had now moved beyond the range of the pursuing Spearfish, which it probably didn’t even realise was targeting it.

Inside the Argentine boat the noise would have been deafening as the immensely powerful active sonar in the bow of Tireless unmercifully bombarded it with repeated pinging that would have made even shouted communication impossible. It’s hide uncovered, the Argentine skipper firewalled his electric motor and began to accelerate away, creating a distinct noise signature in the process, just the thing the weapons systems operator aboard Tireless was desperately seeking as he carefully guided the Spearfish towards its prey. A kilometre or so from its target the torpedo’s own active system would be able to take over and home in without remorse.

A loud boom and the threat display scope indicated another, much closer, red bloom. Tireless wavered slightly as the shock wave of the imploding Type 209 reached its pressure hull just as two of the three torpedoes sped by, hundreds of metres from the accelerating British boat.

Hunter had gambled, and won. He had reckoned on the Argentine boat fusing its torpedoes to not fire within a certain time from launch. He also figured that they would not have ever anticipated being so close to a submerged enemy, particularly as they would have known that their enemy would have been running powerful nuclear boats against them. He, and the other 110 men on his boat silently watched their active sonar track the three Argentine torpedos as they harmlessly speed off into the distance, pursuing a target that to them never physically existed.

Hunter moved down from the bandstand and congratulated his men. Their sensors indicated no threat, the other Meko had run, and there wasn’t any sign of another sub, though with all the noise in the water it was still possible something was hidden out there. Hunter accepted a cup of water from one of his crewmen and thought that this most certainly wasn’t going to be as easy as he thought.


CHAPTER 12

General Edwardio Fernandez was ready to explode. The verbal thrashing he had received at the end of the phone line from his uncle, the President, was nothing short of gut wrenching. While it had been on a secure line it had also been overheard by all and sundry in the Malvinas Command HQ and of all the news that had circulated these past few weeks this story was most definitely the hottest.

Fernandez was not a popular officer, in fact few within the more professional elements of the Argentine military even considered him an officer worthy of the title let alone a leader. For better or for worse the overall impression amongst the troops was that he had only gotten where he was because of the influence of his family. That this was largely borne out by his arrogant behaviour and a general loathing by those who were forced to serve beneath him. In fact, some of his fellow officers openly considered that if it came to a fight with the British then Edwardio would probably be their biggest handicap.

Fernandez though realised he had to discover the source of the taping that now seemed to be going out worldwide every evening. The satellite television facility on the Island had been disabled so as not to allow the locals access to world news. Consequently Fernandez had to rely upon tapes flown into MPN each day to even accurately see what was the cause of his now regular ‘please explain’ sessions with the hierarchy at the Condor Building.

‘What would those idiots know, they haven’t even been here, don’t know how much the locals resent us.’ he ranted to his second in command, Brigadier Carlos Astiz.

Astiz had served with Fernandez on several occasions over the years and had to admit that he had been a better officer prior to his uncle becoming President, something that lifted him from a mere Major just two years previously to not only the rank of General but also as head of the most important Argentine military mission in history.

Carlos, like everybody else, privately did not consider him up to the job, but that was life and at least he had been hand picked by Fernandez as his second in command for Rosario II.

‘We have searched the Hero of Sheffield from top to bottom General and found nothing. With all the mayhem that afternoon we couldn’t accurately verify where its owner, a Samuel Hunter, was though he openly admits to being a part of the rabble. Didn’t even conceal it, in fact none of those questioned did.’ Astiz added with dismay at the attitude of the locals.

Anyway, Sir, it’s almost time to attend the funeral, I have a car ready.’

With that the two men left the headquarters for the short drive to Stanley cemetery. Previously they would have walked the distance if time was not pressing, just to get the fresh air and some exercise in the cool spring sunshine. Since the riot however the overall demeanour of the Islanders was one of open hostility and there had already been reports of children throwing rocks at passing military vehicles. Fernandez had very firmly given his men specific instructions not to respond to such petty acts of defiance. He had to get control of this situation as they really did need the goodwill of the people on their side if Argentina was ever to win the longer term support of the world community for its occupation of the Malvinas.

When they arrived at the cemetery, Fernandez noted with satisfaction that the military band was already in place and looking very precise indeed. Must always give a good impression, an impression of strength and discipline, of respect to the locals. The two men walked over to head a group of their fellow officers and a contingent of Marines. Fernandez noted that there must be over a hundred soldiers present, their AK47s polished to ceremonial standards, though armed and ready if anything should go wrong. How he would ultimately win these people over he really didn’t know, deep down the best he could do was to just take one day at a time and hope for the best. His failure was simply too cataclysmic to contemplate.

The whole venture this afternoon was to be an example of the Argentine forces respect for the locals. They would be given a full military funeral alongside the two Argentine officers killed in the melee. That at least had been the plan though now he was here he felt that perhaps it would have been best to leave the Islanders to their own grieving.

After all, 11 of their compatriots were to be buried and all had wives, lovers, husbands, children and friends, all who had vowed revenge against those who perpetrated this horrible catastrophe. And this didn’t even take into account the other dozen or so lying injured in the nearby hospital.

The funeral service seemed to drag out an eternity and the large group silently marched with the makeshift hearses to the nearby cemetery. Almost as if on cue storm clouds began to build and the wind freshened from the south, cold and squally. Fernandez pulled his jacket tighter and turned up the collar to keep out the chill, he would be relieved when this was over and noted the tense expression on each of his soldiers faces. They didn’t want to be here and many looked downright fearful, he thought. He could understand why.

The last two coffins were slowly lowered into their final resting place and the crowd began to weep openly as they bade farewell for the last time to a mother and her daughter who only wanted to do what was right. Fernandez and his men looked down, every one of them wishing he were somewhere else, as a little girl slowly walked away from beside the graveside towards the assembled troops. Six year old Sarah Slade walked directly up to where Fernandez and Astiz were standing. She looked the General in the eyes and the entire Argentine garrison stood silent in anticipation of something about to happen over which they had no control.

‘Your men killed my mummy. Your men killed my grandma. They didn’t hurt anybody, least alone you. Your people may bully us but you will never beat us and in the end our friends in England will come and drive you away’.

Fernandez was shaking, he didn’t need this, not now. There was a crowd before him of more than a thousand Islanders. Every man woman and child who could get there was there to not only pay homage to the dead but to also show the invaders that things had irrevocably changed. That their stay here was not going to be an easy one.

John Slade, barely able to move on his crutches and aided by Harry Kemp, hobbled forward to take Sarah by the hand. He silently looked up at Fernandez and met him eye to eye. What Fernandez saw chilled him to the bone for he had never before seen such unmitigated hatred for another.

‘There will be a price to pay for this.’ Slade quietly said, not taking his eyes off the other man’s for one second. He then looked down at Sarah and they slowly, almost pitifully hobbled off to join the crowd who spontaneously broke into applause as their own improvised band launched into Rule Britannia.

 

Fernandez didn’t need to see the tape from Buenos Aires a day later to realise that they would now have to fight two wars. One within the Islands, against the Islanders themselves, and the other against the British military.

Samuel Hunter had become quite adept at getting his visual images where he wanted them and his footage of the burial scene and in particularly the little girl challenging the authority of the Argentine General went worldwide even before the sun had set on Port Stanley cemetery. Another wave of world condemnation followed and a resolute announcement by the British Prime Minister that Operation Recovery had been given the go ahead and that nothing would stop it.

England was about to use military force to recover the Falklands and that was that. The Argentines could either leave or fight. There was now no turning back.

 

For the nearly 2000 Falklanders, things would have psychologically been much brighter if at that moment they had known what had taken place to their north pretty much at the same time as the funeral service.

The only Falklander that was to learn what was happening in the outside world was Samuel Hunter and the frustration was that he couldn’t tell a soul. If he did, then it would be obvious he knew something that the others didn’t and that was precisely the breakthrough Fernandez was after in tracking down the source of the video footage.

A day after the funeral, he had summoned his Security Service for a council of war. The plan was that they would form into teams of eight and search the entire Port Stanley area in one afternoon. The objective of the search would be to discover any SAS in hiding, something they all considered unlikely, and to locate the camera unit and its transmitter.

This would be a near impossible task though without literally tearing apart every building in Stanley. Fernandez knew the unit must be small so the best thing he could do was to establish a corp of 2000 troops which would operate in teams and continually check and frisk the native community till they uncovered the camera.

At one minute after noon more than two dozen truck loads of specially briefed troops left the Mount Pleasant barracks area for Stanley, some 50 kilometres distant. By now though a pseudo resistance of sorts had begun to evolve and it seemed that the locals knew of their captors plans even before many of their own did. When they got to Stanley the troopers found the entire community blocking the main road into town.

At their head was Harry Kemp and his small force of police. The silent group already numbered several hundred and people were quickly joining it by the minute. The two schools were also closing and hundreds of children and teenagers and their teachers alike also began to descend down to where the Mount Pleasant road entered the township.

Fernandez had no alternative but to stop the convoy short of the crowd, dismount from the lead Jeep and talk directly with Kemp.

‘We need to search the city, somebody is hiding a camera here that can transmit live video footage via satellite to England. I don’t want to intrude on your lives any more than I have to but I must stop this immediately or you will all suffer the consequences.’

The second Fernandez had said the final part of the sentence he knew it was a mistake, that this was precisely what these people now wanted to hear. Something that would goad them on to literally take on his soldiers on a one to one basis.

‘Consequences!’ Harry Kemp roared in the General’s face and the huge crowd behind him laughed.

Fernandez swung around and ordered his men to dismount, park the trucks and proceed on foot. He had been publicly humiliated, again, though nothing was going to stop this search.

Things degenerated further though as each group of soldiers had been tagged by at least twice as many locals. The objective, discussed earlier in the morning and transmitted via the village grapevine at breathtaking speed, was to from now on disrupt everything that the Argentines did.

After four hours the soldiers were summoned to return to their vehicles having succeeded in only searching about a quarter of the village. And what had been searched had been generally on a superficial level owing to the constant harassment of the locals. They would stand in the way, move furniture around, move the contents from drawers and even lock doors behind them. In the end, many of the teams, out of sight of their commander, would abort their search just to get it over with. It was clear that few had their hearts in this and it was this reaction from the invaders that Kemp really wanted most.

If he could, if the locals could just reduce the morale of the Argentine rank and file then it would be a significant tactical asset for the British troops when they eventually arrived.

It was almost five o’clock when the first contingent of trucks fired up and began to head back to their base at Mount Pleasant. Within an hour all had left Stanley, their only cargo being a visible drop in morale and an unease about which few of the young soldiers even understood.

The jubilation of their taking the Malvinas just a fortnight before was now rapidly becoming a drag as each day became a routine minus the comfort of their home base. Most were accommodated in a hurriedly established tent city while the officers and specialists enjoyed the homes and barracks vacated by the British.

What was also getting them down this evening were the high number of vehicle failures on the trip back to MPN. These three tonne trucks were usually fairly reliable but today several had suffered punctures within a quarter hour of heading back whilst at least two more had engine seizures just short of the base. It wasn’t till nine that night, amidst cold rain and an intense wind that the last of the soldiers made it back.

Just why the trucks had become so unreliable was something that escaped even the motor mechanics tasked with recovering them, till that is when they uncovered a thick goo throughout the carburettor and combustion system of each of the failed trucks. Such a large number of punctures on an excellent sealed road was also unusual if not inconvenient in the extreme.

Back in Port Stanley the people watched from afar the various trucks and their obvious difficulties.

‘It’s amazing what a little sugar in the fuel and a few roof tacks in the tyres will do to a man’s means of mobility, isn’t it?’ Harry Kemp mused to a smiling John Slade. It was the first smile that had crossed the man’s lips since the shooting.

‘I think this war’s just entered a new and interesting phase Harry!’ came Slade’s response.

‘Yes, indeed it has.’

 

The two men sat stunned by their orders and even the three way discussion between the various hides, a sort of mass pooling of intelligence, didn’t eliminate their anxiety.

‘A bloody submarine, they want us to sink a bloody submarine!’

‘That’s right Max, and I reckon we can do it.’ Responded John Peters guardedly.

The plan hatched between the seven SAS men, ensconced between five hides spread over a hundred square kilometres was on the surface simplicity itself. The submarine had for the past day been moored alongside a large refuelling and maintenance barge which had been towed into position just the day before. It looked purpose designed and obviously built just for this role. Alongside the tender were two small workboats which Russell and McGirvan reckoned were used as tenders for the sub if it should need assistance docking with the barge. The whole lot were moored in an inlet near Fanning Harbour, a small cove near the northern entrance to San Carlos water.

This would allow the sub to slip in and out of the northern entrance to Falkland Sound quickly whilst also being within a reasonable distance to the now sizeable camp established at Port San Carlos. The main thing that the two men on the Campito Mountains noticed though was that the whole thing was mobile and could redeploy somewhere else with ease. If it was to be destroyed it would have to be now. They had also been told, via Ritley, that their own nuclear boats were now on station and had already claimed their first kills the day before.

The Argentine sub though was classed as a major risk and would have to be destroyed before any British ship could operate safely in the area and that their own submarines would not be suited to operating in the shallow confines of the Sound. Without air superiority it was just as obvious that a long range air strike was out of the question. It would have to be a special forces op, nothing less would do.

Things were looking up weatherwise though. A storm front had come in the previous afternoon and since then strong winds, rain showers and even a wall of sea mist had drifted across the Sound enough to make their attack feasible. The plan would be to recover the Zodiac and load as much food as possible for a relocation to a new hide in the very northernmost part of East Falkland. At least they knew where the three long range artillery batteries in that area were located while Steve Walls, hiding nearby in the Malo Hills, confirmed that the weather was even more dismal up north.

The two men packed their webbing with as much food as they could gather and selected their armoury. The hide they hoped to take was not equipped as well as most of the rest, being as remote as it was and hadn’t even been checked for near on five months. On the other hand they had to be prepared for not even reaching it as the opportunity for a misadventure on this mission was something that even an optimist would classify as huge.

Peters and Phillips limbered up as best they could outside the hide. They were glad to be out in the open and doing an op. Life in the hide was rough at the best of times though the biggest problem was the inevitable degradation of skills and fitness. Each man would have to now tote a Bergen in the order of 40kg in weight in addition to an array of weaponry. Whilst the weapons would largely be expended in the attack they would still have a daunting climb to reach their hide near the top of Salvador Hill, almost 150 kilometres away.

‘Okay, let’s rock and roll.’ Phillips quipped as John Peters made the first steps away from their hide. Both men walked a dozen metres, stopped and looked back through the rain and mist. They looked at each other and nodded, each man thinking that you can’t see it, nobody would know we were ever here unless they walked right on top of it!

An hour and a half later they reached the Zodiac. The journey down the mountain had taken time despite being down hill. The two moved slowly and carefully, checking their area of vision constantly and calling in to the Campito hide for confirmation that the target was still there. McGirvan and Russell reported back that they ‘couldn’t see a bloody thing’. This was not only good news for the attackers but it also meant that in all likelihood the sub would remain there for the time being as it might be too dangerous to move it unnecessarily in shallow waters and so close to the shoreline while the winds were unfavourable. If it had moved than the mission would be scrubbed and they’d return to their hide. Fortunately not only hadn’t the Zodiac been noticed by the few small and obviously superficial patrols that had passed the area, but it reinflated just as advertised using the spare gas bottle provided just for this purpose.

They stowed their kit and started the outboard motor. Again, fortunately it caught first time and both men breathed a sigh of relief. The ultra quiet murmur of its powerful 40 horse motor increased only slightly as the small craft disappeared from view as it began its journey to the other end of the Sound.

Peters and Phillips checked their maps one more time and verified the GPS readouts of where they were and where their target was. They estimated at this speed, around 14 knots, that they would be in the attack zone in about 90 minutes. The GPS would guide them in and the plan was to decelerate down to around five knots for the run in. When they had the sub visible, which they estimated would be probably only about a hundred metres or so they would open up with all they had.

For the audacious attack they were fortunate to have four 66mm M72 LAWs, or Lightweight Anti Tank Weapons. These were throwaway anti armour weapons that only weighed two and a half kilos yet delivered an armour piercing round at great accuracy out to a range of 300 metres. Special Forces worldwide had found the US made LAW an indispensable asset in taking out almost anything bigger than a car and today, if all went well, it would score its first kill against a submarine. Something both men thought was outlandishly absurd and in the greatest tradition of the Special Air Service.

Backing up the four LAWSs were each man’s personal M16 with an M203 40mm grenade launcher mounted beneath the barrel. These would be handy in disrupting any defence of the sub and perhaps delaying any pursuers. At least the foul weather would make it virtually impossible for the squadrons of helicopters to catch them and kill them with ease. Indeed this was most definitely a major foul weather op, and with the atrocious conditions tipped to last at least one more day it was definitely a now or never opportunity to hit the sub and safely redeploy.

Peters reached down and throttled back the outboard while Phillips carefully placed the four LAW rounds side by side in the front of the boat. He would do the firing while Peters steered and looked for any trouble. They had the benefit of the strong southerly on their backs with the following wind and rain blanketing not only their physical presence but much of their sound. Even much of the explosive sound of the LAW impacts might be absorbed enough not to be heard to any great extent at Port San Carlos almost 10 kilometres to the south east.

Both men peered frantically through the rain, the Zodiac now moving forwards at just a few knots.

‘Shit! There it is, right in front of us.’ Peters excitedly said as he hurriedly gestured ahead over Phillips shoulder.

‘Jesus, so close, I can’t see anybody, go around and approach again, at this range we’ll be on top of it by the time I get the fourth round off.

Peters steered the Zodiac around, backtracking about 60 metres and throttled the motor to just above idle. There was no sign of human life and not surprising really considering that to all intents and purposes there was no physical enemy that this sophisticated weapon of war would have feared this afternoon moored safely alongside its tender.

‘Fire, Phillips said quietly, almost to himself and the first missile fired, tracked straight and impacted dead in the centre of the conning tower. This was not a strategic hit as the boat could still operate with a hole in its conning tower though they both imagined it would probably create a range of problems which would limit its operational potential more than they imagined. The real target was the pressure hull though this would be beyond the capability of the armour piercing LAW round, as good as it was.

The second round followed the first and with precision created a much larger detonation now that the conning tower had already been beached. Peters increased power and the Zodiac accelerated forward to the front of the boat. This was a long shot, Phillips figured but it was worth a try. He had been told that the bulk of the boat's complex electronics and sonar were located in its bow, a direct hit there would make it virtually blind and totally useless as a weapon system. He carefully aimed at a range of barely 60 metres, the round hit, exploded and then nothing! There appeared to be some form of damage but nothing like that of the relatively thin and unprotected conning tower, which from the front looked to have been torn apart even more than it had from side on.

The final round went into the waterline of the refuelling barge. It was a quick decision as both men had now seen activity on the shoreline as men began to run in the distance. As Phillips pressed the trigger of the final LAW round he realised that bullets were hitting the water just metres from them. He sensed Peters grabbing his M16, the sound of which was muffled by the LAW round impacting the barge right at the waterline.

Neither man however was ready for what came next as the barge took the impact, a thudding explosion lifting it gently out of the water for half a metre or so before the entire thing blew asunder. Half full of fuel and half full of fuel rich gas, the latter had exploded with the force of a large fuel air weapon. The barge, the submarine and the two small tenders plus all those on the shoreline disappeared in a massive fireball as did both SAS men.

From almost 20 kliks away, Bill McGirvan and Jack Russell, heard the massive explosion and felt a shockwave moments later. They both looked at each other and silently watched the massive kilometre high fireball extend itself into the clouds and mist, turning the rain to steam as it dissipated and finally disappeared. Both men sat there silently looking into the distance, both silently wondering if it had been worth the price.


CHAPTER 13

Captain Ricardo Vivas was surprised by the knock on the door.

‘Come in’ he yelled as Ramon Mendez sauntered in and sat down beside his friend who was lying on his bunk still wearing his flying suit.

‘Want to tell me about it?’ queried Mendez quietly.

A moments pause followed before an obviously upset Vivas began to recall the terrible event that he had witnessed, indeed almost been killed in, just a few hours earlier.

‘I mean it was just there, as always and in an instant it had exploded into a thousand pieces, right before my eyes.’ Recalled Vivas with obvious emotion.

His, and two other Kfirs, were tasked with providing practice anti ship missile launches against the two Mekos that were at that time working the northern sector. In addition to defending against simulated air strikes the two frigates were also involved simultaneously with tracking and hunting a submerged submarine. A high workload but one that could well be for real in a few weeks time.

Vivas and his two wingmen had performed a number of run-ins on both boats and they were coping well. On the final run one of the Kfirs would simulate a long range high altitude Exocet launch while Vivas would then take over and actually simulate the inbound missile. Descending to very low level and jinking before overflying the boat at masthead height. It was all fairly realistic and besides the ship’s crew always enjoyed the sight and sound of a Kfir in burner thundering over their boat at low level.

Vivas had simulated the inbound Exocet perfectly though at barely a kilometre from the Meko he was stunned to see it simply explode before his eyes. He pulled hard on the stick and banked to miss the mass of debris that would meet him head on in a split second’s time though in the process taking several impacts that made it a miracle that he was even able to recover to an emergency landing at Stanley airport.

His Kfir had taken 27 impacts from flying through the debris field, had lost some of its hydraulics, a portion of elevon and leaked fuel like a sieve. The aircraft was almost a write off, not aided by the collapse of the nosewheel on landing albeit something that did at least ensure the crippled fighter didn’t overun the space limited strip at Stanley. However, if the Kfir was a mess then its pilot wasn’t much better.

‘Any word on the SAR op?’ queried Vivas quietly.

‘It’s not good, only 14 so far recovered from the water. It took almost an hour to get the Pumas there as most of them were down at Port Howard at the time. By that time many of the survivors had drowned in the cold water. The other Meko turned back but it too couldn’t do too much even for those it took aboard.’ Responded Mendez quietly.

‘There’s something else too, something I heard just a few minutes ago when I was in ops. Apparently the submarine the two Mekos were tracking has disappeared. Command can’t raise it on the exercise emergency frequency and the remaining Meko can’t even designate it. It was scheduled to call in an hour ago and, well, nothing. There is a feeling that your Meko was hit by a torpedo, or torpedos fired from a British nuke and that it also claimed the San Juan.’

Vivas sat up, a startled expression on his face.

‘So that’s why the Meko exploded, the torpedo must have hit the magazine.’

‘Yes, and if you had been there an instant later you would have joined them. Look Ricardo, we are at war now and the enemy has finally arrived. You have survived the first battle and it’s time I brought you a drink to celebrate your good fortune, okay?’

‘Okay.’ Replied Ricardo Vivas resignedly as he got up from his bunk.

‘Besides, if you had been there a moment earlier you would have gone down in history.’

‘In history, as what?’ queried a curious Vivas.

‘As, my friend, the first fighter pilot to be shot down by a submarine!’

Both men walked off to the mess though deep down neither felt like really celebrating. The war was now at their doorstep and they knew full well that their own chances of surviving it were something less than average.

 

The massive cheer caught Captain Eric Cooper’s attention as he entered the navigation bridge of Canberra.

‘What’s happened? He queried of one of his officers as they watched the small television hurriedly set up in the corner of the chart room.

‘We’ve got our own back, sir. The BBC just announced that Her Majesty’s submarine Tireless has just sunk a frigate and one of their submarines. The PM also said that from now on any Argentine ship in the TEZ would be prosecuted with lethal intent. Now that’s what I call telling them!

Cooper was pleased that finally something positive was happening and also that at least one submarine had been dispatched. He was afraid, with good reason learnt through experience, to be afraid of their aircraft but he also knew enough about modern naval warfare to know that a lurking enemy submarine would have his beautiful ship for dinner if it so desired. One down, three to go, he privately thought. But of course, that was just the sub surface threat!

Canberra was heading up the Solent where it would berth at Southampton and embark three battalions of the Parachute Regiment. It had been 3 Para which had sailed to war aboard her back in ’82 and now they would do it again, this time in company with their brothers. Over 3000 troops and their support equipment awaited The Great White Whale, as she had been known in ’82 and in less than 48 hours the primary invasion taskforce would sail south. The attack force had already departed over a number of days though the three carriers had all left a week earlier and would work up furiously with an American carrier battle group spearheaded by the USS Abraham Lincoln during their long transit to Ascension.

As Canberra cruised up the Solent at 16 knots Eric Cooper silently watched the last of the big RAF Chinooks winding down on the large helipad aft of the bridge structure. It would be manhandled off to join its five compatriots in their plastic cocoons where they would lie asleep till duty called several weeks hence. A Royal Navy Sea King was already situated on the foredeck pad and another was approaching from the west, ready to take its place aboard the great liner once its air force counterpart had been safely stowed.

His ship was readying for war, again. And again she and her crew of a thousand men and women civilian and service alike would perform well. Captain Eric had never felt so alive in his entire life as he stood alone on the outer wing of the bridge in the autumn sunshine.

 

Commander Vance Sheppard was ready for action. HMS Torbay had arrived on station in its appointed TEZ sector just hours earlier and already the threat board showed several inviting targets.

He and his crew had rejoiced at the success of their sistership, Tireless, in her sector to the east of their own and now it was their turn to draw blood, Sheppard proudly announced to his crew.

The crew of Torbay though had no way of knowing just how close their sistership had been to meeting its demise the previous day. At least they now wouldn’t have to worry about the sub surface threat so much and once surface shipping ceased then it would be a whole lot easier for their submarines to detect the presence of another at a long enough distance to be able to get the upper hand in any running battle. At least that was the theory.

‘So, what have we got Masters?’ queried Sheppard of the master tactician.

‘Plenty of trade sir. Two merchants over here’, Masters gestured to the east with his light pen.

‘Both are at around 25 kilometres and a frigate contact down here, just off their coastline, near the Jasons, about 60 kilometres away. The merchants are heading our way. The frigate is apparently patrolling in a designated box as it changes course every few minutes. It might well be on a SAR op or something.’

‘Or working with a submarine?’ responded Sheppard in a thoughtful tome.

‘Perhaps sir, we’ve no sub surface contacts though we do need to be closer to know for sure.’

‘Okay, we will take out the two merchants first, that will undoubtedly excite our frigate into some type of action and if he is working with a sub then it will certainly reveal itself. Obviously none of them know we are here.’ Replied Sheppard.

With that he ordered revolution for 20 knots and commenced a gentle dive to 800 metres. Sheppard knew exactly what to do. Every British submarine commander has to pass the brutally demanding Perisher Course before gaining control of one of Her Majesty’s boats. Sort of a nautical equivalent to the Selection nightmare demanded of SAS hopefuls. Sheppard not only passed with flying colours but was considered by many in high command to be their star submariner.

All his training, all his maritime life, would now be put to the test in prosecuting this attack successfully and getting away to fight another day. He was aware that aircraft had been patrolling the area as they had detected, at long range, the sonar pinging of sonobuoys as they neared the outer limits of the TEZ earlier that morning. In the meantime, and at only four knots, his boat silently searched the surrounding waters ensuring that there were no unfriendly surprises in store for when it unleashed its arsenal against the enemy.

He also appreciated full well that though Argentina would probably suspend surface activity in the TEZ following his attack they would certainly redouble their efforts to take out the British subs with their aircraft. He knew they only had a few old Grumman Trackers but you could get lucky in war, just as the ships about him this day were most definitely destined to be very unlucky.

‘Masters, what’s the plot in five minutes?

‘Both merchantmen will be within 15 kilometres of us if we launch then. Their signatures should present no problems for the Tigerfish. We can silently launch them on a bearing and activate their own sonars just a few kliks from the targets. Even if there was another sub near they probably wouldn’t get a bearing on us at that rate. We could then turn south at high speed amongst the noise of the sinking merchants and set up the frigate, and whatever company it has, well before they detect us.’

‘My thoughts entirely, Masters.’ Stated Sheppard, patting his tactician on the shoulder.

With that Torbay prepared for battle. Her five tubes were loaded and ready for any eventuality though her greatest protection after this battle would be to stay low and slow, make no noise and become electronically invisible. Just another strange beast hiding deep in a cold and vast ocean.

Sheppard had moved from the sonar room up a deck to the control room with its array of repeater displays, electronic kit and periscopes.

‘Launch in five seconds, both torpedoes.’ The captain ordered, ‘Torpedoes away.’ came the response as the boat shuddered momentarily as the two 300 kilogram monsters began their one way voyage to oblivion.

‘Tracking perfectly, should go active in about five minutes, then about another two minutes to impact.’ Came the response that Sheppard had expected.

There was nothing to do now but wait. All eyes were on the threat scopes on the basis that if anything had been down here then it may have decided to go active with its sonar in an attempt to pinpoint the source of this new sound, the sounds of the two Tigerfish speeding at over 60 knots towards their unsuspecting prey. But there was nothing.

 

Aboard the 17,000 tonne merchant ship Valpraisio Empress life was as tranquil as it could be. The persistent wind and late winter rain showers of the past few days had been thankfully replaced by this day made in heaven. Calm seas, wall to wall sunshine and no wind.

The Empress peacefully chugged along at 18 knots, a little faster than usual, but judged by her captain a smart thing considering what had happened just north of the Malvinas the previous day. About two kilometres off to starboard was the Alcareda, about the same size, shape and age as the Empress and also loaded with military equipment for the Malvinas garrison.

Her master was just about to join his second officer for lunch when he froze at the sight of the Empress lifting up several metres in the water, her back breaking as she did so. The sound and fury of the ship dying, the tearing of metal and the explosion of munitions was only exceeded by the ferocity of the fate which befell his own ship several seconds later.

 

‘That’s a kill, sir, two merchantmen down.’ The first officer coldly commented.

‘Okay, revolutions for 30 knots, heading one eight zero, back to 10 knots at a range of 30 knots to the frigate.’ Responded Sheppard.

He had privately wondered how his crew would respond to this action. Shooting warships was one thing but unarmed merchants was another yet that had historically been the major strategic strength of every submarine force since Jutland. This was no different, this was war and these ships, all of them despite their breeding, were targets.

Torbay sped south on an intercept heading to the lone Argentine frigate, now positively identified by its propeller signature as a French Type A69 frigate of around 1100 tonnes. There was still no discernable sub surface contact in the area, only the now pounding sound of the small frigate as it headed northwards at best speed, obviously in an attempt to assist in the rescue of crew from the two merchantmen. Sheppard calculated as much and had to make a decision based to some extent on ethics. If he killed the frigate, survivors of the merchantmen could drown whilst awaiting rescue. On the other hand that ship could well kill him or one of his compatriots if it got lucky at some later time, perhaps in concert with its brothers. The two ships were within helicopter range of both the mainland and West Falkland. They would have to deal with it. It was their war, they had started it and now they would pay the piper.

‘Firing solution in one minute’ the tactician called as both combatants closed on one another.

‘Fire single torpedo, use active sonar to designate. If there is anything else out here we can at least find them quickly. I don’t like being so close to the islands in this way.

Aboard the Granville, the sonar operator carefully worked his Thomson Sintra Diodon hull mounted sonar to pinpoint the source of the threat that he knew was there. He was getting close to plotting a relative bearing on the source when it suddenly ceased, just like that! There was still something there though, something faint though getting louder by the moment. Just a single pulsing sonic ping and increasing in intensity as the seconds ticked by.

It took the young operator just a moment longer to realise that what he was listening to was the endgame in late twentieth century undersea warfare. The last thing he heard was the implosion of metal as his world, deep within the small ship abruptly ended.

 

By nightfall you could feel the aura of gloom that had befallen the Argentine capital of Buenos Aires. Gone were the chanting crowds of the early days of the Malvinas invasion, and now gone completely was the aura that they were invincible.

In just two days an unseen enemy had sunk a submarine, two frigates and two merchant ships while there even abounded an unconfirmed rumour that another submarine had mysteriously blown up at its mooring in a protected inlet on East Malvinas.

The people were beginning to distrust their leaders again, Juan Moreno pondered, as he sat alone and gazed out across the city. Those bloody British, he thought. They had announced just the day before yesterday that we had suffered heavy casualties during the invasion and had lost three of our Hercules aircraft.

The bastards from Apeco, that gringo woman, had seen portions of the wreckage and put two and two together and even filmed it despite strict instructions not to by the military. The British government had then verified her statements which made it difficult for us to respond. Then that damn footage of the riot, the people being shot and the funeral with the little girl challenging his own nephew. Hell they were going to get away with this, never!

His thoughts were only interrupted by the ringing of the phone. It was his Commander in Chief, Horacio Lunaz and the news was as expected. All shipping had been withdrawn from the TEZ and the Islands would from now on be supplied by air. This wasn’t a major problem as all of the heavy equipment had been in place for weeks as were thousands of tonnes of stores and ammunition. However, two large Russian civil Antonov cargo planes had been chartered and would fly a round the clock shuttle service to keep the Islands supplied. Their own Hercules and a fleet of smaller aircraft could handle the rest.

The big problem though was long term fuel. The tanks at Stanley and Mount Pleasant were full but would need replenishing in five to six weeks at the latest. At some point a tanker would have to run the gauntlet though Lunaz was confident that they could provide an air and sea ASW screen strong enough to get the ship there and back. It was just a matter of throwing enough capability at the problem and it would be overwhelmed, he said. Sort of what the British have done with their nukes, thought Moreno pensively.

There were now only five serviceable Kfirs on the Malvinas and it would be a few more weeks before the Tornados were fully combat capable. Lunaz sought, and also gained approval for the deployment of another dozen Kfirs and a squadron of Skyhawks to Mount Pleasant. It was obvious the British fleet was on its way. Their warships had already left England and it was believed that the troopships would depart within a day. Either way it was inconceivable that they wouldn’t be in Argentine waters before the middle of October. Lunaz argued that when they left Ascension then it would be time to further reinforce the Islands and bring more aircraft down to the mainland airfields of Comodoro Rivadavia and Rio Gallegos. That would also be their last opportunity to get a tanker to the Islands.

Lunaz’s phone call had ended and the President reflected alone on the lack of positive things he had to say. He did speak the truth though, the President pondered, I guess this is war, a war we must win.

 

It had been a quiet day for Flight Lieutenant Amanda Reid. Their surge training completed, the squadron now prepared to depart Lyneham for destinations unknown though it also appeared that it would be amongst the last to leave the UK and so the squadron’s workload had slowed. In any event they were ready to fly out at a day’s notice.

The break had been long overdue though. Each member of the squadron had trained hard for over two weeks without a break and both men, and women and their machines needed some rest. For the army of maintainers, the unsung heroes of any military, it was all hands to the mill in an effort to get the machines of 47 squadron ready for what lay ahead. For Amanda though it meant sleep, and plenty of it. She had not long awakened from an uninterrupted 12 hour stint and felt strangely refreshed as she left the barracks for a walk around the airfield. It was then that she spotted the Land Rover pulling up at the gatepost. She recognised it instantly as one of the vehicles used by the SAS and wondered why it was here when most of the Regiment had departed Hereford the day before for embarkation. It only took her a moment longer to recognise its driver as Justin Emery, a sergeant and one of Max‘s best friends.

The instantaneous thought of Max brought a smile to her lips and she hurried across the lawn to intercept him in case he had heard something of her lover. Justin emerged from the gatepost looking tired and decidedly serious, an expression that only reinforced itself upon her when he saw her coming. Though she was still 20 metres from him she stopped when she saw him look down, an expression of grief on his face, she knew why he was here and that in an instant her tomorrows had changed forever.

She thought of their talks of an engagement when he returned from this latest posting and of all the things they had planned and she knew now, in one brief moment of time, that all of that wonderful expectation had come to nought. She tried to wipe the tears from her eyes as Justin held her close in a desperate attempt at consolation. Two warriors had just lost one of their own.


CHAPTER 14

One of the smallest and least potent of the Royal Navy’s fleet, survey ship HMS Beagle idled off Portsmouth this sunny mid September day ready to play her part in what would truly be a world event.

From her foredeck Prime Minister James Faulkner, his wife Mary and Defence Secretary Nigel Dixon, with his wife and two daughters proudly watched and took the official salutes as the support element of the British taskforce sailed by.

Appropriately led by that veteran of the ’82 campaign Canberra, the long parade of largely merchant ships embarking from Southampton cruised by the Beagle before heading out into the English Channel, turning south and increasing speed, destination Ascension Island some 7000 kilometres to the south.

Joining them would be the remaining ships departing Portsmouth. Mostly RN vessels including the new purpose build assault ship carrying almost the entire contingent of Royal Marines HMS Ocean. The procession of floating might took almost three hours to pass the diminutive Beagle by which time even the most hardened cynic amongst the hundreds of thousands of cheering wellwishers, who had travelled from near and far to bade their fleet farewell, would have been converted over to the purpose of the endeavour.

‘Tis truly a day to be proud.’ Faulkner stated loudly to his guests.

‘Yes, and didn’t I tell you James that this might just be the tonic that Britain and your government needed.’ Quietly responded Mary privately to he husband who had changed into a new, reinvigorated man these past few weeks.

‘The Times had you ten points up on the Opposition this morning, that’s the third major opinion poll this week that has completely reversed your fortunes from a month ago. Who said a nice little war couldn’t be good for you?’ Mary goaded him remembering their conversation of just a fortnight earlier when all seemed doomed.

‘That’s well for you to say my dear but fact is that this fleet is sailing in harm’s way. Simple as that, war’s not a simple thing and I don’t think any of us can rest till these ships return intact.’

Faulkner was feeling better with the way things were going though was fighting hard not to become over complacent. He had ridden his military chiefs hard to ensure that every conceivable aspect of the operation was as precisely thought out and tested as was humanly possible. Against some of their ‘go for it’ wishes he and the Cabinet had literally ordered that the primary invasion force was to not rush to Ascension but was to spend time in England working up for what lay ahead. The Americans were helping them out with thousands of tonnes of stores, equipment and some interesting special kit that would hopefully make the ultimate task of his troops a little easier.

Faulkner also felt something else. A deep sense of guilt at being one of the primary drivers through the past half decade of continually pushing for defence cuts at a time of international unease. The fall of the USSR had most definitely not brought the peace dividend that many had thought it would yet almost all the world’s defence forces had suffered cuts of as much as a third during the early to mid nineties as they were downgraded.

It’s like 1939 all over again, Faulkner had thought to himself the previous night, only it’s now and I’m the bunny holding the reins of destiny. I had better get this right or I would be better off being one of those who doesn’t come back.

Faulkner saluted the final ship in the fleet to pass by that morning, a long container ship with some form of makeshift ramp running from her superstructure to the bow. The contraption reminded him momentarily of those German V-1 buzz bomb launch ramps from the sixties movie Operation Crossbow. He asked the captain of Beagle what it was and was met with a vague explanation about it being something to do with RPVs or remotely piloted vehicles as the captain quickly explained realising that he had lost the PM with yet another military acronym.

As Beagle motored across to the wharf where the VIPs own Sea King was waiting to whisk them back to the centre of London, Faulkner quickly ran through the afternoon’s schedule with his personal secretary. Of special interest was a 3pm briefing on something called Operation Omega, something dreamt up by the boffins at the Security Service.

He always hated these as usually they meant little sense to anyone other than the people who somehow contrived them in the first place and usually couldn’t be given a parliamentary approval due to the innate lunacy of the proposal. This one however was something completely different he was assured by the Deputy PM, Michael Bishop, who was pushing it at a personal level. Interesting name, I just hope it’s not another waste of time.

 

General Edwardio Fernandez’s life was becoming bleaker. In recent days they had suffered a litany of disasters. Firstly there had been the loss of the Meko and a submarine, the almost writing off of a Kfir, the loss of two freighters and another frigate, a mysterious and still unexplained loss of the second submarine while moored near San Carlos, the incident with the child at the funeral and over the past two days a considerable amount of petty though irritating vandalism by the locals against their conquerors.

On top of that there still remained unresolved the phantom cameraman who now seemed to have a regular nightly broadcast spot on international satellite television. Morale was beginning to falter and it was now a certain thing that in a few weeks the British fleet would be in these waters.

His commanders in BA still considered that they could annihilate the British long before they could invade the Islands and few doubted this but still they didn’t think it would be as easy as some of the politicians made out from so far away. Fernandez wondered if the British had the same doubts.

‘Sir, they’re ready.’ Came a loud voice from the General’s door. It was Carlos Astiz announcing that Operation Chupete, Spanish for pacifier, was ready for takeoff.

‘Good, by nightfall we will have these English bastards once and for all!’

Both men watched from the admin balcony at Mount Pleasant as the Chinooks and Iroquois gunships took flight in different directions. Their sole objective being to land small troops of commandoes on almost every mountaintop on East Falkland to flush out the hidden SAS units.

 

From several kilometres away Captain Eric Ritley watched with trepidation as the entire fleet of Argentina’s six Chinooks became airborne with what must have been a dozen Iroquois, which through his powerful binoculars were definitely configured as gunships. He looked across at Peter Phelps and said almost nonchalantly ‘well, this is it’.

He quickly phoned Steve Walls, ensconced alone near the Malo Hills midway between Stanley and San Carlos and used the Clansman radio for a quick transmission to McGirvan and Russell hidden to the south of San Carlos in the Sussex Mountains. He then quickly dialled the Kremlin and decided to keep the line open as they still had plenty of battery power and deep down he had a feeling that they wouldn’t be needing it much longer.

Both men cringed and pulled the cam covering tighter over their now wretched hide as several of the helos thundered overhead heading westwards. Though this didn’t look good, Ritley and Phelps both agreed that it was time to get mobile. All of them had been confined to the hides for more than three weeks, they were running low on water and rations and their personal hygiene was to say the least somewhat lacking. Even some of their kit was beginning to rot as it had been almost impossible to get rid of the mud and water from the storms of a few days earlier.

They also knew that it was still weeks away from even the exploratory stages of a landing on the Islands by the good guys and that their best bet now would be to at least make a run for another fresh hide. There were still several around and Ritley had already given the order for all of their small force to go single and change positions. The now obvious launching of a search and destroy mission by the enemy though had quickly changed all that and each man knew that just to survive the day would indeed be a considerable step forward in life’s exciting voyage.

 

Bill McGirvan and Jack Russell were busy getting their kit together. On receiving the boss’s call a minute earlier they had hurriedly assembled an armoury of defensive weapons. Each man had his trusty M16 with an M203 grenade launched attached plus there were six M72 LAWs neatly laid out and ready to fire.

They planned to take these, plus some light food and water as well as their radio and night vision kit across to a hide in the Rodeo Mountains, about 30 kliks east of where they were. Once there, Russell would leave McGirvan and continue on to another hide in the King’s Ridge area far to the north. This would be quite a trek, would take three or four days at a minimum but would give them an observer in a part of the world where they needed some solid intel to support an invasion.

Ritley and Phelps would also split up though the boss would stay put as his hide neatly covered the all important air activity out of not only Mount Pleasant but also where visibility allowed, Stanley. Phelps would have to hobnail it north to a hide overlooking Port Louis. This was no easy task as he would have to negotiate an area heavily travelled by Argentine forces and would have to pass within half a dozen kliks of Stanley township. If he made it though he realised that this would be an imperative to regaining the Islands. He also knew that if he didn’t then he wouldn’t be around to worry about it!

 

Jack Russell was putting on his webbing, wishing he was as small as the tenacious terrier that was his namesake, when he heard the unmistakable beat of the Hueys.

‘Choppers inbound, well here we go!’ he shouted as both men raised their heads above the webbing camouflage to get a visual on the threat. Sure enough, two Iroquois were heading in their rough direction with a Chinook well astern. The Hueys began to orbit a hilltop about five kilometres to their east as the Chinook began a gentle descent onto the peak. Both men watched their worst fears become reality as the giant helo disgorged a team of half a dozen well armed men and three dogs. The SAS troopers knew that they might stand a fair chance of not being detected by the men but they knew that there was no chance of escaping the nostrils of the highly trained tracker dogs. As both men checked their kit the Chinook took off and with the two Hueys headed directly for their hill.

Russell figured that it would land about a hundred metres away going on what he had already seen. He noticed movement in the far distance to the north east and realised that a similar three helo team was working the Bombilla Hills area. It was now obvious that this was just a small part of a much wider show. Obviously the Argentines had finally realised that there must be some special forces types out here, particularly after the submarine blowing up for no apparent reason, and now they were putting in a maximum effort to get them.

Both men lay, nearly frozen in fear as the large Chinook hovered closer, its bulk passing slowly to their right as the two gunships maintained an orbit several hundred metres apart. Obviously if the Chinook came under fire than the Hueys would be able to eliminate the threat while an actual discovery would ensure a swift and almost defenceless annihilation at the hands of the gunships miniguns and rockets.

The Hueys may be Vietnam vintage but operating in teams they still represented a formidable enemy for any infantry not equipped with man portable surface to air missiles. McGirvan noted that the only Stinger SAMs they had were with Ritley, and he had just two or three from memory. Taking on the Argentine air force, for a world of sensible reasons, was something that the SAS had most definitely been trying to avoid!

The big helo hovered just a few hundred metres distant and just as before men began to disgorge from the rear ramp. McGirvan yelled ‘this is it’ as he aimed an M72 straight for the cockpit area. In an instant the projectile was in the air and to their horror screamed just past the windscreen as the helo shifted in the breeze. The second round, fired by Russell three seconds after the first though was aimed at the rear rotor mast where the mass of hydraulics, engines and primary mechanicals were housed. It impacted right on target and the rear of the Chinook disintegrated, the giant helo swaying momentarily before tilting with its blades hitting the ground and flaying itself into a thousand pieces of burning jetfuel and aluminium.

The shockwave from the blast, heat and debris cascaded over the heads of both SAS men as they burrowed deeper into their hide. Amidst the explosions they heard new noises. Noises of the miniguns working the ridge and getting closer. Maybe the Hueys had pinpointed their position, maybe they hadn’t, but now it didn’t matter as every gunship in Argentina would be here to claim their scalp. McGirvan pulled the cover away slightly and saw one Huey pass to the west, wondering why it had pulled so far away. He only saw, or rather heard the other gunship as it thundered across the ridge at his back and just forward of the burning wreck of the Chinook. He turned grabbing his M16 in the process as Russell broke cover to fire another LAW round at the incoming chopper. It was no contest though as the Huey opened up with both miniguns and several hundred rounds of 7.62 turned their hide into spaghetti.

Far to the east Captain Ritley and trooper Phelps watched dejectedly as the firefight took place precisely where they knew their compatriots to be. In the distant north Steve Walls watched alone as their small team had just been reduced by another two members. From the original eight there were just three left and none of the survivors felt that the odds for survival were even remotely in their favour.

 

Deep in the communication centre, what some nostalgically referred to was the War Room, at RAF High Wycombe, Admiral Ian Kennedy was in mixed emotions.

The entire team had rejoiced at the swift and safe victories achieved by their submarines in the past 36 hours and of the massive psychological boost this had throughout Britain. The message just in though dampened his enthusiasm as it represented a major long term problem.

From the very beginning the simple fact that they had the fortunate services of a number of trained observers 'on the ground' was invaluable. That this force was being whittled down rapidly was cause for concern and the latest intel indicated that a major manhunt for the remaining three men would ultimately render their crucial services redundant. They would have to be replaced before an invasion force even left Ascension, simple as that! Kennedy contemplated.

 

The group loitered around the weird contraptions pointing, gestulating and talking in military-speak in what to an outsider would probably be contrived as some form of foreign language. The object of their curiosity was the latest in special forces stand off delivery systems, more correctly designated as the Personnel Guided Aerial Delivery System, or better known appropriately as Trojan.

Three Trojans had just been offloaded from the USAF C-5 Galaxy at RAF Lyneham where they were to be tested by SAS and SBS specialists using 47 Squadron’s Hercs as launch platforms. The design philosophy of the Trojan lay in the requirement to deliver up to four commandos with up to 200 kilograms of kit covertly to a target up to 30 kilometres from the launch aircraft. The all up payload of Trojan, at just over 600kg, allowed carriage of four SAS men, their own kit and a wide range of back up armour, food and essentials. Conversely, in a multi drop, one or two of the units could be operated by just the pilot with the remaining payload being dedicated to hardware. In this way a four unit Trojan force could accurately delivery up to 16 men precisely where they need to be in addition to giving them immediate access to a range of firepower that they would not normally be able to parachute with, such as heavy mortars, Milan anti armour missiles and even lightweight medium range air defence systems and heavy machine guns.

Several SAS air troop people had just come back from a crash course at Fort Bragg with the US Army’s Delta Force who had been using Trojan for the past half year. Today two of their number, two giant black men that not even the most outlandish Regiment larrikin would dare argue with, would assist in quickly getting the system operational with the SAS and SBS. All knew, that in a few weeks, or even sooner these little devices would be in action a world away and they had better get it right in the limited training time available.

Amanda Reid and her crew looked over the strange device with more than a passing interest. The compact unit featured four seats on a back to back principle set in an alloy and carbonfibre frame. It all sat on a skid type base with two A frame style struts on either side with the chutes and electric motor controls set atop the frame.

A single pilot ‘flew’ the device using a joystick that spools the chute control lines in and out in the normal manner though due to the forces involved using powerful battery powered electric motors. The Delta Force giant quietly confirmed that a good pilot can land it with virtually no forward airspeed and about half the descent rate of a regular paratrooper. Needless to say everybody was impressed.

As it represented a flying machine of sorts it to them at least became something that they could feel akin to. Amanda was glad to be active again. She had been told to take two days off by the base medico despite her personal wishes to get back in the cockpit. She now begrudgingly realised how right the doc had been, if she had been put straight back on ops she would have probably screwed up big and as everybody knew, you just couldn’t afford to do that in special operations flying. However, that was yesterday, figuratively and this was today, now and she was ready to kick arse. In her beloved Hercules she had the means to deliver a group of men that would sort those Argentine bastards out once and for all.

The SAS troopers had always thought of her as something special, certainly, and somewhat unnaturally, quite a few would have lusted after her if she had not already been taken by one of their kind. He was now gone and more than ever the bond between her, her aircrew and the Regiment grew stronger. There wasn’t a man that wore the winged dagger that wasn’t thoroughly pissed off with the fate of their compatriots a world away.

The fact that almost the entire Regiment was to be utilised was rapidly becoming more evident as the days passed and anticipation of departure intensified. What hadn’t dawned on most though was the simple fact that the nature of the eventual invasion was such that only a relatively small number of troops would be able to be landed in the first day, and their job would be immense by any standard. What’s more, if they failed, then the entire invasion was likely to falter with catastrophic results.

This was far from the minds of the assembled troopers this day though as the three Trojans were loaded into the cavernous belly of the Herc. They were arranged in succession and normally would roll out the back at five or ten second intervals using the usual roller ramp system. Today though the objective was training and so the units would be launched one at a time and from just 20,000 feet rather than the usual 30,000 feet. Each Trojan would carry its now quickly qualified SAS pilot, two of his compatriots and a trooper from the Special Boat Services of the Royal Marines.

The Hercules took off with a photo plane in chase and a helo on standby in case something went wrong with one of the drops. The plan was to land the Trojan in a designated space in a large field but with an X in the centre. The objective would be to have the device stop right atop the X, if you did this then that pilot certainly wouldn’t be buying beers that night in the mess!

At 20,000 feet Amanda levelled and trimmed the Hercules for level flight and brought the speed back to 180 knots. The loadmaster checked the first Trojan and announced using his fingers that they were two minutes from the launch point. As planned, they were upwind of the target some 15 kilometres away. Normally from this altitude the relatively lightly loaded device would be able to glide as far as 25 or so kilometres but today the objective was to get the other troopers familiarised with this unusual form of battle delivery rather than push the system to the limit. That would come in the days ahead as they all appreciated that it would only be a matter of days before they would be called to arms.

The noise inside the Herc was deafening despite the four engines being throttled back to reduce airspeed for the launch. The loadmaster held up ten fingers, then five and the four men braced themselves for what lay ahead. The pilot, who had now made more than a dozen ‘flights’ was confident but fairly nervous about doing this on his home turf. Stuffing up in Alabama was one thing but in front of your mates, and the bloody SBS, well that was something else!

The loady’s arm dropped and the Trojan rolled forward, rocking gently before simply disappearing off the back of the ramp into the ether. A half second after clearing the ramp it’s drogue chute deployed and three seconds later this had not only stabilised the device but began the process of deploying the main chute, a massive structure of nearly 400 square metres.

From that second on the Trojan became a flying machine rather than a brick with four men attached. Its pilot carefully motioned his joystick just as he would a conventional glider though in this case he didn’t have a rudder to confuse things. Established in its descent the Trojan was then navigated using the GPS and map strapped in a plastic case to the pilot’s thigh. A clear sunny day made this a ride in the park for the other three who looked thoroughly amused by the experience. Fancy this, being able to go to war in a limo rather than a bike and being able to take all our funny stuff with us, great idea, came the general consensus from the three passengers. Their pilot though remembered what it was like at night and suppressed a grin of his own when he thought that in just three nights time these guys would get the smiles wiped off their faces when they took the Trojans up to Scotland for some ‘real’ training.

He skilfully flew the weird machine on a dogleg course and noted the ground controller regularly asking him to activate his transponder. Excellent, they can’t get a paint on us with even their best radars, he thought as he prepared to line the Trojan up on finals for the dropzone three kilometres distant. Just as prepped their approach was faultless and the device and its four excited passengers landed less than a dozen metres from the large cross whitewashed onto the grass.

The second and third launches were similar and all concerned knew that they had a very, very useful special forces weapon. With this they would be able to land even a large team into an area precisely where they needed to. The Trojan was much more stable and easier to land on target than a single human parachutist with full combat regalia. It also was able to be launched at long range, well beyond the defensive envelope of all but the longest ranging surface to air missile systems and the unit itself had no discernable radar signature, no infra-red emissions apart from its occupants, was invisible in the dark and could tote a wide variety of rapid deployment defensive weaponry in case you met a hostile reception soon after landing.

The main point though was simply that you could ensure your team all arrived together and free of the perpetual leg injuries that were the bane of humans since they had first begun jumping from aeroplanes more than half a century earlier.

In a few short weeks though that would be the least of these men’s worries!

 

What a God forsaken bitch of a place!

Was the first thought that crossed Admiral Jackson Stoddard’s mind as he navigated the USS Carl Vinson to within a few kilometres of South Georgia’s snow covered peaks. The harbour and port of Grytviken lay on the other side of the majestic peaks and the only welcoming committee was from a lone Lynx that had been dropped off a few days earlier by HMS Norfolk.

The Vinson though was a hive of activity, just as she had been the week before at Ascension where the majority of her aircraft had been offloaded. This was, for all intents and purposes, the end of the mission for Admiral Stoddard and in a way he was disappointed that his brief ‘war’ was over. He was even more disappointed that they had not made contact with any Argie subs though consoled himself with the thought that the day wasn’t done yet and who knows, we might just get lucky!

If it was the end of the mission for Stoddard though it was only the beginning for the dozens of Royal Navy types now preparing to depart the supercarrier. Lieutenant Monica Prossor was already in her Sea King and preparing for engine startup along with the other four ASW birds being delivered this morning. That would give the South Georgia force five ASW Sea Kings, two of the AEW versions plus four of the stripped down utility versions.

Already on the Island were two Lynx helos, four Sea Harriers and four of their RAF land attack equivalents. Quite a tidy little force she thought and one that could handle themselves nicely if the need arises.

Briefed, fuelled and ready to roll, the helos departed the massive carrier one by one for the short flight to what was already becoming a very crowded ‘airbase’. On the way she lamented that they had not gotten there earlier so as to be able to rendezvous with Norfolk.

It was probably unlikely, but there was always the chance that she might have been able to cadge a lift out in one of the Lynxs to see her brother. Oh well, he’s probably halfway to Ascension now, she thought as she lined the Sea King up for a straight in approach to the temporary heliport near Fort William.

 

Thirty kliks to the south of the rugged mastiffs of South Georgia and at a depth of almost a kilometre the USS West Virginia idled casually running a routine sensor scan of the southern sector of the island.

There was unlikely to be anything here but it was always nice to play safe and check out the territory. After all, the submariners aboard this and their teammate, the Jefferson City, wouldn’t want their ‘little’ friend upstairs to get into trouble, would they?

The rivalry between those that served beneath the waves and those that served above was only really transcended by that empathy between the Navy and Air Force, and of course once the Russians had become friendly the various elements of the US armed forces could then revert to their natural enemies - each other!

Though an Ohio class boomer, or missile boat, the Jefferson City, like her 17 sisters was also equipped with a state of the art sensor suite and a considerable self defence capability to boot. What’s more, in most cases a properly skippered Ohio was considered to be quieter and more stealthy than even a Los Angeles class hunter killer, of the type that was the Jefferson City. Consequently it came as a surprise to the West Virginia’s chief sonar operator when he detected an anomaly in his waterfall sensor.

‘Sir, I think I’ve something here, a transient noise about 30 kilometres to the west, maybe a few kilometres off the shoreline.’

The boat’s commanding officer, Admiral Steven Kenny leaned over the young man’s shoulder and took a close look for himself.

‘Yeah, looks like there is something out there and it’s not a pod of whales either, sound’s completely different. Hit it with the sonar and let’s get a better reading.’

The West Virginia cruised on quietly at just six knots and knew that its soulmate was well to the north west of the islands and not a part of this equation. If there was something out there it would be nice to find out exactly what. A number of solid pings using the giant IBM sonar was clarified by the waterfall display a little more though the blurry image portrayed on the scope varied to the point where a proper target analysis was beyond its capability.

‘If there was another sub there it must be close inshore, probably stationary, hunkered down and hoping we go away. It wouldn’t know where we are and if it’s Argentine then they probably think we are a British boat. It would seem logical for them to put one of their diesels here for recon purposes and I would guess that the last thing they would want to do is to give away their presence by taking on a nuke.

‘Keep up the scan, we’re in his zone for another four to five hours so we might be able to flush it out. I’ll let the Vinson know when we pop the aerial for our next transmission.’ Kenny surmised to the sonar operator and his deputy who had now joined them in the sonar room.

The hours slowly ticked by and the display came and went, materialised momentarily and faded amongst the return clutter from the steep underwater shoreline and numerous small coves. Even the rough seas hitting the cliffs of this inhospitable island served their purpose to help mask any undersea vessel that may seek solitude amidst the myriad noises that such an area encompasses.

With the target area now falling behind them Kenny was left with no choice but to continue on for a rendezvous with the carrier which was already heading north.

The sonar operator was adamant though that there had been a non marine contact there though and his skipper knew better than to query the opinion of what he regarded as one of the best sonar operators in the fleet. He had better inform the UK MoD at first opportunity.

With that, the 17,000 tonnes of the West Virginia accelerated forward to join her cohorts who were now steaming north, their mission completed.


CHAPTER 15

As the 100,000 tonnes of metal known as the USS Abraham Lincoln turned into the wind her captain, Admiral Vincent Ingram, noted that this was the fifth massed attack that his air group was launching against the British fleet in less than 24 hours.

Since clearing the Channel a week previously his own carrier battle group had been working up intensely with the three British carriers and their escorts. Massed saturation attacks, singletons and even a fair mix of diversionary raids had all been exercised against the British and not found them wanting. Their small fleet of air defence Sea Harriers though were beginning to wear thin against his longer ranging and generally more capable Tomcats and Hornets and he, like everybody else out on this calm tropic sea eagerly awaited the brief respite that awaited them at Ascension Island just a few hundred kilometres to the south.

This was the last scheduled attack that the US fleet would be launching against their allies and he felt justifiably that if they could fend off the might of the US Navy then they should stand a fair chance against the Fuerza Aerea Argentina. Despite this he felt glad to be heading home and not south west as his English friends would be in a few days time. Ingram always considered that a sane man was one who appreciated the not unsubtle difference between practicing for war and waging it!

 

Commander Roger Charlton was getting pretty tired. He and his wingman flew their CAP, or combat air patrol, in a monotonous racetrack pattern 60 to 80 kilometres upthreat from the Invincible for the past half hour. About a dozen kliks to their west orbited the lone Sea King AEW helo, its radar scanning furiously for the slightest whiff of a threat, of another air attack from the vast US carrier battle group far beyond the horizon to their west.

In another 15 minutes the relief CAP would be launching and in that time again they would be back aboard their mobile home prepping for yet another air defence sortie against a formidable foe. This was the end of it though, Charlton thankfully acknowledged to himself as he swiftly scanned his instruments to ensure everything was in the ‘green’ and under control.

Despite the round the clock exercising of the past week he knew his squadron was the better for it. They knew that in probably less than a fortnight they would face a real enemy and that the weather ‘down south’ wouldn’t be as kind to them as it had been on the transit from the UK. And every naval aviator fully appreciated that Mother Nature could be just as telling as a potential killer as any mere human.

‘Sector four, heads up, bogies, four at one five, bearing two seven five inbound at four fifty knots, range one eight zero. CAP backup is in the air.’

The transmission startled Charlton back to reality and made him realise just how fatigued he had become, something that he was most definitely not happy with as he knew that this could also kill him as quickly as anything.

‘Blue flight intercepting.’ Came the quick response as the two Shars banked over and took up an intercept heading that would place them in confrontation with the threat within three minutes. A quick calculation indicated that the threat aircraft, the bombers as they were called, would be engaged well beyond their launch capability. For the sake of the exercise the US attack aircraft were simulating firing Exocets rather than the longer ranging and generally more capable Harpoons that they would normally carry. Though this was a positive for the British it still meant that a saturated multi level attack by missile launching Hornets and Tomcats could result in an ugly scene as there were just so many Shars available to kill them.

Technically speaking, the British were also down to less than half of their Sea Harrier fleet and in some cases the land attack RAF GR.7 Harriers had been accompanying the radar equipped Shars to give them extra defensive firepower. Though the RAF birds lacked an air-to-air radar they still carried Sidewinders and cannon and were able to be radar vectored by the taskforce’s command and control platform HMS Illustrious.

That ship obtained all her radar data, via satellite, for her crucial C3 task from the outlying escorts and the AEW Sea Kings and even in some cases from downlinking the returns from the Sea Harrier’s own highly capable Blue Vixen radar. Usually one Shar would accompany a single GR.7 on a CAP. The benefit of this was that the Shar could be the ‘eyes and ears’ electronically of the GR.7 which had almost twice the endurance of its naval compatriot. Thus a CAP could be exercised using just two Shars and a lone GR.7 instead of consuming the flight hours of four Shars. The increase in Shar availability thus would be better utilised as on-deck alert aircraft, able to be scrambled when and if a real threat decided to raise its ugly head.

And thus it was that Roger Charlton found himself going into battle against four inbound Hornet bombers with an RAF Harrier at his wingtip. In some ways the RAF bird was more manoeuvrable, with its vastly larger composite wing while it was also known that the latter aircraft also had a lousy radar return due to its large scale use of composites in its fuselage structure and wing.

As the Hornets streaked towards their designated launch points Charlton configured his missile switch that would soon ‘theoretically’ launch his four Amraams at the bombers. Just a minute to run and he wondered if the Hornets would also ripple fire their own Amramms as he did. The outcome of this would not be good at all though both of the jump jets would be ready to hit the deck if this happened and try another tactic. At worst it would have at least ruined the ‘enemy’s’ attack profile and possibly brought some time for the relief CAP to get on the scene.

‘Bogies, four bombers to your north, bearing one zero one, low level, also six high level escorts inbound range one nine zero.’

Charlton wondered why the escorts were lagging the bombers and a moment later realised when he noticed several faint returns near the centre of his radar scope. They could be small boats though not out here he thought as he checked the weapons computer which was now indicating just 18 seconds to the initial lock-on capability for his Amraams.

He sensed that the Hornet jocks would be doing the same and wondered if they were as tired as he. The Americans had been concentrating logically on a never ending series of short sharp jabs at the British fleet, hacking away at its defensive screen and gaining some major kills in the process though at this stage none of the carriers had been hit. They had more planes though and didn’t need to defend their carrier as the British did. He doubted that the American pilots were tired at all, a thought that quickly dissolved as he noticed three, four, five firm blips appear almost in the centre of his scope. Simultaneously his radar threat warning receiver began warbling and Illustrious called that they had five confirmed bogeys climbing aft of them.

Though there were just five seconds till Amraam launch he couldn’t wait and the two Harriers rolled inverted and pulled down into the climbing threat of five Grumman F-14D Tomcats. Normally these birds would have taken out the Harriers from a great range, as much as 130 kilometres distant, though again in this scenario they were playing the role of Kfirs and so had to rely upon their close in Sidewinders and guns. Though this would be galling to the Tomcat jocks it at least made them more tactical and their plan of cruising in slowly at wavetop height had succeeded in eluding the Sea King AEW and Sea Harrier radar screens till it was too late.

Charlton pulled hard into the turn of the first two Tomcats, their big wings moving forwards to give them maximum lift and agility. He had momentarily thought that this was madness and perhaps it would be best to dive vertically for the sea, some 18,000 feet below, try and outrun the Tomcats and nail the bombers. After all that was their job, only thing was that in this scenario they had been well and truly outfoxed using one of the oldest tricks in the book and now they knew they wouldn’t be able to outrun the supersonic Tomcats and survive so the only option was to fight them.

Charlton and Hobbs, the RAF pilot, both reduced power and dived their aircraft to gain energy and break from the Tomcats which at this point would have been too slow to engage them with guns. Their close-in infra-red Sidewinders also lost lock on the small Harriers as they plunged at them vertically with the sun at their tail. For the next few seconds the advantage lay with the two Harriers as they began to pull out of their dives at 10,000ft, an ideal thrust range for the aircraft and not where the big Tomcat would want to be.

As Charlton turned his Shar he realised that the four Hornets were still within range, he took the gamble and ‘fired’ his four Amraams at the long range targets in the hope that one or two would hit home. The gunsight and mission computer cleared them as within range so now it would be up to the adjudicator! This now left him defenceless though as the Shar had to forsake its two underfuselage mounted cannons to accommodate the additional two Amraams.

With all four gone he had nothing left so decided to fight for a simulated guns kill anyway as the Tomcat jocks wouldn’t know his precise configuration. Hobbs in the RAF Harrier not only had his two cannons but also two close-in Sidewinders and being an ex Jaguar pilot knew precisely what to do with them. Restricting him though was the still significant fuel load and the two massive underwing tanks the GR.7 carried to increase its CAP endurance. In true combat these would be jettisoned as soon as the aircraft went defensive though in practice this was naturally never done. They were simply too expensive to replace and in truth the RAF didn't have enough of them at the best of times.

Hobbs wheeled around and began a turning climb into one of the big Grummans, sensing immediately that two more were on his tail, albeit still well beyond guns range. He pulled hard on the stick, five G, five and a half G, six G and the Harrier began to buffet as the energy bled off. In a careful move he instantly vectored his thrust from horizontal to the fuselage to 60 degrees for a split second, just enough to viff the nose of the Harrier upwards momentarily and decrease his turn onto the American fighter.

That was all he needed as the aiming device on the head up display slid onto him. The small diamond locked onto the image of the big fighter and a Sidewinder ‘launched’ at a range impossible for it to miss. Ensuring its own self destruction the Tomcat pilots went to full burner to avoid losing any more airspeed and to disengage. The massive blooming of red heat at its technologically purest is the last thing that Hobb’s Sidewinder would have seen as it entered the Tomcat’s jetpipe and blew the 25 tonne machine apart. Hobbs though had little time to rejoice as he viffed more heavily this time, pulling inverted simultaneously and down again into his two pursuers. The Tomcats see the manoeuvre, realise they are too close for a Sidewinder kill and don’t want to get into a turning guns only dogfight with either Harrier and bug out, on the deck and in burner. They are gone as quickly as they came.

Commander Roger Charlton, CO of 800 Royal Navy Air Squadron, is beat as is his RAF wingman, an unlikely duo brought together by desperate circumstances. As they both transit back to Invincible each relives the mission and secretly wonders what it will be like when it becomes real in just a few weeks time. The awful fact that five of the bombers penetrated the aerial shield this afternoon is something that only increases their fatigue.

Ascension Island and some desperately needed rest cannot come soon enough.

 

Admiral Ian Kennedy, the chief of Operation Recovery, clasped his hands together and looked pensive.

‘Well, sir that’s the sum of it. We’ve lost most of our SAS observers on the Islands at a time when we crucially need that incountry intel that only troops on the ground can give.’

Nigel Dixon was quick to respond.

‘What about the American satellites, can’t they magnify things down to the size of a lounge chair.’

‘Yes, theoretically they can but you still need intel on the ground. That was something that we and the Americans learnt to our great cost during the Gulf War. It wasn’t till the special ops people from both our forces actually went into Iraq and Kuwait that we realised that much of what the KH-11s were seeing was skewed data. Those oil filled trenches surrounding Kuwait City and flanking the border looked like they were oil filled from a satellite but when we put in our people we found the oil had long ago seeped into the sand leaving the illusion but not the substance of oil. One of Saddam’s most challenging defences collapsed overnight once we knew, and believe me, that kind of incountry intel is nothing to what we will need if we are to recover the Falklands this time round.’

‘Okay’ responded a resigned Dixon, ‘what do you propose?’

‘We will have to send in some more operatives now and a lot more just before the invasion, we have no choice. We can have six of our best from the Special Boat Squadron airlifted to Ascension in preparation for air dropping from a Hercules to a submarine. The sub will then talk them to the Falklands coastline where they will swim underwater to their various landing points. They will operate in teams of two and they will take cover to watch these areas.’ Kennedy made the point by tapping the map with his pen.

‘When can this happen? Queried Dixon.

‘They’re briefed and ready now. We can have them at Ascension this evening and on the sub within 24 hours. It would then take the sub about 36 hours to make it to the drop off points. We would anticipate, all going well, that we would have our SBS people operational by next Thursday, just four days away.

Dixon, as a civilian, was always amazed by the way the military would plot to protect and promote their own. He privately wondered if the Admiral before him had been, by some quirk of fate, a general, would he have been recommending the Army’s SAS instead of the Royal Marines equivalent. Truth was though that it was not as simple as that and certainly Admiral Kennedy would have had good reason for choosing the SBS for this hazardous mission.

Though the SAS did have its own underwater experts, via their own highly respected Boat Troop, one of the four Troops in the Regiment, the Royal Marines had long had their own specialised underwater specialists though nowadays the SBS was under the control of the Army and to all intents and purposes had become an element, albeit still highly respected, of the SAS itself. That these men would be best optimised to parachute to a nuclear submarine in mid Atlantic while it then takes them to a hostile shore and disgorges them whilst submerged is something that any sane SAS man would prefer to leave to their maritime companions.

‘There’s one more thing’ added Kennedy as Dixon moved to close the briefing.

‘HMS York, an updated Type 42 destroyer, is presently patrolling to the west of Ascension as part of the routine ASW screen. We feel it might be a good idea to send her down towards the Falklands to test their mettle, so to speak. At the very least it will reveal their tactics and our subs will be able to monitor their radar and radio frequencies.

As you know, we really need this data before the taskforce itself gets within striking range of the Islands. We also need to test out the long range maritime surveillance capabilities of their navy and air force. This would be a good way of doing it.’

‘Okay, when can she leave?’ queried Dixon.

‘Day after tomorrow, as soon as she refuels and crossdecks some additional weaponry. Should be within a few hundred kliks of Stanley within ten days.’ responded the Admiral assuredly.

With that the daily brief concluded, the 30th such meeting since the conflict began in what seemed now to all to be another age.

 

Robyn Olds was glad to be off the ship. Not that there was anything wrong with a ship, her whole life had been based on the fates of the floating creatures, only this time she was glad to get ashore and get her head down for some serious kip.

The voyage down from Portsmouth had taken barely a week and a half yet it felt like they left England a month ago. Rough seas for part of the transit, then dead calm and through it the constant, round the clock, air raids against the fleet which had at different times split up into individual smaller units in an attempt to define precisely what combat formation was the most effective.

As of five hours ago, when the final Sea Harriers had been parked, it appeared that the only positive outcome was to group all of your assets in as small a space as possible and ring them with every conceivable level of sea and air defence available. Certainly any stragglers were fair game and didn’t last long, something that reminded Robyn of those World War Two movies of the damaged B-17s being torn apart by Luftwaffe fighters once they dropped back from their bomber streams. It was not a thought that gave her any confidence.

The best known defence correspondent in the world now stood atop one of Ascension’s small volcanic hillocks of what looked like brown rock and dust. Indeed this place was so bereft of vegetation that not even weeds grew. She and her crew joked that they were filming from the gates of hell compared with the peaty green of the Falklands just a few weeks earlier. She spared a thought for poor old Sam Hunter. That guy should get a medal when this is over, she absently thought to herself as yet another chartered 747 glided into the island’s space constrained Wideawake Airport.

His incredible footage had swung the cause firmly into the hands of the British. And on top of that the locals were beginning to fight back with some old fashioned sabotage. They had shown defiance in the face of overwhelming oppression and that had proven a sure fire hit from Tallahassie to Salsburg.

Initially the Americans, and indeed even many of the European nations, considered the whole thing some sort of medieval charade, just like they did in 1982. Even now, no American could understand what the uproar was about when Britain sent its largest post World War Two battlefleet south to retake some long forgotten islands at the bottom of the world.

Today it was no different, until the live footage of the riot and the little girl challenging the might of the Argentine commander. For better or for worse, it reignited memories of the Nazi jackboots in every living room through the civilised world, and had firmly brought international condemnation against Argentina and its ruling elite.

As Robyn idly watched the frenetic activity below her on the base and in the harbour she realised that right now the Argentine people were rapidly becoming the big losers in this standoff. Though a standoff it most definitely wasn’t. The British fleet was already here, well half of it anyway, the sharp end so to speak and the rest would be here in a few days time. And then? It would be throttles forward for a full on assault and one that might well be a lot different than last time.

No, whatever happened, she decided, it was people, real people, like Sam Hunter that were what this war would be about. It had been said, by somebody she couldn’t remember, that in ’82 the British won because they were fighting for the islanders while Argentina was fighting for the islands. There was a difference and the Sam Hunter’s of this world made the difference real. That would be a good intro she though, for today’s taping. We won’t be as crass to mention the oil, just Sam and his 2000 friends desperately awaiting liberation.

‘Okay guys, let’s get the gear set up over hear’, she yelled to her crew.

‘We’ve got a half hour to get this in the can and onto the satellite.’

As always, Robyn Olds Apeco slot would never be late, come rain hail or war.


CHAPTER 16

This was a fine time to be at sea contemplated Commander Eric Skinner, captain of HMS York. His warship had departed the resupply facility at Ascension barely 48 hours earlier and now he was venturing south into harm’s way. Alone, save for the invisible presence of a Swiftsure class nuclear powered hunter killer that was assigned to ensure that York received no interference from the remaining Argentine submarine threat.

Skinner knew though that as they closed with the Falklands that his real threat would not be from beneath the waves but from the air, and probably at a range that would leave many much of the Admiralty in a permanent state of shock. Skinner considered that a lone ship could stand little real chance of surviving a combined forces massed air strike using standoff ship killing missiles. Argentina had several tanker aircraft and no doubt these would be used to greatly increase the endurance of the strike aircraft whilst also being able to allow them the luxury of perhaps attacking from the flanks and rear as well as from the expected front. He silently thanked God that he was aboard one of the best destroyers in the RN though still secretly doubted even this ship’s ability to withstand a well executed and determined massed attack from what he considered nothing less than a formidable foe.

HMS York was a Type 42 destroyer, the same class as the ill fated Sheffield and Coventry of the ’82 war. Ironically she was also a distant sister to the two lead destroyers of the Argentina Navy. However, that was where the comparison began and ended. York was what was termed a Batch 3 upgrade of the original Type 42. As such she had been lengthened somewhat in the area ahead of the bridge and her armament upgraded significantly to cope with 21st century maritime combat.

For self defence she was armed with an advanced ECM and ESM suite, including the latest in passive sensors and long range night vision gear in addition to improved flare and chaff launchers. She also featured dual Vulcan Phalanx gatling cannons, Sea Wolf short range and Sea Dart long range SAMs and a newly introduced system called Nulka, which featured a two metre long hovering rocket that was designed to hover slightly away from its mother ship and to electronically seduce the inbound anti shipping missiles onto it, rather than the target ship. This system had proven itself over more than a decade of combined Australian and US navy testing though it had never been employed in a high threat real world situation. Skinner, and no doubt the rest of his 264 member crew, sincerely hoped that in the next few days it would not be subjected to such abuse!

As his warship steamed south on a steady course towards an inevitable confrontation, he knew though that this mission would be crucial to plotting the electronic signature of the various Argentine combat systems in the region. Where were their new long range Russian radars and SAMs, what frequencies were they operating on, could he pick up much intel via their island to mainland radio comms, could he maintain contact with the special ops listening posts on the mainland and most importantly what would their response to the approach of the first British warship precisely be.

Skinner looked ahead, standing alone on the bridge wing with his thoughts and fears as the sun steadily disappeared into the west, somewhere beyond the vast nation of Brazil. The thought had never crossed his mind before but he now wondered why the hell he didn’t opt for submarines many years ago!

 

Captain Gavin Woods and his eleven compatriots sat in the semi darkened briefing room aboard HMS Ocean. The ship was now just hours out of Ascension and so urgent was the team’s mission that a Sea King was already spotted on the deck ready for launching as soon as the briefing was completed.

Woods, a Royal Marine veteran of more than a decade, had transferred across to the Special Boat Squadron three years earlier and had not regretted a day of his new life. The SBS was fairly much the ‘booties’; equivalent of the army’s SAS and indeed the two units were so entwined in their day to day existence that there had even been heated argument in Whitehall whether the SBS should travel south with the rest of the Royals aboard Ocean or stay with their army counterparts. Navy brass had won out but either way each man knew that once they reached terra firms, a ‘la Falklands, that the two would be once more running into each other, and hopefully a few Argies in the process!

So much for politics though, it was the enormity of the briefing that had these twelve highly specialised men intently focused this day. The master plan, codenamed appropriately Operation Nautilus, was for the twelve to pick up a Herc at Ascension to be parachuted to a nuclear submarine in the mid Atlantic. From there they would enter the boat and travel south at flank speed where they would depart their mother ship just a few kilometres offshore from several key points off the Falklands. Situated atop the hull of HMS Sceptre were four mini submarines, safely locked down via specially designed brackets just for this type of mission.

Since the First World War submarines had proven a clever and highly effective means of inserting special operations people into areas they normally wouldn't be able to securely penetrate. Indeed, Argentina herself had used this very method with great success against the British only weeks earlier.

The mini submarines were actually more akin to small human guided torpedos, only in this case with a series of saddles for up to four men and their kit. The device was steered by it’s ‘captain’ via the propellor which was housed in a ducted propulsor, sort of like a miniature version of what was found on the Trafalgar class submarines. Very quiet and giving excellent thrust and manoeuvrability, indeed enough to cover up to 20 kilometres in an hour with an endurance at this speed of almost five hours. The mother sub could thus idle well offshore and dispatch her pups without having to venture too close to danger, in this case a lurking powered-down diesel using the close inshore shallows to mask its presence while it waited for the noisier and much larger nuclear boat to stumble into its lair.

Woods and his men scribbled their notes with a sense of urgency, almost as if their Sea King was already winding up four decks above them. This mission was simple yet complex. The simple part was that essentially all they had to do was to get ashore, reach a safe and secure hiding place and remain hidden long enough to report on what was happening on the ground. The hard part would be in doing just that!

Their first drop off would be several kilometres offshore Pebble Island, to the north of West Falkland, and the scene of the now legendary SAS raid against the airfield there in 1982. The men though got the impression that this time what was going to take place there would be make the ’82 mission something akin to a playschool tea party, and they would be the first eyes and ears on the scene to make sure everything worked as advertised.

Tasked for Pebble Island were four men. The next insertion would be at the entrance to Berkeley Sound at the extreme north east tip of East Falkland and about 20 kliks north of Port Stanley itself. This would be another four man unit. The final two drops would be two man units, one coming ashore at Port William directly across the harbour from Stanley airport and the final to the south near Mare Harbour near Mount Pleasant airfield and the crucial fuel terminal on Choiseul Sound.

Woods would command this key post, allowing him also to ensure that all his men got away safely. Indeed with a bit of luck he would have received confirmation of a safe deployment from boat one and possibly two by the time it came for them to launch. Due to the distances involved and the need for Sceptre to transit slowly, making minimal noise, the time difference between the first and last launch would be almost 36 hours.

The dozen commandos synchronised their watches and ran a final check through their gear, cross checking each other to ensure that absolutely nobody had left even the smallest and seemingly insignificant item of kit ‘ashore’. They could already feel the tremble and noise of the Sea King running up as they rode the massive elevator up to the flightdeck, the only thing blocking it out being their own individual pulse rates and the dancing nerves in their knotted stomachs.

 

For the Apeco team it had proven a productive stay at Ascension. There was always something happening and an ever increasing amount of air traffic had indicated that the taskforce would be leaving within a few days. The first wave of the invasion force itself was expected at dawn the next day and even the stragglers in this vast armada would be at anchor within two days after that.

Meantime, the Harriers and helicopters had been busy exercising on the small island itself. Not much was being said but a seasoned veteran like Robyn could tell right away what they were practicing, and it was not what she had expected.

As soon as the ships had docked the multiple round Jernas SAM systems had been offloaded and quickly set up on the neighbouring hillsides. A major had told her only that morning that just three such units could defend the entire Ascension airspace from ground level to 20,000ft and out to a range of at least 20 kilometres. While the system couldn’t defend against high altitude long range air attack it hadn’t been developed for this purpose and was instead a tactical lightweight and thus easily deployable ‘in the field’ system optimised for defending the troops on the ground or their immediate firebase, anchorage or airfield.

Her camera operator had spent the best part of the last hour getting visuals of Harrier after Harrier slowly coming down what amounted to a long invisible cone as they practiced entering the air defence zone from a specific speed, direction and altitude. She gathered that this was the arrival safety cone with the rest of the airspace being a no fly zone. This way, if a beachhead was established then an air defence screen could be rapidly put in place without theoretically having to worry about hitting your own aircraft. If it was outside the arrival/departure cone then the operative was to ‘hack it’, simple as that!

Ascension was the final port of call before embarking south and as such it was the last safe and stable opportunity to crossdeck equipment and troops to the various ships that were destined to execute the actual attacks in less than a fortnight’s time. The Royals would of course remain aboard Ocean though some of the Paras would transfer from Canberra when she arrived tomorrow to the assault ships. It had already been announced that Arcadia would travel south with three escorts to South Georgia and would head west only when hostilities had ceased. Robyn Olds had still to hear how she and her team were going south. She had put her name down for one of the carriers though suspected that even with her credentials this might be asking a bit much.

Television might have given the best action feedback to the folks back home but the drawback was that a TV news crew comprised three to four people no matter how fine you cut it whereas a print journalist was a sole operator and thus much easier to embark upon a space constrained ship. Oh well, at least a comfortable cabin on Canberra won’t be the end of the world, so long as they get ashore with the first wave, she thought.

 

“There’s something I want to show you’, Harry Kemp said matter of factly to John Slade and Samuel Hunter.

The three men walked down the deserted street towards the now irrelevant police station. Irrelevant since the Argentine Army had decided to take over total responsibility for law and order from the normal civil authorities. Kemp and Slade thus were now nothing more than defacto civilians, something that neither man, nor their police compatriots, savoured.

The three men entered the building while Harry and a now much more mobile Slade had a quick look around to ensure that none of their conquerors were about. That done, the three proceeded towards the back of the station, across the lawn and into Kemp’s home, one of three cottages located behind the station.

‘What I am about to show you must go no further than the three of us, okay?’ Kemp demanded as his two guests looked on in increasing curiosity as to what he was hiding at such a suburban address.

Harry Kemp led them to a back room, a spare room, something which made Slade wince internally as he instantly recollected a similar room in his own home where the perceived source of much of his current suffering originated.

Both men looked on gingerly as Harry pulled the bed aside, moved two small cupboards and rolled up the large rug that covered much of the floor. What was revealed was a cunningly hidden trapdoor, very professionally built so as to not be immediately visible to anyone other than the most diligent observer. As the big man carefully lifted the door open he was pleased to see the startled expression of his two friends. He had been itching to show this to somebody for almost two decades and now he could at last do it.

‘My God!’ exclaimed Slade, as Hunter just looked at the booty open mouthed.

‘You’ve got a bloody arsenal down here, a bloody arsenal’, whispered Slade.

‘That’s right my lad, enough to maybe give those Argies a bad turn if our timing was right.’

Slade looked at him eye to eye and thought he saw a twinkle.

‘So what have you exactly got here and how did you get all this you sly fox?’ queried Hunter, now slowly recovering from the enormity of the find.

‘In the final day of the ’82 campaign, and just after the ceasefire, much of their light weaponry had been discarded enmasse by the Argentines and naturally some of it was being souvenired left right and centre by the locals. As police, we suggested it was wrong but with what the people had endured the previous few months you couldn’t blame them for largely ignoring us and wanting a bit of the action. Anyway, there was all this lot stored here in pristine condition and a Scots Guard major had privately suggested to me that it would be a smart move to grab as much as you could and store it away for a rainy day.

At that time there were not too many people about, on either side, that didn’t believe that they would have another go before too long. So, to get a cache of hidden arms together seemed a smart move. I gathered them carefully, picking only the best, took them apart and oiled them for preservation and carefully stored them away in plastic bags. I also got all that ammo, 36 boxes of it in fact.’

‘And the guns? queried Slade.

‘Well, let’s see, we have 38 FN automatic rifles, two light machine guns, four mortars, three bazooka devices, two 12 gauge pump action shotguns and several dozen handguns, including my favourite.’

At this point the now very relaxed Kemp produced from a towel a large calibre magnum complete with silencer.

‘Jesus Christ!’ exclaimed John Slade. You could stop an army with this lot.

‘And that John is precisely what I hope we can do with this little box of tricks!’

 

God must have been on their side, decided Captain Eric Ritley in a passing moment of levity. His long time 'roommate' trooper Peter Phelps had safely left an hour ago, just after the massive firefight to their west, while Steve Walls, alone for all these weeks in the Malo Hills had also abandoned his hide for a new lair far to the north.

It had looked a close thing for Walls though as helicopter search teams had landed within a few kilometres of his hide. His gamble was to stay and eventually be found, like McGirvan and Russell, to then be hunted down and killed or to run while he could, albeit still in daylight and with minimal ground cover. Why the hell didn’t trees grow in this bloody place, thought Walls as he slowly made his way north west using every trick he had learnt in his five years in the Regiment. Skills that would now hopefully save his life.

Ritley’s thanks to the Lord came in the form of rapidly approaching rain showers and an accompanying fog of low cloud. In this weather they would not risk flying more search and destroy missions and his men would hopefully have the brief respite they desperately needed to relocate to hopefully safer climes. The met forecast via the Kremlin had indicated several days of rain showers in the area which was part of a major low pressure area coming north from Cape Horn itself.

Ritley had also been told, indirectly, that help was on its way and hopefully they might have some welcome company within the week. He carefully noted the distant beat of two Pumas and a Huey gunship making their way back towards Stanley from the south and silently thanked the heavens for providing their much needed respite. He never thought he would be so glad to see drizzle and fog and was beginning to doze off after the stress of the past few hours when he heard a sudden noise, an unfamiliar and unwelcome sound, one that chilled every nerve in his body.

 

A world away, Ritley’s compatriots were getting ready to ship out. It had seemed an age since the whole thing began and by some strange quirk of fate the bulk of the SAS were still at Stirling Lines in Hereford.

Boredom and frustration there was none though as each of the four Sabre Squadrons readied for combat. Two dozen or so men were already in action, apart that is from the eight who were already in the Falklands at the time of the invasion. Little was said of their whereabouts but it was suspected, with good reason that some operatives had already long departed for South America where they had established a number of single unit covert reporting points covering such things as met forecasts, local humint feedback and most importantly in the weeks ahead, aircraft movements from the major Argentine airfields.

As a number of the men were of Spanish appearance and that language was well known to almost a fifth of the Regiment it had not been difficult selecting a number of multi skilled specialists that could pass themselves off as southern European tourists and Lonely Planet style professional backpackers.

For the bulk though it would be full on up front combat. There was not a man at Hereford this day that had any argument with that and the best thing most believed was the incredible feeling of camaraderie that went with the operation. For the first time since the Gulf War the whole Regiment was involved in a major action enmasse and the feeling was fantastic.

Also fantastic was the amount of new kit that had mysteriously come their way via an airbridge of USAF transports to Lyneham and Brize Norton. The American President had suffered rebuff after rebuff from President Moreno and had virtually been publicly humiliated. He now, aided somewhat by the mysterious footage coming out of the Islands almost every day of some new insult, had washed his hands of the Argentine leadership and had thrown his lot in with the British.

Stopping short of offensive military aid he did promise a full squadron of no less than 16 KC-10 Extender tankers, as many Galaxies and Globemasters as the UK wanted in addition to any AWACS support that Britain might like to add to its own seven E-3 Sentrys. The additional tankers would enable the RAF to play a larger part in the regaining of the Islands and, of special interest to the SAS, would allow a more viable long range operational envelope for 47 Squadron’s new C-130Js.

And this was not unexpected as by now the SAS had accomplished over 268 flights in their new toy, the Trojan, and had 28 of the little beasts packed and ready for shipment to Ascension aboard two Galaxies that were already preparing for departure along with the bulk of 47 Squadron’s Hercs. The Regiment was trucking out that afternoon and would be in the air by nightfall. Tomorrow, dawn, Ascension and then it was the Falklands and time to kick arse!

Asked by a CNN reporter what the Argentines on the Falklands should do when they got there, a young trooper unsmilingly looked the reporter in the eye and simply said ‘leave’.

There was not a person in the northern hemisphere that didn’t understand the wisdom of his words though it still would be a close run thing if Argentine airpower could make a showing for itself. A well equipped and trained air force specifically optimised to eliminate a surface fleet, and with an inventory of over 200 Exocets, could not be dismissed lightly. Leave the Argentines eventually might, the real question though remained at what price.

 

Captain Ritley moved slowly, knowing that movement in a static landscape was usually a combat soldier’s worst enemy in terms of giving away their presence. He slowly crawled out from the X shaped hide to allow a view over the rocks that also served to give his humble abode some limited form of visual protection from the ground.

It was a shout of help that had aroused him and the Spanish was a dead giveaway that it wasn’t an Islander. Up here on the peaks the weather had closed in rapidly and he gathered that the soldier, just 20 to 30 metres below him was long separated from his patrol and well and truly lost. Probably came up with a unit of half a dozen, I should have bloody well seen them, Ritley chided himself for the massive lapse in tactical preparedness. Still this was now and he had a major problem as it was evident that the lone soldier was clambering up the rocks to reach the peak in the hope he might be able to get a bearing on where he was. Stupid to think he could even contemplate it in this mist, thought Ritley as he reached for his Browning, carefully attaching the silencer, which he always carried, onto the end of the barrel. The young man’s calls were unanswered so he guessed, hopefully, that he was in fact well separated from his fellows and consequently Ritley would have enough time to dispose of the body if he came any closer.

It was no contest though, like a bee to honey the now terrified Argentine soldier, a private by his insignia, clambered on upwards. At less than five metres Ritley was left with no option but to pull the trigger and the soldier was lost no more.

Ritley remained motionless for a full minute, acutely surveying the terrain with his eyes and listening for the slightest foreign sound. Just the inescapable patter patter of the rain gently falling. Finally convinced the soldier was alone, Ritley moved across to the body, removed the man’s armament and uniform knowing that in the world of clandestine ops it just might come in useful at a later date. Fortunately he was roughly the same size as Ritley so this indeed was an added bonus. He carefully dug out a scrape and hid the body under a half metre of earth, carefully placing the vegetation back on top as best he could. Mother Nature via her rain would bed down the site in a matter of hours, removing any visual impression that this might be an area that was once disturbed by the human hand.

The SAS spend a lot of training time improvising hides that are almost undetectable, to provide an unseen grave for this stranger was just another chore in a day’s work for Ritley. Still, his greatest fear was that he may be missed and others would come searching for him.

What Ritley didn’t know was that a number of Argentine soldiers, all lower ranks, had already gone missing and little or nothing had been done to look for them. Though he didn’t know it then, the invader’s lack of organisation would be his ultimate saviour.

 

It felt like they had been travelling for an eternity as the Hercules droned on far above the brooding sea. Captain Gavin Woods sat towards the back of the Herc trying, with increasing futility, to grab an hour or so’s kip. His eleven compatriots either attempted to follow his lead or carried on with the light hearted banter that is a hallmark of special forces types worldwide.

Their attempts at ‘relaxation’ hadn’t been helped by the three inflight refuelling sorties that had taken place since leaving Ascension so many hours earlier. This was almost always an event that most human cargo disliked. There was a lot that could go wrong in the seemingly simple act of transferring fuel from one aircraft to another in flight. Turbulence was the greatest threat and in some cases it might even curtail the mission, meaning in this case that they would have the choice between ending up in a Brazilian jail at best or the sea at worst. Woods was relieved to see the third VC10 disconnect and amble off out of view as it headed back to Ascension. Perhaps now he could at least get a little peace and quiet.

In what felt like minutes, but was actually more than an hour later, he was awakened by the loadie shaking his arm and giving him a thumbs up signal and one of those beaming smiles that RAF loadies seem to excel at. He felt the adrenalin rush to his heart and limbs as he noted his men already moving to secure their kit and prepare for the first stage of their complex mission. Within seconds they heard the high pitch whine of the four Allisons winding down as the big Herc gently lowered its nose and began its long descent to just 500ft.

In the cockpit, Amanda Reid checked her instruments for the hundredth time, all go, all green, just as advertised. The tactical navigator told her something that she already knew, that the sub was already surfaced and 94 kilometres to the south west. She didn’t really need this info as it was already illustrated on the aircraft’s central nav display. The weather in the area was fine and they had several hours of light left. Perfect, they would arrive at the dropzone in 15 minutes. As her beloved Herc smoothly lost altitude she reflected on the havoc her young chargers could ultimately render to her enemy. A brief smile crossed Amanda’s lips, the first for some time and one that sadly had little to do with joy and happiness.

 

In the rear of the Hercules the twelve men were now readying for the jump. Each wore a full immersion suit and inflatable life jacket in addition to a standard commando style steerable chute with an auxiliary. From a lanyard each would also deploy a waterproof bergen though in this case a much larger waterproof flotation capsule would be dropped first. Within the capsule would reside much of the special kit that the dozen men would need to complete their mission and survive alone for up to a fortnight in the enemy’s domain.

Amanda levelled the Herc at 500 feet and throttled back to 160 knots, with the aircraft depressurised and the rear cargo door down she commenced an exploratory run-in towards the submarine.

Sceptre rolled gently in the swell, she noted the smoke flare which was highly visible at the boat’s stern and indicating precisely what the surface winds were doing. Ships and boats, when not under power and left to their own devices usually end up facing into wind. Sceptre in this case was just about 15 degrees off so Amanda elected to make the capsule drop abeam the boat’s downwind side. She noted the four inflatables already in the water, still secured by lines to the big sub. Some of the men in the Zodiacs waved as the big airlifter thundered overhead. Nice, she thought, and here comes your special delivery!

The capsule away, the Herc gently banked for the run in for the first personnel drop. To be on the safe side, and the fact that there was little chance of detection out here, over a thousand kliks from the Falklands, she had elected to do it by peacetime standards and break the drops into three runs of four men in each. This way there would be less chance of the first and last men landing too far from the sub in view of the fact that there were only so many Zodiacs to retrieve her important cargo in the first place.

Going last, and having watched with growing anxiety, his men plummet into space before him, Gavin Woods braced himself for what would be his 375th drop. Still, despite this level of experience he always treated each one as he did his first, with great reservation and a thoroughness of planning that would dismay lesser ranks. Indeed, this was the primary difference between your bread and butter soldier and the special forces community.

Training, training and more training with a never ending culture of cross checking every factor of your kit, your own capability and every facet of the mission. Over a few beers one night one of his SAS compatriots had told him that the Regiment’s real motif was not ‘who dares wins’, but rather’ who prepares wins’. This he didn’t doubt for a moment and it was probably why he now had so many jumps to his name and was still around to tell the young lions how to do it.

The ready light illuminated and the group of four moved gingerly onto the ramp, trying to balance their considerable weight of kit against the buffeting of the airstream and the irregular movement of the aircraft. Woods glimpsed the bulk of Sceptre to his left and the loadmaster swung his arm down. Woods stepped forward, rolled and felt the chute take his load as the straps tugged fiercely at his shoulders. He swung for a few seconds in the chute, stabilised it, checked his position relative to the sub, the inflatables and the other three men. He had seven seconds to run through his chute release procedure and three seconds after completing this did just this as his feet broke the surface of the icy waters of the South Atlantic. Chute clear, life jacket inflated, he was again on the surface in a matter of seconds and over the swell thankfully noting a Zodiac almost about to run him down.

It was many minutes later that he was able to congratulate his men, hurriedly meet the boat’s commanding officers and most importantly quickly inspect the mini submersibles safely secured in their quick release cradles forward of the conning tower of the sub, which now seemed much larger than it appeared from the air.

That completed, Sceptre was rigged for diving and a flank speed run towards the Falklands. For Ritley, Walls and Phelps, the cavalry was hopefully on its way.


CHAPTER 17

General Edwardio Fernandez stared aimlessly out of the window at the evening’s drizzle.

‘Why can’t anything go normally?’ he asked aloud, almost to nobody in particular.

‘What do you mean sir?’ responded his deputy, Carlos Astiz.

‘Look at this Carlos’ as he gestured towards the view of the vast Mount Pleasant base.

‘Here we are, we’ve taken this place so easily after a generation of being terrified of it and what have we got - pandemonium!’

‘I can’t even organise something as simple and clear cut as a helicopter search and destroy mission without having it blow up in my face. Those bloody SAS bastards are still out there. Probably dozens of them. Hiding, just waiting to hit us at the crucial time and always watching us and reporting on what we are doing, where we are going, where our vulnerabilities are. I tell you Astiz, if we catch just one of them I am going to tear up his bloody Geneva Convention and make him tell me everything.’

Astiz thought it best to let his General vent his spleen a little. After all he was on the verge of going ballistic and that wouldn’t help anyone, particularly with the British fleet already halfway to the Malvinas. Intelligence had informed them just an hour earlier that the entire battle fleet was now at Ascension and would depart within 48 hours.

From then it would be just eight or nine days to reach the Islands which meant that their long range air strikes would begin at least two days earlier. Both men knew that within a fortnight the British fleet would be either at the bottom of the ocean or in Stanley harbour, Both men were new to war. Both had never felt pressure like they felt it now. This was beginning to feel entirely different to the many peacetime exercises they had participated in over many years as professional soldiers. In this there would be only winners and losers. This was war and right now Astiz knew that his commander was beginning to slowly crack.

The loss of the sub, for still unidentified reasons, though suspected to be an SAS action, the shootings in Stanley, that bloody little girl at the funeral, the phantom cameraman who they still hadn’t found, the now militant civilians, the loss of the Meko, the sub and the other ships and now one of their precious Chinooks down. And the battle hadn’t even properly begun.

Fernandez rapidly swung around facing his deputy, as if out of his trance like state.

‘Astiz, have BA approved our reinforcements?’

‘Yes sir. We’ve got a dozen more Kfirs coming in tomorrow and 20 Skyhawks the day after. The recce Lears are also moving in this afternoon and the Electras are now fully operational and able to support us from the mainland. The two additional 707 tankers are still in training in the north though should be ready to back up the others by the end of the week. replied Astiz, somewhat glad to at least see his boss re-enter the fray.

‘Alright, from first light initiate a broad coverage of long range recons out to 2000 kilometres to our north east. They wouldn’t be so silly to do it, but you never know, they just might send down a smaller force to test us out. If they do then they can be our entree.’ replied a cooler Fernandez.

‘I will also organise a ready alert of Exocet equipped Kfirs, just in case we find something though I couldn’t imagine even the Gringos being stupid enough to send down a small force. I mean, even with their massed carrier battle groups they won’t stand a full on attack from more than a hundred missiles.’

‘Correct Carlos, nobody would be that stupid, but we must be ready all the same, you never know what tomorrow holds.’

 

The mood in the war room at the Casa Rosada had turned more solemn as the days had passed. Gone was the euphoria of the first week. Replaced instead by some serious though very inward self doubting.

The events of the past week hadn’t helped. It was now clear that the British well and truly controlled the seas around the Malvinas while it also appeared that the SAS presence on the Islands was greater than first expected. There was also the annoyance of the mystery cameraman, or woman, who had done so much to turn world opinion against Argentina at a time when it had initially fared better in the UN than the men in the war room had hoped when the invasion was launched just five weeks earlier.

Moreno had stuck to his guns in terms of not wishing to enter into direct man to man dialog with the British Prime Minister. His reckoning was that if this occurred then it would only focus any conciliatory move on Argentina’s part on him personally, something he believed would be perceived by his people as a form of defeat. He knew they had the military power to withstand a British naval attack and that any engagement of this type would cost the attackers dearly. Their ships were well armed but still vulnerable to his missiles and a very long way from home. The British public simply wouldn’t accept such losses and call for an end to hostilities on Argentina’s terms.

He also knew that the potential wealth of the Malvinas should and must be in Argentina’s rightful hands. He knew that any negotiations with the British would have seen some form of sharing implemented which would have made the entire operation pointless in the first place.

Foreign Minister Alvirez and at times his own deputy, Alberto Molteni, had suggested that this wasn’t such a bad option if it stopped the bloodshed that was now an inevitability. This was the Anglaise way he had chided them, give in and negotiate a little here and there and before too long you have given away everything of value. Look at the Irish, he would say, they’ve been screwed by the British for centuries and they’ve got nothing. No, the Malvinas are ours and they’re going to remain ours and the British are going to pay for their sins of ’82.

 

HMS Sceptre idled along at barely three knots, her multi facetted navigation display placing her just six kilometres off the northern coast of Pebble Island.

The only other maritime contacts her sophisticated sensors had tracked were that of a Trafalgar class SSN several hours earlier. Northwood had informed Sceptre’s commanding officer that both Torbay and Tireless would ‘cleanse’ the area prior to her arrival though the plan was then considered that it would be best for the two Trafalgars to stand clear in case the presence of more submarines in a given area should betray their presence.

Woods and his men were ready and raring to go. They had each enjoyed a good ‘night’s’ sleep on the submarine and now it was time for their first team of four to enter the hatch, flood it and depart the mother sub to mount their submersible and navigate it carefully to their assigned landfall at Sturgess Point at the eastern end of Pebble Island.

Corporal Adam Thomas was commanding this cell of four, though like the SAS, command was really a joint venture between mostly equally qualified and capable men. Thomas and his men carefully climbed the ladder, passing their kit into the dry escape compartment that would be sealed and flooded once they were ready. That done they updated their GPS units with Sceptre’s master navigation computer, flooded the small compartment and readied to open the large hatch above them that would take them out into the hostile world of the South Atlantic.

At a depth of just 30 feet the huge submarine wallowed gently in the swell. Thomas and his men were thankful that the weather was calm and even more thankful for the met forecast that indicated rain showers and low cloud for at least another two days. A quick scan via the boat's’ periscope just before departure also verified that the visibility above the boat was as predicted, terrible, and that Mother Nature had well and truly decided to play on their side this round.

As the compartment flooded, Thomas checked his watch. It was presently around one hour before nightfall. The transit should take them about three hours which would give them a solid six or seven hours to get established in their dual hides atop the small hills at the end of the island. From here they would be able to observe everything that occurred on the island and also report on any high altitude air activity as Pebble was generally on the flightpath of most mainland to Island air traffic. Using satellite imagery from the US KH-11 Big Bird recce satellite tens of thousands of kilometres out in space, they were able to digitise maps and GPS co-ordinates precisely to ensure they could navigate their small undersea craft precisely through the Tamar Pass directly to their drop off point. The submersible would then be left to settle on the bottom in about 30 feet of water ready for re-use if necessary. While they would have to carry ashore one set of aqualungs, at least the rest could remain with the craft, theoretically safe and hidden from any enemy patrols.

The flooding complete, Thomas opened the hatch and led his men one by one out into the gloom of the cold ocean. No matter how many times they had practised this it was always considered a high intensity mission. Whilst the scenario was simple, the application of the technology still was fraught with danger and now there was the added pressure brought on by the simple fact that this was for real and not just another exercise that would end up in a debriefing room if you stuffed it up. Thomas could feel the blood racing through his veins, his heart thumping, not just to keep the icy chill of the ocean at bay but to provide his brain with the blood flow needed for the dozens of decisions and calculations that he and his small team would have to make in the hours ahead.

Each of the four men took their positions at the four clamps that held submersible 01 captive to its mother. The clamps released as advertised and the five metre torpedo like device became slightly buoyant, now for the first time in weeks, acting independently of Sceptre. Thomas activated the electrics and was relieved to see the small panel of nav and motor parameter displays come to life. All in the green, he carefully pressed the shielded starter button and felt the device come alive, its propulsor giving one quick spin to indicate that the shaft was free and ready to go. The four men looked at each other, each giving a thumbs up, more for tradition than anything, took their positions astride the device and motored off into the blackness, slowly ascending to just 20 feel below the waves.

Thomas, as commanding officer, guided the submersible forwards along an invisible line of preset GPS co-ordinates derived from the satellite and naval charts as the best and safest option for completing this 35 kilometre voyage. The next hour or so would be fairly relaxed, unless of course their mount developed a problem, they then would be forced to abandon much of their kit and do their best to try for land, and then, well who knows. Not that it mattered really, each man knew clearly from the start that the currents in this area at this time of year would preclude even the strongest swimmer making it ashore from anything more than a kilometres or so offshore. In this instance capture and internment by the enemy would be considered a luxury outcome!

The hours passed quickly, each man being thankful for his immersion suit as the water temperature was just a few degrees above freezing. They entered the Tamar Pass slowly and Thomas throttled back to bring the small craft up to the surface. The submersible had a small array of sensors designed to detect the sound waves of propellors. Even an outboard at half power could, in ideal circumstances be detected at 10 kilometres, and this was being used now to ensure that there were no surprises atop when the four men gently broached the surface, albeit still a kilometre from the nearest landfall and in the dark and drizzle.

Thomas and his men were relieved that their GPS based nav unit had worked precisely as designed. They quickly looked about and each mentally knew from hours of studying the maps of the area, just where they were. They could see their final destination well ahead and to the right and noted that they appeared to be alone. There was no sign of light from the shore or human activity of any sort though it had stopped raining.

Thomas gave a quick scan with the waterproofed night vision glasses, couldn’t see anything threatening and gave a small wave forward indicating that it was back to the depths. With that the four men slowly disappeared from view and proceeded onwards at four knots. In one hour they would be ashore and in an even more dangerous environment.

 

Daniel Baeza thought that this was his lucky day.

Despite the doubling of his workload since the invasion he was still considered just a humble public servant with a fairly routine and mostly boring job.

His job was not considered as secondary though by those at the receiving end of his task. Indeed, as the chief officer of what was the primary cell that controlled the bulk of the military’s stores inventory and dispatch system, Baeza held a post of greater importance than he normally considered or few of his peers gave him credit for.

This day though had gone well and he was ready for a little light relief, after all it was lunch time anyway and the workload had declined somewhat since the ships had been kept in port due to the submarine threat.

To Baeza’s surprise, and pleasure, he had received a test game disk in the morning’s mail. Jet Fighter III, a new game for the 21st Century, it said on the disk and in the colourful handbook that came with the trial package. Even more exciting to the techno nerd Baeza was that his opinion was being sought by the game’s manufacturers on what he thought of the game.

A lengthy evaluation sheet was enclosed and the promise of being in the draw for a Caribbean cruise if he should return it within the month. No time to waste, contemplated Daniel Baeza, as he inserted the first of three disks into his personal computer which was one of dozens in the facility networked directly to Logistic Command’s powerful mainframe located downstairs in the vast depths of the Condor Building in suburban Buenos Aires.

His screens came alive with the fairly straightforward loading instructions. No problems, graphics quickly appeared, jet fighters, Tomcats and Hornets he recognised aceing Russian Sukhois and MiGs. Great stuff, shame they didn’t have a local version with Kfirs smoking Sea Harriers, maybe he would add that to the suggestion list, Daniel thought as he progressed through the quick tutorial to initiate the first action in what looked like a pretty impressive and exciting piece of software.

And impressive and exciting indeed it was. What young Daniel didn’t realise was that within five minutes of joining battle via his new found toy he had set in place a catastrophic virus that was programmed to rearrange numbers. Sevens would become fours, fours would become eights, twos would become nines and so forth. He wasn’t to know this of course, nor was anyone else for days.

It had just seemed incredible that the entire stores supply system of all three branches of the Argentine armed forces had gone haywire in a matter of hours. Almost as strange and cataclysmic as what was happening over at the Foreign Trade Ministry where the entire stock market was being rearranged in value seemingly by the minute. Even the State Rail system was reverting to manual as their automated signalling equipment began to slowly degrade.

Daniel Baeza didn’t know it but in stark contrast to the highly automated computer controlled data processing centres of Argentina, Operation Omega had just begun to move into its accelerative phase.

 

Trooper Peter Phelps never for a moment thought that this would be easy but right now he was depressed at just how hard it actually was.

Indeed, his worst private fears were being realised as he trekked remorselessly across the bleak moor like plains to the immediate north of Mount Smoke. He couldn’t see it through the mist and light rain but a few kilometres to his right was Mount Kent and not far beyond that Stanley township itself.

He momentarily thought of the town, of the bars that he and the others would frequent and his favourite the well patronised Hero of Sheffield with its jocular host whose name he had momentarily forgotten. Bloody hell this was hard, he thought as he plodded on taking note of his surroundings every few moments and trying to remain vigilant for any sign of human activity.

His greatest fear was being put to the test and deep down he knew it was a losing battle. He had left the sanctuary of the hide less than four hours earlier and yet here he was, around eight kilometres distant and already suffering an advanced stage of fatigue. All of the men had voiced their concerns about the length of time they had been holed up in their hides and the fact that ultimately they would have to make a daring break for it to avoid capture.

Each had worried aloud about the overall deterioration in their personal level of physical stamina through sheer lack of regular exercise. They had, when circumstances permitted, been able to leave the hide to do push ups and some running on the spot but this meant little when you had to embark on a 90 kilometre march laboured down with 40kg of kit.

It was almost dark and Phelps knew this was no time to relax, he simply had to keep going due as much as anything to the fact that met had reported that this weather was due to begin clearing in probably less than a day and if he was caught out here in the relative open in clear weather then he would be finished. Phelps plodded on, slowly realising that he was beginning to drop his guard, not take as much time and care surveying the distance through his glasses and in fact just trying hard not to fall down and go to sleep on the soft and beckoning peat grass.

After half an hour he could spy the distant outline of what would be Estancia House. He would have to pass a kilometre to the east of this and then travel north along the narrow landmass that separated the vast reaches of Berkeley Sound to the east and Port Salvador to the west. This would be the most dangerous part of the trek for he knew that any Argentines transiting northwards would also be using a similar route. If he was to meet enemy resistance it would most probably be here.

He plodded on, alone and out of breath when he stumbled upon a rocky hillock about two kilometres south of Estancia House itself. It was dark now and there were no signs of movement anywhere. The dank and miserable weather had done its trick in keeping his likely pursuers indoors. He also knew that if he didn’t get just an hour’s kip he wouldn’t make it through the night. His legs needed a respite and he needed a brew and so he stumbled onwards to what turned out to be an ideal hiding position in the rocks. Trooper Peter Phelps removed his bergen, checked his weapons and quickly downed a brew and some snack bars while quickly checking in with Ritley. He checked his surroundings once more, confirmed all was clear and put his head down for one hour’s kip.

 

He felt movement and a sharp kick in his side, was it a part of the dream, no, one side of his brain was telling him, this is for real, while the other side said ‘don’t worry’. A second later though his involuntary muscles took control and the SAS soldier reared up, inwardly realising something was wrong and what was happening was most definitely real.

Trooper Peter Phelps looked up into the gloom of dawn, into the faces of men, many men, men pointing guns at him and shouting in Spanish. He took a deep breath and shut his eyes in shame.

It transpired that not long after he had dozed off a herd of sheep had discovered him. A talent of sheep is that they can be inquisitive, particularly if they can smell foreign odours such as food. Goats had been a constant source of annoyance to the special forces units in Iraq during the Gulf War. Almost wherever operatives would camp or hide they would eventually attract a herd of goats and ultimately a goat herder. Iraqi goat herders would almost always be hostile, Falklanders never though in this case several Argentine commandoes from the SOE, camped at Estancia House, had seen the sheep congregating near the rocky outcrop on a nearby hilltop. Contemplating a lamb casserole they simply trudged up the hill to take what they wanted and in this case got quite a surprise to find an exhausted member of the enemy’s very elite at their mercy.

Without further ado he was tied and hauled into the back of a truck for the short drive to Mount Pleasant. There wasn’t much he could do now except try and escape if the opportunity got even remotely viable. He knew they knew precisely who he was, there was no point in trying to fudge that with a cover story.

After all, they had been trying to hunt him and his compatriots for days and now he had been captured when he obviously slept well beyond the one hour he had set the small clip-on alarm for. As the truck bounced over the dirt road he began to feel the first waves of disappoint, shame and guilt at having let the traditions of the Regiment down. They needed his intel up north, he wasn’t sure why but he had an idea and he knew that they would need him there as a matter of crucial importance.

Now his mission had ended and it would only serve to intensify the pressure on capturing Walls and Ritley. Phelps looked into the curious eyes of the five men guarding him in the back of the lorry and wondered what lay ahead.

 

About the time Special Boat Squadron corporal Adam Thomas and his team were digging their laying up points west of the airstrip and settlement at Pebble Island, the operation’s second and third units were deployed and heading towards their objectives. Within hours their commander would also be in the water and by that evening all of them would be firmly holed up and fully operational. Coincidentally that was also about the time that met had forecast that the extreme low pressure area from the south would depart their area, taking its mist, drizzle and low cloud with it.

About the time the first rays of sunshine again basked upon East Falkland Peter Phelps was arriving at Mount Pleasant to confront his new destiny. Taken from the truck directly to the two cell military lock-up on the base, he was stripped and hosed down with tepid water and given soap to get himself respectable. Phelps thought this odd and wasn’t what he expected though realised then how much he must have smelt. Indeed it may have been this that initially attracted the sheep herd.

He had to stifle a laugh when he realised that it must have been his terrible personal stench that had probably kept his captors from working him over earlier. Not surprising considering that he hadn’t been able to have a proper wash for over a month and his gear was as it was the night of the invasion. Special forces people work hard at keeping ‘sterile’ while on ops but there is only so much you can do if you are out in the field for more than a few days at a time. Still it was wonderful to wash with running water and real soap.

This made him feel better and he realised that the kip he did get and the wash and change of clothes into a nondescript though clean set of army issue pants and shirt had done a lot to help him get his head together. Name, rank and serial number was all they were going to get from him, after all he didn’t really know anything of importance anyway apart from the simple fact that about a week from now they all were going to get their arses kicked!

Don’t upset them, he had to be the grey man, not to arouse passions and to make them feel pity for the defeated and captured warrior. If it kept him alive for the coming weeks then he would have to take all they threw at him. If he goaded them he was as good as finished.

 

General Edwardio Fernandez screamed with delight when he heard that one of the SAS bandits had been captured.

The troop that had delivered this grand prize were already enjoying their reward of captured wine and brandy from the British canteen. In fact Fernandez had announced their great success over the field comms channel and put forward the challenge for every unit to get active now that the weather was clearing. Their reward awaited them here at the base and would have proven a real incentive given the bland and irregular supply of food to some of the more outlying firebases.

When he entered the interrogation room he found his prisoner sitting in a chair wearing only his underwear. Phelps’s hands were tied behind his back and secured to the back of the chair, his feet were similarly restrained and another restraint ran around his waist, securing him to the chair. He felt his heartbeat rise as the sound of heavy footsteps approached and his two heavily armed guards whispered something to each other in Spanish with fearful expressions on their faces.

He thought back to the interrogation training they had received at Hereford in the final stage of Selection. He had almost failed that through not being canny enough. Indeed he had learnt much from that experience and even more from a review follow up prior to going operational in Bosnia back in ’95. He didn’t know what awaited him but did know that he could hack it, besides he realistically had no choice.

Fernandez stopped at the open door, took in the sight of his imprisoned enemy and savoured the moment. The two guards stood briefly at attention and saluted their commander while his entourage of three senior officers looked on in interest.

‘So this is the great SAS warrior.’ Fernandez said sarcastically and slowly, looking deep into Phelps’ expressionless eyes.

‘Seems we need to have a little talk senor Phelps.’

‘Seems your friends in the hills have been running around creating havoc. Probably a lot of fun for you but not much fun for me.’

Now, I need to know some things, and I am being very polite here. I need to know how many of you there are, where they are and if more are coming. Now, I know you won’t really want to tell me all that but I offer you a simple choice as quite frankly I don’t have time, senor Phelps, to waste. You can either truthfully answer my questions or I will kill you personally. Do you comprehend?’

Phelps remained expressionless, trying hard if anything to look meek and insecure, the exact opposite to what he believed this man, obviously their commanding officer, would have expected. Fernandez’s words had hit home though and he had little reason to think this man was bluffing, a fear betrayed as real by the fearful expression of the two guards and one or two of the senior officers now standing behind their commander.

‘Well, have you anything to say?’

Phelps slowly repeated his name, rank and serial number and in the politest term possible stated that that was all he had to divulge under the terms of the Geneva Convention.

‘Ah! The Geneva Convention, yes senor Phelps I am well aware of that. But to be frank you are not an average soldier, you and your friends have killed a great deal, many of my people, my men senor Phelps. I tell you now that your Geneva Convention means nothing, absolutely nothing to me.’

Fernandez had moved closer, his face just half a metre or so from his captor’s. Phelps could see the intensity of hatred in the man’s eyes and of greater concern, something else, insanity. He didn’t think that Fernandez had it all together, that he was likely to simply pull out a gun and shoot him for effect if he got sufficiently agitated. This survival thing wasn’t going to be easy, he thought.

‘All right senor Phelps, let’s try some simple questions. If you tell me all the answers you will not only survive but will be looked after. Now that’s better than the alternative, isn’t it, and besides I am going to find out everything eventually anyway, aren’t I senor Phelps?’

‘Now tell me how many of you were there originally out there?’

Phelps held his breath for a moment and slowly stated ‘My name is trooper Peter Phelps.....

He only had to wait a few seconds before feeling the impact of the baton that Fernandez had been holding in his right hand. He felt a wall of pain across his scalp and an intense ringing in his ears as his nerve centres tried to cope with the avalanche of pain.

‘Now, let us try that one again, shall we senor Phelps?’

‘How many of you were there?’

‘My name is.....

Again the baton found its mark, this time smashing into his jaw and cracking several teeth in the process. Phelps fought against the intense pain and spat out the blood and dribble that was now gagging him. Fernandez leaned forward and gently tapped the baton against the bruised jaw, sneering as Phelps winced in agony with every tap.

‘Now, we shall go on asking simple questions till I get simple answers senor Phelps. Whenever you refuse to answer I will hit you with this baton. Now let’s see, You have your face, your hands, your feet your shins, ribs and of course your knees. You can’t do much without them, can you senor Phelps?’

‘Now, how many of you were there?’

‘My name is.....

This time the blow carried even more power than the first two and smashed into the side of Phelp’s face just above his jaw. He felt nauseous and realised that blood was invading his left eyeball, his vision going and his body beginning to heave he felt the agony dim for just a moment before his vision faded to grey, then nothing.

Fernandez was furious and shouted abuse at the captive soldier.

‘Clean him up and keep him tied up, I will be back later and he’d better talk.’

With that Fernandez stormed out of the room and back towards the operations centre. His intense focus on the moment only distracted for a second by the sight of one of the newly arrived Learjets screaming out on its first long range recce.


CHAPTER 18

Capitan Juan Alvires steered his Learjet north eastward towards search quadrant four, a ten thousand square kilometre box of ocean that sometime soon would play host to a massive armada from the other side of the world. With the Lear established in its routine search patrol nearly a thousand kilometres from the Malvinas, Alvires wasn’t long in finding trade.

‘Surface target bearing two two zero, range one six zero kilometres, appears destroyer size ship,’ reported radar operator Miguel Sanchez with enthusiasm.

A stab of anxiety swept down Alvires’s spine in anticipation of what they had waited for so long - contact with the enemy. ‘Steer one one zero, we should be visual in around six minutes,’ reported Sanchez over the intercom, even though he was a mere two metres from both pilots.

The graceful Lear 35, which in another life may have been transporting business executives from one major deal to the next, was now a weapon of war and going into combat for the first time, not with weapons but with the crucial information that it was about to relay back to operational command at Mount Pleasant. To this effect, Alvires quickly reported his position and intercept heading to op command who no doubt would now follow his every move with increasing interest.

‘Eight kilometres, should be visual any moment.’ Stated Sanchez in a cooler voice than before.

From 40,000 feet the Lear would have been virtually invisible to the naked eye from the ground. However in the combat information centre of HMS York, a Type 42 destroyer of forty one hundred tonnes, the aircraft had been relentlessly tracked for the past half hour, its radar return displaying its type, heading, altitude and speed. In fact, all the information that the destroyer’s anti air warfare suite of surface-to-air weapons would need to ensure that York would remain an operational surface combatant rather than merely becoming a target of opportunity for somebody else’s air force.

There was no immediate threat from the Lear as it carried no weapons. However, Commander Eric Skinner, York’s captain, was in no uncertain mind about his plans. His specific orders were to enter the Argentine Exclusion Zone and approach Stanley to within at least 200 kilometres if possible to ascertain the Argentine response and to gather as much electronic intelligence as he could. If he fired one of his Sea Dart long range surface-to-air missiles he would probably take out the Lear and trigger a response that would seal the fate of the entire operation. On the other hand, to let it pass unhindered on its road to knowledge would be to play a sitting duck for what might come next. The best thing would be to loose off a few well aimed rounds from the ship’s 114mm Vickers gun. To this end the normally surface action gun had in the past quarter hour been loaded with high altitude flak type shells for this specific purpose for a sort of aeronautical shot across the bows. From the Lear, York appeared like a mere toy upon an angry sea. The weather was getting up and white horses were rapidly building as the final gales of winter made their presence felt. Alvires looked down in fascination at his first sight of the enemy, though it was difficult to think of them in this way despite the after effects of 1982. The British always seemed so civilised, so beloved of their cup of tea, gin and tonic and Sunday roast - so predictably conservative. And yet, here they were, the first ship of no doubt many, coming once more to dislodge him and his countrymen from their Islas Malvinas.

‘Royal Navy ship, appears to be a destroyer, heading two two zero moderate speed, one one three four kilometres east nor east of Stanley,’ reported Alvires to command. The Lear's surveillance radar was picking up no other traffic in the area of its electronic eye indicating that the ship was thankfully alone in this vast panorama of ocean. ‘Continue with patrol, search for any other ships in trail of your contact, report as scheduled,’ came the response from Stanley.

The Lear banked gently to resume its preplanned search track when suddenly a thunderous noise and vibration racked the sleek jet. Several thousand feet below and to starboard were the explosions of anti aircraft shells. Fortunately well out of range but unnerving still the same. Alvires slammed the throttles forward and dropped the nose slightly to take the jet past 500 knots in an effort to clear the area as swiftly as possible. The explosions were quickly left astern and the Lear carried on with its mission with York soon out of sight, alone, in a brooding and unforgiving sea.

‘Searcher One to MPA, RN ship has fired upon us with triple A, no damage, now well out of range, continuing mission as planned, no missiles fired, over and out.’ Alvirez stated coolly over the radio, feeling anything but calm. They say the first time you are shot at is the worst, and the three men in that little jet that afternoon could certainly testify to that theory being one hundred and ten percent correct.

Aboard York, tension was building slowly in the expectation that a lot more than this would cross their path as the day wore on. Something that would indeed prove to be an understatement.

‘Notify Northwood of the contact, full details, response, etc, send it on the scrambler at once.’ Skinner told his First Lieutenant.

He knew the Lear would be on its regular recce run and that it would not turn up any other contacts during its mission. The thing was, it was heading north east, away from York and still thousands of kilometres away from the nearest British surface ship that was traveling south this day. York was not alone though, and that was the only thing that was making Eric Skinner feel a little more confident about this entire operation, an operation that he really deep down doubted the wisdom of mounting.

 

Back in the Malvinas things were moving. Gruppo 8 was at briefing with three of its best pilots ready for their first hostile mission. York had been declared hostile as it had fired upon the Lear. It apparently occurring to none of the analysts in op command that perhaps it was impossible to hit an aircraft at that altitude with a mere gun and that the vessel's Sea Dart long range surface-to-air missile system would have easily snared its foe with a single round.

The unit, the command and the generals were ready for a show of strength, to demonstrate from the outset that any British ship that came within a thousand kilometres of Islas Malvinas would pay a very heavy price. This was not 1982 and this time the game would be played differently. Ramon Mendez was to lead his flight of three Kfirs into battle, each armed with a single French AM.39 Exocet air-to-surface anti shipping missile. At 38 years of age Mendez was a wily veteran of the‘82 war when as a very young Flight Lieutenant he survived nine missions off Goose Green, Pebble Island, Bluff Cove and the dreaded flak alley - San Carlos Water.

On one mission he put a 5001b bomb squarely into a British destroyer only to note with anger and frustration that it did not explode as expected. On his final mission his little Skyhawk had been hit extensively by gunfire and with an overheating engine and leaking fuel tanks he limped home to Rio Gallegos only to be forced to eject over the beach as the engine finally seized. This time it would be different.

His wingmen on this important mission would be Michel Alarn and Hector Jugo. Jugo was the younger of the two men. He was quiet by nature, deeply intent and a very promising pilot for a lad of just 22 years of age. His excellent performance at the flight academy and thereafter at the fighter combat school had won him a combat seat first class in the much revered Kfir rather than the lesser performing Skyhawk, Dagger or Mirage.

While Jugo wore his achievements with professional pride and a notable air of cool, he was at this moment agitated, scared and somewhat overwhelmed by the tension of the moment as the briefing unfolded on how they were going to launch the first major attack against an element of the British fleet.

Michel Alarn was made of cooler stuff, at just over 30 he had flown Kfirs for the three years that Argentina had possessed them, Daggers before that and was generally considered as one of the best around. The two older men were long time friends and treated the young Jugo as their understudy.

The brief was carefully outlined by Mendez with every minute detail noted by the other two pilots, the intelligence officers and the unit commander and his admin assistants.

‘Okay, we are a three ship element departing Mount Pleasant at 13:50 hours local. The expected position of The enemy ship is at this point, about 1100 kilometres from base. We will take off singularly at ten second intervals, form up in a wide delta formation and then we will use our radars to pinpoint the ship once reaching the initial point here, about 50 kliks from where the target should be,’ Mendez stated, all the time using his long pointer to tap points of note on the large area of operations map that stood behind him.

‘The Lear will be coming back into the target area from the north east at that time but will stay well to the east of York so as to avoid its defensive weapons. It may well be able to give us a precise location prior to we ourselves finding it. Either way be aware that this ship will have us on radar long before we find it. Malvinas radar, at Mount Kent near Stanley will of course only be able to track us out to around 300 kilometres or about a third of the distance to the target area.

‘Fuel is our biggest concern. We will carry two 1700 litre underwing tanks and a single centreline tank of 1300 litres, an Exocet, plus full internal fuel. That should easily get us straight there and back at best economy cruise at high altitude. If we get delayed more than about a quarter hour or the winds change greatly from what is forecast then we may have to abort or run the risk of running dry before reaching home. This is paramount gentlemen, if we haven’t got two thirds fuel remaining at this point,’

Mendez tapped the map just to the west of the expected target area, ’then we go home, the ship will still be there tomorrow and most importantly so will we.

‘We were expecting to have a 707 tanker from Santa Cruz meet us here, midway between the target area and home on the inbound leg but as of an hour ago it went unserviceable with a damaged fan blade. It is being repaired poste haste but we can't plan it into our mission although we hope that it can still make it.’

On this point Mendez felt uneasy. He and his men really needed tanker support for this mission. He had argued heatedly with the Malvinas Commander, General Edwardio Fernandez, on this earlier but to no avail.

Fernandez needed a quick ‘kill’ to impress his cronies at the Condor Building in BA and was eager for action. Mendez on the other hand knew that this was placing his aircraft, as good as they were, at the very limits of their tactical endurance, while it was obvious the British ship wasn’t going to go away or simply disappear anytime soon. Every hour would bring York about 40 kilometres closer and assuredly into the waiting clutches of the FAA. If the mission was postponed by just four hours it would make a significant difference and the lack of a tanker wouldn’t be such a problem. His rational argument however had disappointingly fallen upon deaf ears.

‘On detecting the ship we will descend and launch our Exocets so that missile approach will be made from three different angles. I will program for an abeam shot, Hector will take it from the front quarter and Michel from the rear. We will simultaneously launch from 25,000ft. The Exocets range of 50 kilometres should be sufficient to keep us beyond the defensive envelope of the ship’s Sea Darts, which have a non elevated range of around 40 kilometres. As there is no air threat I feel this is the safest option for our attack this afternoon. Far better than going in at low level, burning a lot of extra fuel and risking getting within Sea Dart range on the egress.

‘However our need to illuminate the target for the first minute of the attack may take us perilously close so be aware that as soon as we have hit the ship we must break hard and get out of there. Don't under any circumstances expect the British to be asleep, they will fight back with everything they've got and more, believe me.

'Any questions?'

The small but attentive audience was silent. This was for real and a lot of cold unforgiving ocean would pass beneath their wings this afternoon before they re-entered this warm and comfortable room again. The thought was not lost on any of them as they left briefing, suited up and walked to dispersal where the three aircraft were ready and awaiting the humans that would turn them from mere mindless machines of metal, plastic and microchips to raging beasts of war.

The three Kfirs screamed out of Mount Pleasant precisely on schedule at 13:50 hours, with hundreds of waving, cheering ground crew and technicians sending them off to what they hoped would be a victorious mission to restore Argentine pride from the ashes of the debacle of 1982. Thirty kilometres clear of land the three delta winged fighters formed up in their loose formation. Close enough to feel as one in this vast empty sky but sufficiently clear of each other to enable their pilots to be able to monitor their gauges, radar and sensors carefully without having to fear about drifting too close to one another.

Speed pegged at a fuel miserly 440 knots, the nav attack computer told each of them that they were 820 kilometres distant from their base and rapidly approaching their PNR or point of no return. Mendez checked his nav computer which told him that he was sufficiently above the preset fuel margin to begin breathing again. His wingmen concurred, the mission was a 'go'.

They would very soon be at a point where they should be able to locate York on their radar. Suddenly the still airwaves crackled with the welcome voice of Capitan Alvires in the recce Learjet, about three hundred kilometres to the east.

’Searcher 1 to Blue Flight, your target is heading two one zero, estimate one six knots, we are seven zero kliks to the east and holding, will depart to the south then home following your attack, our endurance one two eight minutes,' reported Alvires Mendez responded and steered the flight a few degrees to the south to cut the corner of their rendezvous with the enemy. One hundred and twenty eight minutes fuel remaining, that was cutting it pretty fine for the Lear in terms of available fuel reserves, pondered Mendez to himself. It did not surprise him to realise that they wouldn't be the only ones this afternoon that might arrive back at base on vapour.

Almost as if reading his thoughts, MPA radio advised that the 707 was still down and not expected to be operational for at least another hour and that the other tankers were preoccupied with training commitments in the north. That meant that they could basically scrub the thought of meeting the tanker on the homeward leg. It was at least an 80 minute flight from Santa Cruz to the rendezvous point and, well, that just didn't compute.

Maybe he should have demanded a delay in launching the mission for an hour or two until they had guaranteed tanker support. Oh well, too late now, mused Mendez to himself as he glimpsed the distant fury of the South Atlantic's white horses far below and quickly banished the thought from his mind.

Instantly his radar burst into life with a firm contact in its right top quadrant, the readout stated a sizeable surface target at a range of 100 kilometres and closing rapidly.

'Blue Flight go active, final checks, begin descent to two five. Team, this is it, get it right, good luck.’

The formation split apart to assume their launch positions. To avoid the Sea Darts they would launch at the maximum possible altitude profile for the Exocet, 25,000ft, and at maximum range, just under 50 kilometres. The missiles would have to go in virtually straight without the tactical advantage of being able to jink and evade through their last dozen kilometres or have the luxury of flying a random course to avoid York’s Sea Wolf close-in missiles and the deadly Vulcan Phalanx gatling cannon. Both weapons were classed as excellent and the three pilots knew that not every missile would get through the protective curtain this afternoon. Yet if just one did then York would to all intents and purposes cease to be classed as a fighting ship, if indeed it was left afloat at all. Range 55km, the radar warning receiver on each of the Kfirs was growling its verbal warning that they had been locked up by York’s acquisition radar and that the Sea Darts were primed to fire at first opportunity, which at this heading would be in less than half a minute.

Aboard York, deep in the combat information centre, amidships of the destroyer, Commander Skinner could feel the tension building. He was not alone though. Every member of the ship's 264 crew knew what was at stake. They each didn't have to be told that the inbound fighters would almost certainly be carrying Exocets and that this most definitely wasn’t 1982. These fighters were on a ship killing mission, simple as that. All of them remembered well the fate that befell HMS Sheffield, a sistership to York, and the container ship Atlantic Conveyor. Only this time they also knew that they were alone in a cold and unfriendly sea that could offer them little succour if they were forced to embrace it.

‘Go active on all defensive systems, prepare to launch chaff and commence full electronic countermeasures, launch the Nulka decoy and inform Northwood immediately that we are under attack, barked Skinner to the CIC team who instantly flew into action.

Though the Argentines hadn't fired yet they had electronically lit up the ship with their own attack radars, modern warfare’s version of pointing a gun at somebody else’s head and an unequivocal declaration of hostile intent.

’Launch, now,’ barked Mendez into his intercom.

‘Missile away,’ came the response from his compatriots He watched fascinated for a split second as the gleaming white missile soared forwards before arcing down towards its terminal destiny with oblivion.

Now was the tricky part, the Kfirs reduced power to slow so as to theoretically keep outside York’s zone of lethality, which they all knew was much closer than they would have liked whilst staying long enough to see if their missiles had guided properly.

Aboard York, the tension increased with the radar plot steadily tracking three missiles inbound, identified most definitely as Exocets with an impact time of less than three minutes. The missiles were diving at over 600 knots on their downhill run, soon they would be skimming the waves boring in relentlessly at just below the speed of sound.

'Nulka in position, sir' barked a lieutenant from the CIC countermeasures team.

‘ECM in full warbling mode, chaff cloud astern and blooming, all systems operational, sir’ responded another voice.

‘Sea Wolf and Phalanx uncaged, sir’ came another.

‘Prepare for possible missile impact, time till impact?’

‘Sixty four seconds sir’, replied a cool but inwardly tense lieutenant.

'Okay, this isn’t an exercise, this is the real thing, this is what we have relentlessly trained for month after month, year after year. We have done well before and we will all do well now, each of you are the finest in this navy. Good luck.’

Commander Skinner was always considered a crew's man and his firm but sensible words of reassurance over the ship's PA succeeded in taking a little of the weight off every man's shoulders aboard York that afternoon alone and so far from home. Generally speaking though, this combat wasn’t so much about men, but about the electronic brain within the slender nose of each incoming Exocet, and about the ability of the Kfirs’ powerful radars to keep their missiles illuminated so they could ‘see’ their prey long enough before their own smaller units could take over the task they were created for.

It was also about the incredible Australian developed Nulka, a hovering rocket decoy that at this moment had taken up station two hundred metres astern of York as she had gone to full power and begun an evasive maneuver pattern that would hopefully give it some small measure of agility that perhaps the Exocet couldn’t cope with. Just as marvelous was the Vulcan phalanx, an American designed six barrel gatling cannon built by General Electric that could fire theoretically 6000 rounds of ultra hardened depleted uranium 20mm shells at targets as small as a football with a reasonable degree of certainty that the bulk of the airframe of the inbound missile would be destroyed prior to reaching the ship. Similarly the British Aerospace Sea Wolf was a close-in missile, a last ditch defence designed to operate just beyond the perimeter of the Phalanx rotary cannon.

All these things would have quickly passed through the crews minds at this moment and many times before as they practiced for war with their NATO compatriots. Only this time it was different, the enemy was real and his missiles were coming their way for no other reason than to kill them.

‘Kfirs nearly within Sea Dart range, approve firing solution as available, sir,’ barked the CIC team leader.

‘Approved,’ responded Skinner.

‘Twenty five seconds, sir.’

The ship momentarily trembled as the first two Sea Wolfs launched from their canisters, followed three seconds later by a further two. The clock was running.

‘Missiles guiding and locked on,’ yelled Hector Jugo Into his mouthpiece some 40 kilometres distant and eight kliks above York.

‘Copy,’ responded Mendez almost before his junior wingman had finished.

Down below, the four Sea Wolfs vectored in on their adversaries, a battle of the microchips as each missile's tiny computer made hundreds of calculations a second before all of them would end their brief lives as terminal masses of molten metal.

With audible relief the crew noted that the northern most Exocet had successfully been seduced off York by the electronic delights of the hovering Nulka, the Exocet believing that it had in fact locked onto another primary target instead of an expendable drone.’

The other two Exocets however were solidly lit up on the frigate's rapidly emerging steel hull, now coming at them at more than a thousand kilometres an hour and just a few seconds distant. The second Sea Wolf dived upon the midships targeted Exocet exploding it in a wall of foaming water just as the Phalanx opened up on the radar image this solid image projected to its cyclops brain. The explosion also fudged the guidance systems of the other three Sea Wolfs. Number one impacted just astern of the doomed Exocet while three had gone ballistic and four had gone for the same water spout that had confused the Phalanx.

‘Launch multiple Sea Dart, now,’ barked the CIC team leader just as the sole remaining Exocet impacted the forward hull of the Royal Navy destroyer.

As if in slow motion, the sleek missile effortlessly tore through the soft side of the destroyer, penetrating deep into the forward Vickers gun compartment and exploding. The massive overpressure in the confined space blew out in every direction, demolishing the forward crew quarters, ratings mess and storage area in the process. Lights throughout the ship momentarily dimmed then came back into life as pandemonium broke out. Smoke and a small fire spread through the forward section of the ship but this was quickly contained by the water dousing systems, watertight doors and the emergency procedures practiced by the entire crew to the point of exhaustion in recent weeks just for this type of emergency.

York was wounded, though not mortally as she was in the process of diving down through a heavy swell when the Exocet hit, keeping the impact point well above the waterline. Fortunately on this day her casualties were relatively few - though if either of the other two missiles had penetrated the defensive screen then it would have been a totally different story.

'Long range Sea Darts, ripple launched, one, two, tracking and locked on. Break now, now, drop tanks, activate ECM and go to burner, follow me,' screamed Mendez knowing full well that even if they did manage to evade the Sea Darts that they were rapidly burning into their meager fuel reserves to clear the area in haste. On afterburner, a jet engine can quadruple its normal cruise power fuel flow. Whilst thrust is boosted significantly, it comes with such a fuel burn penalty that its use is usually measured in tens of seconds rather than minutes, even in a situation as dire as this.

'Missiles closing, we should just outrun them, cut burners in two zero seconds,' barked Mendez, not liking how this mission was turning out and still so far from home.

Twenty two seconds later the three fighters cut their afterburners and returned to military power for another minute before climbing to a higher altitude for maximum endurance for the long haul home and into an ominously strengthening headwind. Mendez's ruse had worked though, if they hadn't gone for max power then at least one, possibly both of the Sea Darts would have found them, as it was both missiles had tracked perfectly, despite the electronic efforts of their onboard jammers, only to run out of endurance virtually within sight of their prey. A lucky break and a successful strike, though they still had a long way to go and each man knew it.

‘Call fuel state,’ requested Mendez of his wingmen.

‘Eight one minutes at this profile,’ responded Alarn seconds later.

‘Seven nine minutes ditto,’ responded a visibly nervous Jugo.

‘I am indicating eight zero, this should just get us back. Maybe to Stanley rather than Mount Pleasant, when we’re closer I will radio them of our situation and arrange an emergency crash team,’ responded Mendez in as calm a voice as he could muster.

Below, the vast expanse of the South Atlantic made them all realise just how alone they were as they silently contemplated the long haul back to the Malvinas with fuel tanks perilously dry. What they didn't realise was that they were not alone and that their greatest test was yet to come.

 

Well to the south of the Falklands and a little to the east was something that no Argentine knew about.

The Learjet recce birds had rarely combed this inhospitable area and as the next point south was Antarctica it presented no perceived area of threat to the rapidly building occupation force that was busily cementing itself into the terra firma of Islas Malvinas.

At a point some 600 kilometres to the south east of Stanley and heading towards the stricken York at best speed was HMS Norfolk a Type 23 Duke Class frigate. A new and very well equipped ship indeed.

An interesting piece of kit aboard Norfolk this day was an attempt to take military innovation and lateral thinking to its limits. Though if the audacious plan worked then it would certainly be worth all the effort that so far had gone into making such an oddball mission possible. For secured in Norfolk’s after deck hangar was not a Lynx helo but a Sea Harrier vertical takeoff and landing fighter.

Commander Neville Prescott sniffed the cold Antarctic air, standing astride the bridge high above the endless waves that were this afternoon allowing Norfolk a relatively smooth passage. The crew of Norfolk had received a mayday not only from an encoded satellite transmission in real time from York but also had received a full tactical appraisal and a release to combat duties from Northwood that now meant that Prescott was free to do what he thought best under the circumstances. At this point in time he well knew what that was.

‘Turn her onto a heading to launch the Sea Harrier,’ came his resolute and firm command to the officer of the watch.

‘CIC advises a viable intercept profile if we launch in nine minutes, sir’, responded a distant voice over the intercom from deep within the ship in the semi darkened recess of the combat information centre.

‘Very well, is our aviator friend ready?’ queried Prescott.

‘Affirmative sir, engine start in three minutes,’ came the response.

Prescott took one last look at the brooding sea as Norfolk began to heave in her turn into the wind and a quick run up to maximum power to give the Sea Harrier as much forward wind beneath its small wings as was physically possible.

He remembered back to when he was a junior officer. A cold sea just like this. The same knot of fear, mortal dread of battle, of the real world price of combat in this high tech era. He remembered back to that day around noon when his world had almost ended as the Argentine Exocet had sawn a path through Sheffield with clinical precision. Igniting the CIC and the engine room with its physical impact and shower of unused fuel and taking the lives of many of his shipmates and almost his own in one brief second of time. Prescott tried to forget as his attention was suddenly brought back to the present with the roar of the jet’s engine coming from the ship's stern. He moved to the windward side of his ship, to the port rail where the fighter’s pilot, Lieutenant Commander Graeme Evans earlier had briefed that he would pass enroute to his mission of revenge.

Though Norfolk was bucking into a 25 knot gale and pulling almost the same speed herself, the heavy Sea Harrier at maximum vertical takeoff weight, had little wind over the deck, as they say, until getting airborne several metres and then quickly hovering to a position beside the ship where suddenly it would be boosted by the invisible wall of wind that was now screaming down Norfolk’s port side allowing the Sea Harrier to transition itself from a controlled hovering rocket to a conventional aeroplane. At this weight, a vertical takeoff was always a marginal operation though at least today it would be assisted by the frigid air that would give his engine more thrust and ultimately greater lift beneath his wings.

Evans had trained long and hard for this mission' Something which few in the Royal Navy knew about, and even fewer spoke of. Just a handful of the RN's best pilots had been chosen for this absurdly imaginative program and today the fruits of that gamble might just pay off. The Sea Harrier began its rapid transition, vectoring it’s four thrust nozzles from vertically down to partially forward, roaring past Prescott and the bridge crew and into the bleak wilderness of spray and low cloud.

Maybe Prescott was getting old, maybe this awful place was trying to tell him something but he fleetingly remembered what must have been a similar scene in another war in another place where young men were sent aloft from small ships in fighters not really meant for this. The Sea Harrier was no Hurricane though, even if it had been born in the same factory, and Graeme Evans would have probably been flattered if he had known he had been thought of as even moderately young. It was time to go below to the reality of the CIC. Prescott's second war was just beginning.

Norfolk’s powerful search radar would soon have the three Kfirs on the board. Their track back to the Malvinas from York’s attack position was pretty well a foregone conclusion as everybody knew that they would be flying those last few hundred kliks on vapour and that their speed and altitude would be carefully planned to conserve every last drop of fuel.

Thus, 18 minutes after launch, Graeme Evans found himself almost 300 kilometres north east of Norfolk but still some 500km from Stanley and well away from the powerful land based radars that could give the game away.

His Sea Harrier this day was configured with maximum internal fuel and four of the latest Amraam air-to-air missiles. Evans would have loved to have been able to launch with the usual two underwing fuel tanks but at that weight it would have been impossible to execute a vertical takeoff. As it was, the Sea Harrier's amazing vertical takeoff was always a triumph of thrust over weight in this audacious confrontation with gravity.

Nicknamed 'Slammer' by the Americans, the Amraam is a medium range beyond visual range all weather radar guided fire-and-forget missile of superb accuracy. Coupled with the capable long range Blue Vixen radar of his aircraft the combination was something that would have been very handy in these waters so long ago. It pleased him to know that all of the dozens of Sea Harriers presently heading south were so equipped for he knew well that their enemy this time was no pushover.

Four minutes later the call came from Norfolk's CIC that his bogies were exactly 100 kilometres to his north east. He had deliberately sprinted the Sea Harrier across the cold sea with the radio altimeter set at just 50 feet above the waves, making himself a difficult target for any prying airborne search radars that might happen to drift upon his path this afternoon. Though this increased his fuel burn he really had little choice if he was to ensure an element of surprise, the essential ingredient in pulling off this daring raid upon three highly capable fighters and the ever prowling Learjets.

Evans would keep his radar in standby mode until the last moment. He didn't want to electronically alert his foes as they might decide to engage him in a last ditch defensive move if they felt that they didn't have enough fuel to get home and had nothing to lose. The last thing he needed this afternoon was an air battle, he alone against three of what was probably the Fuerza Aerea Argentina’s best pilots in aircraft widely considered to be more capable than his own.

Norfolk's combat team knew his precise mission requirement and would call his move to pull back on the stick to climb his Sea Harrier towards the inbound Kfirs. It would take just a few seconds from turning his radar to active to the point where it would have absorbed enough tactical data to fire the Amraam missiles. And Evans knew that his pull-up must surely begin any moment as he hurtled northward across the raging white horses of the South Atlantic.

 

To the north east, Mendez noted a faint blip on his radar at the periphery of its scan and wondered almost absent mindedly what it could be. Must be a patrol boat, he thought, keep that in mind Ramon, it might come in handy soon!

Getting his mind back into gear he radioed Mount Pleasant for clarification.

‘Base, this is Blue Flight, do you have any other traffic this area, surface or air? Over.’

‘Negative, Blue Flight.’

Mendez pondered the on again, off again blip that was now rapidly closing on his flight. He brought it to the attention of Jugo and Alarn though by this stage they were more concerned with checking their flight management system’s fuel endurance predictions every few minutes. Young Jugo had coldly noted that his last readout mechanically proclaimed 28 minutes. They still had more than 300 kilometres to run and the headwind was now exceeding 40 knots, bad news indeed.

Mendez felt increasingly uneasy. It must be something down there, on the sea surface but traveling far faster than any ship. As the seconds ticked by the indistinct blip on his Elta multimode radar presented him with enough data to indicate that it most certainly couldn't be a small boat, that indeed it must be traveling at better than 400 knots. But it couldn't be a plane, he surmised, it wasn't one of ours and there were no British carriers, or ships at all down here other than the doomed York far to the east. Just as Mendez looked up from the radar scope he froze in momentary fear as the radar warning receiver went active, emitting its piercing shrill to warn the pilot that his aircraft was not only being scanned by another targeting radar but that more importantly the fire control system of that aircraft’s radar had been engaged, primed and locked onto his own aircraft. This can't be so, he said to himself in disbelief as the other two pilots yelled their alarm to anyone who would hear.

Suddenly the radar image changed as the once indistinct blip became a constant image, closing on his flight at more than a kilometre a second. His amazement turned to fear and momentary confusion as the missile approach warning system suddenly activated.

‘Missiles, missiles, whatever it is has fired missiles at us, break, break, activate ECM, chaff and flares,' Mendez barked excitedly over the radio. Within a second the three Kfirs had split, right, left with Mendez aiming down slightly to take ‘his’ missile head on. This way he hoped to be able to break its lock with his reduced front-on radar image combined with active jamming. An aircraft like the Kfir had very little radar signature and this just might work.

The Kfir was fitted with an Elta 8202 jamming unit, he would now see just how good it was and knew at least that fired from extreme range, 30 kilometres plus, that these missiles had to be radar guided rather than the shorter range infrared heat seekers.

He also knew that none of them could afford to engage this phantom, whoever or whatever it was. They simply didn't have enough fuel, plus to save weight in the belief that there was no air threat, they only carried their standard 30mm internal cannons and no defensive missiles at all.

‘Under ten and still locked on,’ said Alarn in a tense voice.

‘Jamming seems to be having little effect,’ replied Mendez while Jugo flung his Kfir to the north to try and outrange the inbound Amraam.

With seconds to run Jugo's move proved successful and ‘his’ missile broke lock and instead followed the missile just ahead of it which was vectoring directly onto Mendez's now desperately turning Kfir. A split second later the first Amraam sliced through its target with the second close behind, producing a massive fireball in the air and blazing wreckage tumbling towards a watery grave a dozen kilometres below.

Pulling the stick hard into his stomach, at just on nine times the force of gravity, Alarn and his Kfir took the full brunt of the second Amraam through the tail. Alarn was concussed by the high G combined simultaneously with the massive impact, and his dead Kfir fell like a leaf in a flat spin almost gracefully towards the water so far below. Thirty kilometres to the south west, Graeme Evans noted the two explosions visually, electronically confirmed by the blooms on his radar scope, turned the Sea Harrier round and headed for home.

Norfolk’s radar was well out of range but its electronic sensors had him on their secondary wide area display, he had over 400 kilometres to run and just enough fuel to make it, certainly none to engage the fleeing Kfir with his remaining Amraam. Thinking about the mission profile of the Kfirs and the position of York he doubted that the remaining Kfir would make it back anyway.

Killing the two men - he noted that neither had ejected, had given him no satisfaction and now as he cruised back alone and in a cold and empty sky with a frigid and angry sea far below he felt no satisfaction, just a distant feeling of justice for his compatriots aboard York that would never see home again.

 

One hundred and fifty kilometres to the north west Flight Lieutenant Hector Jugo was alone and not very happy.

The mission had become a disaster, his two good friends had perished and his navigation display told him that even throttled back the General Electric J79 turbojet was gulping fuel at a rate that would not even get him within visual range of Stanley, let alone MPA.

It was ironic, he thought sadly. He had the choice of joining the Commando de Aviacion Naval Argentina, the equivalent of the British Fleet Air Arm, after being Dux of his flight training class at the academy but had turned it down because deep down he didn't like the idea of maritime flying. He always felt more comfortable with green and brown terrain beneath his wings though he had always kept this strange phobia to himself. He had never told anyone, even his closest friends.

Hector's problem was that ever since childhood he had had a terrible fear of water, he couldn't swim and now he knew he would have to not only eject soon but would have to somehow survive down there till a rescue helo could reach him.

‘Blue Three,’ came the excited voice of the flight commander over the radio.

‘Roger, Blue Three,’ replied Jugo coldly.

‘Rescue helo is on standby and the 707 is now operational, she's up and on her way from Santa Cruz, will be able to rendezvous with you in about one eight minutes, over.’

Hector Jugo stifled a laugh, 18 minutes! He sighed in despair, almost crying as he looked at the latest readout on his flight management computer telling him that he had fuel for barely half that time.

‘Stanley, this is Blue Three, fuel remaining for seven, maybe eight minutes, that will take me to within 100 kilometres of Berkeley Sound. Get the helo up now, will be ejecting in seven minutes, out.’

‘Roger Blue Three, helo is on its way, will continue 707 rendezvous in case it can assist, good luck,’ replied Stanley.

So this is how it ends, Jugo thought. A precisely planned mission that turned into a nightmare. Three of their nation's best warplanes, heading out to take out one small British warship. Firstly the all important tanker fails to arrive, the warship fought back harder than they had ever expected and finally we are attacked by a ghost jet from nowhere. Base didn't even get the engagement on their powerful radars, too far away they said. Wish I could say the same, he thought.

As the amber low fuel warning light finally turned red the once powerful turbojet behind him began to slowly spool down. His airspeed gauge quickly wound back and he trimmed the Kfir's long nose downwards to maintain some semblance of forward momentum. It just might help to get a dozen more kilometres behind him if he could keep it at around 300 knots for another 30 seconds or so, might just get the rescue helo to him that minute or so sooner.

‘Blue Three, am ejecting, squawking on channel four, beacon activated, am ejecting, now,’ was his final call to a silent audience at MPA.

Reaching down with his right hand, his two visors down and locked, he pulled the doomed fighter’s nose slowly upwards, watched the airspeed fall rapidly towards 200 knots, as the aircraft shuddered on the approach of a stall he noted his altitude at just over 17,000 feet, said ‘goodbye my friend’ and pulled the handle between his legs with all the force he could muster.

Seconds later he was a hundred metres above his jet, soaring skyward, his seat falling away as the chute automatically deployed. Three seconds later he was swinging beneath a large canopy of silk with his fighter falling away aimlessly below him destined for the same cold fate that would soon await him.

He noted with relief that his personal locator beacon was flashing. Its steady red pulse indicating that it was advertising his precise location to the world. The rescue helo would be able to home in on that and Stanley would have him on their surveillance radar as well as the final moments of the doomed Kfir. Even the 707 would be able to vector in on the signal being transmitted from the walkman sized lifesaver strapped to his waist.

What awaited him below though was his true enemy. What would he do as he impacted the water with the equivalent force of jumping off a two storey building? His collective weight, fully kitted out in the cumbersome survival gear and everything else was well in excess of 170 kilograms. He knew that all that would make quite a hole in the icy South Atlantic this afternoon. Even if he was able to successfully pull away from the massive canopy above him before it fell into the water on top of him, even if he did miraculously get his dinghy inflated, that he would probably die of hypothermia before the rescue helo arrived. Dangling in the sub zero air in his sweat drenched flight suit he was beginning to shiver uncontrollably as he slowly drifted down to the darkening sea.

Just as Hector Jugo had feared, he did make a big hole, Had come up slowly, gulped in several icy mouthfuls of choking caustic salt water, had panicked in fear and had broken the surface only to be pummeled by the three metre waves that were nothing like the swimming pool they practiced this exercise in two years earlier at the flight academy.

This was for real and so was the spaghetti of the canopy's shroud lines that having delivered him safely to the sea now served only to entangle his arms and legs and overwhelm the buoyancy of his Mae West.

As another massive wave swept over Hector Jugo the last thing the 22 year old saw was the glint of sunlight on metal seven kilometres above him as the 707 tanker finally reached his position.

 

Far to the south Lieutenant Commander Graeme Evans was slowing his Sea Harrier rapidly for its retrieval aboard what looked like an obscenely small Norfolk, five kilometres distant.

For Evans, this without doubt would be the most difficult and stressful part of the mission and even though he had practiced the maneuver tirelessly in all weather conditions over many months it was never a simple exercise to get an eight tonne fighter onto the ridiculously small helipad attached to the aft end of a bucking frigate. He brought the Sea Harrier back to Norfolk’s speed, positioning abeam her helipad and noted his airspeed reading 41 knots, both Commander Prescott and Mother Nature had worked well to give him as much wind beneath his wings as was possible as he transitioned his fighting machine to vertical rocket-like mode and slid the jet over and down onto the relative security of the small helipad.

Secure on its undercarriage, he cut the Rolls-Royce Pegasus turbofan and noted that he had the equivalent of just seven minutes fuel remaining. For the first time in over an hour he breathed hard and began to haul himself out of the compact jet, the jet that had come from nowhere.

 

Eight hundred kilometres to the north west, General Edwardio Fernandez was enraged.

He had lost three able pilots, two of his best, and three of his nation's best planes plus now he knew that there was a mystery ship, an aircraft carrier or something out there that could ruin his day.

‘We have three hours of light left, launch both Learjets and Searcher One as soon as it returns and get the 707 into sector five immediately. Put two air-to-air configured Kfirs on a round the clock two minute scramble alert and prepare for a massed anti shipping strike mission at first light tomorrow morning. We will find that British ship and find it fast,’ Fernandez shouted to the assembled men and women of his command.’

‘The British ship must be down here in the south east’ probably between 600 and 800 kilometres distant looking at the point of interception of Blue Flight. Knowing the British, it would undoubtedly be heading at best speed for York to render assistance. In the morning both it and York will be ours, they cannot and will not escape.’


CHAPTER 19

Commander Prescott was apprehensive. And with good reason. He knew that the downing of the Kfirs would unleash a hornets nest of reprisals as the Argentines responded to the previously unknown threat from their south east.

His lone ship was not really that well equipped to take on the full brunt of the FAA that he knew to be based in the Falklands and with only two hours of daylight left he knew that his best chance was to run at maximum speed directly away from the threat.

Norfolk, despite being a relatively new ship, lacked one item of kit that in an air war would be crucial to her survival, and that was the long range Sea Dart surface-to-air missile system.

However, the ship was equipped with the close in Sea Wolf and dual 30mm Oerlikons in addition to the standard ll4mm Vickers Mk8 main gun. Neither was his ship equipped with the Nulka hovering anti missile decoy rocket or the proven rapid fire Vulcan Phalanx gatling cannon. Norfolk’s sole air defence capability really lay with the short range Sea Wolf, a system designed primarily to down inbound sea skimming missiles and of course the lone Sea Harrier.

On this point he felt sure that the Sea Harrier would be able to protect his ship from some of the potential air threats but not all of them. A massed attack of air refueled Kfirs and Skyhawks would probably not only have them losing the Sea Harrier but also the ship as it was doubtful that the Sea Wolf system would be able to cope with more than two or possibly three inbound missiles simultaneously. The guns might be able to score, but then again this most definitely wasn't 1944!

Ships like Norfolk were really designed to function within a taskforce alongside sisters like York, with both ships bringing into play their varying defensive and offensive capabilities to produce a sanctuary for the larger ships they were tasked to protect. Placed in a vast ocean on their own they really were little more than targets of opportunity, certainly able to dish out a noteworthy defence but at the end of the day fair prey to both air and sub surface predators if they should attack in force.

Prescott had wisely decided to shut down Norfolk’s primary long range radar so as not to give away his electronic presence to any patrolling Argentine aircraft. Intelligence was still unclear whether the Lears or 707s had ESM equipment able to home in on radar emissions though most certainly the FAA's highly modified Electras did.

The Grumman Trackers, though old also had a rudimentary form of ESM and were known to have been basing out of Mount Pleasant. If either of the latter two had been able to lock them up on their own radars and sensors then it would only be a matter of hours before the Kfirs and Skyhawks would make their full blooded attack. Commander Prescott had laid this all out in great detail to his senior officers as well as Evans, who was standing at the back of the briefing room looking distinctly apprehensive about the developing situation.

‘Gentlemen, our best option is to head due east at best speed for the security of South Georgia until we can rendezvous with an element of the primary attack fleet which at this stage is still at least a week away from the exclusion zone,’ stated Prescott coldly.

‘I imagine the Argentines would be thinking that we would now be running towards York to render assistance. York is doing okay at the moment, heading also for South Georgia at reduced speed and is fairly well equipped to cope with the long range air threat that they are sure to throw at her. By tomorrow she will be at the limits of their attack capabilities, even using tankers, and hopefully a day from tomorrow so will we. However, at this moment we are barely seven hundred kilometres from Stanley. Even at our present speed of 30 knots we will probably still be within range of sustained air attack until noon tomorrow.

‘CIC to captain,’ barked the tannoy.

‘Yes,’ replied Prescott into the briefing room comms.

‘Sir, we have a radar emission from our north, looks to be a large subsonic jet, range around 400km and closing on a heading of one two zero. If unaltered the target should pass well ahead of us.’

‘Thank you Mike,’ stated Prescott to the senior sensor operator, Mike Johnson.

‘Well that’s it, they’ve fallen for it and we have bought ourselves a few hours of breathing space, Prescott told his thoughtful audience.

‘It is unlikely they would risk a night attack and unless they get an accurate fix on us they will definitely need tanker support for their fighters. No they won’t run an operation tonight, stated Prescott confidently.

‘Lieutenant Commander Evans, would you concur with that observation?’ Prescott asked the silent aviator at the back of the room.

‘Basically yes, the Kfir and upgraded Skyhawks are fine aircraft but in these conditions at night, well they aren’t really equipped for this type of operation and I doubt their crews would be proficient enough to be able to execute it without more training than they are supposed to have had.

‘My own observation is that very few air forces actively practice night attack as the risk of accidents is far higher than in daylight and at the end of the day command always dictates that there are simply not enough training dollars to waste on unnecessarily risking life and equipment.’

‘So what would you do if you were in their shoes?’ Queried Prescott.

By now all eyes had turned on the aviator who deep down was beginning to think that perhaps what he was saying was bordering on the grounds of wishful thinking. I think they will wait to launch a dawn attack. Take off at first light, about 07:00, with a large force of Kfirs in both attack and escort configuration with maybe Skyhawks backing them up. There might even be a second wave scheduled for an hour or so later. They apparently have enough jets to really do as they please at this stage and there is bugger all we can do about it apart from sit and wait.’

The room fell silent at Evan’s obvious conclusion that the sheer weight of enemy airpower would ultimately exceed Norfolk’s ability to escape.

‘Well, do you feel we can jointly defend ourselves against them with what we have in this ship?’ asked a subdued but somewhat irritated Prescott.

‘Obviously we all will do our best, but at the end of the day this ship is alone, has one Sea Harrier with a limited number of missiles, a single Sea Wolf close-in missile system, which is really designed to take out missiles not planes firing from 30 kilometres away and guns that are more a hangover of World War 2.

‘They have over two dozen Kfirs and as many Skyhawks available to find and destroy us. They have tankers and recce aircraft and maybe even some naval ships in this area that we are not aware of, including submarines. No, to be honest sir I don’t like out chances but there again there is nothing any of us can do about it,’ stated Evans philosophically.

The briefing hadn't gone exactly as Prescott would have liked. He had been hoping, perhaps unrealistically, to boost the morale of his senior officers for the battle ahead though the cold light of reality had shown their position to be one of near hopelessness.

‘CIC to Captain,’ came the tannoy once more.

‘Yes?’ replied Prescott, thankful for the distraction.

‘Sir, target is definitely one of their 707s and it has turned onto a course of one eight five degrees. It is still about 300 kilometres away but is closing on us. My estimation is that its radar should have a contact on us in about a quarter hour.’

‘Thank you Mike, keep me informed, I will be down in a few minutes,’ replied Prescott as he moved to place the ship on a higher level of readiness to meet the growing potential of the inevitable air threat.

‘Evans, can you intercept the Boeing prior to it locking onto us and reporting our position?' asked Prescott.

‘No, there isn't enough time, but if it is downed or at least damaged then it will give them a clear message that we are still capable of defending ourselves. We may be able to bluff for time as I guess they don’t really know who or what we are. They may well think we are several ships, even a carrier of some sort with a number of aircraft,’ stated Evans.

‘Okay, go for it and good luck.’ Prescott shook the aviator's hand and moved towards the hatchway for the pressure cooker of Norfolk's Combat Information Centre.

Following its Kfir engagement, the Sea Harrier had been refueled and rearmed with four more Amraams. Evans mounted his jet, strapped in and began the start procedure, running engine and systems checks and verifying that the nav computer was correctly aligned on the rolling afterdeck of this incredibly tiny ship. Maximum thrust, nozzles to the vertical, a drift to the left and into Norfolk’s welcoming slipstream which was less than before as now the ship was steaming at full speed into a following sea. This was good for the ship but bad for him as to turn Norfolk into wind would cost precious distance and consequently it was decided to make do with the conditions as they existed.

Evans was given a heading to steer that should put him on an interception course for the lone 707. Norfolk would remain radar silent, depending on its state of the art passive sensor suite to keep track of the inbound air threat while Evans would light up his Sea Harrier radar when about 50 or so kilometres from the Boeing.

An aircraft of this size, at altitude, is a very large radar target while the standard weather radar aboard the Boeing is restricted to only being able to look forwards but is also not optimised to detect aircraft as small as a fighter. Besides, on this heading, Evans would be coming in from abeam and to the rear of the big jet which would probably not even be aware of his presence until it was too late. This was not air combat as Evans liked it but he knew that the safety of the entire ship lay in his hands and besides, before the next day was out he was sure that this crew’s buddies would provide him with numerous opportunities to engage in ‘real’ combat. Not a thought that inspired the lone aviator.

‘Shar 1, we have an additional contact north west of Norfolk, high altitude, small to medium size, heading one seven zero degrees at around 500 knots, could be a Lear by status of radar emissions.’ Evans took in the meaning of the unexpected burst from Norfolk and was thankful that he had at least four missiles. A quick glance at his fuel indicator showed that he would just have enough fuel to make the second intercept.

Leveling out at 30,000ft, Evans switched on his Blue Vixen radar and found the Boeing just 35 kliks ahead and on a course that would take it directly into an arc where even its antiquated weather radar would easily identify a frigate size contact.

He switched on the fire control computer, selected missiles to active and waited for the firing solution to present itself. This was far removed from the high G cut and thrust of modern jet to jet combat but in stalking an adversary of this size you had to be sure you could down it with one missile as Evans knew that he had precious few Amraams left.

‘Confirming target is an Argentinean air force Boeing 707 tanker, am presently 10 kliks aft of target, firing in 10 seconds,’ he radioed to Norfolk.

The seconds ticked down with agonising slowness and with the green light Evans pressed the launch button on his control column to send one Amraam on its short one way mission of devastation. Seconds later the missile impacted the starboard wing root of the big Boeing causing an explosion that visibly rocked the aircraft. Fuel spouted out in a great vaporising spray followed by a sheet of flame, then the wing began to fold in as the four engine jet slowly rolled over onto its back and fell towards the sea, its wing and control surfaces separating on the way down.

‘Target destroyed, request new heading, three missiles left, fuel state green,’ Evans radioed to Norfolk.

‘Well done Shar 1, your vector is two eight zero degrees, target is at 40,000ft thereabouts and closing rapidly. If unhindered would be around 50 kilometres astern of us in about three zero minutes. Confirmed as Lear,’ stated the flight director aboard Norfolk.

Evans took up the new heading, climbing to 40,000ft before trimming his fuel back and setting the mission computer for an intercept that would allow him the shortest possible transit back to Norfolk. He had enough fuel, but just enough and if more threats arrived he would have to recover to Norfolk in failing light and rearm and refuel quickly to be able to meet them. Mind you, the Argies didn't fly at night, did they, he thought. That’s a good one Graeme thought to himself and I bet a months pay that It’s also bloody well wrong remembering that once upon a time the same was said of the Japanese!

Twenty eight minutes later Shar 1 had the Lear locked up on its radar. This time from maximum range as it was rumoured that the Lears had been quickly fitted with one, possibly two, underwing launch rails for Python air-to-air missiles. The Lear was basically a corporate jet but in the hands of a skilful pilot it could still be a highly maneuverable aircraft and almost as quick as his own Sea Harrier. It would be important to down it without giving it the slightest leeway.

Aboard Norfolk the tension mounted. Their sensors had not detected the radar emissions from the Boeing’s radar having penetrated as far as the desperately fleeing ship. At time of downing, the 707 was around 120 kilometres from Norfolk though now the Lear presented a greater threat as it carried a much better radar, optimised just for this task and intel suggested that a frigate sized target should be visible from at least 300 kilometres away at the altitude the Lear patrolled at.

As Evans guided his Sea Harrier into a firing position it became obvious that the Lear would have just reached the outer limits of its acquisition range. He had to now do the impossible and kill it before it acquired the frigate.

 

Aboard the Lear, Capitan Juan Alvires was beginning to feel the strain of the day.

The long mission to uncover the British warship. The loss of the three Kfirs and their mysterious interception by God knows what. The hurried debrief and scrambled takeoff again on this mission. The feeling that he was totally defenceless out here against an unknown and deadly enemy only heightened his anticipation.

Then, about a quarter hour earlier, MPA had radioed that they had copied a distorted message from the 707 and had not been able to make contact with it since. Alvires had tried several times to raise the Boeing but to no avail. He knew this was not a good omen.

His thoughts rapidly turned to the present when Miguel Sanchez, his equally anxious radar operator, excitedly barked into the intercom that he had a surface contact at one one zero degrees at 320 kilometres.

‘Damn! This is a firm contact, another British ship as we certainly have nothing in this area.’ Alvires quickly passed the fix onto MPA and pointed the Lear eastwards to close the gap on the mystery contact.

Little did he know that by the time the Lear had leveled its wings, a sole Amraam was already on its way to claim it. Eighteen seconds later Alvirez noticed something through his peripheral vision, swung his head left and saw a distinct smoke trail heading straight for the Lear.

Without warning he threw the jet into a hard right turn, catching Sanchez and his copilot by surprise.

For the Amraam however this only presented a larger planform style target, a target that the missile cleanly broke in two just three seconds later.

 

‘Good show!’ yelled an obviously relieved Commander Prescott. After hours of tension the entire weapons team within the darkened confines of Norfolk's CIC cheered in elation.

To all intents and purposes it appeared from Norfolk's point of view that the Lear had not got close enough to get a definitive contact on the ship. They still had their anonymity and indeed their airborne protector, now it was time to bring in the Sea Harrier and prepare it for whatever might follow.

Evans was less jubilant as he wheeled the Shar through a standard 360 degree turn to electronically scan his little parcel of airspace in case the Lear had an escort somewhere that neither he nor Norfolk was aware of. The Argentines of course had their radars lit, and this was how Norfolk was able to electronically ‘see’ them. If the Argentines attacked with their radars down and he and the ship were in the same mode then it might as well be World War 1 all over again.

And this was the real quandary, use your full radar capability and you risk long range detection well beyond the sight of your own radar. Leave it down and sooner or later you know you will have to go active. Light up too late and you may well have lost the battle. And though passive sensors were useful they couldn’t always detect every threat. It was a conundrum that had no real answer.

Satisfied that his six o’clock was clear Evans shut down his radar and homed in on Norfolk’s nav beacon. In what seemed less time than he expected he was descending for the ship in what was now well and truly dusk. The second he landed, Norfolk would extinguish all lights and remain electronically silent. Its only giveaway would be the rather expansive luminescent wake that Norfolk left in her path as the small warship fled east at better than 30 knots.

 

‘Why can’t you raise them?’ screamed General Edwardio Fernandez to his senior comms operator.

‘I don’t know sir. The tanker issued some sort of short garbled message and is impossible to make contact with, maybe they had radio failure. The Lear has given us a possible surface contact but no more and I can’t raise it on any frequency.’

Jose Orelli, the senior communications officer at Stanley, was beginning to get flustered. He knew that things were going from bad to worse and that the much feared General Fernandez was nearing a state of physical violence.

Everybody knew of the cleansing that took place within senior ranks after the 1982 debacle and even though the British task force was still at least a week away everything seemed to be going wrong, and Fernandez was responsible.

‘Sir,’ interjected his second in command, Brigadier Carlos Astiz, ‘all is not lost. We have the three 707 tankers enroute now to Santa Cruz for supporting us tomorrow and the second Lear has just been launched and should be within reach of the second British group within an hour.’

Astiz got on well with the macho and often blustering Fernandez despite being of a more thoughtful and quieter temperament. Indeed, often Fernandez would put his foot in it and Astiz would be the one who diplomatically organised damage control. Despite his arrogance and hot temper, Fernandez was generally a sound strategic thinker and still a favourite of the nepotistic leadership that epitomised those in command at the Condor Building in BA.

‘You’re right Carlos, we are all just feeling the strain of combat,’ replied General Fernandez confidently and in a somewhat cooler mood.

‘We have four patrol boats leaving for the area where The 707 and Lear last reported.’ Carlos told his boss. ‘The SAR helo has also returned to Stanley with the body of the Kfir pilot, Hector Jugo and the other long range SAR Pumas have been put on standby. There is little more that we can do until we get a positive ID from the Lear.’

‘Okay, we prepare two strikes at first light, the recce birds can get positive fixes during the night and the Electras can keep them under surveillance. This time they will not get away.’ Fernandez stated emphatically.

 

Just over a thousand kilometres to the east of the Falklands HMS York limped on at barely ten knots, as much as the damage to her forward hull and the sea state would allow. Collision mats had been crudely but somewhat effectively draped and secured over her area of primary damage in an attempt to keep out as much seawater as possible.

Fortunately the small mobile pumping system was adequately coping with this while a generally following sea and wind also helped. If York had had to forge her way through a heavy sea in this condition it would have been an entirely different story.

However, at a miserly ten knots her commander and crew all appreciated that it would indeed be a long time before they were secure from enemy air attack. Fortunately however most of the ship still functioned as advertised. The long range Sea Dart SAM launcher was undamaged as was the Nulka, chaff, flare and ECM systems.

Close-in defence was amongst the best available via the still operational Sea Wolf SAM and two Vulcan Phalanx gatling cannons plus the less capable but still potent Oerlikon 20mm guns. The ship also still had its single Lynx helicopter operational and a full anti submarine warfare capability. So as long as it could remain afloat it would certainly be a prickly adversary for any attacker. Commander Skinner silently thanked God for the refit that had recently given his beloved York the Sea Wolf and Nulka systems that were not typical of this class. Indeed York was one of only three Type 42s so equipped and so far these additional defensive systems had stood more than their fair duty in protecting his ship from a watery grave.

Skinner couldn’t help thinking of the predicament that Norfolk had unwittingly gotten itself into. It was supposed to be only doing a deep southerly radio intercept recce, providing some makeshift backup to the now operational covert radio intelligence unit set up on Terra Del Fuego by the SAS.

That Northwood had ordered the Harrier intercept on the homeward bound Kfirs had surprised him as surely they must have realised that all hell would break out if the Kfirs had been downed.

Skinner felt better that at least Norfolk hadn’t been targeted and was heading away at high speed, its little fighter a real surprise package that had so far downed more than its fair share of enemy aircraft. He silently wished that he had just a few of Norfolk's knots.

They had tried taking York up to 12, then 14 knots earlier in the afternoon after the collision pads had been made secure but the increase in bow wake and water ingress into the damaged spaces was beyond the capability of even all the pumps running flat out to cope with. Ten knots was it and nothing short of a month in dry dock was going to change that fact of life.

 

Around 700 kilometres to the south west, Norfolk charged on into the darkness at full power.

Her electronic sensors scoured the heavens for the slightest whiff of a presence of hostile aircraft while her sub surface sensors had also been cranked up in anticipation of the fact that all of the Argentine armed forces would now be looking for her and her sister to the north east.

Northwood had largely downplayed the Argentine submarine threat although both Skinner and Prescott knew full well that there were two, possibly three, moderately capable Argentine Navy submarines and that neither had been seen in port since the invasion.

The Royal Navy did have several nukes in the region though their activities at present were so clouded in secrecy that Command did not even deem it information that either ship’s captain should need to know, let alone want to know. Sometimes it was better not to ask and so if they did stumble across a sub surface contact, and were unable to accurately classify it, at least they could request Northwood to verify if it was a friendly.

The ship had settled down into some form of enforced calm. At high speed her machinery made a lot of noise and vibration adding greatly to the expectation of combat that was to come. Her various compartments were in a semi closed down state, indeed some hatches were already secured in anticipation of an increase in the level of action stations that full-on combat would demand. Meals were now limited to hurried snacks while conversation was generally kept to the basics.

Crew not normally associated with the combat side of operations on a day to day basis now manned their respective stations and musters. Each man and woman quietly going over their particular role in keeping Norfolk operating if and when the now seemingly inevitable should occur.

‘sensor contact, aircraft, high altitude, range about 500 kliks, bearing one six zero. Sir it’s headed right for us,’ stated Mike Johnson to Prescott and the rest of the CIC team who had up to this moment been trying to relax with sandwiches and coffee.

‘Get Evans, on the double!’ demanded Prescott of his aide.

‘second contact, looks to be about a hundred kliks north east of the first, heading one four zero, high altitude - confirming Lear ident on first aircraft, second contact looks the same,’ announced Johnson, who was now immersed in a growing plot of contacts that bode ill this evening for the men and women aboard Norfolk.

Evans hurriedly entered the CIC and knew what the captain was about to ask. It had been on his mind since returning just two hours earlier in failing light'

‘Graeme, are you positively sure you cannot operate your Sea Harrier at night from Norfolk?’

‘No sir,’ came the quick response. ‘The risk is simply too great. It’s hard enough operating off a proper carrier at night let alone a rolling postage stamp of a landing pad.’

‘The chances of me making a successful takeoff are not too bad overall, the chances of taking out the two inbounds prior to them getting an accurate fix are virtually nil and the chances of making a safe recovery are even less. Believe me, flying the Harrier from a frigate is a major accomplishment in the day, in fine conditions and a calm sea, at night in this sea state - well, forget it. It would be suicide.’ Evans’ words had been taken in by all, they well understood his reaction and respected his integrity and professionalism enough to know that what he was saying was the obvious truth.

‘Sir, if I may be so bold as to suggest something’.

‘Go on Graeme,’ replied Prescott respectfully.

‘The recce birds, these Lears, are not offensively armed. They don’t present a physical threat to the ship at the moment. MPA is obviously aware of our rough position or otherwise those two contacts wouldn't be on what is a classic triangulation course to get a cross fix with their respective radars. They would have found us anyway.

‘There’s a long night ahead and their Electra, Boeing and Lear aircraft would have sussed us out whatever we did.

‘What I believe they will do is keep us, and I imagine York, under surveillance, track our positions and launch a large scale anti shipping strike at first light. That is what we really have to be ready for.

‘If they launch at first light, say 07:00, with the speed we are making, we will be a good 1300 to 1400 kilometres away from Mount Pleasant.

‘They will have to travel a long way to simply find us, let alone fight us. They know we are a destroyer sized warship but they don't know of which type. They have already engaged a Type 42 with far superior weapons to us but much the same radar image. They don't know what our sensors are because we have not been radiating. They would go into their briefing thinking that at a minimum we are a sistership to York, with long range Sea Darts and they know we somehow have a jet fighter. That will only confuse them further as there is no way they would put two and two together to come to the conclusion that we were operating a Sea Harrier from a frigate.

‘The project is top secret in the RN, even at HQ, I myself only found out about it when I was specifically asked to go on the course. I was sworn to secrecy as you have been too and I know of only four other pilots who have participated in this program and one other ship’s crew.

‘Chances are, they think, despite their radar returns, that we are much bigger than we are, maybe even two ships running very close together. Believe me gentlemen they won’t be running in cold turkey as it’s a long way for them to swim home and they know this as well as we do.’

‘Which brings me to an idea,’ interjected Prescott, trying hard to stifle a grin, indeed the first visible sign of an easing of the strain of the past five hours.

‘Graeme, you would not be aware, but we have a decoy system aboard that might just do the trick if they are thinking we are much bigger than we actually are. We have a little known system codenamed Cassandra. All it actually is is a number of small transmitters which float just beneath the surface of the water with a deployed aerial that protrudes about a metre above the sea surface. We have about a dozen Cassandras onboard, we can put them in the water and let them transmit a fudged electronic signature similar to ourselves.’

‘So what you are saying, is you can put out an array of electronic decoys that will deliberately make them think that there are a number of ships and the formation has actually split up?’

‘Yes, that’s right. The only downside is that they are not mobile. The position that they commence radiating from is essentially where they finish after their batteries run out twelve to fifteen hours later. It's a bit of a fudge but it can buy time under some circumstances and maybe split their attack fleet enough for us to not have to deal with all of them simultaneously.’

‘It sounds like a nautical equivalent of what the Israeli’s fielded over the Bekaa Valley back in 1982,’ replied Evans who then went on to briefly tell the story of how the lsraeli Air Force had destroyed half the Syrian air force in one great battle downing over 80 late model MIG and Sukhoi fighters without loss through the use of airborne clone decoys that radiated a radar image the same as Israel’s Eagle, Phantom and Falcon jets.

The Syrians relied upon ground radar controllers and these controllers fell for the Israeli trap and vectored their fighters onto fleets of invisible aircraft, only to have them ambushed in designated killing zones by the Israeli’s. It was all over in under an hour and a half and an air force, one of the most potent in the Middle East at the time, virtually had ceased to exist, and all because of superior electronic deception techniques and a whole lot of grey matter.

The discussion broke up with the CIC’s occupants feeling somewhat better, though none believing for a moment that they were anywhere near out of the woods just yet.

 

05:00 hours, and Mount Pleasant was a hive of activity.

There was oddly no move to do anything in a covert manner. The runway was lit as the odd Hercules was still arriving and helicopter activity seemed to be heavier than ever. However, it was on the flightline where the real action was.

Ground crews were readying no less than 16 Kfirs for the morning's operation. The ship, or ships, as the Argentines believed, in the southern sector were to be attacked by two flights of four Kfirs each launching a single Exocet and carrying underwing and centreline long range fuel tanks. They would also have a top cover escort of four Kfirs armed each with four Python air-to-air missiles. Each of the attack aircraft would also carry two Pythons, a lesson from the loss the previous day of three of their unarmed compatriots.

All would rendezvous with two 707 tankers from Santa Cruz at a point about 400 kilometres north west of the target area to top up their tanks for the all important attack phase of the operation. The plan also called for them topping up again if necessary on the way home and the 707s carried enough fuel for this tasking.

The British ship far to the east seemed to be undefended in terms of fighter aircraft and most definitely alone and consequently a single flight of four Exocet toting Kfirs would take care of her. They too would have a single 707 tanker which would refuel them prior to the attack and once more enroute to Mount Pleasant.’

The mistakes of the previous day had been well appreciated by all. Rushing things to make a quick kill was out of the question as this mission was not allowed to fail, the ships could not survive the morning if the Argentine occupation of the Malvinas was to remain a credible long term proposition.

Fernandez had gotten just a few hours of restless sleep, as had most of his cadre. They now busied themselves in the ops area going over the final plans from the squadron commander and each of the flight leaders. The Kfirs would be ready for a predawn takeoff, the tankers were already preparing to depart Santa Cruz, nearly a thousand kilometres away on the mainland and all would be a go.

Weather was looking good, the cold south westerly winds had abated slightly and minimal cloud cover would provide little visual solace for the surface fleet.

The primary thing that worried the pilots was the extreme range they would be operating at and the lack of real time Search and Rescue facilities that would be operational in the event of the unthinkable. Patrol boats dispatched the evening before were little more than a quarter of the way out to the combat zones while even the long range Pumas would not be able to get beyond about three or four hundred kliks to pick up a downed pilot.

One ray of hope lay in the knowledge that the two Electras on station near the combat zones were carrying air droppable life rafts and hopefully would be able to operate as some sort of aerial lifeboat if necessary. Like combat aircrew everywhere the young men of Gruppo 8 tried to put these thoughts out of their minds as they took their seats for the mission brief.

Argentine Military Command in BA meanwhile was alarmed at the prospect of there being an entire taskforce, complete with fighter jets, so close to the Malvinas without them being aware. It was obvious that the recce 707 and Lear had been shot down by something as both were so long overdue that their loss was now a forgone conclusion even though it would be morning before a visual search for wreckage could be initiated.

The Lear and then a long endurance Electra had shadowed both the areas of British naval activity through the night and were still on station. It was confirmed beyond doubt that the ship to the east was indeed on its own. However, there appeared to be a number of ships to the south although this assessment was continually being confused by intermittent electronic emissions and contacts that increased and decreased in intensity.

There could be one ship there spoofing or there could be an entire task force using ECM. There was most definitely a fast jet there however and that was what concerned the mission planners. You have a fast jet, you have a carrier, you have a carrier you have escorts and plenty of them.

From the British point of view the ruse had worked, not one man present could be convinced that he was going against anything less than the entire British fleet, even though that had only just left Ascension Island! The mission brief began and the obvious question as to why the southern attack force was only allocated four fighter escorts when there was obviously a carrier there was answered by the fact that at such an extreme range there were only sufficient 707 tankers to support the dozen Kfirs already tasked. The British ships to the south were now around 1400 kilometres distant and there was no way a Kfir could carry two Pythons and three tanks that far, engage in combat and get back to base without a tanker.

The brief finally ended and each man solemnly picked up his odd bits of kit, donned the uncomfortable but very necessary immersion suits and began the lonely walk out to their waiting machines of war.

Each had remembered what fate had coldly overtaken three of their compatriots barely half a day earlier. If these men, particularly Mendez and Alarn, who were legends among the younger aviators, had somehow fallen to the British then what would await them? Each was confident but knew well that this was a mission against something they really knew little about.

Ricardo Vivas though was not pleased with the way things were going. Still grieving from the previous day’s loss of his best friend Ramon Mendez and his wingmen, he wasn't so sure that this latest raid would be any more successful.

Vivas was certain that there were a number of ships to the south and that there was more than one Sea Harrier out there. He had argued long and hard with Fernandez to use the three Tornados as forward radar pickets, able to detect air and sea targets at long range and pick off any inbound threats with their beyond visual range Skyflash missiles. If there were Sea Harriers out there the Tornados should be able to detect them long before they became a threat to the Kfir force 30 or so kliks astern the big British interceptors. His request though was repeatedly turned down on the basis that the Tornado unit’s test pilots hadn’t fully made the complex radar systems of the Tornado combat ready.

Fernandez, he knew only drew that pathetic line so as to be able to ensure that the captured British equipment contributed as little to his perceived power projection plans as possible.

Fernandez firmly believed that the Islands had to be defended using Argentine equipment or otherwise his hoped for victory just wouldn't hold water with his cronies in BA. Even some of the test pilots felt they could perform a more than useful role and were ready to go irrespective of the outcome.

As the engines of the first Kfirs began to turn there were many pilots wondering just why they were leaving the Tornados behind when they were the very aircraft they needed to provide long range air cover for the strike force. Vivas hit the start sequence button and unenthusiastically watched his canopy close. The ground crew saluted and he returned the gesture as he privately wondered if he would ever see any of them again. Either way it was time to go. Mount Pleasant thundered in the predawn darkness to the sound of J79s on afterburner as the Kfirs departed in pairs, cleaned up, cut their burners and turned respectively east and south east for their long transits to the waiting tankers.

 

Aboard both British warships tension mounted.

Both ships were ready for what might eventuate with the coming of daylight, albeit York with deservedly more confidence than Norfolk which, unbeknown to the Argentines, could not even shoot down an unarmed Lear at high altitude if its pilot had been daring enough to overfly it as Juan Alvires had the day before with York.

Both ships electronic intelligence suites began to pick up some distant air to air comms. Something was happening and it was wisely surmised to be the expected inbound strike talking with their tankers. Both ships had monitored the all night vigil of the two Electras which circled both British ships from about two hundred kilometers distant. Even if Norfolk had been able to launch its lone Sea Harrier it is likely that the Electra could well have escaped if it had realised that it was being attacked soon enough.

Electras are capable of over 400 knots in a shallow dive and for the Sea Harrier to run down, claim and return to the ship, it would have to have a substantial slice of luck on its side. The Sea Harrier had a practical endurance without tanks of little more than an hour, the Electra could stay aloft for up to a dozen hours if it wished and even fly on three of its four Allison turboprops.

The CIC crews could see already that these heavily modified Electras would be a real problem as the campaign to retake the Falklands unfolded in the weeks ahead.

With both ships remaining radar silent it was York which picked up a positive sensor trace on ‘its’ inbound raid first.

‘Contact approaching from the west, heading zero niner zero, several idents, all same speed, high subsonic, high altitude, signature confirm as Kfir or Mirage,’ calmly stated York's chief sensor operator.

‘Any positive range indication yet?’ queried Skinner.

‘Looks to be about 450 kliks, we can start up the radars soon as obviously they have us sussed thanks to that damn Electra.’

The Electra was still orbiting to the north but had now come a little closer, obviously to watch the final act, thought Skinner coldly.

‘Go to action stations, prepare for air attack, light up the radars when they get to within 350 kilometres of us, I’m going topside for a minute,’ yelled Skinner to the CIC team. Eric Skinner had had an eventful twenty four hours. His body was beginning to feel fatigued with the stress of combat and lack of sleep but his emotions were ready for what could be the final battle. As he climbed the ladders to the bridge he weighed the chances of fending off a determined attack by four Kfirs, no doubt Exocet armed and this time with a tanker in tow to ensure they had a choice of attack profiles with which to assault his ship, his crew.

‘Captain on the bridge,’ barked the officer of the watch.

‘That's okay men,’ said Skinner.

‘We have four Kfirs inbound, approaching 350 kliks out, we go active in a minute or so. This is the major attack we have been waiting for. Keep us heading downwind as much as you can, we can’t get any more water into that forward section or we’ll start barrowing and get our screws cavitating. I had better get below now, good luck.’

Skinner had another reason for going topside. He was a sailor, and a long time sailor. He had never really liked it in the dark confines of the CIC and secretly envied, like so many senior officers, the perhaps surreal image portrayed by World War 2 Hollywood of captains fighting and dying on the bridge of their beloved ships.

To simply vaporise amidst a cocoon of aluminum, cathode ray tubes, electronic circuitry and plastic just didn’t seem to hold an allure. Deep down, Skinner considered York’s chances of survival as slim at best and like any normal human being he simply wanted to catch the sight of the early sunrise and smell the cold sea air just one more time.

 

As Skinner re-entered the CIC and donned his anti flash gear he clearly observed the four radar returns of the inbound attack force coming steadily in from the west. The Electra was far to the north, on the very periphery of the Plessey radar display and frustratingly well out of reach as a target of opportunity. The sensor operator now had even the 707 tanker on his scope, about 400 kliks west of York and circling at high altitude obviously awaiting the return of its small friends.

In the post combat analysis, Skinner and the CIC tactics team had decided to do something different if attacked again. During the 1982 campaign helicopters were used successfully to operate as Exocet decoys from both Hermes and Invincible. In fact, His Royal Highness, Prince Andrew successfully flew many of these hair raising missions from Invincible in a Sea King.

The idea was a novel one at best and centered around hovering the ship's helicopter a few hundred metres from the target, hoping that the small radar seeker in the nose of the Exocet would lock onto the reflected image of the helo’s rotors instead of the ship. The theory ran that the helo crew would be able to visually see this when the missile still had a kilometre or so to run enabling them enough time to pull hard on the collective and climb the helo quickly enough for the missile to harmlessly pass beneath. It all worked around the theory that if the pilot could see the Exocet early enough and it did go for you, then you could react quickly enough to get the helo into an instant climb and then of course actually climb high enough to break vertical lock with the missile which the experts said was incapable to changing its altitude at that late stage of its flight. It all sounded great in theory and seemed to work to some extent in 1982 although fortunately it was never really put to the test.

It had been decided that things would indeed be pretty desperate for York if another attack occurred. Not only would it involve more aircraft but as the ship was now unable to run at speed and manoeuvre at will it was fairly much a sitting duck in terms of mobility, the very thing the software of a subsonic sea skimmer loves.

After a long discussion with the Lynx crew it was decided that they would launch and back up the Nulka hovering as an additional decoy. The Lynx would carry full fuel and some survival kit in case it needed to render assistance in turn to its mothership if the attack was successful.

At worst, the Lynx could be bellied into the ocean using its flotation gear when it ran dry of fuel. It was a pretty desperate move but it was considered better than nothing.

Indeed, the crew would have used their little Lynx as a forward CAP if they had had some Stinger missiles or similar to put on the Sea Skua rails. Deep down they felt that by this stage they had little to lose.

‘Targets breaking into pairs, turning right and left,’ barked the radar controller.

‘They’re going for a split attack to try and overwhelm our defences,’ noted Skinner knowing full well that these tactics would make it even harder to defend York.

‘All four now split, two from the south west, two from the north west, groups separated by about ten kilometres, descending from 42,000ft, 5lOkt, 100 kilometres distant,’ instructed the radar controller.

‘They should be launching in about four minutes. The Lynx is in position, Nulka’s up, all systems active, all we can do now is wait,’ stated Skinner calmly.

The crew had been through this, not more than 20 hours earlier and had basically fought off the attack better than they expected. Though their ship was slowed in its progress none of its crucial systems were damaged and tragic as they were, casualties from the Exocet impact were minimal compared with what was expected.

They didn't have to wait long for action. The four Kfirs launched nearly simultaneously at around 45 kilometres from their target, frustratingly just beyond the range of the ship’s Sea Dart missiles.

‘Missiles inbound, four, present headings one seven zero, one four zero, zero four zero and zero one zero. Kfirs turning back on reciprocal headings,’ called the radar controller in a higher pitch than before.

‘That’s it then, damn we are taking this from all quarters, they could even be programmed for a final pop up manoeuvre for maximum effect,’ stated Skinner.

At this point Skinner was again thankful to whoever lobbied for his ship to have the extra defensive firepower of the single Sea Wolf battery. At this instant the ship’s jammers went to full active looking to try and confuse the radar return that each Exocet missile would be searching for on its preprogrammed journey to destruction.

‘Having trouble tracking them now, all are down in the weeds but holding basically same courses as before, impact time 50 seconds,’ called the radar controller calmly.

A thunder from above the CIC indicated the launch of a Sea Wolf, then another. The Lynx, which was on open channel comms, called that it had two visual and was moving to better place itself in their flightpath. The ECM display board indicated every system working at full strength.

‘One has splashed, one has splashed,’ came the excited voice from the Lynx, suggesting that perhaps the jamming had overloaded the missile's electronic brain to the point where it momentarily lost its altitude hold, dipped its nose ever so slightly and impacted the South Atlantic at over 600 knots.

‘Three left and closing, impact one five seconds,’ called the radar operator to a silent audience.

At this point York's fate lay in the hands of her defensive systems. Her slow speed and constant heading made it near impossible to jink and yaw to try and create a target acquisition problem for the Exocet’s small radar receiver, which was as much a sitting duck as a container ship or tanker. Not a good situation for a greyhound of the seas. As the Lynx ‘acquired’ its missile it began to climb swiftly but in this case the Exocet also followed, something that it was not supposed to do, passing just metres below the shuddering helo and exploding as its proximity fuse indicated its mission was accomplished. The blast rolled the Lynx inverted, its pilot fighting frantically to right it while realising that much of his machine had been severely damaged by the wave of lethal bomb fragments.

The Lynx pirouetted down 200ft to the icy waters below making a splash that went unnoticed as another Exocet impacted into the fat hangar deck area, exploding and taking out much of the above water superstructure of this area.

Both Sea Wolfs launched locked onto the final Exocet And took it out less than two kilometres from the ship, just as one of the Vulcans had also locked onto it and began firing.

In the CIC the impact into York's hangar deck was felt by all, the ship shuddered, lurched and the action teams took up their firefighting positions to contain the damage. Fortunately the damage was largely above the waterline and had not affected any of the ship's propulsion machinery nor for that matter had any of the armaments been affected other than the loss of the Lynx.

‘Bastards must have preprogrammed their missiles to be able to climb in the final stage of flight,’ hollered Skinner, grieved at the loss of his birdies and their Lynx. Sir, Electra is closing fast, range 90 kliks, speed 380 knots and descending through 21,000 feet,’ stated the radar controller eagerly.

‘Must be doing a visual recon thinking we are severely damaged and no longer functional,' replied Skinner with a hint of conspiracy in his voice.

‘Right, shut down the radars, go to passive only, keep the Sea Darts parked until he’s within secure range, let’s get the bastard.’ Skinner was on the attack and the Electra skipper had fallen for the oldest trick in the book, obviously believing the return radar image of the Lynx explosion and the actual hangar deck impact as one major explosion that no ship of York's size could survive intact.

‘Radars have ceased emitting, comms down,’ came the excited response from one of the Electra’s two sensor operators.

‘Ah, there he is visual,’ said Mario Castallano, the Electra’s skipper. ‘Look at the smoke. and he’s hardly moving. Let’s get the photos on one quick flypast and get out of here, this could be some sort of trap.’

‘Use your telephoto, I am not getting within five kliks of that thing, they could still have the guns operational. I am making one pass at 3000 feet at full speed then home, okay,’ Castallano said to his crew of eight over the comms.

 

‘Fantastic, they’ve fallen for it. When they get to within 25 kilometres launch both Sea Darts at them,’ commanded Skinner with an enthusiasm not seen for many hours.

‘Ready sir, 25 kilometres, target at 5000 feet and still descending at high speed, about 400kts indicated,’ came the response from the sensor operator.

‘Okay, light up the air defence radar, prepare to fire on automatic.’

‘Radar up, image firm and confirmed as same as sensor indication, Sea Darts active.’ His voice was almost cut off by the roar and shudder as both Sea Darts left their forward launcher at two second intervals and headed away from York at twice the speed of sound.

 

‘Jesus! look at that, missiles, missiles, evade, evade,’ screamed Castallano.

But it was all too late, the Electra didn’t carry any defensive capabilities and even if it had they would have been of little use against two Sea Darts fired under optimum range and altitude conditions at such a large and ungainly target. The Electra was dogsmeat and they knew it.

The multiple impact occurred barely 11 seconds after launch, not even enough time for the Electra crew to call a mayday to base. The aircraft simply exploded as the two warheads and several thousand litres of avtur combined to reduce the recce bird to a massive cartwheeling fireball.

 

There was an overwhelming sense of relief in the CIC as the radar plot indicated a successful impact, a brief blooming on the screen followed by a wave of contacts, then nothing as the wreckage impacted the ocean. The awe of the kill was broken by the ring of the tannoy.

‘Damage control sir,’ said a seaman, handing the phone to Commander Skinner and breaking the brief silence within the CIC as everybody breathed a collective sigh of relief that the battle was now over, at least for the time being.

‘Heavy damage aft, sea search radar inoperable and the ship generally has much damage from shrapnel and general blast damage, no penetration of hull, no leaking, all aft propulsion machinery okay.’

‘Thanks,’ replied Skinner, ‘meeting in one hour, all officers in the wardroom.’

 

At the time of the demise of the Electra the four Kfirs were heading westward for the rendezvous with their tanker that would get them through the long haul back to Mount Pleasant. None of the Kfir pilots, or for that matter the crew aboard the orbiting 707 were even aware that the Electra was going to perform a post op photo run over York.

When the Kfirs had to turn for home so as to avoid flying within York's Sea Dart envelope all four Exocets were well on their way and looked good for a kill. The Kfir pilots now were keen to get a verification of this yet could not raise the Electra. Even the 707 with its more powerful comms suite, which was also operating as an airborne relay for MPA, was unable to make contact with the Electra, several hundred kilometres to the east.

Something was wrong, although the priority now was to get the fighters refueled and safely home.

 

A thousand kliks to the south Commander Prescott watched intently as the scrambled satellite transmission from York via Northwood relayed the extent of the latest combat.

‘Four Exocets fired by four fighters with tanker and Electra support. One Exocet impacted hangar area, major damage in area but nothing to affect ship’s propulsion, seaworthiness or systems. One Exocet impacted via proximity fuse near the Lynx decoy, destroying helo. One Exocet ballistic and one destroyed by Sea Wolf. Electra confirmed splashed on photo run by Sea Dart, no survivors Total casualties now 9 fatal, 17 injured, 3 serious but stable. Maintaining heading zero one five at one zero knots. Expecting further strikes this afternoon.’

And so ended the transmission from York. She was still afloat and apparently not too badly off considering what had been sent against her. But York carried the defensive firepower of a small World War 2 battleship, Norfolk by comparison was ill equipped for what was expected to be a much larger tactical force.

 

At about the moment that Prescott read the transmission from Northwood the first indications of the size of the raid being sent against Norfolk began to materialise.

The ship was still sailing radar silent and relying on its advanced suite of passive sensors to pick up voice and radar transmissions while at least half a dozen Cassandra decoy beacons were still operational, now spread out over several hundred kilometers of ocean. Hopefully this might confuse the raiders sufficiently to split their forces and waste precious endurance chasing phantoms rather than the real thing. It was a long shot but the only card they had.

Graeme Evans also knew what was expected of him and not unnaturally was in little doubt that he would never see the ship again. To consider anything beyond that, well, you just didn’t. Watching the image on the broad area surveillance screen in the CIC he realised that he would have to launch in about a quarter hour. The Sea Harrier had been refueled and armed with the last four Amraams aboard Norfolk, all was go for what would probably be its final mission.

However, he would need vectors from the ship to prosecute a radar silent attack on the inbound aircraft so at some point after takeoff, about 20 minutes following launch, Norfolk would be forced to light up its radars to give him definite intercept vectors. At this point the Argentines would well and truly realise they had been outfoxed by the decoy beacons and concentrate their attack on Norfolk.

Hopefully his own presence, which theoretically they would be aware of, would then come into play to take out some of the attackers and perhaps split up the rest. At that distance from base the Argentines would not wish to stay any longer than they had to as surely, even with tankers, they would be at the absolute limit of their radius of action.

As Evans contemplated the coming action, Norfolk's radar sensor confirmed that he had 12 attack aircraft inbound. On the peripheral were what appeared to be two tankers and a Lear, no threat but a nuisance all the same. In some ways, Evans thought the tankers the most important targets. After all, without them this entire mission would be physically beyond the capabilities of any of the Argentine Kfirs or Skyhawks. The tankers though wisely orbited well to the north west of the attack force and thus were beyond the range of the lone Sea Harrier.

‘Well, I guess it’s time,’ stated Prescott to the waiting aviator.’

‘That it is,’ replied Evans thoughtfully and with that the two men shook hands, the younger departing the CIC for the after deck hangar.

Nine minutes later the Sea Harrier thundered past Norfolk's superstructure for the final time. Even in the confines of the darkened CIC the crew felt the sound and energy of the fighter and each thought for a moment of the unequal odds it was going against this morning.

Evans turned the Sea Harrier onto a north westerly course that would take him into the jaws of the approaching avalanche of attackers. He roughly estimated that it would be around fifteen minutes before he would be in a position to attack. Norfolk would go active in a little less than that to get the full picture, which could be downloaded to his own radar for presentation prior to his going active and alerting the attackers that they were being engaged by an enemy fighter.

At 50 feet above the waves and at just over 450 knots there is not much time for contemplation. However, Evans did consider his options again for what must have been the hundredth time since his last mission the previous evening. He had been toying with the idea of staying close to the ship, just outside the envelope of the Sea Wolf battery to try and engage the incoming Exocets with his Amraams. The missile was supposed to have a capability against sea skimmers though it had only really been tested in computer simulations and several fine weather live firings which were even then only mildly effective.

He didn't want to risk wasting his precious missiles in this way and so had opted to go for the launchers instead. A more riskier option for him but one that he accepted with the paycheck. The only thing that would ruin this scenario was if the Argentines had used the Tornados as the forward element of their strike package. If this was the case then they would probably nail the lone Sea Harrier long before it could ever pose a threat to the Kfirs.

‘Range one two zero kilometres, they should have us on their radars any second, sir,’ stated Norfolk’s controller to Commander Prescott.

‘Okay, go active on all systems and give me a live feed to Northwood, they might as well get the full picture in case we take a hit amidships,’ Prescott instantly regretted he had phrased it that way as it was obvious each man fully understood just what he meant.

Evans’ radio came alive for the first time. ‘Shar 1, bogeys your one o’clock high, angels two seven, range four zero.’

This was it, thought Evans. He flicked on his radar switch, waited five seconds for the unit to stabilise, checked the plots, there were so many it didn’t really matter, firewalled the throttle and pulled back on the stick for a 40 degree angle of climb. The Blue Vixen radar immediately sorted the four most likely targets though many more were available, these four were simply the closest and most likely susceptible this morning, this instant, to falling prey to each Amraam.

Evans selected auto and all four missiles ripple fired at one second intervals, causing his aircraft to yaw slightly as they departed from the fuselage and underwing stations.

 

High above him pandemonium broke out as the Kfirs simultaneously had their radar warning receivers light up in addition to having the image of Norfolk appear in the top corner of their search radars.

Previous to this it had been indistinct and similar to the other images from the decoy beacons which to the Argentines looked like small ships with active jamming. Indeed a large fleet spread over many hundreds of kilometres of ocean. Norfolk's powerful jammers and the decoys had indeed brought it time.

Rather lamely, the strike configured Kfirs held station as they concentrated on the plot against Norfolk. They had though gone active on their own jammers, and had dropped flares and chaff. The latter two of course did little. Chaff dropped at this speed rarely retained its integrity long enough to give a viable counter radar image to the target whilst flares meant nothing to a radar guided missile Still it was an expected defensive reaction and after all, wouldn’t the CAP get the fighter that had fired the missiles anyway?

Life is never that simple though and once locked on, each Amraam found a target and followed it to oblivion.

Four missiles and four kills in just moments. All four aircraft of green flight had disappeared in seconds while the CAP dived in to get the attacker, now clearly displayed on their Elta radars and egressing westward at high speed.

 

Evans had rolled the Sea Harrier inverted seconds after firing his missiles and headed for the deck in an effort to increase airspeed and lose his radar image in the clutter of the ocean.

He figured that he would be able to maintain almost 600 knots in this configuration and at wavetop height he would prove a difficult target to track. He prayed that the CAP would not have enough fuel to pursue him for more than a few minutes and would disregard him once they realised that he was exiting the area and no further threat to the strikers. Tactically, if there had been several Sea Harriers they would have attacked from the flank and split the entire formation with one going for the all important tankers. Not so today, though the attackers had already paid dearly.

The four CAP Kfirs dived at supersonic speed, having already discarded their drop tanks and were rapidly overhauling the Sea Harrier when sanity took over and their leader called for them to break and return immediately to the tanker, a hundred kliks to the north west. Each was critically low on fuel and would be fuel exhausted before it got within reach of the fleeing Briton. From their point of view he was finished anyway.

 

If that was the Argentine view then it wasn’t much different from reality as far as Graeme Evans was concerned. His fate was now sealed.

He certainly didn’t have enough fuel to recover to Norfolk and even if he had he would have returned probably during the height of its last ditch defence and probably claim a Sea Wolf for his troubles. He now felt confident in reducing his fuel flow, sure that the Kfirs had dropped the impossible pursuit, and climbing to altitude where his fuel burn would be significantly lower. The Shar in this configuration felt great. No guns, underwing tanks or missiles, a nice clean airframe and light in weight, albeit due to an ever decreasing fuel load that he realised was probably, at best, good for barely another twenty minutes.

That would, according to his nav computer, get him to within about 400 kilometres of East Falkland which hopefully would see him ending up as a POW, which he figured was infinitely better than being dead.

 

Hundreds of kilometres astern of Evans a life and death battle was raging.

With the sudden loss of an entire flight of Kfirs the formation had gone into disarray and had to hurriedly regroup. This not only brought Norfolk a little time but also helped extend the Kfirs to the absolute maximum of their endurance. The survivors though had now launched their four Exocets which had been programmed to impact their target from different angles. A mass attack of this nature however required a defence in depth capability from Norfolk which it just didn't have.

One Exocet had been seduced off course by the chaff cloud drifting astern of the frigate while another had been claimed by two of the Sea Wolfs. The other two got through, one impacting the hangar and the other the superstructure just aft of the bridge. Both warheads successfully detonated reducing much of the superstructure of this once proud fighting ship to a mass of tangled metal and flame.

Fire raged, fed from the remnants of the unpurged fuel remaining in the hangar deck lines. Fortunately though much of Norfolk's external anti NBC water dousing system was intact and quickly put into action to extinguish the flames.

The ship was in grave trouble. She was on emergency electrical power and the blast of the amidships Exocet had penetrated down into the engine room, successfully disabling one of the two Rolls-Royce gas turbines that provided most of the ship’s power. Fire and blast had destroyed all of her weapon sensors and the only intact systems left were the forward Vickers gun, the Harpoon anti-ship missile canisters and the Sea Wolf launcher. The crucial Combat Information Centre had been extensively damaged by the amidship blast immediately above it. Much of the blast had penetrated down creating havoc throughout the ship and making even the surviving weapons essentially useless through an inability to target, control and even initiate launch. Now down to barely seventeen knots, Norfolk had survived the attack to the extent that she was still afloat but that was all.

Her only hope now was to limp towards the sanctuary of South Georgia, still nearly 600 kilometres to the east.

Although she still had at least a full day's sailing left, Prestcott was confident that they were now beyond the range of air attack and could attend to the wounded with some degree of security.

 

Far to the west, Evans checked his nav display for the final time. The Pegasus turbofan was already beginning to wind down as he stabilised the aircraft in a gentle descent. At 5000 feet he would eject, hitting his search and rescue beacon just prior to ejection.

If everything worked as advertised a satellite somewhere far above him would interrogate the signal and send his position to Northwood in under a minute. Technically speaking they would know where he was even before he hit the water. Technically speaking that is!

He also tried one final communication with Norfolk but to no avail. This was ominous but with what awaited him he quickly put the thought as to the ship’s fate behind him as he clicked his visor into position, pulled his harness tight and reached down and pulled the ejection handle. Seconds later he was well above the Shar, his parachute deploying and the seat falling away with his life raft and survival kit already dropping on a lanyard beneath him. The two minutes it took him to reach the water was enough to tell him that he was very much alone.

Impact with the icy sea took his breath away though unlike poor Hector Jugo the previous afternoon he was able to keep free of the parachute lines and get his dinghy inflated. Climbing into the dinghy in his cumbersome immersion suit was difficult to say the least and Evans was thankful that he was doing it in private and that the wind and sea state had calmed significantly since the previous day. If he had had to eject yesterday then the outcome, in a heaving sea, might well have been different even for the accomplished swimmer that he was.

Alone in the dinghy, his SARBE beacon transmitting to the world and his rations and water bottles intact, there was now nothing more Lieutenant Commander Graeme Evans, the Royal Navy's first fighter ace for more than half a century, could do to influence his destiny. He would either be picked up by Argentine search and rescue or would ultimately drift southwards towards Antarctica to a slow and certain death.

As the sun set on what had been a hectic 24 hours he shivered in his immersion suit and closed his eyes hoping beyond hope that sleep would have him awake to find this all some horrible dream.

 

The battle for the Falklands was looking bleak.

In just two days of ‘minor’ engagements the Argentines had lost seven of their best fighters, a much needed 707 tanker, an Electra and a Lear recce bird in addition to the three Hercs on the first night of the invasion. They had also lost two frigates, two submarines and several civilian supply ships.

The British had lost a Sea Harrier, a Lynx helicopter and had two of their best fighting ships reduced to scrap, in addition to surrendering the many aircraft stationed on the Falklands.

Added to the Argentine personnel losses in the first night at Mount Pleasant and the loss of no less than half a dozen of their ships, it was more than apparent that this would be no walkover for either side.

The dogs of war had already extracted a formidable toll from either side and the night was but a pup.


CHAPTER 20

General Fernandez sat there motionless taking in the verbal thrashing he was getting over the phone line from Buenos Aires.

It is not every day that the President of your country berates you in such a personal manner though what really concerned Fernandez was that, despite this man being his uncle, he belonged to a system where it wasn’t unknown for people who didn't perform to simply disappear.

The pressure was on at every level of the Argentine government and military high command. The past week had both militarily and politically been a disaster for the regime while in recent days it seemed that the very heart of the nation’s finance, communications, trade and defence networks had been attacked by a computer virus that still wasn't properly sorted out. The Stock Exchange had formally closed two days earlier to avoid a panic induced mass selloff of stock while just trying to get basic stores and equipment from the plethora of depots throughout Argentina for onwards shipment to the Malvinas was now proving a near impossibility.

Twelve thousand rounds of ammunition would be requested and three thousand would arrive. Six hundred cans of tomatoes would be ordered and half that number would arrive. It had seemed that the entire infrastructure of the nation was rapidly collapsing and the military debacles of recent days only served to reinforce that viewpoint from the plains of the Pampas to the cosmopolitan coffee houses of the capital.

Meanwhile, back in the Malvinas the first aircraft were landing following the raids on the British warships. It had at least now been confirmed that to the south there had in reality only been one ship and obviously one fighter though the Argentine military intelligence specialists still found it difficult to believe that a Sea Harrier was capable of operating off the back of a destroyer sized vessel.

It was also not known if they had actually sunk the ship or just immobilised it.

In the hours that followed, Lear and Electra recon aircraft would patrol the area looking for any other surface contacts and attempting to track the course of the warship if it had indeed survived. In that eventuality it would undoubtedly be heading for the sanctuary of South Georgia, something that was precisely what the military command in BA had hoped.

From their point of view the battle was most definitely not over yet.

 

Monica Prossor was getting bored with all this. The flying had been intensive yet utterly boring. She and her fellow aviators had been initially impressed by the rugged grandeur of South Georgia, sort of a Norway at the wrong end of the world, but really nothing had occurred to even for a moment light up her radar display with interest.

The ASW helos had been busy for a few days after a possible sub surface contact had been relayed via Northwood from the USS West Virginia but again that had come to nought. The ASW guys had been of the impression all along that the close-in waters around the island would be an ideal hiding place for a modern diesel sub.

A rugged coastline, a varying sub surface contour, surf breaking noisily on much of the windward side and a wide range of thermal layers in the area due to the conflux of currents at this time of the year. The high degree of sea life also didn't help things as even the best computers were unable to cope with the cacophony of natural sounds that millions of these sea creatures created in going about their daily lives.

Able to snort at night and recharge his batteries, a good diesel skipper could lurk here almost indefinitely. The only thing that would ultimately betray him would be his actually committing to battle, and by that time it might well be too late to stop him. Such was the cat and mouse battle of modern anti submarine warfare.

Monica placed the big Sea King down squarely on the hastily painted H symbol at the southern end of the improvised landing strip at Grytviken. The weather had improved though as always there seemed to be a fierce wind to deal with, she would certainly hate trying to bring a large fixed wing aircraft into this tiny and approach constrained ‘pretend’ airfield.

As the rotors wound down she wondered if they would be redeployed back to the main battle fleet. She had heard that it had just left Ascension the day before and that AEW was one of the crucial areas they were deficient in.

There had been a rumour of kills of several Argentine long range maritime patrol aircraft in recent days though even she couldn't get anything conclusive on this as it had been largely hearsay.

There had also been talk of two British warships being attacked and damaged near the Falklands but most had first dismissed this as mere scuttlebutt as she quite logically thought that nobody would be fool enough to deploy ships alone to such a hot zone. She was privately fearful for even the massed carrier battle groups getting through unscathed let alone a singleton.

As Monica strolled into the crewroom she was startled to find a mass of frantic activity.

‘What’s up?’ she queried of the executive officer.

‘Major SAR., Norfolk has been hit hard and is limping back from the Falklands. Apparently it was attacked by upwards of 16 aircraft and has been hit by two Exocets,’ he replied excitedly. Monica froze at the mention of the name of her brother’s ship.

‘Are there casualties?’ Monica asked, quickly realising what a stupid question it obviously was.

‘Yes, about a quarter of the crew are injured in one way or another, last we heard, about a half hour ago, was that at least a dozen were serious and there had been 18 deaths.’

Monica turned away and walked outside for a moment to get fresh air as she could feel her stomach knotting as she fought to get a hold on her emotions. Her brother was on that ship, and probably in dire straits, it's time to get into action, she thought as she charged back into the room where the SAR flight sked was being prepared.

The briefing began fifteen minutes later. The small force of aviators packed the cramped room, each hoping that they could do something to help in getting the crippled warship back safely. A GR.7 had taken off 40 minutes earlier and would cruise out to intercept the ship’s navigation track with a rendezvous expected within a quarter hour.

The Harrier would also report on weather conditions in the area and it and its successors in the hours ahead could also act as a radio relay for the helos that would soon form the airbridge to uplift the injured and bring them to the makeshift field hospitals at Leith and Fort William on South Georgia. Word was that the sick bay aboard Norfolk had been heavily damaged and consequently much of the shipboard medical equipment was inoperative.

An hour later, the earliest the helos could depart given their payload/range limitations, the rescue effort commenced.

Fortunately all four ASW Sea Kings were operational as were the two AEW birds. Where able, much of the bulky and detachable mission specific kit had been carefully removed to save weight to increase endurance.

On the AEW helos though little was able to be removed without major effort so it was decided to use them, perhaps wisely, for their intended purpose in life in case any Argentine patrol aircraft had followed the scent of the wounded ship.

It wasn't known for sure but there were still rumours abounding that the Argentine Electras had been modified to carry underwing Exocets just like their Orion brothers carried Harpoons. If this was the case then Norfolk was still in grave danger. At least an AEW helo would be able to detect the inbound hostile at a great enough range to hopefully be able to vector in a Sea Harrier for the kill.

Monica Prossor's day had just become anything but boring!

 

Commander Roberto Casada was overjoyed. The report he had picked up minutes before via their regular satellite transmission intercept contained the instructions he and his 28 men had been eagerly awaiting for almost a month.

Generally regarded as the navy's most able submariner, Casada had been enthused with the way the new government had at last appreciated the true capabilities of submarines and had directed much money and training hours into their small, though competent fleet of four diesel boats. He and his men had trained hard for the past two years and now their talents would be put to the test.

Commander Casada carefully read the transcript of the message for a third time and decided to address the crew directly via the boat’s main broadcast system.

‘Men, this is your captain speaking. I have good news.

Instead of just hiding here, which in its own right is a mission that I must say we have achieved great success in despite numerous attempts by the enemy to seek us out, we are now authorised to attack our prey.

‘A British warship, of specific type unknown, is limping towards Grytviken with much damage from an attack by our air force. With just a few hours sailing it will literally stumble right into our sights. It is making only moderate speed and will have to round the eastern cape of South Georgia to reach safety. We will be there when it arrives and sink it.

‘Men, this will be a great victory for Argentina and the submarine corps. That is all.’

The small boat was frantic with activity and excitement as the Santa Fe maneuvered from her hide amongst the shoals of the windward side of the island and out to where the killing would commence.

 

This was the final stages of Monica Prossor’s third sortie. She and her crew were now dog tired but glad that the rescue operation had gone so well.

The other AEW bird had picked up some long range radar emissions from what was assessed as an Electra well to their west though fortunately the source of the emissions had never actually ventured close enough to be a threat. There had been no word on the fate of her brother as most of the comms on the ship had been knocked out, though it was known that a total of 28 sailors had now been airlifted off the crippled warship. She would be back on terra firma in another half hour and could check personally. In the meantime it was best to try and block it out of her mind or a lapse of concentration might well have her crew ending up in the Services ‘crash comic’.

From what she could see, even at this distance, Norfolk appeared a mess and though hardly a naval architect she doubted if the once fine fighting vessel would be worth anything more than scrap once it was safely anchored in Grytviken harbour. Her thoughts were quickly interrupted by the serious strain of her radar operator's voice.

‘I've got an odd on again off again contact on the sea surface about three kilometres to the east of Norfolk.’

‘Are you sure it’s anything? I mean it might just be another pod of dolphins jumping the waves’. Queried Monica of her radar sensor operator.

‘Maybe, but I can't see any dolphins visually’. This has been on the screen intermittently for the last two minutes. You don't think it could be a periscope?’

Monica and her copilot froze at the mere suggestion of the word, looked at each other then banked the helo to get a better view. They could see nothing. The vigorous swell and 20 knot surface winds had whipped up the sea even more as they approached the eastern tip of the craggy island.

These seas would roll in unchallenged for thousands of kilometres, hit the rocky outcrop of this remote island and then bounce back, creating in the process a confused and angry sea state that could easily hide something as discreet as a periscope.

‘Can’t see anything to indicate a periscope, better inform HQ anyway as a matter of course.’ Monica said to her copilot above the noise of the helo.

 

Santa Fe had been at periscope depth now for almost a minute. Commander Casada had performed his obligatory 360 degree scan, sort of a submariners version of a fighter Pilot clearing his six.

What he saw was a clear ocean, clear except of course for his prey, just three kilometres or so to his west.

This would be an easy kill. Fire the torpedos, record the action and dive and clear the area. The Santa Fe could make up to 25 knots submerged for several hours on her batteries, certainly enough performance to safely clear the area and head well out into the Atlantic where she could safely recharge and idle covertly towards the Malvinas ready for the big show.

Casada hunched over the periscope arms and called for range parameters.

‘Range 2800 metres, all parameters met, sir’ came the instant response from the weapon system operator.

‘Fire two torpedos on bearing two eight zero at high speed, a three second interval between them,’ responded Casada coolly.

They had discussed the firing procedures long before reaching periscope depth based on the simple fact that their quarry this time was not really an active warship and realistically nothing more than a sitting duck. Their job would be to get in there undetected and escape to fight another day.

‘Torpedo one away sir, torpedo two away sir,’ came the response from the weapons system operator just as Casada expected.

He now watched intently through the scope, the waves occasionally blinding his view as the seas rocked the small boat mercilessly. Certainly he and his men would be glad when this was over and they could return to the motionless safety of the depths.

Casada dared blink in case he missed something.

‘This is for the General Belgrano you bastards’ he whispered to himself as he counted down the seconds.

 

Monica watched the final Sea King approach the large but heavily damaged stern of the frigate.

This was a difficult exercise at the best of times, manouvering in towards the stern of a ship underway, let alone one that now had entirely different airflow patterns. The stiff 20 knot wind was also not helping as it was largely coming across Norfolk's stern as the ship was unable to sail into wind each time one of the helos approached.

She averted her gaze for a moment as something caught her eye. Down below, far below, she noted two large splashes just metres apart and moving at speed, something she couldn't even decipher as anything she comprehended.

She looked back towards the ship and froze as the realisation crossed her mind of what she may have seen. As she rolled the Sea King to get a better look her mouth dropped, as almost in slow motion, the entire ship seemed to explode outwards and upwards.

The Sea King that had been approaching the stern a moment earlier was hurled vertically as if by an unseen hand, its rotors clawing for lift that no longer existed. While the ship seemed to literally disintegrate, the Sea King rolled over onto its back, slowly beginning to rotate as the pilot desperately fought to regain control before plunging into the sea.

Monica, her copilot and radar operator sat momentarily transfixed in a state of shock, only the buffet of the shockwave returning them to reality.

‘Mayday, mayday, mayday, Sea King bravo eight, Norfolk has just exploded, medevac Sea King down, send all resources immediately.’

Monica threw her Sea King into a circling decent to clear the area of falling debris and to move to where the heavily damaged helicopter half floated in the water. She could already see two, three, no four survivors clamoring from the wreck and onto the sinking helicopter.

Norfolk, or what remained of her, gently rolled over and disappeared from view. It was all over in less than a minute and a state of the art warship had simply ceased to exist. The radar operator hurriedly threw survival equipment out the rear door down to the survivors of the Sea King and Monica was glad to see a Lynx and another Sea King rapidly closing on the area of devastation. ‘Skipper, we’re on vapour, we had better return,’ came the serious call from her copilot. She quickly checked the gauges and concurred, called base and pointed the helo for home.

Not a word was said between the three till they reached Grytkiven a quarter hour later. Each had their own private thoughts and her’s were whether she had just witnessed the death of her brother or whether he would already be safely ashore.

 

Commander Roberto Casada was astounded by the ferocity of the explosion.

His torpedos were much smaller than what the British or Americans used and not as sophisticated as the long range variable speed manoeuvrable and automatic homing units of the enemy. Still they had worked perfectly today and he still had 12 torpedos and more than half of his precious diesel fuel left.

He informed the crew over the tannoy of their great victory and how one of the torpedos must have hit the magazine to create such a massive explosion. The men really didn't need to be told the details as the shockwave had surged through the subsurface water passing through the submarine like an acoustic fist. Some of the crew thought that they would have ringing in the ears for several days after a blast of that severity.

With that, Casada radioed his report to base and dived, ready for a high speed transit out of the danger area before contemplating a covert entry to where Santa Fe could do some real damage around the shoreline and islands of the Malvinas.

 

‘Well, things aren’t so bad, are they?’ queried President Juan Moreno of his First Team.’

The seven men largely remained silent, still suffering the shock of the recent military defeats. Mostly by an unseen enemy and the technological catastrophe that seemed to be engulfing all of their nation’s public utilities.

‘Our President is right, look at what’s happened, chided Commander in Chief Horacio Lunaz.

‘We can't do much about the nuclear submarines and those SAS actions were one offs, but look what we did to two of their best ships. We sunk one and crippled the other.’

‘Yes, but at what cost, What is it, seven of our best fighters, and all to just one of theirs!’ added Alvirez sarcastically.

‘If I were the British I wouldn't be too worried. Those ships were alone and nobody nowadays operates alone in a warzone. When they send down the taskforce they will have all the support they need. And now they even have the Yankees assisting them with anything they want.’

Alberto Alvirez, the renegade Foreign Minister had doubted the wisdom of the operation from the very beginning and was slowly getting more frustrated with his compatriots inability to be able to come to terms with reality.

The nation had been buoyed by the successful sortie of the Santa Fe and the crippling of York, that is true, but the full story of the other defeats had either been largely glossed over or deliberately misreported. Few people in Argentina, even the majority of the military knew just how much hardware had been lost, even before the British taskforce had arrived.

Though the computer virus problem had caused massive disruption, it had at that time not been related to the war and as far as Juan Moreno was concerned acted as a timely public diversion in case his forces suffered any more debacles. There were even some of his associates that suspected that perhaps the planting of the virus ridden CDs was part of a deliberate effort to distract the populace at a difficult time by the President himself.

Naturally this had little credibility though all concerned would have been startled to learn that the entire run of Air Warrior III had been the product of a small factory unit at Cardiff in South Wales under a black British Government contract known as Operation Omega.

 

Edwardio Fernandez, like everybody at the base, was overjoyed with the news that one of their submarines had scored a kill and right under the nose of the British to boot. It also seemed a fitting fate for the new generation Santa Fe to have acquitted herself with distinction near a port where her namesake had been claimed by the enemy two decades earlier.

Fernandez was feeling so good that he decided to visit the British prisoner once more. If he could get some firm information from him then maybe he would be looked upon more favourably by his peers let alone those in command.

He strode off to the cell where he found Phelps lying on the bunk nursing his obvious wounds. Fernandez ordered the two guards to tie him up while he stood guard, suggesting to the SAS man in the process that he would just love to have the slightest opportunity to shoot him in case he attempted to escape.

Phelps realised he would never be able to break free of the two men, make it to the door and overpower the General before giving him his satisfaction. Besides, right now how far he would get was an unknown. His mouth was a mass of agony, several teeth were missing or loose, their exposed nerves a constant reminder to him that real pain, real agony was just a movement away. His jaw was obviopusly broken, virtually stopping him from eating solids and his head thumped mercilessly. His medical training suggesting possibly a fractured skull. Now it was time to face the music again.

He had actually wondered why it had taken so long for his tormentor to return. The only thing he could think of was that something big was happening operationally and this had taken his full attention. Phelps had noted the increase in air activity and in particular the massed dawn takeoff of the previous day. He had actually counted out the jets and noted that to the best of his abilities that there seemed to be aircraft missing when they returned several hours later. The thought that the taskforce might be close buoyed him immensely, every day he remained alive increased his chances of survival.

With Phelps securely strapped in his chair, Fernandez removed his jacket and took his place immediately behind the prisoner.

‘Now, Senor Phelps, tell me all about your people, how many are out there and what are they planning. If you tell me I will leave you alone, I will get you medical treatment and you will live. If not, well then, you will be my source of pleasure for some considerable time, Senor Phelps. The choice is yours. Now tell me how many of you are there?’

Phelps braced himself for the inevitable, trying to focus intently on something distant in an effort to dampen the pain of what was to follow.

‘My name is....’

Fernandez’s baton found its mark precisely on Phelp's shattered jaw, the blood curdling scream of the SAS man resonating through the building and well beyond its walls.

Fernandez asked the question again and again the same reply.

Phelps barely felt the impact upon his shoulder as the baton strived to smash his left collarbone. The pain a few seconds later though surged through him and he had no choice but to scream as agony enveloped his very being.

‘Stop screaming you cowardly bastard’ Fernandez ranted At the top of his voice as he began to hit Phelps repeatedly with the baton.

The two guards stood by anxiously, terrified at what they were witnessing, this was not what the modern Argentine Army was about, and they were on the verge of fleeing when Fernandez's deputy, Carlos Astiz burst into the room.

‘What on earth is going on Edwardio?’ Astiz yelled in alarm.

Fernandez stopped and looked his deputy in the eye, looked across to the two visibly shaken squaddies and down at the grossly disfigured man writhing in agony, his entire face and chest soaked in blood. Without saying a word Fernandez wiped his baton clean on a towel, picked up his jacket and left.

Carlos Astiz looked disgusted, he turned to the two guards and gave an order that surprised but also heartened them.

‘I want this prisoner cleaned up, then get him medical care and late tonight personally transfer him to the cells in Stanley prison. I don’t want anyone to know he’s gone and I don't want anyone at Stanley to know he’s there. Organise enough guards to ensure that at least two are with him at any time. If he ever tries to escape, shoot him. Do you understand?’

The two young soldiers understood exactly what the Brigadier had said. Indeed the admiration they felt for him was almost as strong as their loathing for his superior.

 

The fleet was at last on its way. Ships moved southwards on a common bearing, ships that from the centre of the vast formation seemed to reach to the horizon in both directions. Big ships, small ships, warships and converted merchant men alike and in amongst them a great ocean liner.

Captain Eric Cooper had been busy on the bridge of his beloved Canberra all day and now with the Ascension anchorage some seven hours astern he could take a few minutes to reflect on his good fortune at being handed back his ship for what surely would be both their final voyages. God, he missed this, he thought, and realised that in many ways he didn’t care if he didn’t come back. How could you retire to a cottage, even by the seaside, when life had this to offer!

A kilometer abeam the great liner on her starboard side cruised the two fleet carriers Invincible and Illustrious, the Sea Harriers, helicopters and assorted deck paraphernalia clearly visible. Cooper eyed the planes, so small and seemingly fragile in this vast mass of emptiness and secretly wondered how they would fight off the vast air armada that would fight them to the death.

To Canberra’s port sailed the third carrier, HMS Ark Royal, while abeam her two converted bulk carriers, Southern Adventure and her sister Southern Regent ploughed on through the swells of the South Atlantic. Both these large ships, in the 50,000 tonne class, had been hurriedly converted to improvised mini carriers largely for helicopter use though it had been rumoured that RAF Harriers would operate from them when they got closer to the Falklands.

Beyond them sailed the booties in Ocean and another converted flat top, the Carnivale. Nobody would say too much about this ship and he was damned if he could figure it out. It had a long launching ramp running several hundred metres and space alongside it for a number of large containers. What it did beyond that was obviously a secret. He just hoped that whatever trick it had been trained for was one that meant something at the end of the day.

And even from his grand platform he couldn’t see all of the ships in the fleet this day. There were 56 in all including some of the smaller auxiliaries and post hostilities support vessels that were already intentionally being left well astern as speed of journey was not their objective. And, with great relief, he also knew that there were three other ships, or boats as they were properly called, sailing ahead and abeam of them that would ensure safety from the enemy below.

An impressive battlefleet, good ships going in harm's way.

 

Robyn Olds and her crew had hit pay dirt. Her efforts at being as pleasant as possible to as many people as possible in direct contrast to some of her media equivalents, had paid dividends.

Robyn viewed the assembled fleet, and Canberra in the far distance from the after deck of Ocean. She, her three male crew and nearly a thousand Royal Marine commandos.

All very macho, all very pissed off at having to do this again, and at having the Paras continually tell them that they were the guys who lost it last time, and all ready to kick arse.

Robyn sampled the view with discretion, not daring to get out of her combat fatigues and only adding a modest touch of lipstick when they went live to air. This was most definitely not the place to look even remotely desirable!

 

Several thousand kilometres to the sou sou west at South Georgia, Monica Prossor sat alone outside the field hospital.

Her crew and the rest of the aircrew had wanted to console her but she just wanted a few moments peace to sort it all out. Why it had happened, who had done it and what happened next. Her brother, the other half of her soul since she was a toddler had been taken from her, never to return.

Jason Prossor had been injured in the impact of the first missile. He had remained conscious for several hours but with minimal capability for treating his substantial burns and trauma injuries it was a foregone conclusion that his time had come. He and 74 others had perished in the final seconds of the short combat life of HMS Norfolk.

Many wanted immediate revenge but there was nothing they could do as all the ASW birds had been denuded of their crucial kit. By the time it had been reinstalled, crosschecked and aligned, the submarine was well away.

Nimrods were already coming down from Ascension but in an ocean this vast there was little anyone expected beyond frustration. By bad timing there was also not a nuclear hunter killer available as all were already overtaxed patrolling the TEZ or escorting the main battle fleet.

Monica at least could console herself with the thought that tomorrow was another day and a day when she would take her helo aboard one of the converted container ships that was coming specially to South Georgia. Apparently the brass had finally realised just how critical AEW was and were busy raking up every such helo they could.

Monica was ready to fight back, it was all she had left.


CHAPTER 21

Captain Eric Ritley awoke as planned at first light. And first light it literally was as unlike the previous four days this dawn was one of blazing sunshine. Good news for almost everybody on the Islands except the small force of ‘invisible’ special forces operatives that were now well entrenched in their respective hides.

Ritley knew he couldn’t abandon his hide now. Its position was such that strategically it was crucial that he remain so as to be able to report the air activity back to the UK.

Though few Argentine troops had been seen in his area, the rocky hilltop he was ensconsed on had been slowly overflown several times by helicopter during the brief interludes of rain. The cam netting had done its trick, so much so that Ritley was confident that a soldier would have to be literally alongside to be able to detect it. Dogs, he knew, would be a different story though fortunately the patrols he had seen hadn’t bought their canine friends. He hoped fervently that it would remain that way.

He had not heard from Peter Phelps for three days. A bad sign, and one that meant that almost certainly he had either been killed or captured. Steve Walls though had enjoyed better luck, making his 60 kilometre trek over a three day period aided by the bad weather and the surprisingly few enemy troops in the area he was now surveying.

Also buoying Ritley was the fact that he and Walls were no longer on their own. Both men were aware of the SBS teams and roughly where they were. When the time came they would be important sources of on the ground intel that would be impossible to garner by any other means. It seemed a humble beginning but at least stage one of the operation to recover the Falklands was firmly in place.

 

Harry Kemp was glad he had woken up. One deficit of not being a youngster anymore is that your ageing bladder tends to ensure that you must at some stage of the night get up to attend to nature. Such was the case this morning, though Harry was most definitely not prepared for what was about to happen.

As he was getting back into bed he heard a noise coming from the police station cell block directly opposite his cottage. Leaving the lights off he went to the window to investigate only to see an army truck and half a dozen soldiers taking what was obviously a prisoner into the station. Harry watched intently, curious as to why they were in his station and who was the prisoner. Thinking through the situation he decided to wait and see what happened rather than openly confronting them and possibly losing a potential opportunity to assist the prisoner. His patience was rewarded after just a half hour when the truck with its lights dimmed rambled off, leaving just two guards in the station. He couldn’t see what they were doing and so carefully left the cottage to get a better look through one of the side windows, well away from the rear door so he wouldn’t be noticed if one of the guards ventured out to check the rear of the facility.

Harry couldn’t see the entire cell area but from what he could he was able to make out that the prisoner was obviously a British soldier. He was definitely not an Islander. Harry prided himself on knowing all 2138 Islanders personally and this chap most definitely wasn’t one of them. Furthermore he was obviously injured, groaned a lot and wore bandages about his forehead.

There had been rumours that a small band of soldiers had escaped the Argentines that first night and had taken to the hills though nobody had ever seen them and so the rumour had died a natural death after a fortnight or so. Still, the fact that three of the Hercs had been blown up that first night must account for something. Then there was also the submarine explosion, something that not even the Argentines seemed to have a straight answer for. Harry figured that obviously they had captured this man though why he had been brought here and not kept at the base was something he couldn’t understand.

He had better keep an eye on this, he thought, and tell John Slade first thing in the morning. This man is a national hero, he shouldn’t bloody well be in custody, and more importantly I think its time he tasted freedom!

 

Captain Jose Cardo felt apprehensive but there was little he could do. He really didn’t have a choice in either accepting or prosecuting this mission. It was a job that had to be done and that was that.

Cardo looked over the navigation charts one more time. Was there something he and the others had missed or was it just nerves. Probably the latter he thought as he diverted his attention to the view beyond the Patagonia’s navigation bridge.

They had been clear of the bleak and windswept refuelling facility at Rio Grande for barely two hours and had just been joined by their escorts that would shepherd the ungainly tanker to the Malvinas. Situated abeam the starboard flank of the 49,000 tonne Patagonia idled the ageing Type 42 destroyer Hercules. To his port steamed the two Meko 140 frigates Rosales and Espona while well out ahead of the convoy zig zagged probably the best equipped of the four warships, a lone Meko 360 Heroina. Indeed it was her job to sail ahead of the other ships and use her sonar to scan for the submarine threat they knew surely awaited them.

The fuel must get through though, it was as simple as that. Already more than half of the not unsubstantial storage facilities on the Malvinas were exhausted and this would not only top them up but would also keep about a third in reserve. The British attack subs though were considered formidable foes and everyone in this unusual convoy this day knew full well that they would be easily tracked not only be satellite but also by any agents that the British had put in place to monitor such things.

In an effort to take the shortest route the five ships would sail direct to Choiseul Sound where the primary fuel depot was situated. However, their transit time in the territorial exclusion zone would be more than 16 hours as the best speed that Patagonia would be able to maintain would be a meagre 18 knots.

Captain Cardo knew his ship was nothing more than a sitting duck, even with the Navy’s Grumman Trackers working overtime to seed the ocean ahead of them with sonobuoys in an effort to detect the British subs. Great, he thought, but what do we do then, it seemed to mean little to the high command in BA that it wasn’t much use in detecting your enemy if you can’t defend yourself against his weaponry. Indeed the ASW capability of the accompanying warships was minimal to say the least and probably about as much a threat to a British Trafalgar as a fly is to a lion. Something that Jose Cardo felt might be ably demonstrated in the days ahead.

 

The dreams had seemed to progressively get worse. Lieutenant Commander Graeme Evans’ hands shook as he laid them on top of his chest. The problem was though that it wasn’t just his hands that were shaking, his entire body shivered with an intensity he had never experienced before.

As his mind hovered somewhere between reality, intermittent unconsciousness and pain he slowly realised that this was the way it was going to end. Alone out here, saturated, freezing out of food and water and no longer caring. The first sign of hypothermia, Evans had briefly concluded hours before, when he could still manage a semblance of a coherent thought. That was then, this was now and he didn’t even realise he was over caring what became of him. Alone in the windswept ocean he shut his eyes and gritted his teeth against the cold that seemed to be invading his entire being.

This dream was more real than the others. The voices louder and more organised. Men were reaching for him in the gloom, men yelling, men clad in black rubber, men from the large dark shape that rolled in the huge swell before him. He grunted incoherently, his face weathered and blistered, as the alien forms did their best to carefully manhandle him into the zodiac for the short journey to the awaiting submarine.

HMS Sovereign had been ordered south to the area of Evan’s ejection at flank speed as soon as the specific location of the Sarbe beacon had been verified. Fortunately the unit was able to keep operating for a full three days before its battery finally became too weak to transmit. By that time Sovereign was already in the area and ready to make a pick up. A dangerous activity at the best of times, add high seas, bad weather and a possible threat of enemy attack whilst on the surface and you had a mission that the crew of this submarine sincerely hoped they wouldn't have to do again.

Once aboard, Evans was washed and placed in the infirmary with a saline drip to help replenish his dehydrated body.

It was almost half a day later that he finally came to. His mind had noted that the uncontrollable shaking had long ceased, that the inner core of his body was actually now warm, that his mouth had lost much of its parched feeling. He slowly opened his eyes, his body lying still beneath the clean sheets and warm blankets and blinked at even the soft lighting. A movement caught his mind’s attention as the curtain slowly was drawn and a youngish man smiled down at him.

‘So you’re back in the land of the living Lieutenant Commander?’

Brent Miller was the resident medico and had been watching over his newfound patient, Nautilus, as the boat’s crew had nicknamed him, since he had been plucked from the sea the previous afternoon.

‘Where am I, who are you?’ Evans slowly moved his lips and realised that not only was he alive but he was somewhere safe.

‘Well to be precise, you are aboard one of Her Majesty’s nuclear submarines at a depth of around 800 feet and we’re heading into battle at around 32 knots. Oh, and I am Lieutenant Brent Miller, the boat’s doctor. Welcome to HMS Sovereign Lieutenant Commander.’

Evans looked dumbfounded and slowly the picture became clearer.

‘You’re looking better already. I’ll run a check on you now you're back in the land of the living and a few days rest and some good food and you will be right as rain.’ Miller advised, his friendly persona and this magnificent creature of the sea making Evans realise that sometimes luck truly did go your way.

Miller was propping his patient up with several pillows when a large beared man entered the small infirmary.

‘Ah Miller, The Royal Navy’s latest fighter ace is back with us, jolly good!’

‘Commodore Matthew O’Brien’, the big man announced as he thrust out his hand in welcome.

Evans swallowed and smiled, not knowing what to say as he tried to get his brain into gear.

‘I’m Sovereign’s skipper, if you hadn’t already guessed, and its great to have you back with us. There was a period there when we didn’t think we would be able to locate you from just the Sarbe beacon. A real race against time but here you are safe and sound. What’s more, we have been ordered to give you a few days enforced rest, some good tucker and at the first opportunity you will be helicoptered off to rejoin your airborne friends.

Evans looked stunned, his brain now working overtime to take in the meaning of the words he had just heard.

‘You mean I will get another chance to fly in this war?’

‘Well for better or for worse, yes it does appear you will. We are now sailing north to principally back up the maritime exclusion zone around the Islands. I have a feeling we may have some activity before we are able to drop you off though the plan is to rendezvous with one of the surface ships well to the east of the Islands and helicopter you off. Now I think it’s time the doc had his moment of fame and I left you in peace. After all, I’ve got a war to run.

A quarter hour later ‘doctor’ O’Brien had also completed his task of checking out the weather soaked aviator. A light meal, ordinary food that had never before tasked so good, a cocoa and back to sleep. Evans pondered his good fortune and wondered if after already downing six enemy aircraft he would be so lucky when and if he got to fly combat again. It was a thought that kept him awake for some considerable time.

 

Admiral Ian Kennedy surveyed the mass of humanity before him in HMS Ocean’s wardroom and privately thought that at last, this was ‘it’.

After almost two months of laborious preparation his taskforce was at last not only together but barely three days away from its objective. This was the final mass brief to all the senior commanders responsible for the dozens of separate but interwoven facets of this grand operation. Today would assess the final intelligence updates and run over any queries that had arisen since a similar brief the previous afternoon.

Kennedy stood at the lecturn on the small stage while behind him stood a large map of the region, covering roughly half of the entire South Atlantic and another with a detailed map of the Falklands themselves. Almost a hundred people crowded before him on small plastic stackable chairs. He looked towards the back of the room and the communications technician respectfully gave him a thumbs up. The direct real time satellite video link with Northwood and High Wycombe thirteen thousand kilometres away was in place and functioning as advertised. Despite his experience and rank he felt fairly nervous about this, after all the PM, his own Defence Secretary and hundreds of others of note would to an extent be joining him this afternoon via the marvels of modern technology.

‘Good afternoon team’ he beamed.

Once upon a time, he reflected, he would have started with the traditional ‘good afternoon gentlemen’ though that was nowadays not the case as before him sat at least a dozen highly capable and hard working females, this was a new sort of war in more ways then one for the old salts of the Senior Service.

‘Today I will brief you on the latest intel outlook on our enemy. What he has, what he might do with it and how we can counter his defences, and win.’

The mass of officers watched him intently, the sparring and jokes of recent weeks now well and truly gone as the cold reality of the nearness of 21st Century combat loomed ever larger by the hour.

‘As you know, we have a small number of specialist observers already ashore. We also still have access to a very brave civilian in Stanley who is updating us several times a day. This crucial on the ground intel is being backed up by real time data from the US Keyhole satellite system and from just before the landings we will also have our own UAVs in operation. We also have a number of specialists on the mainland monitoring the movements at Rio Grande, Ushuaia, Rio Gallegos, Santa Cruz and Comodoro Rivadavia as well at BA, Trelew and Puerto Belgrano. Our aim will be for we, in the operation command centre on this ship, to know of every raid at moment of liftoff from any mainland base. We will then hopefully be able to intercept most raids as they reach West Falkland whereas last time this was almost impossible because the carriers were so far to the east.

‘The enemy has assembled quite a formidable force on the Islands. To the best of our knowledge we have agreed that there are at least four battalions, possibly a fifth in place. There are at least 50 mobile ZSU-23/4 AAA units while the infantry has also deployed man portable SA-7 and SA-14 SAMs. The SA-7s Grails are updated versions of the sixties original but could still be effective if multiples are fired. The -14 of course is much more capable so it will be vital that all aircraft maintain their low level airspeed above 400 knots. For the helicopters though they will be a real problem, which is why we will use, at least at first, the helos only in the bridgehead supply role.

‘Other SAM systems we know they have are a limited number of SA-6 and SA-10 units. The latter is of extreme consequence as it is a highly capable long range system that in some cases might well operate into the envelope of our high altitude Harrier PGM launches. SAM 10s, Grumble as it’s codenamed, are located at Mount Pleasant and Stanley airfields though fortunately nowhere else on the Islands though we note that they have at least three more units stowed at Mount Pleasant ready for deployment by Chinook. A major priority will be to destroy these missiles.

‘We know that they have at least 90 helicopters on the Islands including six Chinooks, a dozen Pumas and the rest are mostly Hueys and half a dozen Alouette IIIs. About a quarter of the Hueys are configured as gunships and again these will be a big threat no matter how successful our initial landings. At present we count 24 Kfirs and 26 Skyhawks based on the Islands plus several dozen Pucara and Mohawk recce aircraft. The latter two are also based at the outlying settlements as are the various helicopters. They don’t appear to have instituted a massed air cav operation based out of Mount Pleasant. Our conclusion thus is that they will use their helos to fly in small units of specialist troops to wherever they are immediately needed rather than putting all their eggs in the one basket. This could be a smart tactic on their part so we will have to respond to ensure it doesn’t work as well as they have planned. I will elaborate on our tactical response later.

‘On the mainland we have at least another three dozen Kfirs, most of which would now be operational and a dozen more Skyhawks. These are all the highly effective M version purchased from the US a few years back. They also still have around two dozen older Skyhawks and around 50 updated Mirages and Daggers as well as a dozen Super Etendard strike fighters. The Kfirs, A-4Ms and Super Etendards are all Exocet carriers and we are still unclear whether or not their half dozen Electra’s also have this capability. We know for certain that they have at least 200 Exocet missiles and are not afraid to use them, as we have already seen.’

At this, most of the group fidgeted and many momentarily were lost in thought at the mauling the RN had taken in recent days.

‘I know what you are all thinking and I have some good news. One hour ago York was met by Battleaxe and some of her wounded were transferred to the larger, and undamaged medical facilities aboard that ship. They will be helicoptered off as soon as Battleaxe gets within helo range of a hospital ship. York herself is continuing satisfactorily on her own power at 12 knots and will continue with her escort till Ascension.

‘We haven’t been able to make any firm contacts against the sub that got Norfolk. It has obviously fled into the Atlantic and is believed to be heading for the Falklands. They have one other sub also and we think it is in Falkland Sound, obviously waiting for an opportunity to strike. Our boats in that area are on the lookout for it and hopefully when it plays its hand we will be able to strike.

‘To the specifics of the invasion. It is no secret that we have something like 36 hours to make this operation work. If we haven't achieved all of our objectives in that day and a half then we may not even be able to hold onto what we did get.’

The silence and tension in the room was almost claustaphobic as each man and woman fully digested the implications of what had just been said as Kennedy paused for a moment to pick up his pointer and tap the map of the Islands themselves.

‘This will be a brief overview, I will go into detail after. The fleet will split into two separate carrier battle groups just here, about 300 kilometres north east of Stanley. Blue force, led by Illustrious, Invincible and two assault ships plus six anti air and ASW escorts will surge down towards Pebble Island where their Chinooks and Sea Kings will land the initial group of Paras that have already been transferred from Canberra. Several hours before the assault a squadron of SAS will have landed covertly on Pebble Island and will engage the defensive positions from behind as the first helos cross the horizon. Our intel, and we have people on the ground there, tells us that there is only a force of around 200 defenders there, backed up by several 155mm and 105mm heavy artillery plus an SA-6 unit. These will all be taken out prior to the first wave of helos arriving. That will be precisely at midnight. By dawn we must have the operational infrastructure in place to begin Harrier operations from the Pebble Island airfield. By 02.00 we must also have our Jernas SAM system in place and our mortar and Milan units also dispersed to fend off any concerted attack. Fortunately they have seemed to have left the door open here this time just as they did at San Carlos in ’82. With the airhead in place at Pebble we can operate our AEW helos as far west as the Jasons while being able to provide buddy system Harrier CAPs that not only protect the base itself but also hopefully don’t penetrate to East Falkland where the ground war will largely take place.

‘The primary landing, by the booties of white force, will be here at Port Louis and to a lesser extent at Bluff Cove. Again, Chinooks will be used to full advantage and all helos will only be taken out of service if they suffer crucial battle damage or a major unserviceability. As you can see, we truly don’t have much time to take and augment these beachheads and the helos will be the key to victory. In each case the first waves will be via helos with the secondary reinforcements only coming ashore once the area has been secured and an air defence envelope activated.

‘White force comprises Ark Royal, Ocean and the various convertibles carrying the GR.7s and extra helos. This battle group will not only be responsible for the Port Louis white force invasion but also a smaller penetration down here at Bluff Cove. The Bluff Cove initiative will be to gain real estate between their two primary bases at Mount Pleasant and Port Stanley. It will be taken, there are no enemy there in the immediate beachhead area, by 400 Paras from Canberra who will shortly after be backed up by an airdrop of an additional 400.

‘To say this latter move has been agonised over for weeks is an understatement. We will be flying the 400 Paras plus tonnes of stores and materiel from Ascension in 12 Hercules. They will need no less than 28 tankers to support them, the majority of which will be USAF KC-10s from our American friends. The ability though to double the size of our force on the ground though will enable us to rapidly cut off both centres and isolate the two primary Argentine garrisons. They have little armour in place and our Milan units will be used as mobile forward artillery while Milan units will also move forward backed by at least two dozen support troops and three Starstreak units. Jernas will remain to largely protect the beachheads though some also will be towed forward by Scimitars to extend the air defence envelope. None of our helos or aircraft will be used in the hostile zones until we have complete air superiority.

‘This is a maximum effort operation and as I said earlier we will have just a day and a half to make it work. After than we don’t have enough resources to enable us to maintain the intensity of defensive and offensive effort required to regain the Islands. In that time we will have round the clock AEW support from RAF E-3D Sentrys. These will air refuel here,’ Kennedy tapped a position around 500 kliks to the east of Stanley.

‘We can only keep them there, on station for five hours at a time and even then each aircraft would have logged between 20 and 24 hours airborne just to give us an AEW CAP for a few hours. You can see now why we can’t maintain this level of intensity for more than a day and a half. Similarly, the Sea Harriers and their RAF land attack cousins, plus the helos, will only realistically be able to maintain the level of flying this mission demands for a day and a half. Even when we are scheduled to downphase to grade two status we will still be flying between two thirds and three quarters of the aircraft operating hours that we began with. We should, though be able to maintain that for between six and ten days, so either way this entire operation will have to be wrapped up in a fortnight at the latest or we will not be able to sustain a continued presence.

Even if we can successfully overcome the airpower threat based on the Islands, and more about that later, we will have a force mainland based that is far in excess of what they had in 1982. And this time they will be unimpeded by the lack of missiles they possess.

‘Against them we will be able to field just 37 Sea Harriers. We have scrounged up every airframe available, even one that had been literally written off last year after a landing accident. The final three come aboard Illustrious this afternoon, having flown direct from Ascension. There is literally not one single Sea Harrier left in the UK. On the GR.7s we are better off and are not constrained by numbers. We are however constrained by platforms from which to operate them from. Each of the three carriers embarks eight Sea Harriers and 12 GR.7s. That leaves us deploying 13 Shars and 35 GR.7s to Pebble. The GR.7s will operate with the Shars as we practiced on the way south in addition to undertaking direct ground support missions. Most of the GR.7s are stored, awaiting deployment aboard the two convertible container ships and these will be used as helo support ships once the Harriers have departed for Pebble.

‘Well, that’s a rough initial brief of the overview. Any questions?’

There was much nervous movement within the group as people hurriedly shuffled notes and got their priority of thoughts together.

‘Is it at all possible to have a Tornado CAP over the Islands in that initial period.’ queried a Royal Marine Major.

‘We looked at that with great intensity. Unfortunately, to maintain a single two aircraft CAP over West Falkland, where it would need to be, we would require something like 30 Tornados airborne at any one time with a minimum of 22 KC-10 class tankers. It was also likely that if engaged they would not have enough fuel to actually recover westwards to their tanker to even begin the nine hour transit back to Ascension. We also have only limited SAR capability beneath the airbridge between the Falklands and Ascension while the pilots themselves would have been in their cockpits for up to a dozen hours when engaged. I don’t think we can expect fighter pilots to be fully in sync after a mission like that, not at least against fresh and well trained adversaries in highly capable aircraft, which to boot will also probably be flown in numbers far greater than we can field at any time.’

The room fell silent momentarily as the enormity of the task again became evident. The distance between Ascension and Pebble Island, for instance, was something in the order of nearly six and a half thousand kilometres, with the outbound flight usually also having the luxury of a headwind.

‘What’s the latest on the submarine threat?’ asked a Brigadier from the Welsh Guards.

‘To be honest, we are still a little fuzzy on this. It is a major worry. We have at this moment Nimrods scouting ahead of us but they can only do so much as we are rapidly nearing the region where we could expect an attack from Kfirs. The fleet presently has three submarines ahead and abeam of us and there are five more in the region of the TEZ. We expect an action there at any moment as they are attempting to resupply the primary fuel storage facilities near Mount Pleasant at Choiseul Sound. We will be letting them get their tanker there safely, then we will take out the escorts to ensure the tanker stays there for the duration. We will also be taking out the pumping stations so in fact they will not be able to use the fuel. That at least is the plan.

Back to their submarines. They had four, lost two and so we expect they will enter combat with the two remaining. One has already been successfully used off South Georgia and the fact that an intensive Sea King, Type 23 frigate and Nimrod search has not found it indicates that it is heading our way. Still, these subs are not in the class of our nukes and when they are forced to charge their batteries using their diesel engine, that is hopefully when we will be able to detect them and prosecute an attack.’

The members of the senior service took all this in with pride though it was obvious to the RAF and Army personnel present that it all smelt a trifle hypothetical.

‘The real problem is if they have, as we believe, another sub in Falkland Sound. We cannot operate a nuke in there very easily due to the confined space for our relatively large boats. There are other ways to achieve success though and we might be able to track it using the four new Merlins we have on this ship. To attack us it also must come out to reach the Pebble Island battle group, if that happens it will be engaged by at least two of our nukes. That I am assured.’

‘What tactics do you think their air force will use to attack the fleet?’ queried an RN Commodore.

‘To be honest, we don’t know. But before the invasion our defence attache in BA actually sailed aboard one of their Type 42s and went through four days on almost nonstop air attack. He felt, in retrospect, that they were making a point to take back to London so that we would realise that their air force, and navy, were now more than ably equipped and trained to destroy a surface naval fleet. Going on that I would have to surmise, and all our intelligence people agree, that they would be mad if they didn’t attack in force. Their best option would be to defeat us by sheer weight of numbers.

‘After all, we sent down two singletons to suss them out and we got a bloody nose. I imagine they themselves didn’t miss the lesson of that exercise whilst their air attack on Norfolk was prosecuted by what our American friends term an Alpha Strike, a large formation of a mix of aircraft. They still paid a heavy price but in reality that was more a matter of luck on our part than anything clever we did.

‘To better answer your question. If they attack in force, we will defend with all we have with our limited force of Harriers whilst our ships will formate into a defensive formation with the escorts serving to protect the larger ships. It’s all we can do.’

The room fell silent for a moment and Admiral Kennedy took the opportunity to move onto the next item in the briefing.

‘Now team, the crucial part of the mission, just how we eliminate the Island based airpower.....

 

General Edwardio Fernandez slumped in his chair, the spirit finally drained from his body, as he re-read the communiqué before him.

General Fernandez. You are hereby ordered to stand down as military commander of Malvinas Forces. Brigadier Carlos Astiz is now to assume the rank of General and to take control of all land, air and maritime forces in the Malvinas precinct. You are ordered to return to the Condor Building on this afternoon’s shuttle. Regards Horacio Lunaz, Commander in Chief, Argentine Military Command.

Just like that! He thought. An entire career over in the few seconds it takes for a message to appear out of a telefax machine. That bloody SAS bastard was the last straw. That mongrel Astiz must have reported me, so nice on the outside but a scheming Quisling on the inside, just waiting to take my chair. I can’t do anything about him but I can the Anglaise bastard.

With that Fernandez stormed out of the room and towards the lockup. When he got there he found the cell empty.

‘Where’s the prisoner!’ he screamed at the young squaddie who was tidying up. The young recruit, barely a man yet was grabbed firmly by the General and lifted off the floor.

‘Now tell me where he is!’ screamed Fernandez into the face of the terrified soldier.

‘He’s gone, sir, to the lockup in Stanley, Brigideir Astiz ordered it yesterday.’

Fernandez lowered the soldier and seemed to barely notice his trembling presence as he slowly seethed. With that he stormed out of the block, got into his car and raced towards Stanley.

 

It was only early morning but already Harry Kemp was watching the guard house in case they began to interrogate the prisoner. If that happened he wasn’t going to idly stand by and let his ally suffer.

‘Where’s bloody Slade?’ he whispered to himself in frustration.

John Slade was due there any moment and Kemp really needed his counsel as to precisely what to do if they should start on the prisoner again. After all, Slade had been military and he knew a lot more about tactics and things like that than Harry did.

‘Bloody hell, there they go again, the bastards!’ Kemp said to nobody as the first of what was usually a flight of four Kfirs or Skyhawks thundered at low level directly over his house, shaking every window in the cottage and even rattling the cutlery. Word was that it was being done deliberately, since the locals had become hostile, as a show of force to try and subjugate them. It wasn’t working though, as Harry knew, just pissing off the locals even more and wasting fuel as the Argies kept their Kfirs in burner longer for special effect.

Just after the fourth jet had departed to the north Kemp heard a car screech to a half at the front of the station. A door slammed and shouted Spanish indicated that something major was about to occur. He got up from his position near the window of his bathroom and grabbed his shotgun and moved carefully to the back of the station where he couldn’t be seen.

‘Where’s the bloody Anglaise?’ screamed Fernandez as he burst through the door into the small police station. The two guards leapt to attention, saluted the General then stood motionless while he surged into one of the cells.

‘Ah, my SAS friend. You will take no doubt much joy in knowing that you have succeeded in getting me fired. Thanks to you I have been relieved of my command and am to return to the mainland.’

Peter Phelps heard the commotion and froze. Hell, was this it, he thought, the final visit from the deranged General that would end it all, forever?

Phelps rose from the bed as best he could, his head still bloodied and covered with bandages.

‘Get in here,’ Fernandez screamed at the two terrified guards.

Phelps stood there in the small cell, a guard at either side as Fernandez moved forward, holstering his revolver and withdrawing his baton.

He moved forward as the two guards nervously held the prisoner with their eyes deferred from what was to happen as Fernandez moved into position just ahead of Phelps and raised his arm to strike.

‘Stop right there’ came a firm but even voice from behind the General.

Fernandez froze for an instant at the unexpected sound of an Englishman and slowly turned round, still holding his arm and baton high ready to strike whatever was now trying to ruin his final pleasure.

‘Drop the baton and move back’ Harry Kemp slowly ordered.

‘No way!’ Fernandez leered in faltering English, a language he knew just a little of.

‘Who are you?’ Fernandez queried.

‘That doesn’t matter, but I know you are the bastard that sentenced to death my Sandra and butchered this prisoner, and that's all I am interested in’, Kemp replied coldly looking the other man in the eye, knowing full well what his next action would be.

In an instant Fernandez flung down his arm to strike Harry Kemp but not before the Falklander raised his 12 gauge and pumped multiple rounds into the General’s torso.

He was propelled back by the impact and into Phelps who immediately leapt out at both guards. It was unnecessary though as both had let go and themselves dived for cover towards the corners of the cell. They clearly didn’t want to tussle with either the enraged armed Falklander or the soon to be armed SAS man. This was clearly more than they had signed up for.

‘What’s going on, yelled John Slade as he hurried in.

Fortunately the sound of the shots had been masked by a second flight of Kfirs and he himself hadn’t heard the shotgun blasts even though he was at the porch at the time.

We’ve got ourselves our own personal battle casualty John, and saved a prisoner in the process. Phelps was tying up the two soldiers with the ropes that would have been used on himself if Kemp hadn’t intervened.

Christ Almighty, the word's that the fleet is just days away and now this. Come on, we better dig a grave in the back yard and keep these two under lock and key. They will begin to miss this bastard pretty soon no doubt.

‘That’s right.’ added Phelps, ‘For better or for worse, you chaps are now in the services of the British Army.


CHAPTER 22

Brigadier Carlos Astiz entered the office, surprised to find his commander absent. After all, they had arranged this 10:40 review of security just the afternoon before and despite whatever other shortfalls Fernandez had he was always a stickler for being on time.

‘Where’s General Fernandez?’ Astiz queried his adjutant.

“I don’t know sir. I got here just after seven and I haven’t seen him in that time. There are a number of messages for him and his pager isn’t responding. Also, there is a telefax from the ministry on his desk that I think you should see.

Astiz acknowledged the adjutant and entered Fernandez’s office, somewhat fearful of what he might find. His attention was immediately drawn to the telefax that had come via the General’s private line. Astiz carefully read the message and stood momentarily in stunned silence, digesting the not inconsiderable implications of what its words suggested.

Jesus, he though, he must have gone over the edge when he read this. He’s probably gone off somewhere to be alone. On the other hand maybe he’s gone looking for that British prisoner, the mad bastard would have killed him if I hadn’t intervened. Better handle this discretely though, the shuttle doesn’t leave till 15:00 so that gives us a few hours to locate him.

With that Astiz picked up the General’s phone and called security.

‘Brigadier Astiz here, I want half a dozen soldiers immediately and two vehicles.’

Astiz would get them to run a low level search of the base. If there was no dividend there then it was into Stanley where he had sincerely hoped his ex commander hadn’t ventured. He knew without need to be told that there were a lot of angry people in there just waiting for the slightest opportunity of dealing with Fernandez on a one on one basis. And with the British fleet just days away that was the very last thing that the new commander of forces Malvinas Islands needed.

 

The two older men had been more than happy to hand over their newfound military responsibilities to Trooper Peter Phelps as soon as they realised just what his ‘occupation’ in the military really was. The two guards were quickly put to work digging a makeshift, though deep, grave behind one of the three police cottages. Plants would be placed on top along with the entire garden area being drenched in blood and bone fertiliser, a cheap and certain way to destroy the olifary capabilities of even the most ardent sniffer dog.

Slade had departed to collect some civvy gear for the two young soldiers and the SAS man and to arrange a safe house for all of them. It was time to implement the plan that Slade, Hunter and Kemp had laboured over the previous two days. A plan for arming a select group of reliable Islanders with the weapons they possessed in case they could somehow actively contribute to the British efforts in recapturing their Islands. With an SAS man leading the pack they both felt reinvigorated to the point of marching out to Mount Pleasant and taking it single handedly, something that Phelps had politely suggested was perhaps not the wisest option available.

All of them knew that the General would be quickly missed and it wouldn’t take long for them to track down where he had come to. It would have been wisest, all agreed, to have buried the body somewhere else. Unfortunately it was just too risky to take the chance of being seen undertaking what was not a five minute exercise. The stench of the blood and bone and the simple fact that within a day or so, at the latest, the Argentine command would have its plate full with defending its turf were the only two real allies the three men had this day.

 

The chief sensor operator aboard HMS Exeter saw it first. Initially faint and confused amongst a sea of electronic signals, but there none the less and growing more discernible by the minute.

‘Captain, I have something positive, looks like a series nine air to surface surveillance radar in long range search mode. Exactly what they have on their Electras.’ the sensor operator confidently informed his captain and the other three technicians deep in Exeter’s command and control centre.

Exeter, a Type 42 destroyer similar to the ill fated York was sailing well ahead of the main carrier battle group in company with two Type 23 Frigates, Richmond and the Iron Duke. It wouldn’t have passed the attention of any of these ships crews that they were sisters to the two warships that had so far been mauled by Argentina though fortunately in this case they were most definitely not alone.

The three lead ships' duties were as forward pickets, a role primarily the province of Exeter. All of the fleet at this stage was sailing radar silent with comms being kept to a minimum. As such the lead ships would have loved to have been running their powerful anti air search radars but this would have revealed their presence at a great distance. It was wisely decided thus to use the ships sophisticated suite of passive sensors to detect the airborne enemy first, long before they had hopefully been able to ‘see’ their seaborne targets using their own aircraft radar.

‘I confirm it’s an Electra, range about 500 kilometres to our south west on a bearing of one one zero. It shouldn't be able to detect us until it’s about half that distance to us. It looks to be running a classic zig zag search pattern so that gives us around 20, maybe 25 minutes before it sees us.’ the sensor operator slowly narrated, eyes fixated by the information coming up on the threat board alongside his ESM scope.

‘Where’s the Nimrod?’ barked the captain to the second operator.

‘Right here sir, just 450 kliks to our south east, about 300 from the Electra which looks due to be turning into it at any moment.’ came the response.

At that instant the priority phone rang, indicating an urgent message for the captain.

‘Halvorsen, this is Simpson, Ocean is taking control, the Nimrod is being vectored onto the Electra for an intercept, we will monitor your displays and control the operation from here. Good day.’

With that Exeter’s captain had been neatly taken out of the decision making loop, which was they way it was supposed to be, after all his small fleet was there for one reason, to act as the eyes and ears of the main carrier battle group. Using their satellite link system all the data from the numerous ships and aircraft could be relayed in real time directly into the primary CIC centre aboard Ocean, from there her army of specialist operators would be better equipped to sieve through the plethora of data allowing her commanders to make decisions with the maximum amount of information at their disposal. The system aboard Ocean, now deep in the South Atlantic was also being relayed directly to a similar centre in Northwood, in the leafy suburbs just north of London a world away. If their command ship was sunk or heavily damaged it was possible for the entire operation to be run from the other side of the world via satellite. Such was the way of modern warfare.

 

Hundreds of kilometres to the south east the RAF Nimrod R2 aircraft received its message from Ocean with much jubilation. Each of the 14 crew members were aware of the fate of York and Norfolk and were ready to exact revenge. They knew, quite rightly, that the Electra would be serving as the distant eyes of the primary attack force located on their Falklands and within possibly a half hour it would be in a position to detect the fleet and signal the beginning of what would be a bloody air strike against the fleet that even the greatest optimist knew would cost dearly.

The first thing to do would be to illuminate the Electra with the Nimrod’s powerful search radar, which up till now, like the warships, had been at idle. Whilst this would betray the presence of the British aircraft, which had been converted as a long range intelligence gatherer years before, it would also serve to spook the Electra into hopefully turning away from its present bearing to flee the area as it didn’t carry any defensive weaponry.

Indeed the Electra and the Nimrod were performing much the same role only difference was that the Nimrod, in this case, was armed with a brace of four Asraam short range infrared air to air missiles. Not only that, but being a jet it had at least a hundred knots dash speed on the propjet Electra if it came to a chase. Only problem was that it had already been two hours since the Nimrod had hit the tanker and it was due to refuel in 40 minutes time. It could extend that a little, but not much, after all it was still around 5000 kilometres from its Ascension base and the final tanker in a chain would also have to be heading east within the hour. This was going to be a close run thing, the Nimrod’s skipper concluded but the opportunity of scoring a ‘kill’ for his squadron, the first for the Royal Air Force for many decades, and with a mother like the Nimrod was too much to miss. If they had to peddle the thing it was going to get that Electra, the crew decided.

 

Captain Corino was getting anxious. His whole crew were. After all they were now into the eleventh hour of their mission and had found nothing but knew instinctively that the British fleet must be out here somewhere. Their pre mission brief had concluded that it would now be most likely that the British would be running radar silent, thus making it more difficult to find them at long range, the only real protection he knew his plane had against the foe.

Corino’s greatest fear was simply stumbling right into the British fleet. His radar had an effective good weather range against large ships of something in the vicinity of 300 or so kilometres. Against a small frigate in a heavy sea with rain showers in the area, well this could degrade by a third or more, meaning that at 300 knots his plane could easily fall within their long range SAM range without them even knowing it till it was too late. On top of that, the Harriers would be up and capable to outdistancing his aged converted airliner before they could even turn for home.

Corino was dreading the next mission, slated for that afternoon, when there would be even a greater chance of finding their prey.

‘Another half hour and we turn for home.’ he quietly informed his copilot, sitting just as nervously to his right.

Their thoughts were brought back to reality by their radar operator yelling frantically from the cabin behind them.

‘Air contact, to the south, airborne search and intercept radar. Bigger than a Sea Harrier, it’s got us locked up.’ called the radar operator excitedly.

‘Shit! must be a Nimrod or one of their Sentrys’. exclaimed Corino.

‘We’re turning for home, inform HQ of our situation’. Corino called to the copilot who was already wheeling the four engined Electra down and round onto a reverse heading that would take them back to the Malvinas at best speed.

 

‘Just what we wanted him to do’ called the Nimrod’s chief tactical systems operator.

‘The pilot listened intently and guided his big jet onto a heading that would cross with the fleeing Argentine propjet in less than eight minutes.

‘Arm the missiles’, he called, noting that within a second he saw four green lights blink awake on the small weapons clearance display to his right.

 

Aboard Ocean the battle tactics team watched in grim anticipation of what was about to occur. This would be a difficult fight to lose, each would have privately thought, and without exception each member of the team would also have realised that in less than a day they could be on the receiving end of a similar fate.

The fleet had just finished topping up its tanks from the array of accompanying tankers and was now in the process of increasing its speed from a leisurely and fuel efficient 18 knots to a more battle ready 24. The tankers and support ships would be left far behind in another few hours as the primary attack taskforce began its final run towards the jaws of the enemy.

 

‘Fifteen seconds to launch, range one six kilometres.’ called the Nimrod’s weapons officer.

The aircraft’s skipper was almost at the stage of being able to visually see the Electra, its four Allisons leaving behind a tell trail smoke trail that visually was the first giveaway to its presence, when his vision was blinded momentarily by the dual firing of Asramms.

The two missiles ignited and surged forward from beneath their underwing pylons and headed towards the direction of the Electra. At this time the Nimrod would have had a good 100 knots advantage over the older aircraft and as the missiles were already well within their maximum range then it was simply a matter of waiting the seven or eight seconds it would take for the inevitable to occur. And occur it did. The Electra took the first impact right into the jetpipe of its number four engine, the second took out its inner mate, the explosions ripping apart the two engines and cracking the wing off at the fuselage. The aircraft rolled over and plunged earthwards impacting the South Atlantic barely a minute later.

Its mission completed, the Nimrod crew turned for the tanker. There was little conversation between the crew and a well meaning message of congratulations from Ocean received only a brief and polite response from the men and women aboard the Nimrod.

If the crew had had doubts about the outcome of engaging an unarmed aircraft then their thoughts would have been soon dispersed as the afternoon would bring a threat that could truly fight back with a ferocity that none of them had ever imagined.

 

Captain Ricardo Vivas was in mixed emotions. He had just heard that the much hated and militarily incompetent Fernandez had been ordered back to BA and Brigadier, now General Carlos Astiz, had assumed his command. There wasn’t a man or woman on the Malvinas that didn’t think this was a positive thing.

So much for the good news. He had also heard only moments before that one of two Electras patrolling the long range approach sectors had sent off a garbled mayday. It’s location, given just moments before, also indicated that it was being engaged by an aircraft with a powerful air search radar, far more powerful than that on a small fighter like the Sea Harrier.

Vivas had already lost several of his men in the past week including his best friend Miguel Sanchez against that mystery Sea Harrier. The Electras were precious to them and now they had lost two. Indeed the orders had been given just minutes before for the second Electra in the morning’s patrol to surge forward to make positive contact with what must be the British fleet. This second aircraft though was, unlike the others, equipped with a range of modern Israeli ESM equipment that would be able hopefully to detect the British better than the regular Electras. However, much relied upon the British lighting up their long range radars and somehow Vivas doubted if they would be silly enough to do this.

There had been instant discussion within the pilots of Gruppo 8 and the intelligence people on just what type of aircraft would have downed the Electra. It was known positively that, at least up to a few days ago, the Boeing E-3D Sentrys, the big radar planes, didn’t carry underwing missiles, so it must have been a Nimrod. In the last Falklands war these aircraft were hurriedly equipped with Sidewinders and in one instance a Nimrod fended off one of the Argentine 707s when it had found the British fleet halfway between Ascension and the Malvinas.

A joint command brief was scheduled for 13:00 at which General Astiz would address them all on what response would be forthcoming. The various units had been anticipating this now for several days, ever since it had been confirmed that the fleet had departed Ascension. From then on it was really just a matter of schoolboy mathematics in knowing where the fleet would be at any given time. That the Electra had stumbled across what must be near their forward elements was hardly surprising really.

The attack Argentina had in mind would be something for the British admirals to ponder over for several centuries, pondered Vivas, as he prepared to review the payload range options of the proposed mission for what seemed the hundredth time.

Additional strike aircraft had arrived just hours earlier from their mainland bases. There were now 40 Kfirs and 30 A-4M Skyhawks on the Malvinas. Carrying their maximum range underwing fuel tanks still allowed each aircraft to carry one Exocet and two Python 4 missiles. All seven Boeing 707 tankers were ready to roll as were six more similarly modified KC-130 Hercules tankers. Their tactics assumed that the British fleet would tighten its tactical formation at the first hint of a massed air attack. Destroyers and frigates would close on their carriers just as they did in ’82. A doubtful method of protecting them in the modern age, pondered Vivas, as he visualised the potential damage that 70 Exocets could do to what was most definitely a target rich environment.

 

While the master tacticians of the Fuerza Aerea Argentina were meticulously planning their first massed encounter with the British fleet, the cream of the Naval Argentina were busy escorting their tanker safely to Choiseul Sound.

Not unnaturally they were not alone. British high command had spent much time arguing about what precisely to do with this problem. The sensible options had fortunately won the day and so the tanker would be allowed to reach its objective unscathed while the escorts would be taken out. Apart from eliminating future potential combatants this would also ensure that once safely at its anchorage the tanker would not dare venture out for another mission. With the pumping station inoperative the fuel would then be available for use by the British as and when required. At least that was the theory.

Aboard Tireless Commander Jeremy Hunter stood patiently behind his sensor operators watching their numerous displays with interest.

His targets were all there, neat and tidy, like a nautical chess set, only this one was for real. The Meko 360, all the ship types had been identified by their propellor signatures, was out in the lead zig zagging and pinging away with its active sonar. The Type 42 cruised to the west of the large tanker and the two smaller Mekos guarded the eastern flank. Apart from the lead Meko they all cruised on at a sedate 18 knots, which Hunter guessed was the top speed of the tanker. From time to time the lead Meko would accelerate fiercely, up to as high as 30 knots before again slowing down. He wondered how on earth her sonar operators could ever hope to hear anything ‘down below’ with all that self generated noise.

They would never find his Trafalgar down here. With the lengthy sonar array deployed, Tireless idled along at a leisurely and almost silent four knots at a depth of some 800 feet. Her mission was to stay undetected and kill the four warships, let the tanker run free and to reposition at a point at least a hundred kliks to the east of Stanley for what ultimately would be the boat’s most important mission.

‘More sonobuoys in the water, sir’ came the call from one of the sonar operators.

‘They’re laying a pattern to our north, range 40 to 50 kilometres, near the entrance to the Sound.’ he added.

‘Won’t do them much good, they will never detect us with those old fashioned Jezebels from the sixties, particularly at that range.’ responded Hunter, who was becoming a little bemused by the ineffectiveness of the Tracker launched sonobuoys, none of which had even got near a detection envelope since they had begun launching them the previous evening.

‘Tactical situation is shaping up, sir, we could prosecute the warships any time from now.’ suggested the tactician.

‘Okay then we might as well go for it. The tanker is close enough now to the entrance of the sound to head straight for it. There’s no way it would head out to sea when its escorts have been hit.’ commended Hunter, making the call with confidence but hoping that he hadn’t missed something obvious.

The plan had been worked out well before, in the hours that his submarine had waited, powered down, almost stationary in the depths 20 kilometres off East Falkland, patiently waiting for its trade to arrive as surely it would.

‘Wind in the array, power up all systems and give me revolutions for 10 knots, course two niner zero, depth 400 feet.’ ordered Hunter as the perceptible tension level of the CIC grew by the second.

‘Target 01 is the Meko 360, range 14 kilometres. Target 02 is the Type 42, range 21 kilometres. Target 03 is the eastern Meko 140, range 24 kilometres. Target 04 is the western Meko 140, range 25 kilometres. Our closing rate is presently at 28 knots.’ called the senior tactician.

As Tireless accelerated forward four Spearfish torpedos lay in their tubes, electrically alive and ready to go at a moments notice. Once launched they would travel towards their individual targets at medium speed, only accelerating in the final kilometres or so to the target. Each was wire guided and controlled individually from the boat’s control room, the equivalent of a surface warship’s CIC. Each torpedo would be steered by its operator with the electronic pulses being transmitted to it via its trailing control wire. When it got close enough to its intended target the torpedo would accelerate, turn on its own active sonar, acquire the target independently of its mother sub and the controller would at that moment cut the wire. From then on there was virtually nothing the target could do to escape destruction other than being someplace else!

The seconds ticked down.

‘Fire one, two, three, four in sequence, revolutions to 15 knots.’ called Hunter.

‘Torpedos one, two, three, four, fired in sequence sir, all clear and live.’ responded the tactician.

From then on it was simply a waiting game. One minute after launch Tireless was approaching 15 knots while her four torpedoes swam out at roughly twice that speed. It would take just a few minutes for them to reach their final destinations. By arcing their various trajectories it was possible to get all four to arrive at their targets within seconds of each other. And this is what Hunter had programmed. All four ships would be hit within a few seconds of each other if the mathematics remained constant and the ships didn't greatly vary their own speeds once his fish were in the water.

Four minutes on and it was looking good, another four minutes and it would be all over and the Trafalgar would be heading east at flank speed.

 

Captain Jose Cardo moved away from the radar scope and out into the fresh air of the bridge wing. Maybe the sub threat hadn’t been as bad as they had played up at Rio Grande, he thought. Bloody, military, they see demons under every bed when they’re in trouble. The weather was fine and the light breeze was from the south making the air round his ship almost windless as the midday Spring sun streamed down. He looked to the north west with his glasses and could clearly see the entrance to Choiseul Sound and the tugboat awaiting his arrival. In another half hour he would be safely in the protected waters of this Malvinas inlet and he, Captain Jose Cardo had proudly contributed to his nation’s conquest of its Islas Malvinas.

He scanned around to check the position of the escorts and guessed they would soon be leaving him. The two little Mekos were on his port side, close together. The Hercules, an impressive looking warship, cruised about two kliks to his starboard and the bigger Meko was well forward, just straightening out from another turn in its remorseless zig zag dance. I wish you well my little friends, he thought as he closed his eyes for a moment to take in the fresh air and sunshine that made this day one to remember.

He hadn’t even seen the first explosion, of the Meko ahead of his ship, but rather felt the concussion of the explosive thud as the first Spearfish found its mark. He opened his eyes to a fireball, stunned he watched it roll to port taking in huge quantities of seawater as the entire bow area came apart and wrapped itself back upon the hull. The Meko had stopped in seconds, directly ahead of his tanker as he yelled to the helmsman to turn to starboard. It didn’t matter though as the Meko would already have been beneath the waves before his lumbering giant had reached its position.

The other warships continued on as nothing had happened. It really didn’t matter though as barely ten seconds after the first impact both the smaller Mekos suffered massive explosions, though fortunately milder than their larger sister. Three seconds later the Type 42 also succumbed, raring up in the water as she was hit just beneath the bridge.

Captain Cardo could either continue or he could stop and look for survivors. His radio operator was already calling in a mayday and he wisely decided to continue a maximum revolutions for the safety of the inlet. He gazed back upon the smoking, slowly sinking warships and held his breath as every moment brought the spectre of a similar, only worse fate for his fuel laden tanker.

It wasn’t till he was safely at anchor that Captain Cardo sat down and cried, for his fellow mariners and in thanks for whatever miracle that brought his own ship, and its crew, to safety.

 

It was just a half an hour before the briefing and the level of activity in the command centre at Mount Pleasant was escalating by the minute. Just a half hour earlier the second Electra had positively detected surface ships on a bearing for the Malvinas and just over a thousand kilometres distant.

Ricardo Vivas was in the process of calling together his pilots when the scramble klaxon went off.

The men were ready to lunge out of the briefing room to the flight ops centre to get their kit when the PA system came alive to inform the base that a maximum effort SAR op was commencing. Through the noise of overflying aircraft Vivas and his men couldn’t catch the full announcement but now realised what those distant thuds were they heard a few minutes ago to their south and well out to sea. It was only a minute or so before the first of several helicopters were in the air. At least they were close in, not like those poor bastards last time, reflected Vivas, thinking back on the exploding Meko that almost claimed his own life. A memory he had been intently trying to purge from his nightmares since it occurred nearly a fortnight before.

 

Admiral Kennedy read the message from Northwood and smiled.

‘Well team, our first objective has been completed. Tireless confirms that it has sunk all four escorts and the tanker is continuing on to its anchorage. Both her and Torbay are assuming their land attack positions and will be ready to launch by 21:00.

There was a round of light hearted banter from the dozen specialists within the dimly lit confines of the command centre, a banter that for a few moments at least had relieved the tension of the past half dozen hours.

The second Electra had arrived about an hour after the first, just as they had anticipated. It had loitered at a greater range from the Exeter led group than the first aircraft then left. Intelligence knew that they had one Electra with special elint equipment, sort of equivalent to their own R series Nimrod, though far less capable, or so they sincerely hoped. Intelligence assessments, thought Admiral Kennedy, were often built around little more than wishful thinking and hearsay. Conclusions made in heaven, on sunny days, on cosy winter nights before a wood fire. Combat on the other hand was typically another story, of information that had been misinterpreted, of lies deliberately fed to those unable to discern fact from fiction. Whether their own intel services had been all this time deluded by Argentina’s true capabilities would soon be known in reality. Admiral Kennedy stood alone peering at the large map of the region and wondering which of the two fates awaited them.

 

General Carlos Astiz had met with his air commander, the various squadron leaders and their deputies and the SAR people for almost an hour. The decision had been made to attack the British fleet with everything they had this afternoon. The gambit at this distance was risky but not too difficult given the tanker support they now possessed, unlike the week before when the York strike flight was literally left on its own at the last minute, with tragic consequences.

A long range anti ship mission of this calibre had been planned for a long time. It would roughly take an hour and a half for the strike force to reach the estimated position of the battle group. The actual strike mission would take another quarter hour or so. The aircraft would drop their long range ferry tanks when engaging the enemy. It was estimated that they would have gotten that far using only external fuel which would allow them a full internal fuel payload, minus the fuel wasting and speed restraining drag of the large underwing tanks. they would rendezvous with the tankers in their preset orbits as briefed some 300 to 400 kilometres east of the Malvinas. The various flights would have their own dedicated tankers and all would be catered for in the time allowed as the attack would be staggered over a half hour period.

It was estimated that this would soon exhaust the Harrier CAPs and even if they successfully downed some of the early flights they would ultimately be overwhelmed by the sheer weight of numbers. Even the pessimists amongst them conceded that most of the final strike elements, comprising the subsonic Skyhawks, would reach their targets with little opposition. It had been constantly practised against their own ships time and again and each time had proven successful, even when the navy had used Super Etendards and their own Skyhawks as defenders.

The formal mission brief would commence in a half hour and an hour after that the first wave would be airborne. An hour before last light the final aircraft would return and the true results of the decimation of the British fleet would be known. The waiting was well and truly over, Vivas contemplated with nervous emotion.

 

'Have you found General Fernandez yet?’ Carlos Astiz barked down the phone to his security people.

‘No sir, we have searched the base and its environs. We discreetly phoned the various firebases and ran a search through Stanley, nothing. Nobody has seen him sir.’ responded the defensive security commander.

‘Did you check the Stanley police station?’

‘Yes, but there was nothing there, it was deserted just as we expected.’ came the reply Astiz didn’t want to hear.

Deserted, hmm he thought. Something's up and he can’t really do anything about it now without advertising to the world that it was he who ordered the removal of the British prisoner. He would deal with it in the morning. Far more important events were demanding his attention and if Fernandez had run off someplace or even had committed suicide then it wasn’t his main interest this afternoon. General Carlos Astiz had far more important matters to attend to.

 

Commander Roger Charlton carefully preflighted his Sea Harrier, walking about the small jet looking for anything out of the ordinary, a small fluid leak, a bent or ajar panel, even insect marks on the windscreen that at 40,000 feet at 600 knots might appear like an enemy fighter. People die through simple mistakes like that he thought, in a vain attempt to keep his nerves under control.

He would be glad when something happened. His squadron had spent the past half dozen hours on tenterhooks, ever since Exeter had detected the Electra and the Nimrod had claimed it. The guys had considered that a pretty good effort and had faxed off to the squadron on Ascension that the first slab was on them when next they met. They were all hoping that the crabs would be able to reciprocate the gesture when finally it came time for they too to draw their swords.

Much had changed since then though. The taskforce had sped up and was now more than 200 kliks closer to the Falklands, which at that time were barely 1300 kilometres distant. At this rate, by dawn they would be as close as 700 kilometres though of course the plan was that there would be no air opposition by that time. Something the men of 800 Squadron and her ilk personally found difficult to believe.

Since noon an AEW Sea King had been positioned well ahead of the Exeter group. With a radar that could search out as far ahead as 200 kilometres against fighter sized targets it was the best they could muster in airborne early warning. Exeter and her sisters remained radar silent for the time being though her own powerful ESM suite was also working with the Sea Kings airborne surveillance radar to hopefully detect a large inbound raid well before it could reach the main battle fleet.

Idling at 35,000 fleet, power backed off for maximum endurance was a Sea Harrier and a single GR.7. Both carried their long range tanks while the Shar was armed with four Amraams and the GR.7 with four Asraams and its two 25mm cannons. As had been practised on the long transit south, the Shar would stay as long as it could while the GR.7 would wait for a second Shar to join it, the big wing RAF machine having more than double the endurance of its smaller naval sister. Of great value to all this day was that the AEW Sea King was able to actually top up its tanks from any of the three ships in the Exeter group, thereby enabling it to remain on station for as long as the crew could endure. The only problem though was that when this occurred it meant that the aircraft was out of the tactical picture for about a quarter hour. Still, the option of having a second AEW bird out there was difficult to justify considering these precious machines would have to literally fly round the clock for as long as a week as soon as the invasion began. There was simply not the flight hours to burn up unnecessarily at this stage at a time of secondary threat. Some of those who argued against this remembered no doubt the fate that awaited a certain ship back in May 1982 when it shut down its radars for just a few minutes to make a satellite transmission back to the UK. The crew of HMS Sheffield learnt the hard way that in war you cannot often take chances and live to tell the day.

Commander Charlton knew this and a lot more as he climbed the short ladder into the cockpit of his Sea Harrier. In a quarter hour he would launch to relieve the CAP Shar.

 

Ricardo Vivas was a satisfied man. The brief had gone well, there hadn’t been one item left unchallenged by his men and their teleconference with the tanker crews at Santa Cruz far to the west helped ensure everybody was most definitely in the picture.

He rode the jeep out to the flightline where the aircraft awaited. Kfirs and Skyhawks as far as the eye could see. He had never before seen such an array of modern weaponry on the one flightline. Of his own Gruppo of 15 machines, 13 were operational and ready to launch. Theirs would be the lead of the second wave. Whilst their brief had been meticulous he appreciated that the actual physical dimension of the fleet they were about to attack was unknown.

It was estimated to look like what they expected rather than what might in reality exist. For instance, they had considered that there was a possibility that the British might actually split their carrier battle groups into two or three separate fleets nearing the Malvinas. Some thought they would, some thought they wouldn’t. Ricardo thought they would but not at this range. Mind you they wouldn’t know until they got close enough for their powerful multi mode Elta radars to disseminate the electronic picture before their eyes. That would be about 100 to 150 kilometres from the perimeter of the taskforce in ideal circumstances while their Exocets would be launched at their medium altitude maximum range of around 40 kilometres. This should keep them well beyond the Sea Dart SAM envelope though their fate against the Harriers was something else. At least they could manoeuvre the Kfir in air to air combat whilst retaining the centreline Exocet. The little Skyhawks would have a harder time, though small and difficult to track either visually or on radar they were not that manoeuvrable. Indeed it was often said in jest that a hard turn in a scooter, the affectionate nickname of the A-4, would take you through at least three provinces! Something of course scooter drivers disclaimed any knowledge of. This day though they would all go to war with their Python 4 air to air missiles. Their Israeli friends had confidently informed them that this was the best short range infra red air to air missile on the planet. Indeed, the latest variant of the combat proven Python was a formidable beast. A maximum range out to something like 20 kliks and an amazing ‘over the shoulder’ capability that meant that by slaving your head with its helmet mounted Elbit sight you could direct the just launched missile to actually flick to the vertical and turn behind you to take out an enemy that may have just flown through your ahead hemisphere. Normally this would have meant a turning dogfight, something that both the delta winged Kfirs and Skyhawks weren't very good at compared with the later generation of fly by wire aerodynamically unstable fighters.

As Vivas strapped in and his crew chief handed him his helmet his thoughts flashed back to a younger Ricardo doing this so many years before. This time it will be different, he told himself, very different 


CHAPTER 23

Captain Ritley couldn’t believe the scene that met his eyes. The entire Mount Pleasant airbase was awash with aircraft and it seemed that all were ready to depart on a major mission.

Ritley had been trying to conserve his batteries in recent days as he knew that he had maybe only half a dozen quick messages left in the rapidly fading sat phone. This was one message that the fleet really needed to know about though and he doubted if any of the other hides would be in a position to observe what was happening as well as he could. In this he was certainly correct.

He figured that the main battle group must now be less than a thousand kliks distant or otherwise the strike aircraft wouldn’t have the range to prosecute a successful attack. On that basis he also figured, that if the fleet survived, something he didn’t like to think about, that the initial landing would most probably occur from the next evening onwards. After being holed up in his hide for something approaching two months he was excited and ready for change. For Eric Ritley the final countdown had not come a moment too soon.

 

Aboard Ocean Admiral Kennedy read the intelligence assessment from Northwood and looked glum.

‘The SAS observer near Mount Pleasant has just confirmed, less than two minutes ago, that upwards of 60 Kfir and Skyhawk aircraft are beginning to depart. Each appears to be configured with an Exocet and long range tanks.’ Admiral Kennedy solemnly announced to the dozen tacticians and sensor operators in the command ship's CIC.

‘Advise all ships to go to full action stations immediately and group up into battle formation. I particularly want the carriers and transports ringed by their escorts.’ Kennedy added.

‘What’s our status and expected time of engagement lieutenant’, Kennedy queried of his senior tactician.

‘At their known cruising speed, and they would have their transit speed trimmed back to conserve fuel, I would estimate that the first wave would be within launching against the Exeter group in roughly 50 minutes, maybe a little less. We could expect to be engaged between five and ten minutes later, maybe a little later if they have enough endurance to initiate a flank attack.’ concluded the lieutenant.

‘What about the CAP?’ Kennedy queried his air commander.

‘We have the usual two aircraft CAP in place at present. A new Shar just joined the Harrier and we have four Shars spotted on each carrier ready for scrambling at two minutes notice. A second wave of four are being readied and could launch a quarter hour after the first. That would give us 16 Shars in the first wave and the same a quarter hour later. We can launch the same number of GR.7s so theoretically we can put up 32 in the first wave and have a little over 60 into action by the time they penetrate our ship defences. That’s all we have though, apart from a few stragglers. If there were a second wave, perhaps from the mainland, then we would already have most of our remaining birds in the air with low fuel states or in the process of recovering. If I keep a number back in reserve, well sir, I think we just wouldn’t be able to defend the fleet at large. We just don’t have enough aircraft to hold anything resembling a realistic force in reserve.’

Kennedy thought carefully about his air commander’s words and knew what the man’s call would be. He was right of course. The ferocity of the inbound attack would be such that you simply had to gamble on putting all your eggs in the one basket. If you didn’t, his aviators might not have ships to return to. It was as simple as that!

 

Roger Charlton had just finished climbing through 30,000 feet and could see his Crab Harrier wingman about 30 kilometres ahead, the returning Shar having passed him on a reciprocal heading barely a minute earlier.

He privately wished that they had the latest variant of this aircraft, the ones the US Marines and the Italian Navy were flying. Not that there was anything wrong with the Shar, it was simply an equation of numbers, and the numbers suggested that the latest variant of the AV-8B Harrier II had twice the endurance of the Sea Harrier, a much greater weapons load and a massive radar and fire control system, from the F/A-18 Hornet, to boot. He didn’t though and that was that.

Charlton scanned his navigation display for what seemed the hundredth time. No problems there, the lead ships had passed beneath him a quarter hour earlier and he could place the AEW Sea King just ahead and far below, its radar peering far ahead to warn of a threat in time for the fleet to hopefully be able to respond.

His attention was interrupted by the radio coming alive, unusual considering they were in a no radio op environment save emergencies. And that was what it was, the message he and everybody this day had been dreading for the past several days. A massed raid, 60 plus aircraft, coming straight for them and due to likely to be in a firing position against the Exeter group within a half hour. He noted the Sea King, a baggy, as it was nicknamed, turning around and reading back to the relative safety of Ark Royal from whence it came. Exeter and the other ships would take over its surveillance and control responsibilities once the inbound attacks had come within their own radar range and it was deemed no longer prudent or necessary to remain radar silent. He and his RAF wingman would also now throttle back to await, hopefully in time, the arrival of some of the elements of the extended Harrier CAP being launched from the three carriers as they spoke.

Charlton checked his fuel calculations once more and grimaced. He figured that by the time they were engaging the enemy he would have to be thinking seriously about heading back to the carrier. The GR.7 had been on station for almost an hour and wouldn’t, in 40 minutes time, be any better off than himself. This would mean that neither of them would have much chance to extend their attacks while their recovery would have to be trouble free or they could simply run out of fuel before being able to recover.

Roger Charlton could already feel his pulse racing and thin beads of sweat running down into his eyes.

 

Hundreds of kilometres to the south west the massive Argentine attack force formed into its respective elements. About a hundred kilometres ahead of the lead elements of Kfirs cruised three Tornados. Each at 55,000ft, about 50 kilometres apart and on a steady advance parallel to each other. Their job would simply be to use their powerful Foxhunter radars to precisely locate the fleet, get an idea of its tactical formation, and air activity that was in place, and then bug out and head for home at high speed. They were, under no circumstances, to be used in combat but were to be used as crucial forward airborne early warning radar planes. In this role they would be worth their weight in gold and would allow the FAA jets to ensure that their own tactics were based on correct assumptions from the earlier briefing.

Less than a quarter hour later the first call came back from Eagle 01.

‘Shipping targets identified, three small ships, bearing one eight zero, speed around 24 knots, range one eight zero kilometres. Two aircraft on station vicinity of ships.’

Barely four minutes later both Eagle 01 and 03 located the main fleet and a wall of aircraft formating into their respective combat air patrol stations ahead and to the front quarters of the primary fleet. As the big Tornados began to turn and head for home they each noted that the two jets guarding the lead frigates had now been joined by half a dozen more.

 

Admiral Kennedy received the latest data and acknowledged that the three ships in the Exeter group, just over a hundred kilometres ahead, had now gone active on their radars. Exeter had been monitoring ESM emissions from the lead aircraft, electronically identified with great disgust, as their own Tornados, for almost a half hour before it became evident that these aircraft would have well and truly identified them. It was now time for the entire fleet to go active, light up their radars and begin to establish their individual electronic countermeasures procedures. Each ship was now travelling south as one large carrier battle group. Three carriers, four primary transports, three converted flat tops and a dozen escorts.

 

Prime Minister James Faulkner, his wife Mary, Defence Secretary Nigel Dixon and a dozen others from the inner cabinet occupied the command briefing room at High Wycombe north of London.

The tension had been building for the past half hour, since the initial confirmation of the air strike that would probably determine the whole future of Operation Recovery was first verified as fact.

A bank of large television sets delivered unusually good quality colour pictures direct from some of the ships. Others were at idle, awaiting the moment when they too would become active. On a large plexiglass gridded electronic screen, at least three metres by six, was portrayed the entire disposition of the fleet. Red squares, green triangles, blur zephrys, coloured arrows and dots of all types and all moving ever so slightly every few seconds as what they indicated changed position or course.

Faulkner had learnt a lot about the military in these past two months and one of the most important things he learnt was that when the pressure was on they all were a lot more professional than most civilians ever could appreciate. He noted the level headed demeanour of the men and women about him, their uniforms pressed and immaculate, their answers to every question straight and quick, no emotions seeping through to the debacle that could well overtake them in the coming hours. Little did he realise that his own entourage was perceived with similar qualities. If he had known that then he would have been the first to admit that their total inability to comprehend what was about to unfold was what really protected them from visually exhibiting the private fears that each held.

 

A world away in Buenos Aires, President Moreno’s First Team was in place deep in the Operations Centre of the Condor Building.

Their own facility was far removed though from what the British possessed, either at sea aboard their command ship and her carrier lookalikes but also on the other side of the world at High Wycombe. England had always geared itself for war of the most technologically advanced form, against the former Soviet Union, while Argentina, apart from Britain in 1982, something they didn’t even expect to happen, had really quarrelled with nobody save a few macho ramblings with Chile over the Beagle Channel a decade ago. Consequently she didn’t enjoy real time satellite links and such which ironically, like many second stage states nowadays, had to rely upon the resources of CNN, Apeco and their ilk for ‘live’ coverage.

This only served to increase the tension amongst the two dozen or so men who were now crowding the ops room to await the fate of their alpha strike against the British fleet. Not one person present had any illusions as to the importance of this battle. This was the battle that would stop the fleet, stop the British and ensure that the Malvinas and all its potential booty remained with the Argentine Republic today, tomorrow and forever. This was the battle that Juan Moreno’s dream had hung on for almost two years. In two hours it would be known if the dream was simply that or the dawn of a great and powerful Argentina.

 

Vivas’s calculations were right on the mark. You old bastard you haven’t lost anything, he thought. Right on time the image of the three warships eased gently into the top right of his radar display indicating that they were 120 kilometres ahead and slightly to starboard. If he, and his flight of seven other Kfirs maintained their heading they would pass about a dozen kilometres abeam of the lead ships in a matter of a little less than six minutes. He wasn’t about to allow that to happen though, after all this most definitely wasn’t the FAA of old.

Instead his flight, and the others to his extreme right and astern, began a gentle turn that would take them well clear of the three warships. Each aviator knew that not only did they now have their own dedicated CAP of Harriers but at least one of those ships would be equipped with the deadly Sea Dart SAM system. Besides, unlike the previous war, this time the aircraft would be tasked with taking out the all important troopships. After all, warships and their crews cannot invade your land and take your real estate. That was the job of the cargo of the troopers and their immediate support ships and the carriers. The escorts were not worth even targeting, which Vivas remembered was one of the crucial lessons of the ’82 campaign. A few more Atlantic Conveyors at that time may well have reversed the result and he wouldn’t be doing this all over again, he thought as his directional gyro indicated their turn to port had been completed.

The three ships were now passing well abeam and to his starboard and ahead was illuminated the first elements of the primary battle group. A quick glance at the radar scope confirmed that there would be probably at least two dozen surface targets in there. It was crucial that they claimed at least four of the biggest. His flight was now situated at 44,000ft and about 80 kliks off the outer elements of the fleet. He knew that red flight was ahead by about two minutes and already beginning to descend for their near supersonic Exocet launchings at the prescribed 22,000ft and around 30 to 40 kilometres clear of the escorts. Any less and they may well fall prey to the vengeful Sea Darts, any further and their missiles might run dry of fuel before reaching their targets. It was all a tenuous mathematical equation and at times like this Vivas wished that they had the longer ranging American Harpoon with almost twice the range and a larger warhead.

Something else quickly took his attention though and it was what he had been hoping not to see so soon. In the corner of his radar display were two groups of dots, far away but fast approaching, growing closer by the second. The dots looked benign on the radar display but they were anything but. Each was a Sea Harrier armed with its maximum uplift of four Amraam air to air missiles. Radar guided, these had a greater range than his close in Pythons though close in in this context meant something out to a maximum of 20 kilometres, about half that of the Amraam.

The British though only had about three dozen Sea Harriers at the max, so his intelligence people had said, three times that number of Argentine Python equipped fighters should see them off easily, they said. Ricardo, and the majority of the other older pilots thought that was a trifle optimistic at best and a dangerous nonsense at worse. At this closing rate though the argument would become truly academic in just a matter of minutes.

 

Aboard Ocean the tension grew as Kennedy and his team watched their worst nightmare unfold. They had each secretly hoped that the Argentines had not really heeded the lessons of the last war and would blindly duplicate their many tactical mistakes. They were wrong and this could now cost them dearly.

The British commander had hoped that they would have simply attacked the battle group head on, taking on the lead element led by Exeter. He was confident that those three ships, sailing virtually side by side, would be able to defend themselves against even a massed Exocet attack while a concentration of Sea Harriers and their RAF counterparts would operate enmasse beyond their SAM zone to attack most of the fighters before they could launch. This hadn’t worked. Firstly the Argentines had wisely used their captured Tornados as mini AWACS aircraft, had specifically pin pointed the fleet and its composition and had then turned for home to fight another day. The massed formation of Kfirs and Skyhawks had then split into smaller flights to outflank his battle group whilst totally ignoring the Exeter group. At this moment Kennedy knew that he had about twice as many launchers zeroing in on his fleet from a number of directions and there wasn’t a whole lot he could do about it. If that was bad though what happened next really was the last thing he wanted to hear. Ground agents on the mainland had just reported that a dozen Super Etendard fighter bombers had just launched from Comodoro Rivadavia, each carrying a single Exocet. Four KC-130 tankers had taken off a half hour earlier but at the time this had been thought to have been their expected contribution to the general alpha strike air refuelling mix. Obviously it was for something far more sinister.

Kennedy noted that all his primary CAP aircraft were now airborne with the first groups beginning to close on the initial strike flights, fortunately just outside their launch envelopes. These would be back in less than an hour, the second wave about 20 or minutes astern of the first while it would take up to a half hour to get a sizeable force back into the air. If the Super Etendards were to attack from the north during this downtime then all hell would break loose.

As the dots on the large electronic display began to merge his thoughts rapidly turned back to what was rapidly becoming a life and death struggle.

 

Roger Charlton was perplexed. The entire attack force had vectored far to their right and left while they had been kept in place orbiting the three ship Exeter group with not an enemy fighter in sight.

The six Sea Harriers and three GR.7s flew in a spread out fashion with each man eagerly checking his radar and visual hemisphere constantly. At 46.000ft they could see as far back as the lead elements of the primary taskforce and wondered why the hell they weren't engaging. The reason of course, as each knew, was that they had been outfoxed and this time the Argentines were deliberately ignoring the warships and instead going for the heavies. Bad news for the fleet and even worse for us, Charlton contemplated as he noted that already he was approaching half fuel. The quandary from their air commander was just as complex. If he took them off their CAP and committed them to the flanks they would now not only get there with minimal fuel but would also expose the lead group if a second wave had been designated to attack the ships as soon as their CAP was depleted. Their enemy had many more planes, theoretically, than did the defenders, or so the Argentines thought as they had never considered the Harriers themselves would be used in the air to air role. In this situation they could afford to keep a few aircraft in reserve to attack any elements of the fleet that were temporarily undefended. It was all a massive high tech gamble and in this case the loser would also pay the ultimate price.

 

Just a dozen kliks ahead of Vivas a battle was beginning. His flight had seen the Exocets launch just before the first of the Harriers had launched their own Amraams at the approaching Kfirs. Launching their Exocets, the Kfirs dived and reversed their track at a 90 degree heading away from the ships so as to not become involved with the bombers behind them. This would also serve to shake off some of the British fighters as it was hoped they wouldn’t have enough fuel to engage in a long tail chase against much faster aircraft with tankers waiting for them just a few hundred kilometres down track.

The British would also have to disengage to vector in on the next raid which were now coming thick and fast in multiples as most of the attack force was already beginning its dive from altitude in preparation for launching their Exocets. Vivas’s Kfir was already heading downhill with his flight spread out in fighting wing, watching their six and their radars for the next wave of Sea Harriers that was now closing with them at a kilometre a second.

His headphones were filled with the frantic calls of pilots and the memories of ’82 flooded through his overworked mind. Gone was the radio discipline of the ingress, replaced, as he knew it would, with panic calls as soon as the reality of battle had become real. Not far to their north and now a little astern of his flight, Vivas could imagine what was happening as obviously the first wave of radar guided Amraams cut into the departing Kfirs. A Kfir in burner might well be able to disengage from a Sea Harrier with ease but from an Amraam within range, never. And that was the way it was. Without sophisticated electronic jammers the Argentine fighters were simply targets to the British Amraam missiles, Rather like the ships were to the inbound Exocets which were now more than halfway to their targets of opportunity.

Vivas, screamed for radio silence, noted his weapons guidance suite counting down the final seconds, then launch, a cloud of white smoke and the little Exocet plunged down transonically on its one way journey to oblivion. His flight had all fired within seconds and rolled inverted and pulled down. It was now time to get the hell out of Dodge, he thought, wondering how he could think of something as stupid as that at this life and death moment. He heard his radar warning received activate, its shriek curdling his blood and he push down harder going to full burner. A quick glance at the fuel state indicated he could keep this up for just 15 or 20 seconds though before he would have to bleed off the burner and return to military power. Still, sans its underwing tanks and missile his Kfir was now like a rocket and heading away from the growing melee at almost twice the speed of sound.

At just under 10,000 feet he and the others levelled out and cut their burners, somehow they had eluded the Amraams though noted already several mayday and Sarbe calls coming from what had been the first flight.

Vivas checked his six, no Harriers and no missile warnings, they were now a full 200 kliks away from the fleet and rapidly increasing that distance by the minute. Next stop, God willing, the blue flight 707s just 300 kilometres to their south east. They had launched as advertised, it had all seemed to go by the book, they had survived and Ricardo Vivas felt more alive than he had ever felt at any time in his life.

 

This was deplorable, Roger Charlton thought. His entire flight was just idling around here wasting precious fuel when everybody else was in the thick of it. It was then that an order came through that chilled him and his wingmen.

‘Red flight, return to Invincible immediately to refuel, second wave expected.’

The message was dramatic in its brevity and told each of them that they would now have to return to the carrier during an air attack but also that they would by circumstance now probably be the only defenders available to fend off a second attack.

The small force of jump jets rolled down to begin the careful transit back to ‘mother’.

 

The four Type 42s were positioned like a wall of steel alongside the large and vulnerable ships they were tasked with defending, and maybe even dying for. And so it was that Glasgow, Edinburgh, Newcastle and Cardiff faced an avalanche of incoming missiles.

Three flights of a total of 23 jets had launched as many missiles within two minutes of each other. At their centre were the three carriers, separated by the assault ships, modified container ships and Canberra bringing up the rear. Fore and aft were a mix of the latest Type 23s - Somerset and Marlborough - and a gaggle of older Type 22s in the shape of Coventry, Brazen, Beaver and Cornwall. Their job now done, Admiral Kennedy, indeed everybody in the taskforce had now wished that they also had the protection of the extra three state of the art warships in the Exeter group. These three had already reversed direction to join their sisters though a rendezvous wouldn’t be made for at least two hours.

The radar plot was nothing more than a mass of inbound hostility. Just prior to the first impact, Admiral Kennedy noted fearfully that there were some 49 missiles in the air and all programmed to hit within a four minute window. This would be the first time in history that a naval surface fleet had absorbed a mass attack by air to surface sea skimming missiles and he didn’t need to be a military genius to know what the outcome would most likely be.

It was poor old Cardiff that took it first. Steaming right alongside Ark Royal, she had been locked up by no less than six Exocets. Her job of seducing them off both the Ark and Intrepid saved the day but sealed her fate in a matter of what seemed seconds but was actually a full minute. Her chaff canisters firing every few seconds helped electronically deceive the cyclops brain of the Exocets, racing across the wavetops at over a thousand kilometres an hour. That done her Vulcan cannon and Sea Wolf short range missiles fired incessantly to try and defeat the threat. The Vulcan quickly claimed one then uselessly shut down as its radar was incapable of choosing between three more missiles at diverging bearings. The Sea Wolfs claimed another two and miraculously the Vulcan aboard the Ark got another. The remaining two screamed into Cardiff, one just below the bridge and into the CIC and the other just aft of the funnel. She quietly veered to starboard breaking formation as a series of internal explosions ripped her apart. In less than three minutes the once proud warship was being left astern by the charging fleet, within six minutes she had disappeared beneath the waves along with more than half her crew.

Newcastle was next, two positions ahead of her ill fated sister and riding shotgun alongside Illustrious, she took out three of the inbounds and took one fortunately near the bow and well above the waterline. Few casualties, though unable to maintain the pace due, like York a week and a bit earlier, to the amount of water broaching her wound and making her bow heavy. As far as this day was concerned, Newcastle’s war was finished. She too gracefully broke rank and headed north east, collecting the survivors of Cardiff on the way.

Nottingham, another Type 42, had also taken an Exocet though miraculously was little damaged as the warhead had fortunately failed to explode. The race would now be on to defuse the time bomb before it did explode!

Cornwall, one of the older Type 22s, took two Exocets, both of which exploded though fortunately not in areas of intense human activity. Though her casualties were minimal she had been dealt a fatal hand in that her engine room had been damaged sufficiently to not only take most of her underway power but much of her electrical supply, and without the latter she was a sitting duck. the old frigate turned and sailed as best she could to the north east. At least the second wave of support ships would be only a day or two away and they would be able to render her the assistance she desperately required.

Admiral Kennedy watched the threat board slowly transfigure itself from a wall of red dots to something approaching what they had seen prior to the attack. He had lost outright one destroyer while two more were rendered noncombatant. Initial reports suggested that four Shars and three Harriers had been downed though there were still air battles being fought. Most of the Exocets had been hit in flight by the vast array of ships defences whilst a few had simply gone ballistic or, as in one case, which would go down in history as a thing of legend, a lone missile flew straight through the entire formation, passing away harmlessly before impacting the ocean, its fuel spent. Obviously the seeker had malfunctioned and the missile had held remorselessly onto its final heading input as best it could. Admiral Kennedy and his team knew that fate didn’t always run to your advantage and there was still the situation with the second wave, which at this stage was invisible to even the long ranging ESM systems aboard his ships.

 

Roger Charlton hated this, it was even more dangerous than air combat he considered as he gingerly brought his flight of jets down an invisible beam directly to the carriers. Their theoretical corridor was at a thousand feet with IFF bleeping as hard as you could drive it!

When visual, the aircraft would be slowed and landing lights turned on. The helicopters operated a similar scheme and all designed to enable the recovery of friendly aircraft during a period of hostile action. Charlton knew however that judging by the smoke and mayhem before him that a number of those Vulcans could possibly be trained on them just in case.

He saw a ship turning away, another on fire and through it even caught a fleeting glance of an Exocet screaming across the waves, stopped short by a wall of water as a ship’s Vulcan claimed it at the last moment. His heart raced and he slowed the Shar, pissed off that his bird still carried four missiles whilst his compatriots had died.

Half the flight landed on Invincible, the remainder aboard her sister. All were refuelled in barely a quarter hour and readied for a launch as soon as the first elements of the first wave began their approach. Five minutes later Roger Charlton took his small element of four Sea Harriers skywards. The Harriers would remain to provide an immediate CAP for what remained of the taskforce.

Charlton transitioned the aircraft to full forward flight and pulled back on the stick. Nothing accelerated or handled like a Harrier at low level, low speed. The acceleration from the huge turbofan immediately behind him was like no other as the four little jets climbed to altitude where they would provide a CAP for what was left of the taskforce.

The two flights were stationed some 50 kilometres apart. all aircraft trimmed back at 40,000ft for maximum endurance. They could at this rate remain on station for a full hour, at which time more Shars and this time longer ranging Harriers would take their place. The call when it came though was not from their own Blue Vixen radars but from an unlikely source.

Launched several hours prior to the attack was a routine Nimrod op. The four engined ASW aircraft had just arrived from the north albeit still over 300 kilometres distant from the Shar CAP. In the process its sensitive ESM had picked up some low level emissions that suggested short range comms between what could be a tanker and a receiver in addition to several on again off again pulses of an airborne attack radar. the positions were located and logged though surprisingly at the time the Nimrod crew had somehow not been advised that a threat was possible from that area.

Charlton turned onto a new heading, some 50 degrees to the north east of where he had been heading and sure enough his radar had located trade. Not just one but four, five, no maybe nine or more targets, merged at this extreme range. His second flight was quickly vectored into position and he checked that Ocean was reading his signals. She was and a flight of four additional Shars was already being spotted for immediate launch.

Charlton closed rapidly on the enemy, now some twelve in number and heading a little faster than he had hoped a Super Etendard possible. He was still over 100 kilometres from them and they were now rapidly approaching their launch envelope against the rear elements of the fleet. Damn! Damn! Damn! he called to himself as he realised that there was no way he would be able to close with them before they were able to launch. He wasn’t sure how much damage the outer perimeter of the taskforce had taken in the initial raid but knew that this could be the coup de grace, specially as these missiles were obviously being targeted at the rear of the ships where they had minimal countermeasures.

He watched his scope intently over the next 90 seconds and watched the range come down, 80, 70, 60 kilometres but it was to no avail. He and his wingmen watched in disgust as the attack bombers, without any disruption, carefully launched their 12 Exocets and departed. Their job done they would regroup with the tankers and head home and to safety.

Combat doesn’t always go that smooth though.

Fired up by their squadron’s success earlier in the day against the roving Electra the Nimrod crew decided to find the tankers and kill them. And that they did. Using its long range surveillance radar the Nimrod soon identified the racetrack pattern of the four Hercs. It closed on them and fired its first missile at the first Hercules it encountered, damaging it but not immediately downing the tough airlifter. A second missile did the trick though and the tanker began a controlled descent with two engines smoking. The Nimrod crew figured that it might even make land though would not be flying again in this war. One down, three to go, and four minutes later the Nimrod was able to overtake a second Herc and down it, this time the two missiles split the outer wing resulting in a loss of control that the crew was unable to resolve.

The remaining two Hercules had already fled to the west, taking their precious fuel with them. It would be a dry and lonely flight for the Super Etendards when they returned to find their sky devoid of their life giving tankers.

 

It was now less than two minutes before the four Sea Harriers would be forced to break off their chase and return to the carrier, their fuel reserves exhausted.

As Charlton again checked his maths he realised that in less than a minute they would be within maximum Amraam range. One factor working in his favour was that the Shars were at high altitude and the bombers were down around 23,000ft. Having launched their Exocets at this altitude they obviously decided to remain at medium level as this was the altitude their Hercules tankers would be operating.

He guessed that it simply would have cost them more fuel and time to climb to altitude and descend again at a relatively short distance and so it was better to simply remain at the present height. This would play in his favour as the Amraams could extend their design range slightly by being launched 'downhill'. A shot at this distance might not be perfect but it was still better than nothing and if the bombers weren't killed then they would be returning again to reap more destruction upon the fleet.

'They mustn’t have radar warning receivers or otherwise they would have spotted us long ago,' he advised his wingmen.

'Fire in three zero seconds, we will have to turn for the carrier as soon as we launch.'

The seconds ticked down and all twelve Super Etendards fell slowly within the green arc of the threat solution display on the Shars head up display.

Right on cue all four Sea Harriers ripple fired their radar guided Amraams on a bearing for the departing bombers, now around 45 kilometres distant. The little rockets would scream forward at several times the speed of sound homing on their targets who obviously were oblivious to what fate awaited them.

Each missile contained a small high intensity radar in its nose and would lock up its target in the final stages of its flight. Normally the launch aircraft would have assisted with targeting data but by the time the first Amraam impacted, all four Shars had already turned south and were rapidly heading away from the scene of destruction that was to be the fate of the Argentine Naval bombers.

Loosely spread out in a wide recovery formation, the unsuspecting bombers had only realised that something had gone terribly wrong when the first of their aircraft simply exploded. Within seconds the flight was turning in a state of confusion as aircraft had taken impacts from missiles they didn't even know were there. After just a dozen seconds only two of the aircraft remained in what was now almost perversely a serenely peaceful sky.

The fact that these last two jets were now heading towards a rendezvous with tankers that no longer existed was something that hadn't even crossed the minds of the remaining aviators. When their radio calls went unanswered they headed back towards the mainland knowing full well that they had barely enough fuel to reach one of their SAR frigates which judiciously had been located midway along their long overwater flightpath just in case it was needed.

Unlike their compatriots at least these two pilots could dwell however briefly on the possible carnage their missiles would be wreaking upon the British fleet.

 

Rear Admiral Kennedy had a bad feeling about this raid and was sure it would do more damage than the first. Now that the Super Etendards had turned for home and the outbound flight of Shars had been held back just beyond the maximum range envelope of the Sea Wolf SAMs in the vain hope that they would be able to take out some of the Exocets with their Amraams. The missile was said to have a limited capability in this role but had never been tested in combat. Today, however, he was willing to try anything.

The twelve Exocets ploughed on just above the wave tops, streaking in at nearly a thousand kilometres an hour, their small pencil like bodies almost invisible to the naked eye until the final seconds of flight. The situation was also a little different to radar where in most cases even the most sophisticated tracking system found it difficult to separate the missiles from the mass of sea clutter until barely a kilometres from the target.

The AEW Sea King had been launched as soon as the primary air threat had passed, its radar remorselessly scanning for the inbound missiles as they closed rapidly on the rear echelon of the fleet. It didn't take long to see them spread out and heading straight for the least defended areas on the ships.

A Sea Harrier locked onto one and fired, only to have its Amraam overshoot and impact the waves 100 metres from the point of intersection. A second mimicked the first and a third came very close but still proved useless as in reality it might as well have missed by a kilometre. Only when one of the Shars rolled down onto an Exocet in a near vertical dive that it managed to score a kill. Whether or not the Exocet was better illuminated from the rear quarter was a moot point, but nevertheless the air to air missile had achieved a lock and the rest was history.

However, the other eleven raced on. Two were taken out by the Vulcans while a Sea Wolf claimed a third. After that though there were seven that found their mark in the seconds that followed, only one going ballistic at the last moment and falling harmlessly into the waves.

The Type 23 frigate Marlborough took two in the hangar deck area, its Lynx helo destroyed as was much of the after structure. The Type 23 though has most of its weaponry mounted fore of the bridge so with her engineering services operational she was at least able to maintain formation and fight another day.

HMS Beaver, a Type 22 took two more, the frigate was damaged heavily and was soon destined to be consumed by flames following a massive loss of electrical power. She was hurriedly abandoned as her magazine began to explode, the survivors being taken aboard by Southampton and Nottingham as already the formation integrity of the fleet was beginning to dissolve.

Of the final two, one impacted the stern area of the Ark Royal and the other a similar area aboard Canberra. Fortunately at the point of impact on the carrier was largely a dry stores area and well away from aircraft, people and fuel lines. The fire was soon doused with damage control reporting everything under control within a quarter hour.

To Captain Eric Cooper though the sight of black smoke billowing from the stern area of his beloved liner was almost more than he could take. The missile had flown straight into the afterdeck well area but as everybody had been evacuated from there just minutes before there was fortunately no loss of life. Nor did the missile actually destroy anything of great importance to the ship, it just made an ugly black hole in her rear that would later prove to be the least of her problems.

The battle was over, or at least round one was and nobody wanted to even think of even how lucky they had been or what round two would hold. The taskforce had now, in a period of less than an hour had lost two warships and had two more reduced to a noncombatant status, had lost five aircraft plus a helo whilst several other ships had suffered minor damage.

Damage to the attackers had included their entire Super Etendard force, two Hercules tankers and something like a dozen of the Kfir and Skyhawk force though the exact number was obscured in the smoke of battle as most of the 'kills' had been achieved at a long distance by beyond visual range missiles.

Kennedy breathed a sigh of relief and tried to reassure himself that they had perhaps 'enjoyed' a very narrow win in what would undoubtedly be just the first such encounter before the final battle had run its course.


CHAPTER 24

On the flightdeck of the Hercules you could cut the silence with a knife. Each of the four crew listened intently via their headsets to the message coming from Ascension, a thousand kilometres astern.

The fleet was under heavy air attack and it appeared that already several ships had been hit. As soon as the message ended Amanda looked at her watch and did a mental calculation.

‘That puts us about seven and a half hours away from the present air combat zone.’ Reid exclaimed, deep in thought, as were her fellow crewmembers.

The Herc droned on at just under 340 knots southward on a mission that was flightplanned as being in excess of 22 hours and covering more than 14,000 kilometres. The mission though was crucial, as crucial as her cargo was important. Behind the airy flightdeck in the confines of the gloom of the cargo hold were five Trojans and the 20 men who would fly with them to make history.

The plan was for the Hercules to reach a point exactly 25 kilometres to the west of Pebble Island. The five Trojans would then be launched from the Herc at an altitude of 33,000 feet, the highest they had deployed from so far. They would then glide to their prearranged landing zones several kilometres to the west of the airstrip and settlement on the island and lie in wait for the first elements of the heliborne invasion that would arrive exactly three hours after their own arrival.

Amanda had been assured that they would not have a problem with enemy fighters or SAM systems. The SBS observers had reported in that no such systems had been deployed to Pebble, and in fact there appeared to be fewer than 250 to 300 soldiers there and just a few helicopters, Mohawks and the odd utility aircraft. To the surprise of the British, Argentina had not deemed this to be a geographical point of strategic value, instead beefing up its forces in the San Carlos, Stanley and MPA areas. Good for Blue Force, not so good for White Force, who in less than half a day would be tasked with taking on the considerable forces based on East Falkland.

Amanda’s crew had also been told that the three long range radar units on the Islands would also not be of concern to them and that as their arrival was in darkness they would technically, or at least theoretically, be as invisible to the enemy as the new fangled Trojans.

Amanda thought that if you wrote down every single thing that could go wrong with a mission of this complexity you would run out of flight time before being able to prep the bird. Now, hours later, she and her crew intently examined their position on the map and tried to forward project exactly what would be happening in the airspace thousands of kilometres ahead of them when they arrived. Certainly this battle would be well and truly over and as it was generally agreed that it was unlikely that large scale ops would be employed by the FAA after dark then they should be okay. Better to be on the safe side though as the tactician punched in a new flightplan that took them several hundred kilometres north of their previously briefed track, just in case.

Her other fear was simply the potential for participating in a classic blue on blue encounter. Argentina operated Hercs, and some as tankers, so it was anticipated that these would also be used to their fullest extent in supporting the various strike jets. Her aircraft could, inadvertently find itself mixed in with unfriendly company and despite the latest in IFF gear she knew that a tired and perhaps overly eager Sea Harrier jockey might just mistake her bird for that of the enemy. To an Amraam everything is a target, and a Hercules would be one just too hard to miss.

As the cargo plane droned on she decided to stretch her legs and deliver the good news to the guys in the back. After all, there was still almost four hours to run before the first tanking took place.

 

Deep beneath the South Atlantic both nuclear submarines had picked up the faint but unmistakable instructions via their trailing communications wires. These thin wires of several hundred metres in length trailed behind the boats and allowed fleet headquarters to communicate urgent instructions in real time without having to wait for the boats to approach the surface, slow and use their semi exposed communications antennae. Though you couldn’t transmit using this system, you could receive, and the message that both Torbay and Tireless received this afternoon would be one of the most important of the war.

Jeremy Hunter read the comm slowly, his mind running at a thousand knots to unravel the reasons why their carefully briefed strike mission was suddenly being accelerated in such a fashion. After executing their attack against the tanker’s escorts Tireless had run at alternating speeds to clear the area of mayhem. A wise move no doubt but that was just a few hours earlier and now she cruised less than 200 kilometres distant of what were to be her targets.

‘Oh well, and an even bigger blast I suspect due to the large amount of unburnt fuel.’ contemplated Hunter as he realised that his Tomahawks land attack cruise missiles would now be able to be routed from every direction due to the relatively close proximity of their launch area.

Torbay, he noted by the plot was roughly where she was meant to be, about 300 kliks to his north and well within range of all her targets.

Together they would now initiate a massed attack that many within the British high command considered, either naively or fairly, Argentina was not even aware of. The fact that the Royal Navy had introduced the land attack version of the American Tomahawk cruise missile into its inventory a year earlier was hardly a state secret. Also not a state secret was the simple fact that by and large these torpedo like cruise missiles were virtually impervious to any realistic form of defence. If anything, it was the development and deployment in the early eighties of the two tiered US cruise missile program that finally led the Soviet hierarchy to realise that they could no longer compete. A full on defence against such inexpensive and almost impossible to detect missiles was simply so expensive as to bankrupt any nation that tried, including the already cash strapped Soviet Union. What the Russians of old had learnt through intellect the Argentines of today were shortly to discover through combat. Either way the outcome would be the same.

Hunter brought Tireless to periscope depth and slowed to just three knots. This was essential in firing weapons such as the Tomahawk and its smaller anti ship sister, the Harpoon though in this case it also gave Hunter the opportunity to get a tactical update from Northwood on precisely what was occurring topside. The downside of course was that it left his submarine vulnerable to detection on two counts. Firstly, the launching of missiles such as Tomahawk and Harpoon from a submersible created an enormous amount of undersea noise. It was common knowledge that, dependant upon thermal conditions and sea state, that a single launch could be detected from afar as a hundred kilometres by another submarine with modern passive sensors. Multiple launches, usually 15 to 30 seconds apart only served to magnify the signature. The second problem was the obvious exit from the ocean of one or more such missiles. If an aircraft was nearby then the old mark one eyeball would suffice to identity the precise presence of the submarine whilst if that aircraft was by bad luck an ASW bird then the sub had probably conducted its last offensive manoeuvre. All in all not a great tactical situation and one that required a fair degree of forward planning and ‘cleansing’ of the surrounding ocean before initiating such an action.

It took only a few minutes for him to appreciate the enormity of the life and death battle that was taking place to his north. He smiled as he read the mission appraisal and realised that a bold move such as this just might end the war before it got any further.

Each of his boat’s five torpedo tubes now held captive a single Tomahawk TLAM-C and D cruise missile, his full loadout from Ascension. Torbay also carried just five as did Triumph which was being held well north of the TEZ for missions that Hunter knew better to even request information on. Each of the missiles had been carefully programmed with their precise ingress flight profiles and final target data. Their small computerised brains would perform a similar function to that which was about the size of a small pea and occupied the tiny cranium of a simple swallow. What man now thought to be state of the art, Mother Nature had honed to perfection in her thousands of classes of birds and underwater creatures. These Block 3 Tomahawks were also much better equipped than their forebears and carried the latest in GPS receivers, enabling last minute targeting changes in addition to mode of ingress. The revised launch positions had already been reprofiled via the command and control systems in the sub’s control room and now technically all that was left to do was to place these birds into the air where they belonged.

One by one the Tomahawks were ejected from their torpedo tubes, their liners discarded and their powerful rocket engines propelling them vertically through the waves and into the air. Several seconds after breaking the water the rocket booster dropped away, the small wings deployed and the turbofan fired up to take each Tomahawk towards its target hundreds of kilometres over the horizon. A small radar altitude unit would enable each missile to maintain its desired height of around 200 feet over the terrain till it reached its landside initial point, from where it would begin a tactical low level approach to its target using natural terrain masking and avoiding any known areas of troop, SAM and AAA concentrations. Ideally this mission was to have been flown at night, today though things had changed remarkably in the space of a few hours and it had now become paramount that the strike aircraft still in the air should now be denied an airfield to which to return to. A failure to achieve this would place in jeopardy the commencement of the landings scheduled for the early hours of the next morning.

As Hunter and his fire control team watched the display verifying the successful dispatch of all five missiles they must have wondered just how so few missiles could achieve so much damage. Whether their thoughts would be justified or not would be known in less than an hour’s time.

 

Ricardo Vivas was beginning to relax for the first time in hours. The attack against their naval ships that morning had left everybody on edge. The intense and complex pre mission briefing and the long mission itself, indeed the first taste of combat for the vast majority of his compatriots, had left them all a little ragged.

Vivas had just come off the tanker with his prescribed allowance of fuel and banked away to lead the first element of his flight back to base. Another 40 minutes and they would be safely on the ground with just enough time to debrief and prepare the next move. He didn’t know how the raid had gone though his flight got in an out without loss. That was good news he thought though he knew it wasn’t the case for the flight before his. They must have taken heavy losses, but after all, they were first in and appeared to run into the primary element of the British CAP. Bad luck for some, good luck for others, that was the unalterable litany of combat since man threw the first stone at another. Today, lady luck was on Ricardo Vivas’ side.

 

The radar operator at Mount Kent was perplexed. He had a lot of traffic to handle in the dying hours of this day with the raiders returning to Mount Pleasant and ensuring that a long range British strike would be identified at the maximum perimeter of his powerful British built radar. What had him confused was a series of on again, off again incoherent blips that would pop up on his scope from time to time coming in from the north and also the east.

The FAA jets were homing in on a set course that had the odd transponder equipped patrol boat gingerly operating in the SAR role on their track in case any should encounter difficulties. These he could account for though it couldn’t have been them anyway as the blips indicated that if they were the same objects than they would have had to be travelling at better than a thousand kilometres an hour to be progressing forwards at the rate they appeared.

Very strange, he thought. Particularly as these British radars were state of the art, just having been upgraded and actually much better than what he had been used to operating with on the mainland. Confused and becoming increasingly tired he called over his relief earlier than usual so as to be able to take a break.

The man stretched his muscles to relax and stepped outside the facility, high on the top of Mount Kent not far to the west of Port Stanley, to enjoy a cigarette and watch the first element of fighters return. He heard them before actually seeing them, the sounds of jets descending from the north east. He looked hard, avoiding the rays of the setting sun to his left as something caught his attention. Something small, but moving fast and at low level. He could barely make it out as the foreign shape weaved its way up a valley. It then turned directly towards where he was standing and soared skywards before popping over at about a thousand feet and plunging down near vertically.

It was the last thing the astonished radar operator saw as he stood their mouth open, transfixed by a device that had travelled from the depths of the ocean to claim him.

 

Ricardo Vivas glanced across at the three jets in tight echelon formation. Straight over the top of the runway at a thousand feet, a clean break at four second intervals and onto downwind for finals and home. It was at that moment that something caught his attention. Something was below them, moving very fast and overflying the base.

What’s that bloody thing doing in the circuit while we’re trying to recover all these aircraft, he thought, unimpressed that ATC had allowed such an infringement of airspace at such a crucial time. He would deal with this later!

What vivas saw next though as he approached the outer limits of the airfield mesmerised him. He had lost sight of the aircraft, thing, he had thought he had seen. But now he was looking at a series of what appeared to be a large number of small explosions on the runway. As if somebody was mortaring it.

ATC barked over the radio to abort landing and continue runway heading, airfield under attack. Vivas was stunned, but certainly not as much as those already on the ground.

Seven Kfirs and three Skyhawks had already landed with one of the latter still exiting the runway as the first of two Tomahawks cruised down the runway centreline at 200 feet. At nearly 500 knots you had to be quick to even see them coming let alone sow their seeds of destruction. But that they did. Effortlessly and reliably, just as advertised. the two little torpedo like cruise missiles had in a matter of seconds rendered the Mount Pleasant runway inoperative for at least two to three days. Their hundreds of anti runway cratering devices, like small but ultra powerful hand grenades, plunged outwards and down and into the concrete of the runway. Some exploded on impact, others would lie dormant for hours, even upwards of a day, then explode as programmed by their tiny electronic minds, creating havoc for those valiantly trying to get the craters filled.

 

The senior tower controller was near panic as he lamely was forced to order the airfield closed and for all aircraft to return to the mainland as best they could. He had mysteriously lost all his radar plots and a phone call just a minute earlier had confirmed that the short runway at Stanley had met the same fate as his own. His panic had only subsided as despair took over with the sight of the pumping station at the fuel terminal, several kilometres distant, exploding before his eyes. In barely a minute the two airfields, the three radar facilities and the precious fuel transfer facility had all ceased to exist.

Vivas was stunned and quickly moved to command his flight to head at best economy cruise for Rio Grande, some 440 kilometres to the south west and about their best chance of reaching the mainland. He knew they had just enough fuel to achieve this but wondered about the others. Fortunately, many of the aircraft had just left the tankers, orbiting 200 kilometres north east of the Islands and were able to flight plan for Santa Cruz and Rio Gallegos. Others though had to rendezvous with the tankers as they headed for home in the hope that there would be sufficient spare fuel to keep them aloft for the extra minutes that would now seal their destiny.

In all, just five aircraft failed to make it safely to the mainland, two Kfirs and three Skyhawks. Four of the pilots ejected safely almost within sight of land and were swiftly picked up by boats and SAR helos. The fifth pilot successfully force landed his Skyhawk on a beach, low tide and a huge expanse of moist sand enabling both he and his steed to fly another day.

It was a totally different end to the mission than they had all anticipated. In what seemed like barely a minute the initiative had irrevocably swung over from the defender to the attacker and precisely how and why wasn’t even precisely known.

 

Admiral Kennedy at last had something to feel pleased about. The attack by Argentina’s air force and navy jets had taken its toll on the escorts but had left his primary combatants and support ships largely unscathed. The cruise missiles had done their job, of the 10 fired, nine had found their marks and it appeared, with the help of the SAS and SBS observers on the ground that the crucial runways had been temporarily damaged as had the fuel pumping station.

His adversary, for the time being at least, had lost their island based airpower and now it would simply be a matter for the British to land and regain sufficient territory to force the capitulation of their enemy. At least that was the theory, the fact would no doubt be somewhat more complex and significantly different.

Kennedy had just finished his brief on their new tactical formation. Following the alpha strike and the loss of some of his escorts it was now decided to change tactics. His escorts would now be stationed at a perimeter around 40 or so kilometres distant from the carriers and troopers. The simple reasoning was that for the strike jets to successfully launch against the larger ships they would have to come within 50 kilometres of them. With the escorts providing an outer perimeter defence zone with the long range Sea Dart SAMs in excess of the launch envelope of the jets then theoretically none of the Exocets would be able to range far enough to impact the carriers. Around 40 kilometres beyond the escorts would be the Sea Harrier CAPs and thus a three tiered level of defence would hopefully protect his crucial assets until they had at least established a rudimentary airfield on Pebble Island.

Kennedy was about to exit the confines of the CIC to get a breath of fresh air topside to get his thoughts together when the red phone rang. This was the phone which served as the direct feed into Northwood, High Wycombe and also Whitehall. When it rang you didn’t need to be told that it was a Priority One message.

‘Sir, its High Wycombe, the Prime Minister.’ One of Kennedy’s aides proudly stated as he handed him the receiver.

‘Mr Prime Minister, good day, thank you for calling.’ Kennedy responded somewhat nervously.

‘Admiral Kennedy, it seems you have made maritime history of sorts. That was a full on assault and your fleet is largely intact, congratulations.’ The PM responded.

‘Well sir, war’s a matter of luck most times, today we were lucky and our systems worked as advertised. We are, and I cannot stress this enough, still very vulnerable to their airpower and we still have to make the landings, get established and fight them on their own turf. That will be no easy task, particularly if they can successfully launch tanker aided air attacks on the fleet and our beachheads.’

‘I well appreciate that Admiral. Your compatriots here have already briefed us on the complexities involved in the days ahead and of course that they can and will get their runways operational again soon.’ Faulkner added, secretly glad that it wasn’t he on the other end of this satellite link in a small ship so far from its normal area of operations.

‘Sir, I feel, to protect British lives, indeed to give us a fair chance of ensuring this whole operation is successful, that you must give authorisation to the mainland option.’

The mention of the words, mainland option, chilled Faulkner's blood. He knew this would happen and till this moment had still not come to terms with what his answer would be when requested to consider its invocation.

‘The mainland option, Admiral, is very risky for us. It could create a massive escalation of this war and lose us much international goodwill. There are even some within the EU at this moment that are now calling for us to withdraw and enter negotiations with Argentina. We have tried that for weeks, they won’t even talk with us except to restate their original claims to the Islands. I will consider it and get back to you in the hour, till then carry on as planned and, again, congratulation, your men and women did us proud today, it will not be forgotten. Good day and Godspeed.’

With that the line went dead and Admiral Kennedy replaced the phone carefully on its receiver. He was deep in thought and the dozen or so personnel still in the CIC would dare not disturb those thoughts. He must have the mainland option. Without it many more lives would be lost, it was as simple as that though all he could do now would be to await the outcome of what were obviously a series of strident and possibly heated discussions now beginning 14,000 kilometres to his north east on the other side of the world.

 

Lieutenant Monica Prossor watched the sun disappear from sight. It was always a great time to be at sea though she winced at the action that had just taken place in the general direction of the disappearing orb of light.

The Channel Master was hardly the Carl Vinson though all 2800 tonnes of her now propelled itself ahead at 19 knots for a rendezvous with the secondary elements of the main battle fleet. The plan would be that at dawn the small trader would be close enough to the larger ships to be able to launch the Sea King. From there Monica would refuel and proceed onto the carriers in the main taskforce to refuel again and then to either make her final dash to the Falklands themselves or to remain with one of the carriers on air guard duty. Either way it didn’t really matter much to her. She was sick of sitting around and ready to contribute something to this exercise. The grief of the past week had slowly begun to be replaced by hatred and a keen sense to reap some good old fashioned retribution. The psyche back at Caldrose probably would have suggested otherwise but that was there and this was here and nothing was going to get in her way of at least attempting to balance the books against her brother’s loss.

 

Peter Phelps had more on his hands than he had bargained for. Here he was, supposedly an ‘invisible’ SAS operative essentially behind enemy lines and without his uniform. He was supposed to be the original grey man, the person who didn’t stand out in the crowd, who merged into the scene, the man without a face. And here he was feeling distinctly like Michael Palin in ‘The Life of Brian’, with half the town following him around as their saviour. At this rate it would be impossible for him not to be recaptured, he thought.

John Slade and Harry Kemp had done their best to keep his presence quiet but nevertheless word had got out and in just a few hours it seemed the entire town knew that an escaped British soldier was in their presence. Phelps was now holed up in a small room in a nondescript house off Ross Road in the heart of Stanley. The populace had earlier been out in force watching the Argentine jets departing and wondering how many would return. It was impossible of course for any of them to accurately tell if any had been lost as they were coming back in dribs and drabs. What they did see was the lone Tomahawk making its run across the centreline of nearby Stanley airfield and the resultant explosions as it was reduced to rubble. At least, that’s what they believed they saw. The Tomahawk certainly did its job, the only problem was that just like in 1982, the Stanley runway refused to co-operate. The problem with the runway was that it was built originally on solid rock. And as the majority of it is impenetrable to cluster style runway denial weapons it would only take the repair crews half a day or so to get it into some form of working order.

The 1250 metre runway had been extended with metal plating in 1983 taking the maximum usable length to just over 1800 metres which meant that with the arrestor system in place you could operate reduced payload ops with the Kfir and A-4M. The problem though was one of logistics with virtually all of the ancillary support equipment firmly in place at Mount Pleasant, around 60 kilometres to the south west.

All this though was just ruining a good story as far as the locals were concerned. They saw the first British attacks and that was all that mattered.

Phelps though knew otherwise. He saw lots of planes depart and he saw almost as many return though noted also that some of the later ones seemed to be heading directly westwards, an action that made him surmise that the main airfield had also been targeted by the cruise missiles. He thought of Ritley, up there alone in his hide and hoped to hell he had made it through okay. It would now only be a matter of days, perhaps hours, before some more special forces types began to pop up here and there. He reckoned that there would have had to already been some submarine delivered units and probably some would be dropped in tonight from helicopters or aircraft. Ritley had said before he left that the fleet would go in for a full on attack, no loitering about this time while the other side got their act together. On this basis he felt that by dawn an invasion would have already been made. Where he didn’t know but doubted that San Carlos Water would be used again. He would lie low till their hand was shown, and then and only then might they be able to assist.

As it was there wasn’t a whole lot anyone could do. Since yesterday the Argentine Military Police had declared a dusk to dawn curfew on all civilians, as much for their own good as anything, and if anything they had begun to reinforce their positions on the outskirts of Stanley. Much to the frustration of his saviours, Phelps concluded that his war would have to wait till the time was right. After all, the last thing he wanted was to involve running the risk of incurring civilian casualties when none were needed. It would certainly be a long night in Port Stanley.

 

As the 23,000 tonnes of the hastily modified container ship ploughed south at a diesel bursting 21 knots the team of men on her deck worked franticly at getting their birds in place.

Carnivale was getting ready to usher in a new era of warfare for the Royal Navy despite the fact that in reality she wasn’t even an RN ship. Situated on her long foredeck was a ramp running from just ahead of her flared bow to the superstructure castle located at the stern. Two large cranes dominated the area just forward of the bridge superstructure while a small helipad had been located in the limited space aft. From large containers located parallel to the raised ramp men were pulling out what looked like strange aircraft like devices. Their wings were beside them on dollies rather like that of a glider in its trailer and each had strange protrusions hanging from beneath its forward fuselage.

Lieutenant Commander Steve Knowles looked pleased at what he saw. He and his men had been hurriedly training for this new style of over the horizon warfare for the past two months and now their skills and the capability of their little chargers were going to be put to the test. Knowles watched intently as the first of the unmanned aerial vehicles, or UAVs, was hoisted onto the ramp. Two of the men carefully attached the two small rocket assist bottles beneath its rear fuselage while two more ran a check against their inbuilt test units, verifying that the Predator’s onboard sensors were up and running and most importantly that the little warrior knew exactly where it was on the vast planet. After all, without this basic data it would be a bit much to expect it to reach where it was supposed to be going and return to the ship when it needed to.

The Royal Navy had been interested in acquiring a discreet UAV surveillance capability for several years after the success of such aircraft over Bosnia in the mid nineties. UAVs were hardly knew though. They had bee used routinely by the Americans over North Vietnam decades earlier, the Israelis had perfected low cost tactical units during the latter seventies and of course they had been used to great effect during Desert Storm and beyond. Today though they would usher in a new era in not only being deployed aboard a ship, and a civilian one at that, but would also play their part in introducing a new message spoofing capability via a small semi civilian team ensconced in a makeshift CIC in what was the dining area of Carnivale. This small team ran banks of computers and voice transcripts on CD’s and was headed by what Steve Knowles regarded as a mad scientist which everybody had affectionately christened Captain Chaos. In fact, his appointed function was the director of chaos management, something that to Knowles’ logical mind seemed an exercise in oxymorons though when it came to it he knew that the good Captain might well be able to save a lot of lives.

The launch team leader gave Knowles a thumbs up just as the other men finished securing the RATO bottles. The first of five launches was ready.

The sun had set an hour earlier and they were still roughly 600 kilometres distant of the Falklands. Knowles had hoped to be launching much closer to their objective in a few hours time though the change in tactics demanded as a response to the alpha strike on the fleet, just ahead of them and to their north now required them to get their little birds into position before dawn. Knowles appreciatively noted the presence of the two frigates cruising serenely at his flanks and thanked God for the message he received only a half hour earlier that the airfields on East Falkland had been rendered inoperable.

The crew chiefs all concurred that a launch was ‘go’. Knowles rang the klaxon to warn all personnel to stand clear, the small Rotax motor began to turn and the prop swung into action. The little Predator rocked on its launch dolly as the Rotax slowly built up revs. Seconds later Knowles pressed the shielded launch button and the two RATO bottles ignited, sending the Predator forward at a rapid rate down the 100 metre ramp and into the air. It stabilised its flight as the simple wooden dolly plunged away beneath it, the two small rockets taking it upwards at an incredible rate to 11,000 feet where they would expire and drop away. From then on the little UAV would be on its own and would commence a long cruise climb up to 25,000 feet over the next two to three hours. It would hopefully go ‘feet dry’ and reach East Falkland in about four and a half hours time depending on enroute winds.

Predator 01 was already a hundred kliks distant and drifting skywards through 19,000ft when the second of its stable mates cleared the ramp of Carnivale. By midnight all five had been launched and there still remained five more to ready for when the first ‘squadron’ returned the next evening.

Knowles had found the mission a strange one at first. After all, his background had been as a Sea Harrier and helo pilot though now in his mid forties he knew there wouldn’t be too much flying left to enjoy and so had opted for playing with what some of his lesser intelligent equivalents had rudely termed as toy planes. He knew otherwise of course and now he, and his team were raring to prove just how good their little machines were at taking on the enemy and winning.

 

Arrogant bastards. Thought Captain Roberto Casada as he watched the plot forming on the scope in the Santa Fe’s control room.

His cause of disgust was one of the British nukes passing well ahead of him, south to north, range perhaps 70 kilometres and doing it at incredible speed. Something better than 30 knots and making enough underwater noise to make him detectable by even a deaf whale.

Casada wondered if the British skipper had felt so secure that he could do this and not even contemplate the potential for running headlong into a threat or was he perhaps just stupid. He would never be the latter, thought Casada, the British were amongst the best, if not the best and their boats were as good as the later generation of American 688s and Russian’s later generation Akulas. His little boat was good but all it could really do tactically was to hide and strike, hide and strike. Its primary survivability revolving around its ability to remain silent and within shallow waters that were verboten to the larger and less manoeuvrable nukes. If he could seduce them into his hide than they were his, if not, well it could be the other way around. Tactics were tactics and no matter what weapon system you employed you had to operate it in strict guidelines as to what it was best at, not what would eventually get you into trouble.

Casada thought that the British sub was in a hell of a hurry, now what could be of such interest to it to the north east of the Malvinas? His own boat ambled along at a stealthy four knots, he would get by tonight with just two hours of battery charging via the diesels and then it would be a straight, albeit slow, transit of two days to the large array of hiding places in and around the hundreds of coves, islands and inlets of Islas Malvinas. His Malvinas, his killing fields.

 

Graeme Evans never felt better in his life, after all he was alive, and to boot soon to be reacquainted with his squadron and a second crack at air combat.

The last three days had gone quickly, largely because for half the period he had been asleep, still recovering from the acute exposure of his days in the liferaft slowly floating towards Antarctica. The crew of Sceptre had treated him as something special and he would carry the good memories of his time beneath the waves with him forever. Certainly he would never again tell any submariner jokes and was in awe of the almost limitless tactical capabilities that a boat like this was able to wield against an enemy. And this was one of the older, albeit updated, Swiftsures, the Trafalgars were even better he had to remind himself.

As Sceptre raced forwards he was amazed to note the speed at one time reach 36 knots. He was also fascinated by the fact that Captain O’Brien would sprint the boat for an hour or two and then slow down to listen carefully to his sensors to ensure that no unfriendly surprises lay ahead of them. From hundreds of kilometres away he had even listened in on the end of the four frigates that Tireless had attacked only that morning. It had chilled him to the bone to think that an attack of that ferocity had been prosecuted without any apparent threat from the enemy and now those same subs had launched a cruise missile attack against his enemy’s airfields, unseen, from hundreds of kilometres distant. This was almost as good as a Shar, he thought, as he savoured a coffee and walnut slice, something he doubted he would have time for when he finally got topside in just a few hours time.

 

There it was, just as expected, thought Amanda Reid as she and her crew acknowledged the familiar shape of a VC10 tanker slowly moving across into the forward view.

This would be the final tanking on the ingress of this mission. After dropping off their cargo of human mayhem the Herc would turn north and return on a reciprocal heading meeting its first of three homebound tankers at a point 800 kilometres east of the Falklands. This would cut it pretty fine but there was simply no other choice. It was too risky to take this particular rendezvous any closer to what a few hours earlier had been a battlefield while even supposedly with the Island based fighters temporarily grounded it was simply not worth risking unarmed and highly vulnerable tankers to interception by dragging them any closer than 700 to 800 kilometres of Stanley.

The big Herc hung close to the tail of the converted airliner for almost 15 minutes, taking in as much of the precious liquid as it could. This was always a difficult manoeuvre and Reid and her copilot were not impressed to find that sod’s law again was to prevail and as soon as the VC10 had appeared, so had some minor, though irritating turbulence. They didn’t have time to try other altitudes where it might be calmer as they both were already heading into a danger zone and could be detected if one of the Argentinean long range recce birds were active.

‘Ninety seven percent onboard Amanda, this is getting hard to hold, can we break now?’ called her copilot, who had taken this refuelling op.

‘Okay, let’s do it now before we have a problem’. she responded, more than a little concerned by the increasing buffeting that both aircraft were receiving as if by some giant unseen hand.

A second later as the Herc throttled back slightly to disengage both aircraft heaved as they hit what obviously was clear air turbulence. The falling of the Herc could be felt on the shoulder straps of each of the crew and Amanda had instantly hoped that her human cargo were strapped in. That thought vanished instantly though as the sound of metal shrieking as the refuelling probe snapped and disappeared aft into the night sky.

‘Jesus Christ, we’ve lost the probe!’ yelled the copilot as both of them fought for control.

‘Affirmative, let’s just get this thing straight and level.’ responded Amanda in an effort to sound calm.

The VC10 had pulled upwards and was now holding station well to the side of the crippled Herc. This was a strict no comms mission so neither aircraft could communicate by radio with the other. A green light was flashed from the VC10s flight deck and left the Hercules crew wondering precisely what this meant. Were they okay, were we okay, she thought and wished that they could just have one brief message. It didn’t really matter though as moments later, as planned, the big VC10 gently banked away into the night for its long flight back to Ascension and a rendezvous with two other tankers enroute to allow it to even reach base. Some wit had suggested that with the distances involved we might as well have been fighting a war on Mars. Certainly this night, up here in the crippled Hercules that thought had taken on new meaning.

‘Well we don’t have many options, do we guys?’ Amanda said, facing the three worried faces of her crew.

‘We will fly the mission as prepped, head out to the west of the Islands and then abeam them to head to South Georgia. We can’t divert to Uruguay, they’ve made a big point of ruling that out from the beginning while two hours ago the met fax indicated a massive storm cell in the region of Punta Arenas in Southern Chile. Besides, I doubt we would have had enough fuel to reach there anyway. We don’t know anything about the runway at South Georgia except that it was set up for Harriers and is about 500 metres in length with mountains at either approach and a deep harbour alongside it with the world’s worst winds. Plus its dark. Well guys, this is sure a helluva mission!’

Monica’s call lightened them up a little. They had just enough fuel to reach Grytviken if they cut at least one of the engines as soon as the drop had been made. This would reduce airspeed slightly and would keep them in a hostile area longer but there was simply no other option. The Hercules flew on jetfuel and at this rate that would run dry before they reached South Georgia unless they did something radical. At least the drop was a high altitude one, where they would burn the least fuel. If they had had to descend for a low level ingress then they might as well have simply ditched the Hercules in Falkland Sound and swam ashore to join the locals and their uninvited guests.

Amanda had also decided to not tell her SAS men of what had happened. They had enough on their minds without worrying about the fate of the plane that had delivered them to their target. Truth was that everybody had a lot on their mind this night, least of all just surviving to see another dawn.

 


CHAPTER 25

The biting cold of the air ripped at Graeme Evans face as he steadied himself on the foredeck of Sovereign, the downwash of the hovering Sea Kings rotor blades turning the unusually windless night into a cauldron of vortices. It was time to leave this formidable fighting machine and return to his natural element, the sky.

Evans secured the harness around his midriff with the help of two seamen and turned to wave a final goodbye to O’Brien and Miller barely visible at the top of the sub’s fin. Thumbs up and the Sea King gently ascended as the winch operator reeled in his human cargo. Within what seemed a matter seconds the sub was lost from view in the blackness of the night, almost as if it had never existed which was precisely what its situation would tactically be within just a few minutes. Within an hour the now seasoned aviator and multi ace would be back aboard Illustrious and hopefully downing a long awaited celebratory ale with his squadron mates.

 

Amanda Reid checked the tactical nav display for what seemed the hundredth time. They were less than ten minutes from the drop zone and sensors already painted the expected outline of coastline that lay ahead. Pebble Island stood out from the undulating coastline of the northern sector of West Falkland and well contrasted with the hills to the east. It looked just like the maps suggested, naturally, though still a refreshing surprise to a crew that had been on tenterhooks now for too many hours.

She had often privately wondered what it would be like on a real combat mission and now that it was actually happening realised that it brought to your senses emotions that you did not even know you possessed. Lingering doubts about dozens of things, small and important alike, arose in a groundswell of emotion as the tension increased. The radar warning sensors had fortunately remained inactive. She had thought that if just one of them had gone off now she would dissolve. That wouldn’t happen of course but the strange feeling of helplessness that now pervaded her thoughts was truly something new and alien to her. She wondered if her self doubts and fears were being felt by the others and concluded probably not. She would never know how wrong she would be.

In the darkened hold of the Hercules, lit only by a few red low intensity globes, Captain Adam Hamilton and his 19 SAS specialists checked their high altitude survival gear with numbing fastidiousness before strapping in to their five Trojans. Each man had more offensive kit than they would ever dream of being able to deploy by regular parachute while the Trojan in these air temperatures and at this height would have an effective gliding range of around 40 kilometres. The Argentine tactical radar situated at Pebble would no doubt pick up the Herc though would hopefully mistake it for one of its own on a resupply mission. The SBS units observing the camp and settlement on the island had come to the conclusion that the Argentines were keeping radio traffic to a minimum now that the British fleet was so close. That they would not even bother reporting to MPA the presence of the Herc was something that all concerned hope fervently would be the case.

With just a minute to go the Herc levelled off at 33,000 feet and the rear cargo door slowly came down. The depressurisation routine had taken almost a half hour so as to not rupture eardrums and now the temperature in the Herc, despite the heating running at maximum, was rapidly falling well below freezing. The crew were wearing full immersion suits and thick fur hats over their heads to retain warmth. Amanda and her three crew up front looked like polar bears, their faces only marginally lit by the dull reflection of the CRTs and instruments of the airlifter’s instrument panel.

In the back the two loadies weren’t any more fashionable, though they were just warm enough to stave off shivering as the airstream roared at nearly 200 knots around the rear of the Herc. It seemed almost impossible to believe that ‘out there’ into that dark void, the air was unusually motionless for this part of the world and that once off the ramp each Trojan would stabilise and have a forward airspeed of barely 30 knots.

Hamilton checked his breathing apparatus one final time and gave a thumbs up to his three fellow riders aboard the Trojan. Their faces hidden by their fighter pilot like helmets and night vision goggles gave no indication of the tension that each man felt as the loadies swung down their arms in unison and the first device rocked its way towards the ramp like some form of bizarre ghost train ride at a fun park about to enter the doors of hell.

In less than five seconds it had disappeared from view, its drogue shoot opening almost as it left the Hercules. Three seconds later the main chute began to slowly deploy, capturing the now diminutive personnel capsule below its vast dark grey canopy. Within half a minute the crew had their device sorted out and on a heading for their prearranged landing zone using their night vision gear and the special GPS nav unit. Hamilton pressed the comm tit twice to signify they had deployed safely and were underway.

Aboard the Herc Amanda noted with relief that the first bird was away safely and within seconds so would be the next, and the next and the next. In less than three minutes the entire procedure had been executed, exactly as rehearsed so fervently over the friendly fields of England so far away on the other side of the world.

As the airlifter’s cargo ramp closed and the aircraft repressurised a wave of tension ebbed from each crew member. Glances at each other and the odd smile betrayed their true thoughts. The purpose of their part of this intricate mission had been accomplished as planned, the greatest challenge though was yet before them.

 

As the five Trojans began their long descent towards Pebble Island far to the north west Moreno’s First Team analysed the results of their alpha strike against the British fleet.

‘This has not been a good start, even a one eyed gaucho would put this as a win to the British.’ exclaimed Alberto Alvirez, the disillusioned Foreign Minister.

Corbeta Dimeglio, the Commander of the FAA disagreed as an aide brought in the latest, and final damage assessment of the afternoon’s raid. Any attempt at trying to put a positive spin on his case evaporated when the confirmation of their losses materialised in black and white.

Alvirez grabbed a copy of the communiqué and sighed as the men in the room took in the full breath of the results of what all knew was the most important battle of the war. The battle to sink the British fleet before it could even launch a land attack against the Malvinas.

‘Look at this, what a bloody loss. An entire squadron of Super Etendards plus half their tanker force and 10 of our new Skyhawks and seven Kfirs.’ Alvirez exclaimed.

Admiral Donado looked ill as he contemplated the loss of his first rate strike aircraft and the fact that except for two subs and a few patrol boats his navy was either at the bottom of the ocean or held hostage in port.

‘Another point to consider is that we now have a logistics problem of sorts.’ stated Juan Moreno, who had stayed remarkably quite through the inquisition of the past few hours.

‘Most of our Exocets and the aircraft drop tanks are stored on the Malvinas. We now have the bulk of our aircraft back on the mainland with just a small number of Exocets and tanks and they won’t be able to get back to the Malvinas till at least the day after tomorrow. It doesn’t take a genius to see that we have a major problem here in being able to defend our Malvinas airspace.’

‘You’re right Mr President, but we do have something like three dozen Exocets still on the mainland and enough tanks to conduct missions using that stock.’ responded Coirbeta Dimeglio.

‘And another thing, watching that Apeco broadcast earlier showed that their escorts were now well away from the main carriers. That gringo woman stood their proudly describing what happened while her camera panned the scene to show no escorts. We should give medals to their media when this is over for being of such assistance to us!’ responded a smiling Vice President Moltini.

He was right of course. Just as the BBC had announced that 2 Para were about to attack Goose Green and Darwin in 1982 and alerted the defenders to hurriedly increase their firepower in an area that they thought would not be of specific interest to the British, Apeco and several other news crews had shown glimpses of the ocean surrounding their ships that to a keen military intelligence analyst indicated that the British commander had altered his tactical formation.

In the end it meant that the men in Buenos Aires now knew something that only hours earlier they would have killed for to have learnt. They now knew that the British were again reverting to placing their escorts in picket mode in an attempt to head off the Exocet attacks at ranges well beyond the carriers and the all important troopers. With this information they would respond by themselves reverting to small ship low level attacks supported by tankers in an effort to overwhelm the British maritime defences. Whether or not it would work though only time would tell.

Moreno considered the lapse in discretion by the Apeco team a good omen and immediately took the initiative in an effort to boost his team’s flagging morale.

‘It’s not all a total loss. By their own estimation we sank two of their ships and removed from action two more as well as destroying seven aircraft.’

‘Yes, but so far we have used more than a third of our total missile inventory and merely eliminated six ships, and not one of the important carriers or troopships.’ added Admiral Donado who was by now getting agitated that his air force contemporaries had been able to do so little with so much.

‘At least my people didn’t lose an entire squadron’ retorted Dimeglio, fed up with the imputation that the FAA was not doing its best.

‘Okay gentlemen, calm please, it is not good for us to be here arguing amongst ourselves and blaming each other. We went into this with open eyes, the winds of war will blow both for and against us, we must take the bad with the good and in the end we will victor.’

Juan Moreno still held sway and his words were understood. It was time to call it a night as dawn and the start of another round of airstrikes against their enemy was just five hours away.

The group began to split up as Alberto Alvirez sat alone in the now darkened room, thinking of how on earth he could save Argentina from the defeat and international disgrace that he felt was soon to be her burden.

 

The minutes had seemed to drag like hours thought Captain Hamilton as his group began to split into two units at 15,000 feet. They were still many kilometres from Pebble Island though could see it perfectly using their helmet mounted night vision goggles.

His Trojan and one other would land in the flatlands to the north west of the strip while the remaining three Trojans would head east and land about a kilometre east of the settlement where virtually all of the troops were billeted. As soon as they landed they would be joined by the four SBS men who had been observing the intended target for the past week. Exactly 30 minutes after landing they would launch an attack upon both the airfield and the sheds housing the Argentines. The SBS had noted little patrol activity beyond the immediate confines of the settlement and airstrip, a plus of great magnitude.

On the strip sat four Pucara and two Mohawk ground attack and recce aircraft. Two Iroquois and a SAR Puma were also there while only that afternoon five additional Iroquois, two of which were configured as gunships, had arrived. By almost perfect timing an additional fuel tanker had also arrived the day before by barge while the moored fuel bunker had also been topped up just two days earlier. The strict order for the special forces was to not destroy or damage any of the aircraft unless they were being used operationally. The objective of the small squad of two dozen was to take the island just as their Argentine equivalents had taken MPA a month and a half earlier.

The Trojan was now on finals and Hamilton noted with satisfaction that his pilot, a young 25 year old trooper, was on key to set the machine down right on the exact spot they recced from the satellite photographs. He quickly looked around and could see the other Trojan a hundred metres to his right and also right on target. It was too distant to be able to see the others but he also knew that they too should be on the ground within the next few moments. This was helluva better idea than just parachuting in independently with a massive pack hanging beneath your fragile legs.

The machine flared and touched the soft peat grass almost with a squelch and abruptly stopped, its massive canopy deflating above it so that the four rapidly unbuckling soldiers were forced to wrestle free of its shroud. The first job was to quickly wrap up the shroud and secure it with a velcro ties in case it began to blow in the breeze. Fortunately this night was remarkably still though this too would not play into the attackers hands as it only meant that any untoward sounds they made would carry further in the night, possibly alerting the defenders.

From Hamilton's landing area they surveyed the airfield before them with powerful night vision binoculars. There were just two sentries, both moving lethargically around the eastern end of the strip where a small hut provided some level of shelter. These would be taken out by the sniper using an Accuracy International silenced rifle. From there two of the men would hide just off the airfield with a horde of M72 LAWSs, ready to take out the aircraft if the main attack should fail and the Argentines attempt to reach their aircraft.

At this time the larger force would be advancing from the east upon the actual settlement. The several hundred Argentines were mainly billeted in two large shearing sheds and a number of tents. Most of the officers were in the small hotel and the four homes that completed the settlement village while the half dozen resident islanders had been repatriated to Port Stanley several weeks earlier. High intensity tear gas shells would be fired through the windows of each building as soon as the command was given by Hamilton with the confirmation that the helicopter borne attack force was almost within earshot.

The special forces would then have to wait the four or five minutes till the five Chinooks and seven Sea Kings arrived with more than 200 Royal Marines to secure the island. This would take an estimated 30 minutes and while this was happening additional helicopters would quickly deploy five Jernas SAM units to form a defensive ring around the 35 kilometre long island.

Thirty minutes later, and about two hours after the first Trojan met terra firma, three roll on roll off passenger ferries, still proudly sporting their P&O colours, would enter Elephant Bay and prepare to beach themselves. In trials it had been proven that they could disgorge their entire complement of troops, vehicles and runway matting in less than four hours. It was thus planned for the first Sea Harriers to land just after dawn and for the first CAP to depart by 0700 in expectation of a solid wall of aircraft arriving from the mainland later that morning.

Blue Force meanwhile was now within 60 kilometres of the northern quadrant of East Falkland and just 90 from Pebble itself. The landing support ships were of course now just offshore while a number had entered the large expanse of Elephant Bay to virtually place themselves within a kilometre or two of the actual airfield. By a quirk of good luck it was roughly low tide at midnight so it would be possible to reverse the large ferries off the sandy beach head later that day as the water rose and they were free of the heavy loads.

Air attack was the great threat and it didn’t take much imagination to know that every man and woman here this night was well versed in the fate of Coventry and Sheffield in these very waters back in ’82. To this end the Jernas units would have a secondary outer ring on the outlying islands to the south and the east. Any helicopter response from MPA or Stanley would be met well away from the secure firezone that Pebble was rapidly becoming. The ferries even had Rapier 2000 units locked down on the top decks. Normally these wouldn’t be able to be used aboard a ship due to the movement but in the calm anchorage and at the beachhead these improvised units were able to give yet another level of defence not normally available. Brazen and Somerset were also patrolling offshore and to the west of the island acting in the early warning radar and anti air roles while the AEW helo would also be on station by dawn.

A great plan that any of a dozen small problems could render useless though on this occasion, as in May so many years before at San Carlos Water, the plan went stunningly to schedule with very few casualties as most of the Argentine garrison had fortuitously been overcome by the tear gas whilst asleep, saving much life and limb on both sides as well as limiting damage to the settlement itself.

Captain Adam Hamilton felt elated as he met up with his fellow soldiers and the four SBS men who had been so vital to the entire operation. The small group had, in a matter of just a few hours, become just another bunch of men amidst hundreds scurrying about in the pre dawn gloom to make this little place a formidable airbase from which to defend the fleet and attack the enemy in his heartland.

As Hamilton looked to the east he could just make out the first glimmer of a sunrise under a cold and starry night. It would indeed usher in a very busy day for all involved.

 

Amanda checked the readouts once more on the aircraft’s sophisticated flight management system. Her copilot and the tactical navigator all now reckoned that they would make South Georgia with about enough fuel left to run a Ford Mondeo between London and Lyneham. The two loadies were not impressed though all still agreed that it was the right thing to do in not telling their passengers the full extent of their predicament.

She and the others had desperately wanted to know how the landing had gone. They hadn’t been given the whole picture for security reasons though by what they did know it certainly seemed to hinge on a lot of things going right from the very start. If it had been successful they, as aviators, knew almost better than anyone that the importance of a secure Harrier airfield on Pebble would be tantamount to recovering the Falklands.

The big Hercules had made its final turn eastwards, having spent the past hour and a half skirting the possible SAM, and thus tactical radar sites, possibly situated on a number of the islands of West Falkland. They obviously were successful in getting away with their intrusion to the SAM zone near Pebble though it was still not entirely certain that one of the dreaded SAM-10 Grumbles had been located there anyway. Still it was not worth taking the risk. If one of these units did engage you then it would be difficult for a relatively slow and medium altitude target such as a Hercules to escape. In even attempting to survive she would have been forced to activate the powerful jamming pod beneath the starboard wingtip at which point the ruse of being an Argentine aircraft would have been well and truly lost. After that every firebase on the Islands would have been alerted as to the possible airdrop of special forces teams, something that could have ruined the entire Pebble operation.

Now, so many hours after the Trojan drop, they were still effectively abeam the lower reaches of East Falkland on what seemed a treadmill. Running on just three engines didn’t help though even with one shut down, to save fuel, the Lockheed airlifter could still idle along at around 280 knots. This place is so big, thought Amanda to herself. You study the maps and measure out the distances but you just don’t appreciate the enormity of open space till you experience it first hand.

She thought of the videos she had seen and the books she had read on the ’82 campaign and how the troops had yomped through the wind, sleet and snow right across the soggy peat and rock filled expanse of East Falkland to fight well entrenched troops on the hills west of Stanley. For a brief moment it made her own predicament a little easier to contemplate.

Minutes turned to hours and at a notional point a thousand kilometres to the west of Grytviken she sent out a standard distress call and added the intention to force land at South Georgia. The call was answered almost instantly as SAR headquarters on Ascension, and Northwood, had been desperately awaiting the call for hours, knowing full well that the Hercules crew wouldn’t be able to break radio silence until well clear of the Falklands.

A Nimrod had already been dispatched south from Ascension and was now just a thousand kliks short of the rugged land mass. It should arrive on station near Grytviken about the time the crippled Herc did and was now operating as a secure comm transfer facility with both aircraft using their Link 16 equipment. SAR control advised that the parked Harriers and helicopters at Grytviken had been moved and that the strip was ready to accept them. A drawing of the recently built and very improvised strip was faxed through to the Hercules on its special communications computer and Amanda thanked her lucky stars that this was not an average everyday model C-130 but a special forces modified unit with all the bells and whistles to attempt the impossible.

The strip looked bigger in the drawing though her copilot quickly pointed out that that was because it was also so narrow. Great! thought Amanda, just when I was getting used to 500 metres as being the next best thing to Heathrow. It would be less than an hour after dawn when they arrived and hopefully the present gentle breeze would stay just that. It normally came up later in the morning, even when the prognosis was for little or no wind whilst just a few days earlier a blizzard had roared through the place with wind speeds exceeding 100 knots.

The aircraft was carefully checked with the loadies battening down anything that could move. As they commenced their descent, around 60 kilometres distant, the fourth engine was started and a final fuel check performed. They would just make it but it was doubtful that they would have enough fuel to perform a go-around if she didn’t make it the first time. The thought of having to ditch in the harbour and swim for it was almost too awful to contemplate. This thing had to land on the first attempt, she convinced herself.

The maps indicated that they would have to pass very close to the large cliffs to the side of the strip on a conventional approach. This didn’t matter for helos and Harriers of course so the placement of the strip, indeed about the only place it could go, was not dictated by conventional aircraft operating standards. The Hercules was in sight of Cumberland Bay and descending through 5000 feet when the local control hurriedly warned that a sudden wind had begun with gusts of up to 20 knots coming directly across their path.

‘Oh swell’ Amanda called aloud as the crew quickly exchanged glances.

It was then that she froze at the realisation that the runoff area she had been looking at on the faxed drawings was in fact something resembling a cliff face. There certainly won’t be a go-around even if we wanted to, she thought as she selected full flap to drag the big airlifter in over the final few kilometres.

‘Two kilometres to run.’ called her copilot.

‘One kilometre.’

The aircraft was trimmed perfectly, would just make the very lip of the tiny strip before they hit reverse thrust whilst still in flight, literally crashing the bird down onto terra firma and going to maximum reverse thrust and emergency braking to stop before they overshot.

They didn’t even see, or sense, the gust that hit them, but hit them it did, slewing the Hercules sideways as if a giant was merely playing with a toy. The Hercules rolled and yawed as Amanda fought for critical control with almost no airspeed to negotiate with. Nothing to trade off for lost momentum or height, she was in what test pilots call ‘coffin corner’ as the Herc impacted the the end of the strip with its tail, nose high for an instant it settled onto its gear and bounced just as the four engines went into full reverse thrust, the anti skid braking system working furiously to slow the three dozen tonnes of airframe as it ploughed through the soft aluminium prefab matting of the makeshift strip.

In the final seconds she closed her eyes as it seemed that they would surely over run though there came an instant, a split second, where the power of 24,000 horses and red hot brakes combined to equal the momentum generated by nature. She opened her eyes to see they had stopped and the copilot belting her on the arm and nearly in tears amidst the roar of the engines.

She sat there for an instant before retarding the throttles, thinking that they had made it, how, she didn’t know but they did and it would be one helluva party that night.

 

In the converted dining saloon masquerading as a combat information centre aboard the Carnivale, Lieutenant Commander Steve Knowles watched with glee as his five little drones faithfully fed back their nav and command data via their secure jam proof satellite datalinks.

It was now dawn and Carnivale was still running westwards at just under 21 knots. In a few hours it would be within 300 kilometres of the Falklands, a position Knowles most definitely needed to be if attack aircraft returned to Mount Pleasant. A red box surrounding the position of the first Predator suddenly became green and the small crew in the control room smiled and exchanged long suppressed light hearted banter as one of a series of large format television screens came alive above them. The four men and two women looked at the screen and saw just what they had hoped for these past few weeks to be seeing.

They could see the long expanse of Ross Road running the length of Stanley Harbour, they could see the airfield, even the small disruption to the surface caused by the Tomahawk attack, they could see the loading wharfs to the east and the two fuel storage areas on either side of the harbour. They could even see the Hero Of Sheffield and each knew that they owed each other an ale there once this was a done thing.

Some 21,500 feet above above Port Stanley Predator Zero One had arrived and nobody was about to tell it to go away. In fact nobody in the enemy camp knew, or would ever know, that it was even there.


CHAPTER 26

Alberto Alvirez stared out of the window and into the drizzle. The rain seemed to make the city look greyer than it normally was. The moisture glistening off the dull granite buildings seemed only to add to his sombre, depressed mood.

Rosario II was rapidly going downhill and something had to be done. He had spoken candidly with Moreno just minutes earlier and while there had been a glimmer of hope in the President’s attitude towards a negotiated settlement Alvirez was sure that it was still something that would only come if the British were able to survive the Argentine air attacks of the coming days.

Frantic activity through the night had got the various squadrons of Kfirs and Skyhawks again organised into some fleeting semblance of organised sanity and even as Alvirez gazed upon the streets of BA he knew that the lead elements of the FAA’s response would already be in the air and heading west into harm’s way.

He had to do something. If today’s raid failed then this entire government would collapse overnight. The mood of the people was already souring, now that the British fleet had arrived, just like before, and had begun to take its inevitable toll of their war machine. Hour by hour, minute by minute, it was all beginning to take on the same grand disaster of 1982. And Alberto Alvirez knew full well the fate that awaited those who failed even in the newly democratic Argentina.

He moved quickly and picked up his mobile phone, knowing that at least this wasn’t able to be listened into by those who shouldn’t be a party to his conversation.

‘Good morning, the Swiss consulate, I would like to speak to ambassador Weller.....’

 

The little Predators had done their job well. Each had launched as advertised and made the long journey to their various monitoring stations high above the primary Argentine positions on the Malvinas.

Predator 01 was orbiting serenely above the Port Stanley area, taking in the airport, town and most importantly the surrounding hills where, as in ’82, thousands of troops had again made fortresses of the high areas of the likes of Mount Harriet, Tumbledown, Longden and Twin Sisters. Its array of optical, electronic and infra-red sensors able to penetrate cloud, darkness and distance to precisely inform the taskforce commander of precisely what awaited them.

It also could do something more. Flying directly above each point on the map the little Predator could accurately collaborate and verify the mounds of satellite derived GPS coordinates derived from weeks of intelligence assessment. When the Harriers launched their GPS guided glide bombs later that morning then the crucial CEPs of each bomb would be down to a metre rather than five or six times that distance. In short they would literally be able to target every field gun, every static SAM site, every observation post, every command centre. If it was targeted and didn’t move quickly then it was past tense.

Another Predator had taken station above the vast Mount Pleasant facility while another was flying a routine search pattern between the two and back to Mount Kent, to Stanley’s west, looking for signs of activity that might alert to a repositioning of forces as the day matured. Another was covering the Berkeley Sound area, well to Stanley’s north, where the second landing was scheduled to take place in just a few hours. The final unit surveyed the area to the south and east of Pebble Island looking for the slightest movement of a land or helicopter based counter attack against the invasion and taking of that island earlier that morning.

The final unit was just arriving in the MPA area as the clock indicated 0800. It didn’t carry any surveillance sensors but rather was hosting a 200 kilogram payload of electronics that could rebroadcast messages transmitted from hundreds of kilometres away from the Carnivale.

This Predator, which like the others was a D model based on the Altus expanded payload high altitude variant of the original design, carried a special state-of-the-art signals intercept antennae that would allow it to listen in on radio transmissions even from walkie talkies in the field. These conversations would be transmitted in real time back to the Carnivale where a team of analysts would sieve through the traffic and direct the useful data direct to Admiral Kennedy’s team aboard Ocean, as well as Northwood and High Wycombe on the other side of the world. The UK command centres could also observe the surveillance footage from each of the Predators while this could even be received by the RAF E-3D Sentrys, the first of which was due to come on station on its AWACS CAP in less than a half hour.

The jewel in the crown though was the voice spoofing system. This had been developed initially by the CIA in conjunction with the US Naval Research Agency in the mid nineties and had been deployed with great success and even greater discretion over Bosnia the previous year. The system essentially collected enemy voice transmits and could rearrange words and phrases as directed to give misleading or contrary verbal orders. A ground radar controller might order a flight of attack aircraft to go to the secondary target and attack from the south. Spoofing would then allow the bogus controller to countermand that order a minute or so later and redirect the aircraft to an entirely different target, even one that is, without the pilots knowing it, their own ground. The real controller would not hear this transmission and may not even be aware of the change until it is too late. The system in a hard thought tactical war would only have limited application in altering the nature of primary strike missions though if employed widely it would create an air of uncertainty that would only serve to deepen the fog of combat to the point where order credibility amongst the enemy might well begin to erode.

This final Predator, Zero Six, was now on station and ready to put its talents to work with the help of the aptly named Captain Chaos aboard the Carnivale. In a few hours though it’s capabilities might not be required at all as if everything went to plan the Argentines on the Malvinas would literally have no means to even talk to each other.

 

Since the first ray of a new dawn had begun to light the horizon the entire fleet had been a hive of aerial activity.

The numerous converted ‘Harrier carriers’ had been launching their vertical takeoff and landing jets to augment those that had already departed the real carriers for their new island base which had in a brief moment of levity been unofficially renamed Royal Air Navy Pebble. Their jet cargoes now gone they were busy preparing and launching the large fleet of heavy lift Sea King and Chinook helos that would be used later in the day to land the primary invasion force north of Stanley at Berkeley Sound and to the south of MPA itself.

Flight Lieutenant Garry Palladini found Illustrious in a state of pandemonium as he carefully danced his Royal Air Force GR.7 Harrier into a hover recovery at the end of the large flightdeck. Before him sat another dozen sisters to his own jet and several helicopters. The sounds of engines running and blades turning, or men shouting orders and the general noise of the ship itself and the sea about it all made this a scene that stirred the blood. A scene that 26 year old Palladini, just a year on Harriers, would never forget.

It was 0730 and in less than an hour he and six others would launch to carry out one of the most important attacks of the war. It was almost certain that Argentina did not suspect that England, indeed many of her NATO partners, had the combat denial capability that these small jets would ably demonstrate later this morning. they should have, he thought, as he remained in his cockpit, engine idling till the deck ops people finally found him a slot he could park the aircraft long enough to have it armed and attend the briefing deep within the carrier’s bowels.
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Graeme Evans awoke early. He couldn’t sleep with all the noise about him and besides his body was ready for action as he vainly tried to block out the growing sense of anticipation aboard the great ship.

He wasn’t tasked to fly a CAP till late morning. He figured that that would be the time that the first of the real FAA counterattacks should arrive, given that they obviously had to rearrange their entire tactical scenario on the mainland whilst they probably wouldn’t have even realised that Pebble had been overrun till mid morning. Intelligence had reported in its preliminary brief that they did not detect any voice transmissions from the Argentine field HQ at Pebble prior to it being neutralised by an SAS Milan round.

Last time the British had their ships, over a dozen of them safely, well almost safely, anchored in San Carlos Water for most of a morning before the local commander even realised that a landing had taken place. It took a few hours to get the air attacks stoked up but when they came it was a surprise to all. A surprise that many of the shipboard anti air systems didn’t work nearly as well as expected and that the Argentine pilots were much braver than anyone had even remotely believed possible. A major defence was simply dozens of troops using strapped down .50 cal machine guns almost as if it was Dunkirk all over again. Evans wondered if the same lessons would have to be relearnt this day. As he washed his face he hurriedly pushed the thought from his mind.

 

General Carlos Astiz surveyed the runway repair teams at work from his Unimog.

The Tomahawks had done their job perfectly, had completely closed both the primary runway and even the taxiway at MPA and even the rock hard one at Stanley. The damage control team had worked through the night though the problem was that occasionally a delayed explosion would occur that would naturally send them scurrying for cover. This not only continued the train of damage but also greatly disturbed the overall mission of fixing the runway in the first place. Fortunately nobody had been injured with the spontaneous explosions but all concerned knew full well that it would be only a matter of time.

Astiz answered his radio and waved the driven to return to the admin building.

He was amazed to hear that their listening post in the Campito high above Ajax Bay had reported heavy comms traffic from Pebble Island despite HQ not being able to reach them for hours. Two Iroquois had been dispatched from Port San Carlos a half hour earlier to investigate and all that was heard of them was a garbled message and something about a missile. Neither helo had been able to been contacted since.

Astiz felt despondent. He hadn’t even been to bed let alone slept for days and now this. He really needed to get some real time reconnaissance over there, indeed the entire Malvinas and he couldn't even launch his Mohawks or Pucaras to investigate.

‘Okay, order the Pucaras to begin using the grass emergency strips, ensure they are armed with rocket pods and move more helos, particularly gunships, to Port San Carlos. Get another 300 men up there as well and ensure every artillery and observation post is on maximum alert.’ Astiz demanded.

This was just the opposite to what we needed, he thought. At this moment this base should have just dispatched dozens of jets to sink that bloody British fleet once and for all. Instead, what have we got? Half a dozen jets struck here and propeller driven aircraft operating at reduced payloads from grass strips. We might as well be back to bows and arrows, he despondently thought to himself.

 

Ricardo Vivas, like so many, had worked through the night also. He did manage a two hour enforced kip for aircrew flying today though like everyone else most of it passed with his head swimming in a sea of fears and constant reassessment of how today would be better than what had been.

It was now just past 08:00 as he and his three fellow aviators walked out to their waiting Kfirs. Each aircraft had been prepped by the groundcrew and armed with two long range tanks, a single Exocet on the centreline and a Python beneath each wingtip. The brief had them airborne in 18 minutes and hitting the tanker one hour later at a point roughly a hundred kilometres west of the Jason Islands off West Malvinas. That would give them full tanks and allow them to cruise north of where they estimated the British fleet to be before attacking from its rear. A tanker pattern was to be set up in this area as long as possible so his flight might even have the luxury of a post op refuel. Something that if possible would greatly extend the range profile of the FAA jets.

Right on sked the four jets blasted out of the desolation of Rio Gallegos and towards a deep blue sea, turned northwards onto a bearing of 340 degrees and once having gained cruise altitude began to count down the 38 minutes till they made contact with their tanker. Radio silence was now mandatory as each man flew on, trimming for best fuel economy, each alone with his thoughts.

An hour later they had departed the 707 and were heading at high altitude in a loose formation to a point 300 kilometres north of East Malvinas. They had their radars shut down but their sensors lit, hoping to sniff out the first sign of a radiating shipboard or Sea Harrier radar well before it was capable of detecting them.

And that didn’t take long. Within a half hour of leaving the tanker Vivas was surprised to see quite a lot of surface activity coming up on passive sensor display overview of his Elta radar screen. As the minutes grew so did the intensity of long range electronic activity. His quick calculation confirmed that at this heading the lead picket ship, probably a destroyer, would have them on its own display within a quarter hour. This was far more activity than they had imagined, this far to the west of Mount Pleasant. It had been presumed that the British fleet would largely lie three to four hundred kilometres east of MPA. Not so. Something had changed radically to have these ships here, not that far to the north west of Pebble Island.

He took the decision to attack the lead picket ships as though they weren’t the primary targets he would have to take them out if they were ever to find, let alone attack the carriers. Besides, if they continued to the north and past these ships they might never get back if they were engaged by a roving Sea Harrier CAP.

Vivas activated his radar and for the first time in over an hour and a half conferred with his wingmen.

‘Blue leader to flight, go active, we are attacking lead elements of picket force, north of Pebble Island, launch from 22 at range 40, get in and get out, RV at tanker.’

He then made a quick transmission to the 707, which was also acting as an aerial comm relay HQ, that there was a sizeable British force north of West Malvinas and currently blocking a direct track to where the primary fleet was believed to be.

Little did he know that at that moment the four man crew of a lone Iroquois had just caught a glimpse of the final seconds of a Jernas homing in on their helo as it headed across Tamar Point on a direct track to Pebble Island.

The four Kfirs now watched their threat panel go wild as a number of the enemy’s radars searched the skies for their exact presence. It only took a minute more before the powerful shipboard radars locked them up as each man knew that in just a few minutes the long range Sea Darts would also be within range of claiming them. Before that though, even if only by what seemed like seconds, they would launch their own missiles, pull inverted and bug out for home, leaving the rest to modern science.

Vivas could feel a bead of sweat trickle down his cheek as his pulse raced, the fatigue of a sleepless night now overwhelmed by the sheer rush of adrenalin as his radar warning receiver barked in his ears the fact that his aircraft had been not only locked up but a Sea Dart was already in the air. He was the last to launch his Exocet and again felt relief when he saw it drop, plunging forward on its white pillar of rocket propulsion before rolling down and away from the threat that was screaming towards him at three times the speed of sound.

He and the others knew though that at this range they would be hopefully, comfortably beyond its range this day as they lit their burners and rapidly extended their distance from the inbound SAM.

 

Aboard HMS Edinburgh, a Type 42, the commander looked apprehensive as he noted before being told that his somewhat optimistic Sea Dart launch would not reach any of the four targets.

‘Those Kfirs are sure quick on the egress’ he said almost to himself in the tense confines of the semi darkened CIC.

‘Maybe it will be different with the Skyhawks, they can’t go supersonic.’

‘Sir, the four Exocets are tracking, all four for ourselves and Somerset’, range two zero kilometres.

Somerset and Edinburgh had teamed up shortly before dawn. At first they were arrayed independent of each other to give radar coverage for the Pebble landings. Now though with an avalanche of air attack expected from the mainland the two ships were tasked together to better provide each other with an overlying self defence capability far greater than either ship could have enjoyed on its own.

Edinburgh would use her long range Sea Darts to hopefully prosecute over the horizon targets whilst Somerset carried a better close in anti air system via its vertical launch Sea Wolf SAMs. The two together would, theoretically, provide each other with a sizeable level of mutual protection.

This morning though all this passed as a nonsense to the men and women aboard the two ships. Their radars coldly plotting the four on again off again blips that now homed in on their ships at over 500 knots. Both ships had powered up and had begun a prearranged series of defensive manoeuvres to decrease their radar cross sections and allow their chaff stream to better mask each other.

Homing in just two metres above the ocean the four missiles each selected their target. Three had locked onto the larger outline of the destroyer whilst the fourth had selected the frigate.

Even from deep within the ships, in their combat information centres, the crews could feel and hear the chain saw buzz of the Vulcans as they opened up on their attackers. Seconds before the multiple thump of two, three, four Sea Wolfs thundering vertically from Somerset’s magazine as they attempted to intercept the Exocets just beyond the range of the guns. The Nulka decoy showed on the screen as an orange square, loitering astern Edinburgh and using its electronic bag of tricks to mimic its launch platform in the hope that it might seduce the Exocets electronic brain into believing it to be a bigger more inviting target.

Each man and woman braced themselves, held their breath as they waited the inevitable.

For those aboard Somerset it would be the last moment of life they would ever know as despite all the guns, missiles, chaff and ECM, an Exocet thundered directly into their compartment. In an instant it was over. Eighteen crew had perished and another dozen lay wounded as the ship shuddered from the explosion deep within its fragile superstructure.

The three other missiles had been claimed at the last second by a combination of guns and Sea Wolfs whilst the Nulka had at the last moment taken one from Edinburgh that would have surely impacted its hanger deck area.

Rigged for full action stations, Somerset had miraculously withstood the explosion and within minutes was reporting the fire as under control. A lot had been learnt in the last war about ship fragility and the hazards of post strike fire. That hard won knowledge was now paying off in helping to limit damage and casualties and as a result though wounded, Somerset was able to remain on station, linking her primary combat systems into the CIC command and control capability of Edinburgh via their Link 16 interface.

 

It was barely 90 seconds from missile launch and the four Kfirs had cut their afterburners and levelled out. Due to the lack of long range underwing tanks on the mainland they were forced to retain theirs despite them being empty. This not only limited their escape speed compared to the previous afternoon when they were able to exit the hot zone at almost Mach 2 but also increased drag, thus consuming more fuel, but keep them they must. At least it was now barely 50 minutes flying time to the tanker which by now had been joined by several others as the second echelon of the raid began to depart San Julian, Comodoro Rivadavia, Santa Cruz and Rio Gallegos.

Vivas wondered if their missiles had hit home. They didn’t seemed to have been as effective as they had been long led to believe by the various arms merchants though there again obviously the British had also stepped up their own level of missile defence since they learnt the hard way how vulnerable their ships were to air attack.

It was then that his radar warning receiver went into overdrive, its robotic shriek sending every nerve in his tired body into spasm as it indicated an airborne radar illuminating him and at close range to boot.

He called for a break and the formation split in every direction. It only took a few seconds through a half turn to see two clear dots on his radar scope, around 70 kilometres to his south west and closing fast.

Sea Harriers, bastards, how did they get there? he thought as he called for his flight to descend at high speed for the tankers.

‘In a tail chase they would never get us, he reassured his wingmen. They must be so far from the carriers that they won’t have enough fuel to maintain this for more than a minute at best’.

He was right. With the Kfirs fleeing and minus any offensive weaponry, at least offensive to the ships, the two Sea Harriers turned and headed back towards Pebble Island. The CAP was pretty much finished and already their replacements had rolled down the improvised metal plating and grass runway to replace them on station a hundred kilometres to the north west of their newfound home.

 

Hundreds of kilometres to the east Garry Palladini's flight was reaching their launch point. They were still over 50 kilometres from the vast MPA complex and beginning to get a strong tone on the two Russian built SAM-10 Grumble units that represented the primary long range air defence of the area. These were deadly weapons, much feared and respected by any standard and the equivalent of anything in its class of western design. However they were still well out of range and if everything went as planned would never be in a situation to actually fall prey to its lethality.

The seven Harriers were each armed this day with a new and revolutionary weapon. Each aircraft carried four variants of the Mark 83 1000 pound bomb. The basic bomb had been modified with a special tail kit unit and navigation seeker using a GPS guidance unit. This was an Anglicised variant of the recently introduced to service US Joint Defence Attack Munition glidebomb. What was more important though was that the warheads this day were not of conventional explosive but special airburst parachute retarded electromagnetic pulse bombs. The purpose of these bombs was not to destroy the enemy's hardware physically but to simply fry all electronic circuits, controls and wiring within a certain distance. The effect upon humans was negligible and usually buildings and such like showed no signs of damage. Any electronic items though, from a modern phone to a digital alarm clock were rendered forever useless once the bomb had irradiated it with a short but powerful electromagnetic field transient.

Palladini and his fellow aviators had sat in fascination the day before when they were briefed on precisely what their first attack mission would be. It didn’t take a military genius to see that these small bombs could well win the war on their own.

 

The Harriers entered a gentle dive from 36,000 feet to build up maximum airspeed. At the bottom of the dive each pilot pulled back on the stick, pulling around 3G in the process and halfway up the climb gradient of their invisible arcs each released their bombs in sequence. The parabolic curve of their trajectory took each bomb out and upwards as its little wings deployed and the GPS navigation unit began to flightplan for its ultimate destination some 44 kilometres distant.

As the seven Harriers turned eastwards and headed home they each heard the Grumble radar warning change tone as a first and second missile took to the air. It was a futile exercise though and to be honest the last mechanical motion that the SAM-10 unit would perform.

 

Carlos Astiz watched the big missiles leave their launch tubes and wondered why the Harriers had turned back. Why they had aborted their raid. They must have known that apart from the SAMs that we were virtually defenceless and that a dozen Harriers could have done much damage to his base and its large garrison.

The air alert sirens sounded an all clear just as one or two keen observers noticed little dots moving quickly from the east. Within seconds the dots became bigger and moments later seemed to slow as what appeared to be drogue chutes deployed from their tails. This was followed momentarily by a large orange parachute as what appeared to be at least two dozen black devices continued their stabilised descent towards various points on the massive airbase.

Astiz ran for cover as the siren began once more to wail. Its howling sound drowned out seconds later by the thud like detonation of the parachute bombs exploding over a period of what seemed like a quarter minute.

Astiz moved clear of the truck he had been hiding under and reached for his radio. He keyed the command centre and heard nothing. He looked at the radio and saw that it wasn’t even displaying a frequency. He checked the 'on' switch but to no avail. He didn’t yet know that every electronic device within a ten kilometre arc of MPA had been rendered useless in a matter of seconds.

 

As the Harriers sped back towards the safety of Illustrious the panel of controllers aboard Carnivale watched with fascination as their little Predator observed the entire operation as if sitting on a fence.

Almost all of the GPS guided bombs had reached their targets and all had detonated. Similar flights had also left Ark Royal and Invincible in the north and had taken out the communications node and obviously much defensive weaponry in Stanley and the mountains to the west of the township. Every vehicle was now immobilised, every electronic device, every radio, laptop computer and even their microwave ovens and regular radios and television were now the equivalent of high tech garbage. All in a matter of seconds and at no cost to human life.

 

On Mount Longdon, five kilometres west of Stanley, a 23 year old lieutenant of the 25th Regiment recalls the attack well in his post action report.

We were all at a high level of preparedness, specially since the air attacks of the previous afternoon. Many of us expected an invasion though most felt that it would not be in the area owing to the massive defences we had built up in the surrounding hills.

The air alert siren sounded and we all went for cover though after about two minutes and no sound of planes we began to gingerly look out from our foxholes. There was a loud roar from below us in the valley of Wireless Ridge and several SA-10 missiles launched towards the north. We all cheered and if anything it broke the unbearable tension of the last few hours.

About a minute or two later, I can’t remember precisely, we heard a strange sound, a popping noise high above us and saw a number of large devices, they looked like bombs, on parachutes. They were falling quite fast despite the large orange chutes and we wondered what they were. The orange wasn’t difficult to see and we wondered why they would use such a visible colour in the battlefield. I felt that this was ominous as it all seemed wrong. They then began to explode high above us and the neighbouring hills. We went for cover though some of my men cheered as they thought that they had gone off prematurely. Like a British surprise weapon that hadn’t worked.

After about a minute everything calmed down as the remains of the shredded chutes drifted to earth. My captain, further up the hill, yelled for me to radio headquarters at Stanley to find out what was going on. I picked up the radio but it was dead. I checked the position of the batteries and flicked the on off switch a few times and was pretty frustrated because I had been using it just before the air alert and it worked perfectly. I didn’t want to upset him by telling him that somehow I had broken it.

It was then that he came down to see if my radio was okay as his laptop, which he had on during the raid, had just gone blank and wouldn’t even come on let alone reboot. We looked at each other blankly as one of my squaddies yelled that he couldn’t even start the quad bike we had for carting things up from the valley below.

 

In Buenos Aires things were getting pretty stressed.

For the past hour all attempts by the communications specialist in the Condor Building to make contact with any of the Malvinas firebases let alone Headquarters at Mount Pleasant had failed.

It was as if they had ceased to exist. The only thing they had learnt was that their first flight of Kfirs had launched their weapons at two ships in an area where they were not expected to be and seemed to be the forward pickets of a much larger taskforce to the north of West Malvinas. They had been engaged by Sea Harriers at long range and had successfully evaded them, again it was not expected that the enemy would be able to mount intercepts at that extreme range. Most strange, and now the loss of communications was becoming unbearable.

While the technicians laboured over their transmitters and Moreno’s First Team gradually became more and more fearful, Alberto Alvirez sat alone in the back of a borrowed car in a quite suburban street not far from the city’s downtown airport. With him sat the Swiss ambassador. Alvirez had driven alone to this quite and private spot while the ambassador’s driver discreetly ambled about nonchalantly well away from both vehicles. To him, this was most definitely not happening.

The two men spoke for almost an hour with the ambassador making several calls on his secure digital mobile phone. Finally they emerged from the car, shook hands and the ambassador’s driver returned to his trade.

Alvirez silently watched the ambassador’s car disappear down the tree lined street. So peaceful he thought, so benign. Totally unlike the turmoil that awaits us all in the days ahead. He opened the car’s door, got in and drove off, his meeting with destiny completed.

 

Captain Eric Cooper watched the big Chinooks lifting the final Jernas SAM units off the deck of Canberra. This had been going on now for several hours and before noon he would have all of the troops off his ship and be heading eastwards at best speed.

Maybe he was just getting older but he had never been so concerned for his ship’s safety, and for those that travelled within her, as he had since the numbing air attacks of the previous afternoon. He had seen the escorts taken out one by one and prayed to God to spare the carriers and the troopships. His request had been granted but he also knew that their luck couldn’t last forever, and that was without even taking into account the chance of running into an Argentine submarine.

His executive officer hurried forward amidst the noise and controlled panic to inform him that the pulse bomb raids had all been successful and that a full Sea Harrier CAP was now in place to their west. Theoretically this would stop any airstrikes before they could reach the large assembly of White Force ships, though after yesterday’s back door Super Etendard attack he wasn’t so sure. The only thing in war, he remembered his father once saying, was that nothing was certain.

He looked across to starboard and saw the bulk of HMS Ocean, helicopters buzzing about her like a beehive. There was Fearless and Intrepid and a umber of the smaller transports. They were barely a dozen kilometres offshore Berkeley Sound, really only about 30 kliks from Stanley with everybody hoping that the second raid of GPS bomb equipped Harriers had successfully taken out the dozen or so long range artillery firebases that lined the island. Their lack of response was obvious proof that the precision bombing raids had been successful.

An hour to go, he thought as he checked his watch, an hour and the great while whale would be turned for home and safety.

 

Admiral Kennedy put down the red phone and smiled. Every man and woman in the room knew what the smile meant and combined with the overwhelming success of the precision bombing raids of the past two hours and yesterdays Tomahawk attack knew that he had finally been given approval for what had loosely and very informally been referred to as the ‘mainland option.’

 

Hundreds of kilometres to Kennedy’s north west idled HMS Vengeance. Her impressive 16,000 tonnes of steel and alloy moving southwards at a leisurely and very silent six knots. Her position was barely a hundred kilometres off the coast of Argentina, abeam of Santa Cruz and in her magazine she carried no less than ten long range variants of the sub launched Tomahawk cruise missile.

These were the latest American variant with slightly longer range than those already expended so successfully by Tireless and Torbay. Vengeance though had a problem. She had been dispatched from Faslane in Scotland under much secrecy, in fact publicly she was not even absent from her dockside hangar which effectively hid her from view to prying eyes. Her problem though was that to conduct the military aspect of the ‘mainland option’ she would be forced to transit the relatively shallow and well patrolled waters down Argentina’s coastline.

Her mission was to find a point where she could launch all ten missiles, hitting the primary airfields as far to the north as Comodoro Rivadavia and Rio Grande in the deep south. A requirement, due to the Tomahawks range, that would have her getting fairly close to the enemy coast and in shallow water to boot. The multiple firings would take a minimum of ten minutes as the tubes would have to be reloaded whilst others fired. A dicey operation at the best of time. In addition to that the then empty tubes would have to be filled again with Spearfish self defence torpedoes.

Finally, if that weren’t enough the submarine would need to egress the launch area at high speed as by this time the entire world would know where they had been launched from and Argentina still possessed a reasonable range of ASW aircraft and frigates. For a time her only defence would be to increase the distance from her last known position. In shallow water, even a 21st century weapon system such as Vengeance couldn’t afford to fight in these shallow waters.

Commander Julian Bradbury didn’t have a lot of options to play with. At present the best he could do was to continue at this slow but stealthy crawl towards a notional launch point almost 200 kilometres distant. He also didn’t risk launching at night as the flare of the missiles in the early stage of their climb from the sea at night could be seen for up to a hundred kilometres away from an aircraft at altitude. Even a commercial airliner flying over the mainland would be able to spot his point of launch and being totally exposed for upwards of a half hour in that little box of water wasn’t something that any of the boat’s 132 officers and crew particularly relished. Still, if they could launch their attack before the Falklands strips had been fully repaired then their action stood a good chance of forcing the Argentine government to capitulate. That was a very big if decided Commander Bradbury as he sat alone in his cabin and sipped a coffee.

 

Monica Prossor at last was back in her element. Her grieving process from the death of her brother temporarily behind her as she and her crew once more were caught up in the whirlwind of full on operations.

They had flown for what had seemed like hours from the small freighter to rendezvous with one of the SAR vessels stationed along the eastern perimeter of the Falklands/Ascension flightpath. Essentially a survey vessel, it had now been equipped with a refuelling apparatus for other small ships and even helicopters. After a few anxious attempts, the rig had been hauled up and connected and the lumbering Sea King had taken on enough fuel whilst still in the hover, to reach the relative safety of Ark Royal.

That seemed now like a day ago as they headed away from the Ark and towards the rapidly building beachhead at Berkeley Sound.

They reached there just before midday to be greeted with the news that the Harriers had taken out every relative to a microwave oven ever created and that the Argies were down to sending up smoke signals and sending runners across from hill to hill. Monica thought that all a bit much but it did at least relieve the tension. Things seemed to be going okay. She and the crew could see the Rapiers and Jernas units already in place and now their own helos, mainly heavylift Chinooks, operated not from the ships offshore but from their own improvised strip at the western end of the sound.

Their task would be as one of three AEW helos that would operate a round the clock patrol to the south and west of Berkeley Sound. They would be close to the perimeter of their own defensive SAM zone and trusted that indeed the multiple SAM units and radar guided AAA around Stanley had indeed been rendered useless by the pulse bombs.

In the meantime, they had a half hour to grab some rations, get briefed and relieve the first helo. It would be the start of a very busy day for Monica and the boys.

 

Peter Phelps had smiled knowingly when John Slade, Harry Kemp and Samuel Hunter had queried the parachute bombs.

Phelps had just begun laughing, as much realising how something as simple could now literally paralyse the enemy’s entire command and control system right down to his hand held radios and vehicles. He explained the rough technical characteristics of pulse bombs to the three men then it hit him that in a way they too had just lost a major weapon of their own.

It had been less than an hour earlier when Samuel Hunter gingerly owned up as the phantom cameraman. He also showed Phelps the mobile sat phone, much to Phelps delight. The SAS man had first tried to make contact with Captain Ritley but to no avail. He had fully expected that his phone would now be long dead and hoped that its owner had indeed got away safely. He had made one quick call to the UK bringing them up to speed on what had happened from a military point of view. He was due to go online again in an hour but now their Nokia was just so much useless plastic, its little microchips and circuitry fried to a pulp.

Phelps and his friends decided to lay low, not be heroes and see what happened. He felt at this rate that it wouldn’t be long before the war came to them anyway.

 

In London, James Faulkner had just finished a quick working lunch with his deputy Michael Bishop and Alastair Bray, the Foreign Minister. The tension of the past two days was beginning to tell on all of them and Faulkner was hoping for just five minutes of solitude once his compatriots had departed Number 10.

The ringing of the red phone though put an end to such fantasies as Faulkner reached across to pick it up. He lifted the handset, said ‘hello’ and looked surprised at his two guests. Holding his hand over the handset he looked at them surprised and whispered ‘that it was the Swiss Ambassador’.

Faulkner never did get his respite, though at least now they had the fragile glimmer of hope that there was finally a light at the end of the tunnel.


CHAPTER 27

Admiral Juan Donado took the handset from the panicky looking aide. A priority one call from San Julian, he said, what on earth could that be, he thought.

The Super Puma had struggled into the small mainland coastal port just minutes earlier. It’s pilot and crew of three debating furiously whether or not to give details of what precisely had occurred on the Malvinas that morning over the air. Prudence had won the day and the crew had wisely realised the import of their news and had instead wisely decided to make direct phone contact with the chiefs at the Condor Building instead. This delayed the receipt of the news by almost two hours but at least kept it for those who at this stage of the conflict should be the only ones to know.

Donado listened incredulous to what the young pilot told him, bade him thanks and put down the phone.

‘What is it Juan? You look like you’ve seen a ghost.’ Alberto Moltini asked with more than a note of curiosity in his voice.

‘I don’t believe it. That was the commander of a helicopter just in from the Malvinas. They were down near Goose Green when apparently Mount Pleasant was attacked by some sort of radiation bomb. There are no casualties or physical damage except that every electronic component has been irradiated. Nothing works. There’s was about the only helo not affected as it wasn’t within range of the bombs at the time. Once they realised what had happened they flew onto Stanley and it was the same there. Not even the radios work and that’s why we haven’t been able to make contact with any of our bases there in the past few hours. For God’s sake Alberto, do you realise what this means?’

Moreno sat motionless, looking stunned as he realised that the British had, in a single stroke, used some sort of secret weapon that had rendered two years of hard work as useless.

‘There’s more too. Before the raid, MPA wasn’t able to make contact with their Pebble Island base since just after midnight last night. After flying from Stanley, where they refuelled the Puma using a hand pump, the crew flew to Port San Carlos. The small detachment there was okay but after leaving the area they witnessed a large amount of shipping and air activity towards Pebble. It looked as if it had been invaded, they even think they saw what looked like a fast jet climbing away from the area where the airfield is.’

‘What did they do then?’ queried Moltini.

‘They went to low level, they guessed they were outside the range of the SAM radars they must have there, and flew south west towards Fox Bay and then decided to head for the mainland once it hit them that we would not be able to make contact with our headquarters there.’

‘A smart move, and also not broadcasting it over the airwaves for all the world to hear once they got close enough to the mainland to transmit.’ responded Moltini, trying desperately to put a positive tone on the emerging debacle.

‘I will call the President now, we will get the team and all our chiefs together in one hour. We must respond to this quickly or we will lose the initiative altogether.

‘And Juan, we must privately consider our own options. I mean, if we lose this, we must have a fallback position for ourselves. We don’t want to end up like that fool Galtieri, do we?’

‘I take your point Alberto. I take your point.’ responded a thoughtful Admiral Donado who now looked even more fraught then he was when he first took the mystery telephone call from San Julian.

 

The Airborne Early Warning version of the Sea King lumbered out from its makeshift Berkeley Sound base, really just a few hundred metres from where the Island’s first ever settlement had been so long ago at a place once known as Port Louis. It slowly climbed, heavy with a full fuel load and headed south towards Estancia House and Mount Kent.

It was primarily on a routine AEW mission, to augment the powerful though horizon limited radars aboard the picket frigates and destroyers now well to the north west of Pebble. They too had some AEW birds and no doubt these would be soon showing on the radar processor aboard the Sea King once they reached 9000 feet, their assigned operating altitude this afternoon.

Their other mission though was probably more important than the first. It was known full well that the Stanley region was infested with a web of sophisticated SAM and AAA sites, all linked by small but powerful mobile radars that, prior to it being taken out, were interlinked with the primary surveillance radar at Mount Kent. Monica’s mission this afternoon was to fly towards that web of electronic intrigue and to determine, using the helo’s sophisticated array of sensors, if any were still functioning after the morning’s pulse bomb raid.

Fifteen minutes later she had brought her steed as close a five kilometres of Mount Longden when some random triple A had drifted up. It looked like it was from one or two single 20mm units. There was not a hint of any of the large number of potential radiating emitters while even the ZSU-23/4s remained silent. She and her copilot could even see them through the stabilised sights of the long range photo recce camera. All silent, all dead.

Each member shared a hopeful smile and the pounding in each crewmember’s chest slowed to the point where it became unnoticeable.

‘Okay, let’s not get complacent, here guys. They still have their rifles and some of the simpler guns must still be online. We’ve got the intel, let’s get out of here.’ Monica quickly added.

With that the Sea King headed north towards what it thought to be safer climes.

 

This would be a long mission, 29 year old flight lieutenant Oscar Escudeo contemplated as he and his six compatriots headed south east, away from the tanker and towards what had earlier been identified as a large formation of ships roughly abeam the Lafonia region of East Malvinas.

Their internal and underwing drop tanks brimming with fuel, the little Skyhawks had used their long range to the fullest advantage in concert with the lone tanker, ironically the very same RAF VC10 that was a part of his country’s Malvinas booty, to enable them to prosecute this attack from what should be the south westerly flank of the taskforce that had been identified briefly on radar just three hours earlier by one of the recce Learjets.

That was three hours ago though, contemplated Oscar, and in that time these ships could have travelled upwards of a hundred kilometres. This would mean that he would now have to bring his flight in at high altitude scanning with their radars for the first hint of the taskforce. It would make them an open target to any roving Sea Harriers as well as being identifiable at great range by the escorts radars and sensors. However, there simply was no other option.

The tiny Skyhawks had been upgraded from their already capable M specs during their refit prior to entering FAA service in the mid nineties with a Westinghouse radar from the F-16 and optimised for maritime strike. New Zealand had a decade earlier embarked upon a similar mod and it had proven highly successful and cost effective. With the length of coastline that constituted Argentina’s eastern border it was only logical that her attack aircraft should have this capability. Today, as it was yesterday, this capability would be again put to the test.

His flight had performed flawlessly the day before on the alpha strike against the taskforce. His seven little jets had all launched as planned and even evaded two Sea Harriers prior to finding that they had no airfields to which to return to. Fortunately as they were the last raid in they also were the final flight to rendezvous with the tankers and so were able to transit back to Santa Cruz in company with the flying fuel bowsers. Something that each man found quite reassuring.

They would have none of this today though. They had the one RV with the VC10 and then they were on their own. The remaining tankers would all be busy servicing the dozens of raids scheduled for the afternoon though technically they would have more than enough fuel to return to either San Julian or Santa Cruz. Escudero had even contemplated a recovery to MPA. He figured that even if nobody could communicate with them they must surely have their runway operational by now while crewroom scuttlebutt was that the runway at Stanley was already available. Nothing could be confirmed though he had heard that a Navy King Air was flying in their at this moment to find out what had happened. If they received a red flare from the tower they would simply return home after paradropping a batch of high power radios.

That was the theory anyway. As the seven Skyhawks cruised on at 37,000 feet each man privately pondered where the fleet would be right now, or more importantly in about ten minutes time.

 

Aboard Ocean, Admiral Kennedy watched the blips slowly gaining intensity on the perimeter of the large wall mounted threat board. They were still just over 300 kilometres distant, seven high altitude jets and all heading directly for his taskforce.

‘That bloody Sentry, damn useless thing, why did it have to go down right when we need it most.’ he announced, the strain of fatigue and pressure beginning to show on the man who come victory or defeat shouldered the greatest single responsibility for the final stages of Operation Recovery.

The RAF E-3D Sentry AWACS had arrived as scheduled on station just one hour earlier following its long eight hour transit from Ascension. It had topped up its reserves 400 kilometres west of taskforce white and promptly suffered a major electrical failure which not only resulted in its rotordome not being able to rotate, and thus scan, but also its primary data processor had also failed resulting in it having to abort its mission. It’s replacement was not due to be on station for another five hours and was still halfway between the Falklands and Ascension. And to rub salt into the wounds, all the precious naval AEW Sea Kings had been tasked with the Berkeley Sound and Pebble Island taskforces while the RAF, in the short term at least, would cover the theoretically less exposed white force.

Well to the north Ark Royal had launched four Sea Harriers to provide air cover but these too had been delayed for some unknown reason, something about an air threat to her north, and would not be due on station for at least a half hour. Kennedy looked at the wall clocks, the radar indication and realised that believe it or not, despite the seemingly thousands of hours of planning, his taskforce was totally exposed to the inbound raid from what the sensors had now identified as seven A-4M Skyhawks.

‘The final Chinook’s just departed, sir, and all the assault ships have also completed unloading,’ one of the communications officers hurriedly announced, breaking Kennedy’s thought pattern.

‘Okay, order all ships to come about and head on a course of zero eight zero at best tactical formation speed. Go to the next level of action stations and prepare for air attack.

‘This isn’t what we needed.’ quietly uttering the words to himself, his fellow officers barely hearing his lament though privately thinking the same thing.

 

There they are, Oscar Escudero, said to himself as he observed with glee as the top most portion of his aircraft’s small radar scope came alive with the reflected metal images of large sea targets. He computed the range, checked his own position in relation to the targets, and where all of them lay in relation to his egress route then checked his flight in on the attack profile.

‘Yellow flight, tactical spread, arm missiles, descend to very low level, launch on my command, radio silence from now on excepting my launch order, God be with you.’

The seven little jets slowly spread apart over an arc of several kilometres as they began the long high speed descent towards the waiting taskforce at nearly 40 kilometres a minute. Each pilot alone with his thoughts and fears.

Oscar could feel his heart beating, just like yesterday and thought momentarily how different this was to the many exercises they had performed against their own ships over the past two years. He knew that in a few minutes he would either be alive or dead. At least he hadn’t seen any presence on his radar of the dreaded La Muerte Negra, the black death that masqueraded as the British Sea Harriers.

He checked his stopwatch and crosschecked with the weapons system computer as to their exact launch position. Timing would be crucial as the seconds ticked down.

He keyed his radio. ‘Five, four, three, two one, launch now.’

With that the seven Skyhawks launched their Exocets at a range of just under 40 kilometres of the bulk of the taskforce whilst passing through a thousand feet.

From there each Skyhawk descended to wavetop height. From now on it would be every man for himself as they would have to now fly right through the middle of the widely spaced grouping of ships. Hopefully the Exocets would reach them a half minute or so prior to the jets so theoretically they would be well engaged when they came within gunnery range of the enemy.

Oscar wished again, for the hundredth time, that they had had an additional tanker. If they had then they could have launched from altitude and reversed their heading, rendezvoused with the tanker well south of the Malvinas and continued on safely to the mainland. This now meant that they would have to fly north, at low level, before being able to turn west and hopefully find one of the orbiting 707s still with fuel on its standard patrol pattern off the mainland.

 

Ocean responded quickly to the threat. With just one formal escort for company, a Type 23 frigate, the command ship had quickly become a surrogate mother of sorts to the dozen largely noncombatant ships of taskforce white.

Her frame reverberated to the double barrelled launch of two long range Sea Darts. They had locked up two of the jets at maximum range only to see them disappear into the morass of the ocean’s surface clutter. They must be nearly touching the waves, the sensor operator thought, as he worked his equipment for all its worth to try and reacquire the previously visible seven hostiles. They had all launched and now their missiles would be the primary threat, the jets themselves, having expended their lethal cargoes were now just a sideshow and of little practical consideration as the seconds ticked down.

Admiral Kennedy watched the threat scope and felt more fearful than he did even the previous afternoon. Then at least they had a sizeable array of counteroffensive weaponry, now they had little but should it be just enough, they would all know within half a minute.

At least we got the men off, he thought, as he realised that the threat classification system had indicated that four of the seven missiles had locked onto the nearest and largest target available, his own ship.

He grabbed hold of the hand rail, bracing for what would surely follow and felt the vibration of the dual 30mm Goalkeepers as they kicked in their full firepower five decks above, one at the bow and the other at the stern. Could they do it, could they.....

In a split second everything went black and Kennedy felt a wall of heat hit him despite the mass of anti flash gear he and the others were wrapped in like high tech mummies. He opened his eyes and saw the lights flicker back on, the thundering noise in his ears abated and he could hear the cacophony of alarms and klaxons describing the agony that his ship was now suffering.

He felt an arm grab him and half drag him towards the emergency exit. It was one of his officers, they all seemed to be okay and now that the lights had come back on the room seemed fairly intact except for the buckled floor and the damaged air vents which were now beginning to ooze black smoke. The ship lurched then seemed to stabilise as they all broke into the cold wind above deck as the ship roared westwards.

Kennedy rubbed his eyes and coughed, somehow he had hurt his leg and only realised then that most of his CIC crew had been flung violently around the small room by the shockwave as one of the missiles had driven in two decks below them and exploded, sending much of its lethal shockwave upwards directly into the area housing the ship’s command centre.

He stood and surveyed the damage and was relived to see that there appeared to be little though did see one of the container ships to his far left smoking badly. Shades of the Atlantic Conveyor he thought as he realised that his own ship had fought off two of the missiles via her Goalkeepers, upscale versions of the more compact Vulcan Phalanx used on the smaller warships.

Ocean would live to fight another day though her immediate role as the taskforce command vessel was now consigned to history. Within a half hour Kennedy and his team would stumble aboard two Sea Kings for the transit north to the Ark where they would use the limited though still useful CIC facilities of that ship to ensure the good direction of Operation Recovery. For Ocean, with a little luck her next port of call would be Ascension Island.

 

Oscar Escudero could see the ships ahead. There was no way of getting past them other than heading significantly to their north or south and they just didn’t have the fuel for that. He couldn’t even transit directly across the Malvinas as just before takeoff it had been confirmed that the enemy had some sort of CAP situated over West Malvinas and operating out of Pebble Island. North and then west would be their only way out, and all of it at fuel guzzling wavetop height.

He saw a massive explosion ahead and to his right, and realised that one of the missile from what appeared to be a frigate had claimed one of his wingmen. Probably a Sea Wolf at that range he thought, his pulse racing as he fought to control the small delta wing fighter bomber so close to the waves. A drumming sensation went through the entire airframe, the results of the air being compressed beneath his airframe just a few metres above the sea at over 400 knots. Through the moisture on his windscreen and canopy he glanced at puffs of gunfire and could almost feel the rounds passing overhead as each ship’s guns tracked his progress between the ships. Another sudden explosion on the large ship just ahead, looks like a carrier, he thought, Jesus, we got one, he yelled and promptly felt an impact. It was a wave hitting one of his underwing tanks, slewing the Skyhawk fractionally and causing the young aviator to almost lose control.

In what was just a few seconds but seemed an eternity the flight of jets had roared past the now spread out taskforce. They had been incredibly lucky. The Sea Harriers were still well to their north and probably not able to detect them very well in all this clutter at such a low altitude plus the taskforce they had attacked had been comparatively light on in terms of defensive firepower. Their own missiles had arrived just half a minute ahead of them and also had served to confuse and occupy their enemy to the point where any attempt to take them on were largely afterthoughts.

They were not home yet though, considered Esceduro as he gently increased his altitude from what seemed nothing to around 50 feet. At this height and in this moderate sea state we should still be invisible to shipborne radars, he concluded. Even their AEW helicopters, he had been told in the briefing, shouldn’t be able to accurately detect them in these circumstances till they were very close.

The flight continued north for another three minutes then Oscar froze as he thought he saw an outline on the distant horizon directly in their path.

‘Damn salt spray.’ he yelled to himself, as he fought to stare through the moisture and glare to get a better look. Within half a minute he had realised that they were flying right into another fleet of ships. He glanced a look over his shoulder, right and left, and pointed downwards with his hand, gently dropping the Skyhawk back down to where it almost seemed to merge with the sea. Within seconds the ships had taken on an identifiable form. It appeared that a very large one was directly ahead of him, he could slew gently astern of that, it probably wasn’t armed as it looked like a liner and remembered their intelligence briefing stating that a number of ocean liners had been deployed as troopships. Just ahead of it though and on its starboard flank were two frigates, he could see their guns already firing and a missile soar skywards from the front of one.

Oh my God, he thought, this is it. He could see explosions in the water ahead of him but not directly in his path. They were ranging on him as best they could. A second later a loud explosion and a blur caught his attention as he realised that one of his fellow aviators had been claimed. A wall of water appeared to his right, to his left then dead ahead a hundred metres, he pulled back on the stick realising at the same time that this probably also had signed his death warrant as the Skyhawk hit the top of the wall of spray, he fought for control, his forward visibility momentarily lost and felt the aircraft shudder and a loud bang as if it had been hit by small calibre weapons.

Back down in the waves he saw the bulk of the large white ship thundering towards him and began to slew the jet to pass it's stern. Nothing, the rudders were jammed, he kicked harder and raised the jet slightly to try and get her around with the ailerons. Still nothing. The Skyhawk thundered on, at 400 knots its control surfaces jammed by a single 20mm round that had almost miraculously impacted down through the the rear of the front wheel well and lodged in the vital mechanical control lines just below the cockpit, its small bulk wedged between the control pulleys and rods that were the arms and legs of the various critical control services.

Oscar Esceduro would never know this. He would never know why his little jet wouldn’t respond as it always did. The last thing he saw was the stark mass of white aluminium and steel that would be his funeral pyre.

 

Aboard Canberra Eric Cooper had rushed out onto the starboard wing of the bridge to see what all the shooting was about.

They had been alerted a half hour earlier that the taskforce well to their south was under air attack but nothing had indicated that the northernmost fleet of now hurriedly retreating support ships was in any danger. The signal had of course come through minutes earlier, delayed by the mayhem temporarily suffered aboard Ocean. The few warships in the group had been online at the time to get it but it seemed many of the noncombatants hadn’t. The first they knew of any danger was when the southernmost frigate, an aged Type 22, began to engage the Skyhawks with her gun.

Cooper looked into the distance and saw one, two, three small shapes heading towards them. They were so small, so fast and so low, he would never forget the sight, he thought as several screamed through the accelerating flotilla in what seemed like seconds.

He then saw an explosion, a wall of water and from it emerge, to his disbelief a jet. It seemed to wobble and roll before its brave pilot obviously regained control. Cooper held his breath and froze on the spot though when he realised that it was coming directly for his ship.

‘Turn, turn,’ he screamed as he pushed himself back from the railing as the jet drove itself deep within his ship.

There was what seemed like a second or two before anything happened. Then the huge liner shook and rose slightly out of the water. It had been running at maximum power and lightly loaded with a following sea she had been pulling just over 27 knots when the impact took place. That wall of forward momentum now begun to dissipate as the engines lost power and she temporarily drifted from her heading. A secondary explosion seconds later shook the liner more vigorously than the initial impact and then nothing. Except for a large wound in her hull, fortunately several metres above the waterline, now bleeding with thick black smoke and a loss of propulsion, the great white whale was still in one piece.

Cooper ran back into the bridge to be met with a wall of fire sirens. The master damage control panel was lit up like a Christmas tree and officers barked orders into the comm system as quickly as they could. It would take many minutes just to access the level of damage though fire would be their single greatest threat. Cooper was thankful that in the refit that this had been attended to and hundreds of extra extinguishers had been put in place, along with additional independent emergency lighting networks and an improvised but very effective sprinkler system in the more critical areas of the liner.

She didn’t seem to have a great future after this war, Cooper had sadly contemplated on the way down, and this could well be her commercial deathnell. He didn’t as yet know how much damage had been done but a full sized jet plunging through her innards at high speed was something that left little to the imagination.

An hour later the final verdict was given that the great liner was able to proceed on reserve power and that the fire had been quelled. The Skyhawk had plunged into the area just ahead of the engine room. Her boilers had been damaged but at least one was still able to be run at about three quarter capacity, allowing sufficient power to turn the massive turbines sufficiently to generate enough electrical power to keep the ship at around six knots in a moderate sea. Loss of life had been minimal compared to what it would have been just hours earlier when more than a thousand troops had clambered into landing craft from her numerous demarcation portals.

Eric Cooper stood alone on the bridgedeck wing as the sun set to his back. His great ship’s only companion this cold and dark night would be the same Type 22, also a veteran of the original ’82 war, that had fought so fiercely to protect the liner from the wall of Skyhawks.

 

‘Well that’s that then’

The Prime Minister was in fine form as he placed the briefing paper on the table before him.

Across from him sat the Swiss ambassador to the United Kingdom and two of his principal advisors who had just flown in from Geneva. With him was his own Foreign Secretary Alistair Bray, Defence Minister Nigel Dixon and his deputy Michael Bishop.

A deal was in the offing from a source of influence within the existing Argentine Ministry, it had been said and it didn’t take James Faulkner very long to grasp the full meaning of the words ‘existing ministry’.

The tactical situation militarily speaking presently ran in Britain’s favour, the ambassador explained, and there were elements within the existing leadership that were hoping for a speedy end to the conflict before Argentina lost any more of its war machine and thus its sizeable influence as a regional South American power.

Interesting, Faulkner thought, I wonder who the mole is, considering that none of them would ever dare, despite all our prodding, to talk on a face to face basis.

Faulkner bade his guests farewell and looked thoughtfully at his fellow ministers.

‘So they are finding the heat all a bit much are they. Well, chaps that’s nothing to how they will be feeling by noon tomorrow. I want this whole thing over by dusk. If they accept our offer then it can end as quickly as it started. It’s now up to them.


CHAPTER 28

It was just one hour after dawn when HMS Vengeance slowed to two knots and slowly rose to periscope depth.

Commander Bradbury checked his horizon through 360 degrees, more for tradition than anything as the boat’s array of sensors had for hours indicated that no threats were present within at least 70 kilometres and all of these had been routine coastal steamers or small patrol boats which were obviously part of the SAR screen in support of the air ops far above them.

He used the opportunity to reveal his ESM and comm and get a full two way update from Northwood. Bradbury then initiated the elaborate firing sequence for the ten Tomahawks that would soon see his stealthy boat fully unmasked and potentially vulnerable for the next half hour or so.

The 16,000 tonne Vanguard class SSBN shuddered as each cruise missile was ejected from its torpedo tube to be propelled upwards by its rocket motor till the wings were deployed and its tiny turbofan motor came to life to transition it from a missile to a proper flying machine.

In what seemed an eternity, Bradbury finally keyed the comm and confirmed to Northwood that all ten birds were in the air and he was going tactical.

Vengeance was already diving as the message concluded and accelerating to full power. Without being able to safely dive below about 600 feet her options were limited and her best initial defence would simply be to vacate the area at the highest possible speed. There were no known subsurface threats anywhere near her path of egress so she wouldn’t have to slow for at least an hour to check her sensors again. In that time the leviathan would be almost 70 kilometres to the west of her launch point and hopefully her mission completed as her flying drones found their waiting targets.

 

High above the invisible sub a lone Fokker Friendship turboprop airliner was halfway through its routine early morning flight from Rio Gallegos to Santa Cruz.

It’s two pilots were busy commenting on the excellent weather this morning and the hope that their air force would again be able to sink more British ships this day. It was good flying weather they both surmised, good fighting weather also, particularly if you were the one who didn’t have to do the fighting.

The young copilot looked downwards and saw something strange. With his captain’s authority he gently banked the Fokker to get a better view and was amazed to see an area of disruption on the ocean’s surface far below. Both men were even more surprised to see something thundering out of the water on a column of white smoke and spray only to disappear soon after.

They wondered what it was but couldn’t come to any conclusion though both agreed they should report it on the new emergency alert frequency that had been instigated the previous morning. Dialling up 121.9 on his VHF radio, the Friendship captain, without even knowing it, had just fulfilled Commander Julian Bradbury’s worst fears.

 

Ricardo Vivas hauled back on the stick and his Kfir climbed skywards, its bulk laden with fuel and the last of the Exocets. He knew this would be a do or die mission though at least they should be able to recover to Mount Pleasant now that the final work to repair the runway had been completed.

The Navy King Air had indeed been able to land beside the main runway using the dirt verge and MPA had again some form of minimal radio contact with the outside world, till at least the next pulse bomb raid.

Vivas had been incredulous when he had heard the full story last night following the return of the first of what had been a series of King Airs and other light twins into the MPA and Stanley area. He knew that this could well be his final mission as surely with weapons like that Argentina could not continue this fight.

What truly bothered him though was simply that he didn’t know whether he felt glad or sorry about that and wondered how much longer he, indeed any of his fellow pilots, could continue to cheat death. It was a thought that he quickly purged from his mind as the nine Kfirs headed north to RV with the waiting 707s.

 

Captain Roberto Casada was indeed an excited man. Fortune had smiled once more upon him and surely this would make him, and his crew, national heroes when they ultimately returned to their homeland.

The Santa Fe slowly cruised on, using its battery power boosted by a three hour charge the previous night well clear of any known enemy activity. At just six knots his sensors were in their ideal operating environment. Though not a match for the sophisticated multi faceted sensor suites aboard the superpower nukes, his little boat this day could still ‘see’ out to beyond 80 or so kilometres in ideal conditions and today the various convergence zones seemed to be working in his favour.

Casada and his three tacticians in the boat’s small control room had been watching with increasing interest the plot before them for almost an hour. Slowly moving directly into their path was a large contact. Its four screws were turning slowly and at best it was running at little better than their own speed. Accompanying it was another ship, going faster, around 16 to 18 knots and with the blade resonance of a frigate.

Casada didn’t dare risk bringing his boat to periscope depth to communicate with command to check its status, and just why it was going so slow in a combat zone. He didn’t need to. He and the others fully realised how hard their air force and fellow navy pilots would have been hitting the British fleet these past few days and had secretly been hoping for some walking wounded on their way back to Ascension to fall into their trap.

Indeed, the little Santa Fe was almost useless in a direct head to head contact with the enemy’s nuclear powered boats or for that matter most of their surface ships once they were aware of the threat. Casada had decided, instead of returning to the Malvinas, to instead locate several hundred kilometres to the north east of the islands in the hope that he might be able to finish off some of the cripples making for safety. He figured this would give him a far higher kill ratio than going head to head with fully operational warships acting in concert and he was precisely right.

This day could well be another day of glory for the Santa Fe if her captain played his cards right.

 

Eric Cooper was not filled with hope. He had seen too much in his years at sea to think that his great ship would get away so cleanly from what had been a veritable hornets nest just a few hours earlier. Now, his crippled ship laboured along at barely half a dozen knots with a sole frigate as its escort.

He knew they would technically still be within range of mainland based airpower for possibly the rest of the day while if they began to operate again from MPA then it could be a week before they were safe. And then there was the threat of submarine attack. Though nothing had been seen or heard from what was believed to be two remaining subs it was something that each man and woman in the taskforce found difficult to put out of their mind.

 

Vivas had just come off the tanker and was heading east towards the last known position of at least two of the carriers, to the north east of Pebble. If they could disable or sink these two carriers then they may well just win yet. To do this the squadron had decided to use different tactics than the day before, if anything in the vain hope of getting through the relentless defence put up by the pickets.

Thus each of the Kfirs left the tanker and would operate as singletons, instead of in a formation. It was a risky move with no wingman to protect your six but the simple fact was that there were now only so many missiles left and each must this day achieve a kill if victory was to be theirs.

At least they would be landing at MPA this time instead of having to fight their way back to the mainland with minimal fuel and relentless headwinds. What awaited them at MPA though was something that none of the pilots were too impressed with. It seemed the entire facility had entered the dark ages while to the south a large contingent of enemy had reportedly landed. Vivas, like many of his fellow aviators, had begun to wonder if the whole thing had gone as far as it was about to go.

He quickly put those negative thoughts out of his mind as he checked his nav computer and began his long descent to wave top height for a below the radar approach towards his deadly prey.

 

It had been just over three hours now since the liner and her escort had first appeared as a distant and ghostly image on Santa Fe’s threat board and now they were both within striking distance of their enemy.

‘Both targets within range. liner is at eight kilometres and closing, frigate at nine and zig zagging towards us for next three to four minutes.’ the boat’s senior tactician confirmed.

‘Confirm all six tubes loaded and ready to fire’. Came Casada’s reply.

‘All confirmed operational and ready, sir’ came the expected response.

‘Fire at five second intervals all tubes, first four torpedos for the liner, final two for the frigate, reload immediately and prepare for second launch, if necessary against the frigate.’ responded Casada.

After the success of the Norfolk engagement the tension and anticipation throughout the sub was more controlled than it previously had been. They had attacked and survived but this was different in that if they didn’t take out the frigate quickly then it might just get them as at this range their only real safety lay in once more becoming invisible beneath the waves.

 

The sonar operator aboard HMS London was having a hard time just keeping the set working let alone tracking anything. This was an old ship and one that had been virtually taken out of reserve for Operation Recovery.

She had been kept at the back of the pack, so to speak, to provide second echelon support for the forces believed to be beyond the primary threat zone. Indeed her present mission of escorting the crippled Canberra to safety was just what she had been intended for, thus freeing up the more capable ships to stay behind and protect the carriers.

The young man froze in his seat though when he realised, after many long seconds of knob twiddling, that the numerous grey on again off again contacts that his sonar was now displaying were real rather than a mere electrical transient. He called the senior weapons officer across from his own plot in the small and dated CIC to confirm the contacts. From there it was all downhill.

For some reason, that even extensive post conflict analysis couldn’t unearth, London’s defensive systems had been this morning primarily optimised for air attack. Her air surveillance radar and Sea Wolf SAMs had been readied and were fully active though little thought had been given to any real subsurface contact. This obvious error of judgement had been apparently, according to her senior officer, aided by the fact that they had been told that they would have their undersea transit zone swept by a Swiftsure class submarine at the worst and a Trafalgar at best.

With this level of undersea support and the continually malfunctioning onboard sonar it had been decided to concentrate the ship’s limited resources and a now very tired crew on the highly visible air threat. A move that was to prove fatal in the extreme.

The two men just looked at each other, both feeling sick in the stomach as they realised that before them were six torpedos closing at maximum speed on both ships.

‘Deploy full ASW countermeasures, now, fire off Stingrays, now. This is not a drill, repeat this is not a drill’. came the panicked response from the senior weapons officer.

London turned and went to full power, another mistake as at this range it only served to increase its noise signature for the small acoustic homing seekers in the nose of each of the inbound torpedoes. It took another half minute to launch the first of just four noisemakers, and London didn’t even have the new Bandfish active decoys that equipped the nuclear subs, just the old ones that many now regarded with earned cynicism as museum pieces from the fifties. It was almost a minute later that the first of two Stingray torpedoes left their deck tubes and plunged down into the deep, just eight seconds before the two AEG torpedos directed London’s way impacted the ill fated frigate.

Eric Cooper had seen the frigate turn and begin to accelerate about two kilometres to starboard just as his executive officer ran onto the bridge yelling that they were under submarine attack and to close all watertight doors and prepare for impact.

That had been well rehearsed in actual combat in recent days and within a quarter minute the entire ship had been placed into a condition that would hopefully see it survive almost anything. Cooper was about to yell for the radio operator to send a mayday when he realised that the young woman was already doing just that. He looked back to see the frigate launch what looked like a torpedo and seconds later the ship bucked into the air on a column of water. not once but twice, just seconds apart.

When the wall of spray had subsided there seemed to be hardly any of her left. The torpedos had cleanly taken off her entire bow and broken her back. Cooper yelled for lifeboats to be prepared for launch as he saw men scurrying topside and throwing Beauforts into the water as smoke began to drift out of the centre section of the dying frigate.

He raced out to the bridge wing in an effort to visually see any inbound torpedo tracks in the moderate swell and brilliant sunshine. He never even reached halfway before he felt the impact, the first of three that his wounded ship would take over the coming half minute.

Canberra slowed to a halt as the remains of her escort almost silently disappeared beneath the waves. She was alone out here, still in a active air threat zone and beginning to take on water. In a cruel twist of fate many of her watertight compartments had not been able to be sealed as designed due to the immense mechanical shockwave that had been transmitted through the giant ship the previous afternoon when the Skyhawk impacted it at over 400 knots. Many of the large watertight doors had been slightly, though lethally, buckled enough to render them useless and now the result of this was that the ship had, in just a quarter hour, taken on at least three times as much water as it should have. In less than an hour Canberra would be no more.

Cooper cried openly, alone in his cabin for a moment before wiping his eyes and collecting the ship’s log, he walked down several decks, across the empty helipad and towards the last of the lifeboats. All his crew were safely accounted for and miraculously there had been no loss of life in the submarine attack.

It was a half hour later when the Great White Whale finally sank beneath the waves. Left behind were a dozen lifeboats while the lightly loaded heavy sea duty boats of Canberra moved to take on the survivors from London. It would however be almost 48 hours before they would be picked up by one of the returning assault ships. Forty eight hours in which to contemplate the end of a maritime legend.

 

Roberto Casada couldn’t believe his good luck as his fellow crewmen yelled and cheered. There wasn’t any need to be quiet now, at least for the next few minutes. They had killed their potential enemy as well as the liner and with all the underwater breakup sounds it was time for the Santa Fe to deploy her snorkel, again top up her batteries and begin a best speed transit out of the area post haste.

He wisely figured that it would now be best to lie low and work his way back towards the outer northern flanks of the Malvinas where they could ultimately run for the mainland or attack from the north. In many ways though he now just wanted to get back to his homeland. He, they, would be national heroes and they would live. He was wise enough to know that the British subs would now be on the rampage and that was something that chilled him to the bone.

 

Graeme Evans had been on station now for just over an hour. After the numerous raids of the previous afternoon it all had seemed comparatively quiet this morning though their land based ‘observers’ had reported a great deal of aerial activity plus all the tankers were up, a bad sign.

His anticipated radio call to break CAP and refuel at Pebble came soon enough and the two Shars gently banked eastwards passing their replacements a few moments later enroute to the CAP that technically speaking represented the vital outer shield of their defence zone.

Evans had not been on the ground long, hadn’t even left the cockpit as the refuellers pumped in the crucial jetfuel as the Pegasus turbofan idled. The aircraft didn’t need attending to in any way, a trademark of this remarkable species of fighter, and so with the call that aircraft had been reported inbound at barely 200 kliks, both jets were quickly launched as a back up to the already extended CAP.

 

Monica Prossor checked their fuel status one more time, just another quarter hour and we’ll have to bug out of here, she yelled to her copilot over the noise of the helicopter.

Her thoughts though were quickly interrupted by the radar operator calling trade, apparently several helicopter contacts running through the valleys towards Mount Kent and heading towards Port Louis.

Via Link 16 the data was already being handed off to the CAP from Ark Royal, based at this moment less than 50 kliks off East Falkland.

Commander Roger Charlton and his wingman accelerated down from the 18,000 foot CAP ceiling and towards the area of threat, their own radars accepting and relaying the more powerful and terrain contour optimised images from the AEW Sea King’s unit. In a long running intercept on the Skyhawks of the previous afternoon both Sea Harriers had been running low on fuel and had been forced to recover to the Ark instead of Invincible far to the north west. An interesting night, but for their sins they now had to work their way across East Falkland. That they found themselves some trade this morning seemed to make it a fine day indeed.

 

The five helicopters had been identified by an SAS patrol hiding in their concealment and well out of range of their own Stinger missiles. Though unable to engage them they were able to positively identify them as Iroquois gunships.

Charlton realised that these old, but still very able, birds really did represent a threat to the troops ashore at Port Louis. Jernas was good, but in the weeds and flying between the rocky outcrops of that area, these helos could get in close enough to rocket the camp with impunity if they got lucky. And that was something that Charlton was about to make sure wasn’t about to happen.

Both Sea Harriers slowed as they came around on the rear quarter of the helicopters. Two were line astern, about a half kilometre separation, whilst the other three were each operating individually up different valleys. Hugging the ground while occasionally a crew member would hurl a bucketful of chaff out the door just to confuse things further. The radar images, even from the overhead Sea King, were dubious at best though Charlton felt he had enough of a contact from this range to try an Amraam shot against the two flying together.

Fighting helicopters was never easy, and like most fighter pilots he dreaded the day when they began to arm these things with real long range air-to-air missiles. They could hide and they could turn, they could loiter and get you on the egress. Their only major downside was that any missile they launched was beginning its flight from a low speed, and consequently it would have to have a very powerful rocket motor to boost it to sufficient speed to snare a high speed jet. At least that was the theory.

Charlton waited for the precise moment for his best advantage. A split second and the two Amraams were away, speeding ahead and down as the Shar sped over the East Falkland landscape at a thousand feet and 400 knots.

He watched intently, hoping to hell that there were no Argies down there with man portable SAMs, and saw both missiles appear to be tracking towards the two helos just as advertised. Then in one mind numbing moment it all had seemed to go awry as one of the missiles, the second one, suddenly flung itself upwards and began climbing away from its target. It only took a second longer for him to realise that somehow it had achieved a lock on the AEW Sea King, well ahead now and at barely two kilometres above him.

He radioed Prossor to go active on their self protection jammer and deploy chaff, anything, to break its lock. But still the Amraam thundered on upwards relentlessly locked onto the helicopter.

Her copilot hit the auto mayday switch as she swung the helo directly towards the missile in a desperate last second hope that a smaller radar signature would break its lock.

It was only a matter of seconds but like a car accident it seemed to take forever as the nearly smokeless trail of the Amraam climbed to meet them, and then it ran out of range and slowed, arced downwards and blew up, its proximity fuse just sensing a target close enough to initiate its own last ditch self destruct mode.

The helicopter shuddered as the panel became a sea of red emergency warning lights. Klaxons and alarms sounded and the helo began to vibrate. Monica looked across and back, the guys seemed okay and then realised that her copilot legs were covered in blood. As the two Rolls-Royce Gnomes wound down she began a high speed autoration, the vibration becoming more severe as the seconds ticked by. Five thousand, four thousand, three thousand, down down, down towards a small field encased by rocks.

Through the noise her mind heard briefly that a medivac rescue was already airborne. It was then that she noticed a massive fireball about a half kilometre to her right, must have been one of the gunships, she absently thought as the vibration through the controls grew worse. She stole a glance sideways at her copilot to see that he was now slumped back, his entire lower half a sea of blood and noticed through it all that much of the floor beneath his seat had been torn away in the blast.

She laboured with the collective and the stick, her maximum inputs now almost being overridden by the dying machine's natural desire to fly no further as she slid in towards the clearing, bounced and the big machine rolled, impacted a series of large rocks and broke apart. She could feel pain, smell smoke and realised that she was suspended at a strange angle in her safety harness. It was then that everything went black....

 

In the Casa Rosada the First Team again took council. It had been just a half hour earlier that they had learnt that virtually all of the mainland airfields had been attacked by cruise missiles and rendered unserviceable for between 24 and 48 hours.

They had the rough position from where the launches had taken place though the only aircraft that could now prosecute an attack against the enemy sub were the Trackers at Trelew, far to the north. Despite this they were already airborne but it would be at least another two hours before they even got on station whilst their endurance would be barely two more hours while they searched for the attacker. There weren’t even any ASW ships in the area, just coastal freighters and patrol boats reinforcing the SAR efforts for the mainland based air strikes.

The men had been arguing fiercely amongst themselves since the news of the raid had come through. They knew that as soon as they placed aircraft back on the Malvinas that further pulse bomb raids would take place. They now had no viable mainland airfields for at least two days, what survived of their navy was pretty much restricted to port and the enemy had already taken Pebble Island as a forward operating airfield as well as landing well equipped expeditionary units north of Stanley and south of MPA.

The mood in the street had changed too. In 1982, the infamous Junta had been able to suppress enough of the bad news to keep the populace on side. Today, despite a never ending litany of disinformation, it was much harder as nowadays so many Argentineans had their own personal satellite television systems. The international networks beamed in what was happening without fear or favour for the most past and as certainly as best they could given that quite logically it is difficult to announce major losses until full conformation of the situation matures, something that is usually difficult even under the best conditions in real world combat.

Juan Moreno slammed his fist down on the mahogany desk and called for calm, an end to the bickering.

Looking them in the eye and realising that he still had just enough leadership clout to pull this off he calmly stated that he had arranged for a full briefing with Rosario command in one hour’s time. That they would go through their situation and look at their options. Whatever happened, they would make a firm decision by late this afternoon as to what to do next.

With that, they got up to leave, tired and dispirited men. Men who had gambled all on a wild adventure and were now seemingly about to lose it all, and at the hands of their own people. The thought did not bear thinking about.

Alberto Alvirez loitered behind.

‘Mr President, can I have a discreet word with you, I think I have some news that may change our outlook.

Juan Moreno knew that his being called Mr President meant that Alvirez had been up to something. Like a young child conducting some clandestine activity that would surely gain the full displeasure of its parents if they should perchance find out.

‘What is it Alberto? I hope it is something I want to hear.’

‘Oh I think it is Mr President. I think it is.’

 

This was far from ideal, contemplated Ricardo Vivas momentarily as he realised he could actually see the faint outline of several ships in the distance.

At 500 knots and barely 20 feet above the waves it took all his concentration just to keep his machine stable and not meet eternity by clipping a wave. The Exocet was armed and ready to fire on snapshot mode and he would not get a better chance than this. Vivas pulled back on the stick climbing the jet to a hundred feet where his radar momentarily updated the missile prior to it leaving the Kfir and heading away on its one way mission to destruction. Vivas banked hard to change his heading through almost 200 degrees and again settled the Kfir back to relative safety just above the wave tops.

Aboard the frigates, and linked together now by the very powerful radar in the orbiting RAF E-3D Sentry, the electronic image of the lone attack was there one moment lost the next. Still its turn had been recorded and, like the others in the past few minutes, it would be either heading westwards for home, not having been yet told that the airfields had been decommissioned or it would be heading for Mount Pleasant. Either way, the roving Sea Harriers would now have a chance to come into their own, something that they had been wanting desperately for the past three days.

 

Graeme Evans and his wingman wheeled their Shars around to a new heading, their own CAP station being accepted by a recently arrived Shar and a GR.7 in air-to-air mode.

The two Shars now headed east on a long descent that not only built up their velocity but allowed them to trim back their fuelflow a little till they were given a positive intercept heading by the AWACS, far to their north east. It only took a few minutes when the Kfir had been reported as coming in over West Falkland on a heading that would take it towards Port Howard and probably down the Sound to turn east near Brenton Loch and onwards to Mount Pleasant.

Evans carefully listened to the calm voice of the controller and tried to paint a mental picture of its projected flightpath. The day was clear and it would be only a matter of moments before the Kfir had to appear somewhere to their south. Their radars picked up the on again off again images of something flying at high speed but not enough to lock onto with an Amraam. Nor could they get a positive ident and realised that they also couldn’t fall into the trap of giving this lone aircraft so much attention that they became the hunted if perchance other Kfirs were also coming up from the west.

Then they saw it, going like lightning, weaving and jinking as it flew up the valleys and finally screamed overhead Port Howard at breathtaking speed. This guy was good, thought Evans, he had to be to have just survived the last few days.

The two Sea Harriers accelerated and closed the gap using their altitude and angle of convergence, as soon as the Kfir overflew Falkland Sound, Evans would fire up his radar as the Kfir now seemed to be gaining a little height, probably thinking itself safe now that it was less than five minutes from its base. Wrong on both counts he thought.

Vivas momentarily froze, his already pumping heart seeming to approach the rate of a stroke as he heard the radar warning receiver shriek in his ear. He had been pursued and would have to fight now, on his terms if he were to ever reach the base alive. He had jettisoned his empty drop tanks whilst in the brief climb near the ships and was now thankful that he had decided, amongst much in-squadron argument, to arm his aircraft with two Python 4s and a full magazine of cannon rounds.

He pulled the jet skywards, immelmanned out at just 6000 feet and saw the two attackers instantly on his radar, a mere dozen kilometres away and breaking right and left as they reacted to his surprise move.

From behind, Evans was momentarily caught napping. He hadn’t expected the Kfir driver to wilfully engage in such a dramatically aggressive fashion, outnumbered as he was. This guy was no sop, he thought as he verified the successful split between the two Shars that hopefully would enable one of them to get a quick kill against the lone Kfir. At least that was the theory.

Vivas rolled the Kfir down on full military power at the Sea Harrier coming up on his left, swung in matching its convergence of turn, heard his missile tone lock on and fired a Python just as the two jets passed each other at a closing rate of over a thousand knots. He didn’t see if the Shar had fired, didn’t need to as his own Python had launched and within three seconds had shot into the vertical, arced over and pursued the wildly manoeuvring Shar till it impacted the jet moments later. It was all over in seconds and now Vivas wheeled the Kfir around in a turn into the other Sea Harrier, its turn would be next.

Evans was stunned by the aggressive move by the Argentine pilot. This guy wasn’t some young boggy, he quickly thought, noting in relief that at least his wingman had at least been able to eject. The Kfir was a dog in the turn though in this case its remaining Python would equalise the two and give it some form of survivability, just as the state of the art Asraam would confer the same benefits upon its sixties designed opponent.

Evans grunted as he pulled maximum G, the Pegasus wound up to full power, his head searching for where the Kfir had gone. It didn’t take more than a second longer as he saw a glint off its canopy and like before it was making a front on high speed attack. Evans pulled inverted plunging the Shar down a thousand feet and then pulled hard on the stick, hearing a positive Asraam tone at the same instant as the two aircraft closed.

Vivas saw the move coming and with his own positive tone fired the second of his two Pythons. The missile guided just as Evans reciprocated with an Asraam, the latter missile actually locking onto the first and exploding in a mini fireball as the two jets screamed past each other.

It was now a guns fight thought Vivas, sweat running into his left eye and causing it to sting as he turned the Kfir went to full burner and again ran for the cover of the weeds and Mount Pleasant, just a few minutes at this speed away to his north east. He had wisely rejected the notion of getting into a turning dogfight with the Sea Harrier and least of all while it still had several of its missiles aboard.

Evans was now well behind, having been actually travelling in the wrong direction on their last pass and had to try and make up ground. With the Sea Harrier already at low altitude and the Kfir in full afterburner he realised the futility of hoping for a close in kill and so selected an Amraam while he still had the range parameters to do so.

Within seconds the fire control computer was giving a positive ident on the target despite it breaking lock from second to second as it desperately skirted along the valleys of Lafonia. Evans fired two Amraams in sequence and both missiles guided, accelerating to three times the speed of sound and remorselessly closing on the fleeing Kfir. The first missile seemed haphazard in its flight profile and didn’t surprise Evans when it locked onto a rock formation and impacted it with spectacular results. Evans was relieved that he had launched both missiles as with his endurance rapidly ebbing he knew this would be the only shot he was going to get against the Argentine aircraft.

Vivas knew that he was being targeted and could do almost nothing about it. He trimmed the aircraft at just over 700 knots and suddenly remembered from the morning’s briefing that a British landing zone now lay between him and the airbase. To avoid that he reduced power and slowed marginally to turn out to sea so as to approach the base from the east. Better to do that than to fall prey at the last second to their SAM systems.

The turn was just enough to give the pursuing Amraam the full electronic target image it required. Evans watched in amazement as the missile actually turned the corner anticipating the Kfirs next position. Four seconds later it exploded just aft of the jetpipe of the jet.

Vivas felt the concussion of the blast, saw in an instant his warning lights ablaze and grabbed for the ejection handle. A moment later, in what seemed an eternity, he was hurtling vertically before coming to, his arm in pain and his helmet askew as he fell gently to earth beneath his parachute shroud.

Evans reduced power, noting his precarious fuel state, feeling elation at the kill but also begrudging respect for this man he had just fought in life’s ultimate game of chance with the full realisation that things could have easily ended very differently.

He flew over the field where the lone pilot now stood, his parachute off and beginning to drift away in the wind, he almost grinned as he saw the lone figure make an expected and somewhat obscene gesture with his fist.

He pulled back on the stick and headed to the north west. It was time to go home.


EPILOGUE 

James Faulkner finished checking the agreement, signed it and handed it with a smile to his deputy for Michael Bishop to do likewise. His wife Mary stood near the fireplace with a knowing smile on her face. She had been right all along, James surmised, and now with victory, minimal real losses and a near 30 point lead in the opinion polls he and his team were now assured of the long term political success that they all so desired.

The quickly put together ceasefire agreement would take effect from 1800 hours that evening London time. Britain would cease all hostile actions as would the forces of Argentina. The Argentine forces on the Falklands would lay down their arms, make safe any booby traps they had devised and render safe any additional minefields that they had sown. They would be repatriated as soon as this was done in groups via ship to Uruguay.

For its part the government of Argentina would sign a UN declared peace treaty with the United Kingdom that would prohibit it from exercising any claim by force against the Falklands/Malvinas. It had also been agreed that several ports on the southern Argentine coast would be used commercially in support of the British oil exploration and processing efforts over the next half century. This latter requirement neatly met the needs of both parties in their own perverse ways.

Britain really did need a real UN backed peace treaty with Argentina as it was losing potentially billions of pounds worth of exports through not being able to trade with that nation as it would have liked to. Britain and the Falklands community itself also needed better air and shipping links with South America than they previously had. To ignore the physical existence of Argentina hurt them as much as it hurt the Argentines.

For Argentina the deal meant a quick end to a war that it was rapidly losing. More importantly, for Juan Moreno and his First Team it gave them just enough breathing space to head off a palace coup in the Congress and to be able to retire gracefully to the ballot box and a future that would see them at least alive. It all seemed a deal too good to pass up, Alberto Alvirez had wisely concluded!

 

Juan Moreno felt defeated, but at the same time he still had cause to be heartened. His forces had performed well and they still had their pride intact. In fact, so did all of Argentina.

The overwhelming superiority of the British ‘wonder weapons’ was such that it took the political heat of defeat off the very shoulders of the men who engineered the misadventure in the first place and placed it squarely on a smaller country being beaten to a technological pulp by a world superpower. It was a great story and they were certainly sticking to it.

The President was performing one of his last official functions. From the moment the peace treaty became operative he would stand down in favour of a non aligned caretaker leader till the outcome of the election was known in a month’s time.

The big man slowly walked out to his waiting helicopter and stopped to look at the name neatly adorning the Blackhawk’s nose. Islas Malvinas, he turned to Alberto Moltini, smiled as best he could and said ‘we’ll have to change that now, won’t we!’

Moltini looked ruefully at the helicopter’s name with a telling sombre expression. Without saying a thing he boarded the helicopter and buckled up. It was time they were elsewhere.

 

Monica Prossor awoke to find herself wrapped in clean sheets in a warm bed in a makeshift hospital ship.

She had passed out in the crash landing and had ironically been pulled from the burning wreckage not by her own people but by a small group of Argentine soldiers who had been taking cover from the Harriers. Fortunately for her she had landed almost where they were hiding.

The young troopers had carried her away from the wreck, along with the injured radar operator and did the best they could prior to the SAR helos arriving several minutes later. Her copilot perished in the burning wreckage though was believed to have been dead well before the Sea King had hit the ground.

She laid there in the peace of the moment. She was alive, she had survived, but only just. What her future would now be she would have to decide.

 

Ricardo Vivas looked about the desolate landscape of Lafonia and tanked God that he was still alive. He had watched the victorious Sea Harrier depart and had hoped that its pilot had seen his parting gesture. If ever they should meet he would have liked to have shared a beer with him and discussed tactics. All so bloody stupid, he though, us against them, and over this.

Ricardo knew he was miles from anywhere and he still had several days rations and water in his emergency pack. He felt his entire body aching from the force of the ejection at such a high airspeed, rolled up the parachute into a form of blanket and went to sleep.

His war was run, he had had enough and tomorrow could wait.

Vivas was picked up late the next morning by a Puma flown by both Argentine and British crew. When he scrambled aboard he at once knew that the war was over. Who had won hardly seemed relevant any more as the Puma ascended, nosed down and headed north.

 

Robyn Olds and her crew had elected to stay behind for a fortnight to cover the repatriation of the Argentine forces and their efforts to make good any damage they had done.

Her coverage, and that of her compatriots, had ushered in a new era for direct in the field news reportage. She gladly introduced the world to her real hero, Samuel Hunter, and at last the world could see just who was the phantom correspondent that had shaped international opinion from Berlin to Philadelphia, from Madrid to Adelaide.

The Hero of Sheffield rapidly gained international status while John Slade, Harry Kemp and two and a half thousand Falklanders quietly tried to get their world back together again.

Through their pain and suffering they more than anyone would learn to realise that the only way to real peace was through a firm and binding peace treaty with an aggressor. Something that had sadly not occurred after the 1982 conflict. With the birth of the new millennium just weeks away it was time to rejoice and look towards the future. The memory of so many man and women, including Sarah Slade and Janet Wishbourne, would surely demand nothing less.

 

THE END

 

And so ends the fictional second Falklands war of 1999 between England and Argentina. Falklands 2 was produced in 1996 in print format and republished as an ebook in 2011, and of course is fictional. What follows is a chapter from my latest book, Off Target, which deals with events that may just become fact considering the discovery of substantial oil and gas reserves in the Falklands area in recent years and Britain’s geopolitically suicidal move to demobilise so much of its already stressed military from 2010. An incredibly popular leader of the Argentine people and a nation that nowadays is a dear and respected friend of all the world powers in addition to its South American neighbours is a very different scenario that faced the world in the winter of 1982. Read on and consider what might well become the real Falklands 2!

 

Falklands Folly 

HOW TO LOSE A WAR BEFORE THE BATTLE EVEN BEGINS – NOT EXACTLY WHAT THE TAXPAYER IS PAYING FOR.

 

This chapter does not focus on a dysfunctional specific defence project but rather something far more sinister, the potential loss of a part of your territory that you have already spilt blood over to defend yet now, by specific government decree and an overdose of stupidity, have literally forfeited to the ‘enemy’.

 

Mention the Falkland Islands nowadays to people in the UK older than forty and you might get some distant recollection of a war fought on the other side of the world for a bunch of gale swept islands largely in the honour of Mother England. Mention the word to anyone younger and mostly they wouldn’t know, or care, what you were talking about.

 

However go anywhere in Argentina and the mere mention of their fabled Islas Malvinas will elevate them to a near hysterical fervour. Indeed, there is hardly a year that passes where the Argentine Government doesn’t make some form of claim via the UN against British possession of what they fervently claim as theirs. Mostly the world agrees that the islands are British and have been since the Union flag was first planted upon them in 1833 though for the past century and a half this has most certainly not been the sentiment in Buenos Aires. Basically that is not news to anyone seriously interested in defence issues or world politics but today there is a very real threat from Argentina that Britain is now unable to counter. But first some background.

 

As most readers would recall, the corrupt and highly unpopular military junta then ruling Argentina invaded the islands in April 1982, largely as a desperate political ploy to divert attention away from its terrible human rights record and a failing economy due entirely to its own incompetence. However, to say that the much hyped invasion was popular with the man in the street is an understatement and it brought the hated regime a little breathing time before the country turned to outright rebellion.

 

What it didn’t buy was military victory. Largely due to incredibly poor tactics and a complete misunderstanding that a Britain ruled by Margaret Thatcher was not to be messed with. In fact, in one of the epic understatements of all time, when General Galtieri was queried by one of his junta cohorts on the expected response from Britain, he arrogantly stated ‘The gringo woman, she will do nothing!’ As we all know, Thatcher’s Britain prevailed in what was widely agreed by all concerned as ‘a close run thing’ while Argentina’s military lost a significant amount of equipment though at least for the Argentine people the good news was that the hated junta was also dispatched to history.

 

For me the 1982 Falklands war was a personal thing. It was the first major conflict that I covered in a professional capacity. I quite happily missed Vietnam by one birth date and seeing how that war was being run in 1969 I wasn’t rushing to join the fray. The remote and wind swept Falklands however always fascinated me and in the following year I was fortunate to meet so many of the players while a decade later I visited the islands extensively, talking with the Falklanders and the military while researching my book Falklands 2, a technothriller based on a second Falklands war which in retrospect verged more on fact than fiction.

 

Flash forward to today and we have two major factors in play. Both obviously have been lost to most British military and political strategists though I am certain they haven’t in Argentina.

 

Factor One is that since the mid nineties there has been the suggestion that beneath the Falklands economic zone their might lie oil and gas reserves mirroring the North Sea fields of the sixties. Indeed in the late nineties Shell was active in the region and discovered hydrocarbons but didn’t proceed for a number of reasons, particularly concern about the ever present political situation which it deemed precarious at best. Today exploratory wells are being drilled by UK based Rockhopper (named after a species of Falklands penguin) and several other companies while the British Geological Survey estimates that the area reserves might be in the region of 60 billion barrels with an unknown but probably significant amount of natural gas. To put that into perspective, using CIA data, consider that UK oil reserves currently sit at a paltry 3bn barrels in comparison with 2.4bn for Argentina and even 3.3bn for Australia.

 

Britain’s fabled North Sea fields are headed south and the issue of oil and gas independence for England a decade from now will surely be a major problem. Argentina’s reserves are also in decline and rightly or wrongly it is claiming with much vigour, and total public support, that much of the Falklands shelf reserves logically extend into Argentine territorial waters. And that’s before we even get to the thorny concept that the entire island group is considered sovereign Argentine territory!

 

Factor Two is the British Government’s Strategic Defence and Security Review of October 2010 which amongst other things completely removed Britain’s physical ability to protect the now valuable (perhaps invaluable) Falklands. The SDSR effectively in one fell stroke disbanded the crucial carrier based Harrier jets as well as a number of other systems that would be critical to successfully fighting a long range maritime conflict. Received with muted surprise in England, no doubt the SDSR was hailed as a major cause for celebration at the Casa Rosada. Not that, it seems, anyone in Whitehall noticed!

 

Following the 1982 war, the UK Government of the era wisely decided to take the defence of the islands seriously. They built a large and hugely expensive airbase at Mount Pleasant, around 50kms from Stanley where a small regional style airport already existed. However MPA has always been a ‘smoke and mirrors’ affair and hosts just four Typhoons, a Hercules and several helicopters. A rotating army battalion occupies the adjacent barracks area while nearby Mare Harbour usually hosts a frigate or support vessel. A nuclear sub is supposed to be on patrol but as these operations are classified its presence in the real world is largely irrelevant. It is also worth noting that, like the F.3 Tornados before them, the RAF Typhoons have absolutely no air to ground or maritime strike capability.

 

Thus the sole plan for defending the Falklands is thus based on the incredible concept of reinforcing the islands from the UK. And this is where anyone with even the slightest knowledge of military affairs would be forgiven for becoming glassy eyed. Distance from MPA to the UK is roughly in the order of 13,000km. The only viable stopover is Ascension Island (as it was in ’82) which is roughly 7000km from the UK and another 6300km from the Falklands. To transit even a token force of a dozen Typhoons and Tornados south would take upwards of a week (at best) and totally overwhelm the RAF’s tanker force of tired VC10s and Tristars while the new A330s won’t be available in any reasonable numbers until 2013 at which time most of the older tankers will have been decommissioned. When one examines the operational and logistical stress that even the recent Libyan operations placed upon the RAF then it is inconceivable that deploying a large hard hitting strike force such as would be required to the other side of the world is beyond credible.

 

You would also need some AEW assets in place as well as a large fleet of helicopters and several thousand well equipped troops as well as a significant RN and resupply presence, something that would take several weeks at best to arrive in theatre. And just to make it look even more impossible, MPA has just one major runway and no taxiway with the single turnoff intersection being two thirds along the main runway meaning that multi sortie surge style ops by differing aircraft types would be near impossible due to the inherent inefficient design of the airbase. All refueling is also by tanker rather than a protected multi unit inground high pressure delivery system required for such ops. And we won’t even bother mentioning the perennially severe weather conditions for at least three quarters of the year.

 

But that’s nothing compared with the fact that to all intents and purposes, perhaps with the exception of its submarines, the once great Royal Navy is fast set to become little more than a brown water navy. Gone are the war winning Harriers while their remaining carrier will concentrate on rotary wing operations. So, between now and around 2020 the UK will have no practical way of either protecting or retaking the Falklands if Argentina should take this incredibly obvious opportunity to reclaim what it totally believes to be its rightful territory. Even if somehow I have really got it wrong on how quickly an RAF fast jet force could augment the token unit at MPA it doesn’t really matter as the game, for the British, would have been totally lost by sundown of the first day of conflict.

 

On that fateful first meeting between Messrs Cameron and Clegg the Joint Chiefs would simply say to them that they have no options available, that military intervention is now totally non viable. Just as the UK couldn’t deploy its once very useful Harrier strike force against Libya in 2011 it will be powerless to do anything to retake the Falklands in the future. Without carrier based fast jets and their associated escorts and support vessels you simply have nothing left but a regional capability or one that can work from secure land bases in conjunction with coalition assets.

 

And this Argentine assault wouldn’t happen with a wave of aged but still capable Mirages, Daggers and Skyhawks unleashing their fury upon a near defenceless MPA. No it would be via just a few dozen special forces personnel, masquerading as tourists, taking down the primitive and totally vulnerable power and communications grid while half a dozen Hercules flying at low level from any of five coastal Argentine bases would paradrop several hundred highly trained paratroopers over MPA and Stanley. Two hours before dawn is like the other side of the Moon on the Falklands and their overall effect would be stunning using the latest technology special forces kit with each unit dropping precisely onto its assigned target following months of specialist training on the mainland.

 

The thing about MPA is that, unlike any other military base this writer has visited, it is totally open to the public. In fact, the main road between Goose Green and Stanley runs right through the base. You only stop at the off road ‘guardhouse’ (more a reception area) if you are on official business. There is no real need to cut off MPAs fuel supply from nearby Mare Harbour but if there was then this is as simple as reversing a rented Land Rover into the above ground unprotected civilian spec six inch pipe! Power supply is even more vulnerable while to keep the Typhoons grounded, if the need should arise, would be as simple as a sniper shooting out their tyres or parking vehicles on the runway to effectively close the airfield.

 

However, the clincher is that the invading troops would be primarily optimized to use non lethal means to overpower the sleeping army and airfield personnel. Even the best trained troops, unarmed, totally unprepared and in a predawn darkened environment will instantly succumb to the effects of tear gas and similar. After that their captors can cuff them, secure the area and prepare for the Hercules to return to MPA with conventional troops and equipment. Within a day waiting sea transport will have arrived to further augment the Argentine Malvinas force and there wouldn’t be a thing in the world that the UK Government could do about it.

 

There would be international uproar, for sure, but if the Argentine Government’s ploy was to limit casualties to almost nothing and rapidly repatriate the prisoners in good care and, unlike in 1982, treat the Falklanders with respect and ensure they came to no harm and free to stay or go as they chose, then Argentina would surely be in a strong position to do a deal with a deeply embarrassed UK Government where Argentina retains ‘her’ islands and cuts a resource share deal with the UK. If a fifty fifty share basis offer was quickly put on the table, with British technology being employed, then the UK government would have no option but to move quickly to cut a deal, save some face and let the spin doctors roll their magic on a probably disinterested public.

Ironically, and perhaps an example of how hard it is to read the latino mindset, this arrangement is pretty much what Argentina actually had in place with England until it surprisingly tore up its Joint Offshore Revenue Agreement in 2007. Ever since it’s leadership has continually ramped up the pressure to regain the islands and as recent as September 2011 was pushing this topic hard at the UN while also threatening to ban civilian airline overflights from Chile to the Falklands with, worryingly, the full support of Brazil which has also embargoed all resource supply vessels concerned with developing the Falklands oilfields.

 

England in 2011 is a far cry from the nation it was at the time of the Battle of Britain. It is even now very different from the time when Thatcher put the Great back into Great Britain and at great risk retook the far off islands. It is interesting that in 2009 variations of Mohammid was the most popular newborn male name in Britain, which leads me to wonder if public opinion would stomach another war in the far off South Atlantic, particularly after years of what seems to most to be fruitless bloodletting in Afghanistan and Iraq. As you read this though it doesn’t matter what public opinion believes as the reality is that Britain will have militarily totally lost its ability to physically protect its Falklands asset.

 

Argentina today routinely exercises and deploys with the navies of the United States, Brazil, Chile (all crucial UK allies in ’82), Canada, Spain, France and South Africa. Argentine Navy Super Etendards and Turbo Trackers have even operated off USN supercarriers while Argentina was the only South American power to actively deploy during the first Gulf War and has been much in evidence in support of numerous UN missions including the 2009 Haiti earthquake.

 

The current Argentine Government, led by the charismatic and personable Christina Fernandez, is a far cry from Galtieri’s scrum of murderous thugs. Of crucial importance is that in late October Fernandez won a landslide majority in the Argentine elections, gaining 55% of the popular vote, half as much again as her nearest opponent, the socialist Hermes Binner and gaining total control of the all important Congress. In other words Fernandez now has the absolute power to do whatever she feels is required to keep her nation safe, secure and economically viable.

Argentina today is a government and a nation that has friends aplenty, not only on its own continent but throughout the world with cordial relations with the USA, China, Russia and most of Europe. It is also noteworthy that President Fernandez has through all her (and her late husband’s) presidency been very vocal in ramping up the whole Malvinas issue including even threatening to use military force to prevent any drilling rigs attempting to take, quote, ‘her oil’. Like most of the world, Argentina is presently suffering a degree of economic malaise largely due to the ongoing GFC. A Malvinas foray with the potential for seemingly limitless oil wealth would hardly be something that hasn’t become of interest to Fernandez. Perhaps from far off London some of this has appeared a trifle comic but you would have to have a very short memory to be laughing.

 

If Argentina reclaims the Falklands while deliberately trying not to harm British troops and rapidly moves to cut what, to most of the world, would seem a reasonable deal, then Britain simply has nothing to negotiate. It’s game over and it would all be the British Government’s fault. A nation’s defence force is its insurance policy and sadly it seems the current British Government has learnt nothing from far off or recent history.
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